
 
Oldham Borough Council 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Council Meeting 
Wednesday 18 December 2013 
 
 
 
 



 



 

OLDHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
To:  ALL MEMBERS OF OLDHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL,  

CIVIC CENTRE, OLDHAM 
 

Tuesday, 10 December 2013 
 

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council which will be held on 
Wednesday 18 December 2013 at 6.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, for 
the following purposes: 
 

 Open Council 

1 Questions to Cabinet Members from the public and Councillors on ward or district 
issues  

 (20 minutes for public questions and 20 minutes for Councillor questions) 

 Formal Council 

2 To receive apologies for absence  

3 To order that the Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on the 23rd October 2013 
be signed as a correct record (Pages 1 - 32) 

4 To receive declarations of interest in any matter to be determined at the meeting  

5 To deal with matters which the Mayor considers to be urgent business  

6 To receive communications relating to the business of the Council  

7 To receive and note petitions received relating to the business of the Council (Pages 
33 - 34) 

 (time limit 20 minutes) 
1 petition to note re – Higher Memorial Park Failsworth  

8 Outstanding Business from the previous meeting  

 (time limit 15 minutes). 
There is none. 

9 Youth Council  

 (time limit 20 minutes) 
There is none. 

10 Leader and Cabinet Question Time  

 (time limit 30 minutes – maximum of 2 minutes per question and 2 minutes per 
response) 



11 To note the Minutes of the meetings of the Cabinet held on the undermentioned dates, 
including the attached list of urgent key decisions taken since the last meeting of the 
Council, and to receive any questions or observations on any items within the Minutes 
from Members of the Council who are not Members of the Cabinet, and receive 
responses from Cabinet Members (Pages 35 - 52) 

 (time limit 20 minutes):- 
 
a) 21st October 2013 
b) 18th November 2013 
c) Urgent Key Decisions – Cabinet 23rd September 2013  
 

12 Notice of Administration Business  

 (time limit 30 minutes) 
 
1. Councillor A Chadderton to MOVE and Councillor Alexander to SECOND: 

 
This Council is committed to providing outstanding education in good facilities which 
gives the young people of this borough the best possible educational experience. 
This Council regrets that the severe curtailment of the BSF programme which would 
have seen the replacement of Saddleworth and Royton & Crompton schools together 
with the upgrading of Hathershaw School, Blue Coat and Crompton House. 
The Council notes that both Saddleworth and Royton & Crompton schools had 
reached the end of their useful lives and required full replacement to obtain best value 
for money. 
The Council welcomes the opportunity to support Saddleworth School and its 
governing body to apply for new funds through the Education Funding Agency but 
acknowledges that, the timescales involved, the available sites and the available 
budget present challenges. 
Once the funding for the replacement of Saddleworth School is confirmed this Council 
resolves to: 

1. Lobby the Government to fund the replacement of Royton and Crompton and 
work towards a replacement school at the earliest opportunity. 

2. Lobby for greater devolved capital and other funding to invest in urgent repairs 
and upgrades required for the remaining secondary school estate. 

Also: 

3. This Council reconfirms the position it adopted under the BSF programme that 
the present site of Saddleworth School in Uppermill is an unsuitable and 
inadequate site for a replacement Secondary School.The Uppermill site is not fit 
to meet the education needs of future generations of students, nor does the 
proposal by some residents to rebuild Saddleworth School on the present 
Uppermill site meet the aspirational wishes of parents, staff and school 
governors. 

4. This Council requests our MPs to support this resolution and Oldham Council's 
determination to campaign to providing outstanding education in good facilities 
which gives the young people of this borough the best possible educational 



experience. 

2. Councillor Dearden to MOVE and Councillor Haque to SECOND: 

Newcastle City Council passed a declaration in May 2013 to tackle the harm smoking 
causes our communities. It has since been supported by the Public Health Minister, the 
Chief Medical Officer and Public Health England.  
All councils are being urged to sign up to the Declaration which will be formally 
launched in Parliament on December 11th 2013. 
The Declaration commits councils to: 

• Act at a local level  to reduce smoking prevalence and health inequalities and to 
raise the  profile of the harm caused by smoking to our communities 

 

• Develop plans with our partners and local communities to address the causes 
and impacts of tobacco use 

• Participate in local and regional networks for support 

• Support the government in taking action at national level to help local authorities 
reduce smoking prevalence  and health inequalities in our communities 

• Protect our tobacco control work from the commercial and vested interests of 
the tobacco industry by not accepting any  partnerships, payments, gifts and 
services, monetary or in kind or research funding offered by the tobacco 
industry to officials or employees 

• Monitor the progress of our plans against our commitments and publish the 
results 

• Publicly declare our commitment to reducing smoking in our communities by 
joining the Smokefree Action Coalition, the alliance of organisations working to 
reduce the harm caused by tobacco.  

Oldham has a higher percentage of people who smoke (27.2%) than the average for 
North West (22.8%) and England (20.7%). 
Being part of this campaign will help us to raise awareness and improve the health of 
Oldhamers. 
Therefore: This Council resolves to adopt the tobacco declaration.  

3. Councillor A Chadderton to MOVE and Councillor McMahon to SECOND: 

This council notes that 

• Universal Credit is a single system created by the Government to replace a 
number of individual tax credits and benefits including Jobseeker’s Allowance, 
Employment and Support Allowance, Income Support, Working Tax Credit, 
Child Tax Credit and Housing Benefit; 

• Oldham is one of eight pilot areas nationally for Universal Credit since July 
2013; 

• On 15 November 2013, the Chief Executives of Oldham, Tameside and Wigan 
Councils (the Universal Credit Pathfinder areas of Greater Manchester) wrote 
jointly to the Department for Work and Pensions highlighting their concerns with 
the publication of the Jobseeker’s Allowance figures in these local authority 



areas, having received no data since July 2013; 

• On 22 November 2013, the Department for Work and Pensions’ Director of 
Information, Governance and Security David Frazer responded to this letter 
highlighting that information would be released on 3 December 2013. 

This council believes that the information released by the Department for Work and 
Pensions on 3 December 2013 is insufficient and lacks clarity for the following 
reasons 

• A wait of up to 4 months for relevant information is deeply unhelpful in assisting 
our efforts for timely support under Get Oldham Working - a monthly release of 
statistics would be a much better schedule; 

• It highlights the monthly number of new starters to the Universal Credit system 
from July to September in Oldham but does not include a breakdown by 
previous tax credit or benefit type indicating how these residents would have 
been assisted prior to Universal Credit.  

• It also gives no indication of how many of these residents are completely new to 
the benefits system and how many have been mandated off other forms of 
benefits including Jobseeker’s Allowance: We know that the numbers of people 
in Oldham receiving Jobseeker’s Allowance has fallen by over 2100 since April 
2013 but are not able at present to clarify how many of this number have been 
mandated on to Universal Credit and therefore how many remaining have found 
work; 

• It highlights the caseload of Universal Credit claimants from July to September 
in Oldham but includes no information about discrepancies between starter and 
caseload figures (i.e. what is happening to those who come off Universal Credit: 
how many are mandated off it, and how many are finding work etc) 

This council therefore resolves to 

• Ask the Chief Executive to write to the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions 
outlining our concerns and asking for the urgent confirmation of the requested 
information so that the council is able to more effectively target its resources to 
help people into work; 

• Ask the Chief Executive to write to the borough’s MPs to highlight this issue and 
request their help in lobbying to resolve it. 

13 Notice of Opposition Business  

 (time limit 30 minutes) 
 
1. Councillor McCann to MOVE and Councillor Beeley to SECOND: 
 
This Council believes that the ‘national living wage’ first established by the National 
Living Wage Foundation in the UK in 2001 should be the minimum pay rate for all 
employees.  
Other local authorities who have adopted the ‘national living wage’ rate have found that 
staff morale, productivity and retention improves as a result. 



The current rate for employees outside of London is £7.65 per hour, a figure 
significantly higher than the National Minimum Wage set by statute.  
Creditably this Council has introduced an intermediate Oldham Living Wage 
guaranteeing employees the equivalent of £7.31 per hour; however this is still 34 
pence per hour less than the out-of-London ‘national living wage’ rate. 
Employees working for other public or private sector organisations across Oldham fare 
much worse.  
As a leading employer in the borough, this Council resolves to lead the way by: 

- Committing itself to introducing the ‘national living wage’ rate for all employees at 
the earliest possible time, with the timetable being determined through consultation 
between the three party group leaders, senior officers and trades unions 

- Seeking thereafter accreditation from the Living Wage Foundation as a living wage 
employer 

- Seeking the same wage rate for the staff of contractors, arms-length organisations 
and agencies engaged in contracts with the Council 

- Promoting the adoption of the ‘national living wage’ rate to other Oldham employers 

- Asking the Chief Executive to write to: 

• The Living Wage Foundation expressing the Council’s support for the campaign 

• Our three local MPs and the leaders of the Government and principal 
Opposition parties calling upon them to support legislation to replace the 
National Minimum Wage with the ‘national living wage’ as the statutory minimum  

 

2. Councillor Thompson to MOVE and Councillor McCann to SECOND: 
 
This Council is committed to working with registered providers, and as a social landlord 
itself, to making best use of the social housing stock in the borough by promoting ‘right 
sizing’. 
‘Right sizing’ would free up larger family homes for occupation by applicants living with 
over-crowding, whilst supporting under-occupying tenants taking in lodgers or wishing 
to move to smaller properties to avoid housing benefit penalties, to reduce their heating 
or maintenance bills or because of infirmity or disability.  
Council notes that: 

• In the report on welfare reform dated 17th July 2013, of the social housing stock, 
341 properties were under-occupied by 2 bedrooms, 25 by 3, and 7 by four or more 
spare bedrooms.  

• This figure fails to account for tenants over working age, who are under-occupying, 
yet are in receipt of full housing benefit or tenants who under-occupy and pay their 
rent from their own resources. 

• In contrast, as of 30th June 2013, there were 2,118 applicants on the waiting list 
requiring homes with three or more bedrooms, many households living with 
overcrowding 

This Council therefore resolves to ask the Overview and Scrutiny Board to examine the 
practicalities of: 



• Reinstating the council’s downsizing policy to encourage under-occupying 
households to move; 

• Giving an appropriate additional priority to those who are under-occupying on the 
waiting list, with greatest additional priority being given to those under-occupying by 
two or more bedrooms; 

• Establishing procedures to vet and match up tenants who can property share or 
who wish to take in a lodger, with a model legal agreement being supplied free for 
any tenant taking in a lodger; 

• Examining the effectiveness and use of the housing exchange and transfer option; 

• Promoting the services and the offer of the AGMA Help with Rent housing team 
which supports tenants moving into smaller properties; 

• Explore the adoption of a no eviction policy and the creation of a hardship fund 
using monies from the Housing Revenue Account to meet the rent arrears for 
tenants who under-occupy Council properties but who are actively seeking a move 
until such time as two reasonable offers of alternative accommodation have been 
made;  

• Examining the legal remedies available to the authority to take possession of 
properties that are abandoned or grossly under-occupied 

 

3. Councillor Harkness to MOVE and Councillor Sedgwick to SECOND:  

 

This Council, being committed to supporting local jobseekers to secure employment, 
recognises that there are practical barriers that prevent jobseekers from attending job 
interviews or taking up employment opportunities.  
Council is heartened to hear of the support made available to benefit claimants through 
Job Centre Plus, particularly: 

•    Access to the Flexible Support Fund from which payments can be made to 
“remove any barrier to employment” for a claimant, including reimbursing travel 
expenses and unavoidable overnight accommodation, providing work clothes 
and tools, and meeting the cost of specialist training provision. 

• The new Travel Support to Jobseekers pilot in Greater Manchester that enables 
claimants to claim a travel voucher that can be exchanged for a day’s travel on 
public transport for the purposes of job-seeking, coupled with a concessionary  
travel ticket for only £25 in each of the first three months of employment. 

• The Stagecoach Group “Back on Board” scheme which permits claimants to 
receive a 50% discount on the majority of Stagecoach services. 

• Assistance with travel planning from Job Centre Plus advisors and Transport for 
Greater Manchester.  

This Council is however disappointed that this support is not more widely publicised 
to eligible claimants. 
Council therefore resolves to: 

• Promote this provision via elected members, the Make the Most of Your Money 
and Get Oldham Working teams, District Executives, Parish Councils and 
partner agencies such as the Oldham Work Club Network, the Citizens’ Advice 
Bureau and the Oldham Credit Union to maximise take up  

• Seek training from Transport for Greater Manchester so appropriate officers in 
each of the localities can become travel planning ‘champions’  

• Negotiate with Job Centre Plus and Transport for Greater Manchester to secure 



stocks of the daily travel vouchers and establish a mechanism by which these 
can be disbursed through district centres so local claimants need not travel to 
the Oldham Job Centre to submit a claim 

• Seek to negotiate a similar concessionary scheme from Metrolink in conjunction 
with TfGM and the other AGMA authorities 

14 To note the Minutes of the following Joint Authority and Oldham Partnership meetings 
and the relevant spokespersons to respond to questions from Members (Pages 53 - 
110) 

 (time limit 15 minutes):- 
 

Association of Greater Manchester 
Authorities Executive 
 

27th September 2013 
25th October 2013 

Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority  
 

27th September 2013 
25th October 2013 

Police and Crime Panel 
 

26th July 2013 

Transport for Greater Manchester 13th September 2013 
11th October 2013 
15th November 2013 
 

National Park Authority 
 

4th October 2013 

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue 
Authority 
 

17th October 2013 

Unity Partnership Board 4th September 2013 
 

15 LGA Corporate Peer Challenge: Oldham Council, October 2013 - Report of Deputy 
Chief Executive (Pages 111 - 140) 

16 Appointment of the Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service - Report of the 
Assistant Executive Director, People Services (Pages 141 - 146) 

17 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 - Report of the Borough Treasurer 
(Pages 147 - 326) 

 The background documents to the Local Council Tax Reduction scheme are avaible in 
hard copy at Access Oldham, Civic Reception and the Group Rooms. 

18 A Co-operative Approach to the use of Council Assets - Report of Executive Director 
Commercial Services (Pages 327 - 390) 
 
The background documents to the C-operative approach to Council Assets are avaible 
in hard copy at Access Oldham, Civic Reception and the Group Rooms. 

19 Civic Appreciation Nomination - Report of the Chief Executive (Pages 391 - 394) 



20 Constitution Review - Report of the Borough Solicitor (Pages 395 - 400) 

21 Update on Actions from Council (Pages 401 - 446) 

 

 



 

PROCEDURE FOR NOTICE OF MOTIONS 

NO AMENDMENT 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROCEDURE FOR NOTICE OF MOTIONS 

 
WITH AMENDMENT 

PROCEDURE FOR NOTICE OF MOTIONS 
 
                                                WITH AMENDMENT 
 

                                    

MOTION – Mover of the Motion to MOVE 

MOTION – Seconder of the Motion to SECOND – May reserve right to 
speak 

DEBATE ON THE MOTION: Include Timings 

MOVER of Motion – Right of Reply 

VOTE – For/Against/Abstain 

Declare outcome of the VOTE 

RULE ON TIMINGS 
 
(a) No Member shall speak longer than five minutes on any Motion 
or Amendment, or by way of question, observation or reply, unless 
by consent of the Members of the Council present, he/she is allowed 
an extension, in which case only one extension of One Minute shall 
be allowed. 
 
(b) A Member replying to more than question will have up to five 
minutes to reply to each question. 



WITH AMENDMENT 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MOTION – Mover of the Motion to MOVE 

MOTION – Seconder of the Motion to SECOND – May reserve right to speak 

AMENDMENT – Mover of the Amendment to MOVE 

AMENDMENT – Seconder of the Amendment to SECOND 

DEBATE on the Amendment 
For Timings - (See Overleaf) 

AMENDMENT – Mover of Original 
Motion – Right of Reply 

AMENDMENT – Mover of Amendment – 
Right of Reply 

VOTE ON AMENDMENT ONLY – 
For/Against/Abstain – CARRIED/LOST 

Call for any debate on Substantive Motion as 
Amended and then Call upon Mover of 
Original Motion – Right of Reply 

Call for any debate 
on Original Motion 
and then Call upon 
Mover of Original 
Motion – Right of 
Reply 

VOTE – On Original 
Motion – 
For/Against/Abstain VOTE – ON SUBSTANTIVE MOTION as 

amended - For/Against/Abstain 

Declare Substantive Motion as amended 
Carried/Lost 

IF LOST –Declare 
Lost 

IF CARRIED – Declare Carried 

Declare outcome of 
the Vote 



 

COUNCIL 
23/10/2013 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: The Mayor – Councillor Hudson 
 
Councillors Akhtar, Alcock, Alexander, Ames, Azad, Ball, 
M Bashforth, S Bashforth, Battye, Beeley, Blyth, Briggs, 
Brownridge, A Chadderton, O Chadderton, Chauhan, Dawson, 
Dean, Dearden, J Dillon, P Dillon, Fielding, Garry, Haque, 
Harkness, Harrison, Heffernan, Hibbert, Hindle, Houle, Hussain, 
Iqbal, Jabbar, Judge, Larkin, Malik, McCann, McDonald, 
McLaren, McMahon, Moores, Newton, Price, Qumer, Rehman, 
Roughley, Salamat, Sedgwick, Shah, Sheldon, Shuttleworth, 
Stretton, Sykes, Thompson, Toor, Ur-Rehman, Williamson and 
Williams 
 

 

 

1   QUESTIONS TO CABINET MEMBERS FROM THE PUBLIC 
AND COUNCILLORS ON WARD OR DISTRICT ISSUES  

 

The Mayor advised the meeting that the next item in Open 
Council would be the Public Question Time. Questions had been 
received from members of the public and would be taken in the 
order that they had been received. If the questioner was not 
present then the question would appear on the screen in the 
Council Chamber. 
 
The following questions had been submitted: 
 
1. Question received from Mr Robert Allsopp 

“Recent research by the Local Government Association 
identified that councils spend £26 million a year with local 
newspapers on statutory notices, such as planning applications, 
and a further £18 million on other publicity. 

Here in Oldham the Council has placed all year a whole series 
of two-page advertisements with the Chronicle advertising 
courses with the Lifelong Learning Service and on 30th 
September alongside this a two-page colour spread appeared in 
the Chronicle about road repairs. 

At a time when Council finances are being squeezed, and less 
and less people chose to read papers and instead source their 
news from the Internet, surely this must be the time for the 
Council to review its spending with local newspapers. 

Can the Leader please tell me how much this Council’s current 
spend is on both statutory notices and non-statutory items? And 
how at this time of continued restraint in public spending this 
Council intends to reduce its non-statutory expenditure with local 
newspapers?" 

The Deputy Cabinet Member for Communications & Campaigns, 
Councillor Shah, gave the following response: 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



 

The council has a duty to let residents know about the services it 
provides for the tax-payer and how they can access them. It also 
needs to use all of the tools available to it to support the work it 
does.  
 
Local newspapers are just one of the ways the Council gets 
messages out but they are one of the most cost effective 
methods that are used. An advert in the local papers may cost 
around £250 but will reach eleven thousand people, whilst 
creating brochures and leaflets or writing to residents 
individually to promote services would cost thousands or 
potentially tens of thousands of pounds each time.  
 
Oldham has a daily evening newspaper as well as a weekly free 
newspaper. Not only do the local newspapers help get the 
message out about the work undertaken by the Council and help 
promote the services available; but they also fulfil a vital role in 
holding the council to account.  
 
This year just under £40,000 had been spent with the Oldham 
Evening Chronicle and around £20,000 with the Oldham 
Advertiser on statutory highways and planning notices, 
promotion of town centre events and activities to encourage 
visitors into Oldham Town Centre, promotion of council services, 
including lifelong learning courses, and free nursery places.  
 
One key example of how newspaper advertising supports the 
Council’s work is the adoption and fostering campaigns. These 
aim to recruit much needed carers for local children and use 
advertising in both the Advertiser and Chronicle as one means 
of getting the message out. The fostering and adoption 
campaigns have successfully recruited an additional 35 families 
last year – making a real difference to the lives of local children 
but also making significant savings on expensive care 
placements, for example every adopter recruited saves the 
council £27,000 per year.  
 
This year the Council have also advertised our work to support 
people affected by the Government’s welfare reforms – 
encouraging residents to contact the Council for support and 
advice.  
 
While the Council are always looking for ways to save money 
and communicate in more effective ways the successes with 
current campaigns shows that using newspaper advertising in 
the future cannot be ruled out.  
 
2. Question received from Dave Murphy  

“I understand that the Leader of this Council undertook a three 
day business trip to Japan, which encompassing travel, lasted 
from 27th to the 31st May 2013.  

I believe that this trip was undertaken on behalf of the 
Association of Greater Manchester Authorities and paid for by 
NADO, an agency of the Japanese Government. 

Page 2



 

I am sure the Leader will welcome the chance to make the facts 
about this trip plain to all, so I would like to ask him to please 
explain: 

• What was the purpose of the trip? 

• Who accompanied him on this trip from this Council, or 
the other authorities in Greater Manchester? 

• What were the reasons for the visit, and what he 
anticipates will be the benefits resulting from the visit to 
Oldham? 

• When he will be making the necessary declaration in his 
entry in the Register of Interests? 

• And lastly I am sure that the Leader will want to reassure 
the hard-pressed council tax payers of this borough that 
this trip was paid for in its entirety by the Japanese 
Government?” 

The Leader of the Council, Councillor McMahon, gave the 
following response: 

I visited Japan in May 2013 as a representative of AGMA's 
Executive.  The flights, transfers, accommodation and food had 
been arranged and directly paid for by NEDO, as part of their 
Smart Communities Summit. I was accompanied by Mark 
Atherton, GM's Director of Environment, who was also fully paid 
for by NEDO.   
The £15-£20m Greater Manchester Smart Communities project 
is funded by NEDO, an agency of the Japanese Government, 
and Greater Manchester had been asked to act as host city for 
one of a small number of Japanese international technology 
innovation trials 
Both I and Mark Atherton spoke at the Tokyo Smart 
Communities Summit, promoting Greater Manchester as an 
inward investment location, and strengthened links between 
Greater Manchester and a number of major multinational 
companies. 
Subject to a feasibility study, which is taking place between now 
and March 2014, this trial would introduce advanced smart 
network technology linking air source heat pumps to an ICT 
control system in between 300 and 600 homes in Greater 
Manchester. The project is an agreed priority in the Greater 
Manchester Low Carbon Hub work programme, and the visit 
was a necessary condition of our participation.  
 

Although this is a Greater Manchester wide programme, specific 
areas of interest for Oldham included the use of Oldham 
College's Green Technology Centre in the trial; Oldham 
engineering apprentices will be being trained to retrofit homes in 
Japan. 
 

3. Question from Stephen Barrow 

Page 3



 

“Will the Cabinet member responsible please tell me if there are 
any plans at present for a development of this nature on the 
site? 
 
And if so can she/he please outline: 
 

1. The Nature of the Development 
2. Which developers are involved 
3. What is the proposed time scale for development 
4. When the proposals will be open to public inspection and 

what public consultation will the Council carry out 
5. Will the current site security be looked at as the area has 

in the past been plagued by off road motorcycles?” 
 
The Cabinet Member for Environment and Housing, Councillor 
Hibbert, gave the following response: 
 
The planning permission for the reclamation of the site included 
the provision of a golf course when all landfill and remediation 
had taken place, the owners of the site were in the process of 
starting the golf course development, however, phase 1 would 
be limited to a driving range and 3 practice holes. A club house 
would eventually follow along with the expansion of the course. 
 
4. Question received from Ian Manners  
 
“What will OMBC's offer of  the preferred site in Diggle for the 
Government's Priority Schools Building Programme school for 
Saddleworth and the provision of a new school building, mean 
for the educational chances and amenity of the 
children and people of Saddleworth?” 
 
The Cabinet Member for Education, Employment & Skills, 
Councillor Amanda Chadderton, gave the following response: 
 
The new build will enhance the educational chances for the 
people of Saddleworth as it will provide additional school places 
which will help meet the community demand; it will provide an 
environment that will be fit for purpose; specifically designed for 
learning and recreation in the 21st century. It will offer an 
opportunity to consolidate learning into one purpose built space 
from what is currently sprawled across a series of poorly 
connected buildings and will be a better deal for tax payers’ with 
less money wasted on heating, repairs and maintenance. 
The existing school is not one fit for the 21st century, it 
represents a new opportunity and whilst it maybe a difficult few 
years we must not lose sight of the fact that the new build will 
significantly improve facilities for the children of Saddleworth, for 
their children and their children’s children.  
 
In summary this is an opportunity to provide the very best 
education offer for the centre of Saddleworth and provide a state 
of the art facility which will be accessible to the communities of 
Saddleworth. 
 
5. Question from Roger Pakeman 

Page 4



 

 
“Does the council agree that wages of even the lowest paid 
workers should be sufficient to live off?  Does the council agree 
that inequality has a profoundly damaging effect on rich and 
poor alike, and that no person's labour is worth 20 or 40 times 
what another person's is.  Will the council work towards 
introducing a living wage in Oldham, and to reducing the ratio of 
highest to lowest paid employees for council staff, council 
subcontractors and ultimately in the private sector in Oldham?”  
 
The Cabinet Member for Commissioning and Public Sector 
Reform, Councillor Harrison, gave the following response: 
 
Oldham Council actually introduced an Oldham Living Wage of 
£7.11 on 1st April 2012 which immediately benefited around 650 
employees within the Council.  In 2013, this minimum hourly rate 
was revised upwards and gave a new Oldham Living Wage of 
£7.33 per hour.  The Council currently operates a policy of 
having 3 unpaid leave days per year which reduces this rate to 
£7.24 per hour. This rate, effective from 1st April 2013 for 
Council directorate services benefited another 9 employees.   

 
In determining Oldham’s Living Wage, the Council reviewed 
research undertaken by New Economy Manchester in mid 2012. 
New Economy was commissioned to investigate the cost of 
living for a variety of different households in Greater 
Manchester. This work determined the rate of a Greater 
Manchester Living Wage at £7.22 per hour. Oldham Council 
increased its own Living Wage in response to this. 
 
It can be seen from the Council’s published pay policies, 
available via the internet that year on year, the relativities 
between the lowest and the highest paid within the Council are 
reducing, helped further this year by the council’s senior staff not 
receiving an annual pay award unlike all staff employed in 
accord with the National Joint Council pay spine.  
 
A Social Value Framework has been developed to achieve 
maximum value from every pound the Council spends. This 
framework ensures that social, economic and environmental 
outcomes are systematically incorporated into procurement 
practices, so that Oldham can achieve greater impact from each 
and every contract. Tenders are scored against these outcomes, 
and contracts monitored against them.   
 
The Council’s current tender documentation explains that all 
suppliers should aspire to paying a Living Wage and a 
commercial consideration is taken with each tender and quote to 
ensure that Oldham is the beneficiary of such Social Value but, 
at the same time, that the council does not face unexpected 
financial consequences as a result of a strict requirement. 
Nationally Oldham has been at the forefront in introducing such 
a robust framework.” 
 
 6. Question from Shaid Mushtaq and Zane Brown 

Page 5



 

 
“We are here today to represent the Oldham Labour 
Apprentices. We are a group of 17 young people who live, work 
or study in Oldham and are learning about local democracy and 
the role of Labour councillors in local authorities.  
We are concerned about the evils of loan sharks in our 
communities. Loan sharks have always sought to profit from 
poverty, but at a time when the Government’s Welfare Reforms 
are hitting Oldhamers hard, and in the run-up to Christmas when 
money is even tighter, we feel that the risks of people being 
tempted to borrow money from them are higher than ever. 
Could Cllr Stretton please tell us: 
 

What measures is Oldham Council taking to protect Oldham’s 
residents from loan sharks and support them with their 
finances? 
 

Would you be willing to meet with the Oldham Labour 
Apprentices and concerned local residents to discuss this issue 
and listen to our ideas?” 
 
The Cabinet Member for Cooperatives & Neighbourhoods, 
Councillor Stretton, gave the following response: 
 
“Loan sharks prey on most vulnerable residents. They are not 
licensed to conduct such activities and often charge exorbitant 
interest rates. 
 
The Council is working in partnership with the England Illegal 
Money Lending Team (IMLT) to encourage schools and colleges 
in Oldham to sign up to receive free lesson plans around illegal 
money lending which will be available from December.  The 
lesson plans cover key stages 2, 3, 4, and 5 and educate young 
people about financial inclusion, whilst talking sensitively about 
Loan Sharks.   
  
The Illegal Money Lending Team offers a dedicated helpline for 
individuals to report loan sharks.  However, some victims are 
reluctant to report this information via the telephone and prefer 
to speak to someone face to face.  As a result, the Council is 
looking to create a network of reporting centres across the 
Borough, which would provide an alternative method for 
residents to report intelligence.   
 
The Council supports the work of Oldham Credit Union to work 
with our residents to manage their finances and provide ethical 
affordable loans. We share intelligence with the Illegal Money 
Lending Team and support their investigations as well as 
communicating the illegal activities of loan sharks at every 
opportunity. I am more than happy to ask Officers to arrange a 
meeting to discuss your concerns further.”  
 
At this point in the meeting the Mayor advised that the time limit 
for Questions from members of the Public had expired. 
 

Page 6



 

The following questions were submitted by Councillors on Ward 
or District matters: 
 
1. Councillor Sedgwick to Councillor Stretton 
 
“I would like to ask a ward question on behalf of the many justly 
proud, former service veterans who reside in my ward and are 
also members of the Royal British Legion. 
 
I want to ask the relevant Cabinet member why it is that in a 
breath-taking piece of red tape gone mad war veterans wishing 
to parade at the Lees War Memorial on Remembrance Sunday 
in order to show the respect due to their fallen comrades are 
now required to complete an on-line risk assessment.  
 
These are the men and women, who, when this country was 
placed in its most mortal peril, rose above their inherent desire 
to remain safe, donned a uniform, took up arms and marched to 
the sound of the guns. 
 
They didn’t complete risk assessments when they faced a 
formidable foe on the beaches of Dunkirk or Normandy, nor on 
the Arctic or Atlantic high seas, nor in battling the Luftwaffe over 
Kent, nor in the paddy fields of Korea – and nor did their 
comrades who gave their all including their lives. 
 
This sudden and unjustified demand is both an insult to their 
memory – and the past service of those who remain alive – and 
a nonsense – as it flies in the face of common sense given that, 
ever since the memorial was first inaugurated in 1921, veterans 
of times past have been able to march without recourse to filling 
out forms, whether online or paper.  
 
Why is now they are suddenly so much more at risk when 
participating in this activity? 
 
Napoleon said an army marches on its stomach – I say this 
Council in this instance marches on overzealous bureaucracy. 
 
So I call upon the Cabinet member to take a deep breath, have 
a rethink and withdraw this insulting demand made of these 
most courageous citizens.” 
 
Councillor Stretton, Cabinet Member for Cooperatives & 
Neighbourhoods, gave the following response: 
 
Councillor Stretton responded that the question certainly was 
breathtaking in terms of the distasteful, emotive rhetoric, but was 
even more breathtaking in terms of the sheer lack of factual 
accuracy. 
Councillor Sedgwick had asked why organisers of the war 
memorial parade in Lees had been asked to fill out a risk 
assessment and Councillor Stretton advised that the short 
answer to that was – they had not.  Councillor Stretton also 
advised that if Councillor Sedgwick had asked her, the relevant 
officer or the Mayors assistants when this was first raised with 

Page 7



 

her she would know that. She wanted to be pictured outraged on 
the front page of the Chronicle, she wanted to come to this 
chamber to attempt to embarrass me and this administration.  
Actually it is Councillor Sedgwick who should be embarrassed 
by her own blatant abuse of the relationship that this council has 
with the Royal British Legion Organisers.   
 
Councillor Stretton informed the meeting that a concern had 
been raised by the police that these events had not been 
notified to the council on an event notification form as others 
are.  This would leave organisers open to question, and indeed 
litigation, if there was an incident. Organisers of all types of 
events had been asked to fill in, on line, an event notification 
form. A member of the Mayor’s team had contacted each 
organiser individually explaining that this was what was required 
and offered to assist. The Council did not ask for a Risk 
Assessment which was made clear when the member of the 
Mayor’s team spoke individually to each of the organisers.  
However, it was worth noting that the Royal British Legion’s own 
guidance to organisers since 2007 had been that they should 
complete them.   
 
Councillor Sedgwick had a range of options when she was 
asked about this – she could have checked the facts with a 
relevant officer, she could have contacted Councillor Stretton.  
As a former Mayor she would be aware how closely that office 
works with organisers and if she had contacted them she would 
have avoided being exposed this evening as being so ill 
informed.  Councillor Stretton closed by saying that gutter 
politics of the type the rest of the Council thought we had moved 
away from. 
 
2. Councillor S Bashforth to Councillor Hibbert 
 
“Despite my best efforts and the best efforts of OMBC's street 
lighting engineers I have still to resolve some issues arising from 
the installation of street lighting. 
  
Residents are losing patience and the responsibility for lack of 
progress is falling on elected members and damaging OMBC's 
reputation. 
  
What is most frustrating is the total lack of any meaningful 
response or action from EoN even for what are the simplest and 
very reasonable requests from residents affected. 
  
I urgently need a contact at EoN in order to resolve this problem. 
Who I can speak to and who has the authority to make things 
happen and not just pass on the problem, as is happening now. 
  
Can you help?” 
 
Councillor Hibbert, Cabinet Member for Environment & Housing 
gave the following response: 
 

Page 8



 

“I am disappointed to hear that there are outstanding issues and 
I have instructed senior officers to investigate the matter. The 
street lighting contract is with the Community Lighting 
Partnership and I have asked that the main representative be 
invited to attend a meeting to discuss your particular concerns.”  
 
Councillor Hibbert extended an invitation to Councillor Bashforth 
and other Ward Councillors to that meeting and advised that any 
issues that could not be resolved in this way would be directed 
to the client team who would explore the powers of the contract 
for the appropriate remedies.  
 
3. Councillor Beeley to Councillor Hibbert 
 
“Since Eon moved into my life and Ward in May/June of this 
year my casework load has increased significantly. I received an 
email today from the resident who reported the first fault on 
Dunham Street, Lees in June to say that it had finally been fixed.   
Then it was Grotton’s turn and lights were put in on one street 
but not where they had been agreed.  I was emailed by a 
resident who felt they should have been consulted about the 
change  They filled in the holes on that street having removed 
the old lamps only to forget to connect the electricity to one of 
the new ones.  
After that some holes on another street were left for over a 
month and I could not answer when a resident asked the 
question why.   
We have had areas of day-burners in all 3 villages of Grotton, 
Springhead and Lees.   
We were assured they were correct as the feed back was 
correct which was strange because I could see some of them 
from my window happily burning away.  
On the other hand I have to say thank you for the filter on the 
lamp outside my house – it is now dark enough to sleep. 
Whilst the lights when working do give a good light without it 
radiating unnecessarily over a wide area, I am disappointed at 
the execution of the contract and the lack of information 
voluntarily given to Councillors and residents.  
Could the Cabinet member please discuss with EON its lack of 
information sharing and come up with a scheme whereby at 
least Councillors are made aware of problems and the reasons 
so that they have the necessary answers to hand when 
contacted by residents?” 
 
Councillor Hibbert, Cabinet Member for Environment & Housing 
gave the following response: 
The street lighting PFI was entered into so as to enable the 
replacement of 80% of the Borough’s street lamps within a five 
year programme. We recognised that this was ambitious. 
However, the ageing stock was in need of significant investment 
and it was an opportunity to work with the private sector not only 
to upgrade the existing infrastructure but also to deliver energy 
savings in the future. We are now well into the second year with 
over 10,000 lamp posts now in place and although even one 
lamp post in the wrong place must be investigated, it must be 

Page 9



 

acknowledged that it is a very small percentage which actually 
results in complaints. 
 
The new lamps are each individually set by means of a 
significant period of “day burning” where the lamp remains lit for 
24 hours. This period can, occasionally, be longer. It is only 
when the control of the lamp from the central unit is recognised 
does it settle down to the regular pattern. This then enables the 
lighting levels to be controlled and, where it is safe to do so, 
consideration will be given to reducing the span of illumination. 
 
EON has been working with the Client Team to improve 
communications. As was recently reported back to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, this will be closely monitored and the 
contract enforced where any regular failure to comply is noted. 
 
Councillor Hibbert promised to keep all Ward Councillors 
informed to the best of his ability. 
 
4. Councillor Houle to Councillor Hibbert 
 
“I ask this question in regards to Councillor Sponsored Grit Bins 
in Chadderton North Ward.  
  
There are 6 Councillor sponsored grit Bins in Chadderton North 
which are a legacy from a previous councillor. They are placed 
where it was agreed there was a local need (not meeting the 
criteria) for self gritting when the conditions deteriorated. These 
Bins I am sure reduce the reliance upon the special call out for 
gritting service which the council operates, and must save on 
one off costs. 
  
We want to continue with their use. As members have been 
informed that if we want the bins filling, the charge is 4x the 
£74.64 single fill price, £298.56 per bin, this is because that is 
the average fill. The logic is flawed here. These bins by 
definition do not meet the criteria for free issue, so they would 
not be emptied at the same rate as those which meet the 
criteria. I find this one size fits all approach is unacceptable and 
cost prohibitive. It’s the cost of saying no. We could just have 
the bins removed on the basis that we can’t afford to pay up 
front.  
  
We have also been informed that the bins will be removed if we 
don’t request a fill. I find this unacceptable and against our belief 
that ‘little things matter’ and I suggest that a Councillor 
Sponsored grit bin is ‘a little thing that does matter’. 
   
As such I ask if you could support my request that the approach 
taken for Councillor Sponsored grit bins is overhauled to make it 
flexible and ‘pay as you go’?  
  
Can you do what you can to facilitate a service which is both 
flexible and allows us to carry out our elected member roles, 
with a local and cooperative approach, rather than a one size fits 

Page 10



 

all which does nothing to meet our aspirations for working 
locally?” 
 
Councillor Hibbert, Cabinet member for Environment & Housing 
gave the following response: 
 
The criterion for the filling of grit bins was part of the Council’s 
winter maintenance policy. As there was limited funding to cover 
bins which did not meet the criteria, the local choice for 
Members to fund grit bins had been given and therefore these 
were unfunded from the corporate revenue budget. 
 
The bins had been refilled considerably more than 4 times per 
year, the average had been between 7 and 8, and this had been 
taken as a low number to reflect the point made. These bins did 
not reduce local gritting as the Council focused on primary 
gritting routes followed by secondary routes which had all been 
identified in the winter plan, therefore they would not offer any 
cost saving on the revenue budget. The Council could move to a 
pay as you go arrangement however, as the current price was 
based round made up of all the grit bins in the area, ad hoc 
deliveries would obviously be considerably more expensive. 
 
Councillor Hibbert advised Ward Councillors to contact him if 
they thought that he could be of any assistance to them. 
 
5. Councillor McCann to Councillor McMcMahon 
 
“I am fully aware that the 180 service is a commercial bus 
service operated by First Bus. This runs from Greenfield, 
Saddleworth's largest village, to Manchester once an hour. 
  
This hourly service is a reduction from the previous 1/2 hourly 
service and means that many elderly and school children are 
suffering great inconvenience which can only get worse as 
winter approaches. 
  
A petition of well over 500 signatures has been passed to First 
Bus asking that the 1/2 hourly service be re-instated with if 
necessary the 180 service running only between Greenfield and 
Oldham as most passengers have Oldham as their destination 
rather than Manchester. 
 
This would hopefully enable First Bus to double the frequency of 
service whilst keeping bus mileage & driver time to the same 
level as the present hourly service. 
  
Therefore can I ask the Cabinet member to lend any support 
they can to improve this aspect of public transport in OMBC as 
part of the drive to a more responsive & cost effective public 
transport service.” 
 
Councillor McMahon, Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Strategic projects, gave the 
following response: 
 

Page 11



 

We have asked First to consider the reinstatement of a half 
hourly service. 
In response, First have advised that they are currently 
undertaking consultation with bus passengers and residents in 
the Saddleworth and Lees area to canvass their views.  
The issue of the hourly off peak service to Greenfield 
implemented in October 2012 had featured strongly at meetings 
so far and First have promised to give this due consideration. 
Concerns had been raised by Members that as budgets are 
squeezed and services are cut there was a need to ensure that 
residents would not be cut off from the jobs market. 
Both TfGM and Oldham Council will be looking for a positive 
result from First’s review of the consultation and the Council 
have asked to be kept up to date as the review progresses. The 
Leader asked for cross party support in order to secure the best 
deal for Oldham. 
 
6. Councillor Roughley to Councillor Hibbert 
 
“What success has the Highways Department / Unity had in 
establishing a Gritstore in Saddleworth ready for the forthcoming 
winter and what attempts have been made to find a suitable 
site?” 
 
Councillor Hibbert, Cabinet Member for Environment & Housing 
gave the following response: 
 
Every year Unity and the Highways Operations Team work 
closely with a number of other agencies to ensure that the 
Council is fully prepared for the winter season. This preparation 
work includes examining opportunities to establish a grit store 
more local to Saddleworth however, to this point a suitable site 
which could be effectively sanctioned by the Environment 
Agency and be financially viable to the Council has not as yet 
been identified. The Highways team have been very effective in 
recent years and have received numerous plaudits, including 
Saddleworth Parish Council, for their approach and actions 
during severe weather, in particular from the Saddleworth 
residents and elected members. With a particularly challenging 
winter last time around showed that with adequate planning and 
organisation the need for such a store is somewhat superfluous. 
 
At this point in the meeting the Mayor advised that the time limit 
for this item had expired. 

2   TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor 
Wrigglesworth. 

3   TO ORDER THAT THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF 
THE COUNCIL HELD ON 11TH SEPTEMBER 2013 BE 
SIGNED AS A CORRECT RECORD  

 

RESOLVED that, subject to the following amendments, the 
Minutes of the Council meeting held on 11th September 2013 be 
AGREED as a correct record: 

Page 12



 

• page 4, question 4, penultimate paragraph being 
amended to read Councillor S Bashforth, Deputy Cabinet 
Member for Neighbourhoods (Policing) gave the following 
response:Q..” 

• page 3  - response to June Wilde’s question from 
Councillor Jabbar  be amended to read as follows: 

 

• “Cllr Jabbar thanked Mrs Wilde for attending to raise her 
question. Cllr Jabbar advised that there are currently 
34,000 recipients of Single Person Discount in Oldham 
which the Audit Commission confirms is above the 
national average. Prior to issuing the letter the Council 
ran a campaign to allow residents who have had changes 
of circumstance to tell us. In relation to this specific 
question it would not be appropriate to discuss personal 
information in this forum as this is a matter between Mrs 
Wilde and the Council. Cllr Jabbar then offered to meet 
with Mrs Wilde and any representative at the 
Council offices or in her home to discuss her case to 
hopefully reach a satisfactory conclusion. The Mayor 
requested that Council be informed of the outcome.” 

4   TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN ANY 
MATTER TO BE DETERMINED AT THE MEETING  

 

In accordance with the Code of Conduct, Councillors Jabbar and 
McCann declared a personal interest in Item 14 Minutes of the 
Unity Partnership Board held on 18th June 2013, page 35, by 
virtue of their membership of the Board. 

5   TO DEAL WITH MATTERS WHICH THE MAYOR 
CONSIDERS TO BE URGENT BUSINESS  

 

There Mayor informed the meeting that no items of urgent 
business had been received. 

6   TO RECEIVE COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THE 
BUSINESS OF THE COUNCIL  

 

The Mayor advised the meeting that no communications relating 
to the business of the Council had been received. 

7   TO RECEIVE AND NOTE PETITIONS RECEIVED 
RELATING TO THE BUSINESS OF THE COUNCIL  

 

The Mayor advised the meeting that a petition had been 
received for noting by Council.  
 
RESOLVED that the following petition received since the last 
meeting be noted: 
 
Neighbourhoods 
 
Petition relating to charges for use of Shaw Road End Pitch by a 
football coach (received 26 September 2013) (145 signatures) 
(Ref 2013-019) 

8   OUTSTANDING BUSINESS FROM THE PREVIOUS 
MEETING  

 

Page 13



 

The Mayor informed the meeting that there was one item of 
Outstanding Business from the previous meeting as follows: 
 
1. Councillor Heffernan MOVED and Councillor Hindle 
SECONDED the 
 following motion: 
 
“Oldham Council notes and welcomes the recent action by the 
Office of Fair Trading to regulate the actions of ‘legal loan 
sharks’. 
 
This Council believes that unaffordable credit is socially and 
economically damaging, extracting wealth from the most 
deprived communities in our town and causing a myriad of 
unwanted effects such as poorer diets, colder homes, rent, 
council tax and utility arrears, depression and poor health. 
 
Much of this credit is provided by doorstep lenders, log book 
loan shops and pay day loan shops and websites, all of which 
are legal yet charge exorbitant rates of interest.  
 
This Council resolves to: 
 
Ask Overview and Scrutiny Board to examine whether Oldham 
Council should take a similar stance to other Councils in 
banning links to the websites of doorstep lenders, log book and 
payday loan companies from public computers located in 
libraries, community centres, youth clubs and other Council 
offices 
 

Ask the Chief Executive write to the relevant Government 
minister calling upon the government to: 
 
Implement as soon as possible legislation to cap the total 
lending rates that can be charged for providing credit. 
 
Provide local authorities with the power to veto licences for high 
street credit agencies where they could have a negative 
economic or social impact on host communities. 
 
Recognise the gap in the market for short-term loans at 
reasonable interest rates, and work with mainstream lenders to 
promote the development of suitable products. 
 
Ask the Chief Executive to write to the three local Members of 
Parliament seeking their support for the Council’s position and to 
make similar representations to government.” 
 
Councillor Stretton spoke in support of the Motion. 
Councillor McMahon spoke in support of the Motion. 
 
Councillor Heffernan exercised his right of reply. 
 
On being put to the vote FIFTY EIGHT votes were cast IN 
FAVOUR of the Motion with ONE ABSTENTION. The Motion 
was therefore CARRIED. 

Page 14



 

 
RESOLVED that:  
 
1. The Overview and Scrutiny Board be requested to examine 
whether Oldham Council should take a similar stance to other 
Councils in banning links to the websites of doorstep lenders, 
log book and payday loan companies from public computers 
located in libraries, community centres, youth clubs and other 
Council offices. 
2. The Chief Executive be requested to write to the relevant 
Government minister calling upon the government to: 

• Implement as soon as possible legislation to cap the total 
lending rates that can be charged for providing credit. 

• Provide local authorities with the power to veto licences 
for high street credit agencies where they could have a 
negative economic or social impact on host communities. 

• Recognise the gap in the market for short-term loans at 
reasonable interest rates, and work with mainstream 
lenders to promote the development of suitable products. 

3. The Chief Executive be requested to write to the three local 
Members of Parliament seeking their support for the Council’s 
position and to make similar representations to government. 

9   YOUTH COUNCIL   

Youth Councillors spoke on the following Motion: 
 
“The Oldham Youth Council priority campaign of unemployment 
has been active for 18 months, throughout this campaign work 
experience has been an issue consistently highlighted by the 
young people we have consulted.  
In July 2013 the employability leads organised the YOU event in 
partnership with Unity. This was a focussed consultation event 
with young people from across Oldham that aimed to explore 
what young people feel are the barriers they face to gaining 
employment and what Young people feel they can do to be 
better able to move into the world of work. Furthermore as part 
of the UK Youth Parliament make your mark ballot, we 
consulted nearly 7,000 young people in Oldham and found that 
work experience was voted the fourth most important issue out 
of 15. This reinforces that young people in Oldham strongly 
believe that the lack of work experience must be acted upon. 
In September 2012 the Government removed the statutory duty 
on schools to provide work related learning at Key Stage 4, 
including work experience. This has lead to some schools in 
Oldham no longer offering work experience at all, or only 
offering limited opportunities. 
Young people have told us that lack of experience is the single 
biggest reason they are given for not getting a Job. Many young 
people expressed frustration and concern that they need 
experience to get a job but can’t get experience without a job. 
The solution is quality work experience while still in education. 
We believe that work experience must be of a higher standard 
and available in all schools and academies, in order to combat 
the youth unemployment issue in our borough.  
We propose that there is a scrutiny review of work experience 
offered across Oldham and that this is used to influence schools 

Page 15



 

to reinstate a quality work experience offer to young people at 
Key Stage 4.” 
 
Councillor McMahon spoke in support of the Motion thanking the 
Youth Council for all the hard work that they had put into the 
motion. 
Councillor Harrison spoke in support of the motion. 
Councillor A Chadderton spoke in support of the motion and 
asked the Youth Council to work with the Council over the next 
few months and get involved with the review. 
Councillor Williamson spoke in support of the motion agreeing 
with Councillor Chadderton that the way forward was to refer to 
Overview & Scrutiny and ask the Youth Council to work with the 
Council to take this forward. 
 
RESOLVED that: 

1. The motion be referred to Overview & Scrutiny for review. 
2. The Youth Council be invited to take part in the review. 

10   LEADER AND CABINET QUESTION TIME   

The Leader of the Opposition, Councillor Sykes, raised the 
following three questions: 
 
1. “This Council has a long history of working on a cross-party 
basis to recognise the commitment, dedication and, tragically on 
occasions, self-sacrifice of citizens of this Borough who are or 
have been service personnel in Her Majesty’s armed forces or in 
the emergency services. 
  
This has included awarding the honorary title of Freemen of the 
Borough to members of the Royal Tank Regiment, supporting 
the retention of the 2nd Battalion of the Royal Regiment of 
Fusiliers and endorsing the Royal British Legion Manifesto and 
the Government’s Armed Forces Covenant. 
 
In recent months, my colleague, Councillor John McCann, has 
proposed, on behalf of the Liberal Democrat Group, that streets 
be named in this Borough after fallen service personnel and that 
ex-service personnel seeking employment with this Council be 
offered guaranteed interviews. 
  
I am pleased to say that these two proposals have found favour 
with my fellow councillors.  
 
With Remembrance Sunday next month and the 100th 
anniversary of the commencement of the First World War next 
year, I therefore welcome the recent announcement by the 
Leader to implement measures to make the Council’s 
commitment to the Armed Forces Covenant a reality at a local 
level. 
 
My first question to the Leader tonight comes in three parts: 
 
Could he please outline for Council what presently these 
measures will be? 

Page 16



 

Will he charge a cabinet member with responsibility for 
championing these measures, as has been done by 
neighbouring Rochdale, for example? 
Will he be happy to support my call for overview and scrutiny 
board to identify best practice from other local authorities that 
can be adopted here and to consult with relevant organisations 
in our Borough for their recommendations, such as veterans’ 
associations and charities which provide support for ex-service 
personnel?”  
 
Councillor McMahon, Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Strategic Projects, informed the 
meeting that he would welcome cross party working to support 
the armed forces but considered that this was not helped by 
Elected Members using the issue as a political football. 
Councillor Cath Ball had been appointed as the Cabinet lead on 
2014 year of remembrance and had already led an aggressive 
campaign on the refurbishment of the Borough’s War 
Memorials. 
 
2. “I am sure that the Leader will join me in condemning the 
recent stabbing in Shaw.  
 
For many months, over 12 in fact, ward members have both at 
district meetings and at meetings with the police reported 
recurring instances of anti-social and intimidating behaviour by a 
gang of young offenders in central Shaw, and have repeatedly 
demanded action. 
 
Despite the police undertaking undercover operations, I am 
convinced that the lack of visibility of PCSOs in Shaw has meant 
that this gang has operated without apparent interference for 
months (that is what the public think) – and this unsatisfactory 
situation has now led to this stabbing.  
 
The Leader may recall that at last December’s Council I asked 
him to join me in condemning a change in procedure requiring 
Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) to parade at 
Oldham Police Station prior to deployment to their assigned 
beat?  
 
This has meant that PCSOs have less time on the beat to 
actually detect crime, apprehend criminals and help the public 
as they now have to travel between central Oldham and Royton, 
Shaw and elsewhere, rather than simply reporting for duty on 
their beat at the start of a shift.  
In Shaw, this has resulted in us now hardly ever seeing any 
PCSO’s in our town centre, and the public have noticed and 
regularly comment about this fact at every opportunity. 
 
At December’s Council, the Leader agreed that a meeting 
should be arranged for Group Leaders to discuss our concerns 
about the new arrangements with the Police.   
 
This appears not to have happened? 
  

Page 17



 

In light of the recent incident in Shaw, can I again request that 
the Leader agree to arrange such a meeting as a matter of 
urgency?” 
 
Councillor McMahon, Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Strategic Projects, addressed the 
broader issues and stated that the reason why there were fewer 
officers on the beat was because less funding had been made 
available by Central Government. Greater Manchester had had 
£1.2M taken from its budget at the same time that public 
spending had increased. Councillor McMahon paid tribute to 
Greater Manchester Police for balancing the books in such 
difficult times and added that he would not be attacking them 
when they are doing their best with reduced resources. 
 
Councillor Steve Bashforth, Deputy Cabinet Member for 
Neighbourhoods (Policing) informed the meeting that he was 
fully aware of the problems in Shaw and at the last District 
Partnership had made an offer to assist with these issues. The 
Commissioner was actually providing additional resources to 
help deal with this and had also offered to attend a mini summit 
in Shaw. Councillor Bashforth had spoken to the Chief 
Superintendent who was taking the issue very seriously and he 
encouraged Councillor Sykes and Councillor Blyth to attend the 
meeting to help resolve the matter. 
 
With regard to the issue of Police working in the Town Centre 
and not in local areas Councillor Bashforth informed the meeting 
that this was being looked at and a meeting would be arranged 
which would be dedicated to discussing these particular issues. 
 
3. In this chamber in the recent past, we have had a number of 
discussions about how we can revitalise and support our high 
street.  
 
I hope that the Leader will agree with me that one of the irritants 
deterring shoppers from returning to our town centre is being 
accosted by one of the many fund-raisers (known less 
affectionately as ‘chuggers’, or charity muggers) who seem ever 
prevalent on our high street? 
 
Although sporting garments advertising whichever charity of the 
day they are promoting, many of these individuals are in fact 
employed by agencies.  
 
These agencies operate for profit through taking a fee from 
funds raised and in turn pay commission to the fund-raiser. 
 
Can the Leader please tell Council what is being done by this 
Administration to regulate the activities of these ‘fund-raisers’, in 
particular to ensure that shoppers and visitors to our town are 
not harassed and that 100% of the money raised goes directly to 
the charity?” 
 
Councillor McMahon, Leader of the Council and Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Strategic Projects, advised the 

Page 18



 

meeting that the vibrancy of the High Street was worthy of 
discussion in another forum. The people currently operating in 
our High Street are professional fundraisers brought in from 
other towns who accost shoppers collecting for these charities; 
they are not helping Oldham charities at all. The Council needed 
to take a view as to what type of town centre and atmosphere it 
wants to create and if it wants to create opportunities for local 
charities to operate in the town centre? 
 
The spokesperson for the Conservative Group, Councillor 
Sheldon, raised the following observation/request: 
 
1. Whilst Councillor Sheldon applauded the Council’s actions in 
supporting the Borough’s markets by way of a double page 
advert in the local press he expressed his disappointment at the 
omission of the Wednesday Market in Uppermill and the Sunday 
Flea Market and requested that future advertisements included 
the Saddleworth markets? Councillor Sheldon also objected to 
the use of the term “over the hill” with reference to Saddleworth. 
 
Councillor McMahon pointed out that only Council operated 
markets would have been included in any advertisement. 
Markets organised by the private sector would have the 
opportunity to place their own advertisements. Councillor 
McMahon also pointed out that geographically Saddleworth was 
“over the hill” from Failsworth, however the Council was very 
proud that Saddleworth was in the Borough and would do 
everything they could to promote it. 
 
Advance notice had been given of questions relating to the 
following: 
 
1. Question from Councillor P Dillon 
 
“A report was issued in August by the Money Advice Trust. It 
stated that Councils have used bailiffs 1.8 million times in the 
last year to recover debts and alleged debts. 
The Citizens Advice Bureaux has stated “that may bailiffs 
overstate their powers, act aggressively, and bump up debts by 
levying excessive and illegal fees and charges.” This has the 
effect of driving people into the hands of loan sharks and pay 
day lenders. They also said “All too often debts, like unpaid 
council tax are passed to bailiffs too quickly adding that 
“creditors such as councils should be identifying debt problems 
earlier offering support.” 
There has also been an instance recently of bailiffs and this 
Council not following correct procedures in trying to recover a 
debt that didn’t exist. The first the people concerned knew about 
the alleged debt to the Council was when the bailiff turned up on 
their doorstep and gained entry to their home. I also noticed 
when reading the documents the bailiff gave to the people that 
the bailiffs are using a premium rate number which costs up to 7 
pence per minute to call, this is an utter disgrace.  
I am sure that the Cabinet Member will agree with me that a visit 
from an aggressive bailiff is a very frightening experience for 
anyone but particularly in this case when the Council had made 

Page 19



 

a mistake. One wonders how much this mistake has cost this 
Council in monetary terms. 
Would the Cabinet Member for Finance outline all procedures 
involved in debt collection up to instructions to bailiffs? Would he 
also confirm that people with debt problems are offered help 
from the Council’s Money Advice Service and details of the 
Citizens Advice Bureaux?” 
 
Before responding to the question Councillor Jabbar thanked the 
Mayor for his contribution to last night’s Awards Ceremony. 
Councillor Jabbar summarised the debt collection process 
currently in operation, prior to the instruction to a bailiff; this 
process provided residents with numerous opportunities to make 
payment and to engage with the Council Tax Team to discuss 
payment and any difficulties which they may be experiencing. 
He pointed out that under the previous administration the 
process had been a very aggressive one and when Labour had 
taken control of the Council a more palatable service was 
introduced whereby external bailiffs were now only used when 
the residents had moved out of the Borough. 
Councillor Jabbar informed the meeting that people with debt 
problems could seek advice from a number of sources including 
the recently established Personal Budgeting Support Team, the 
Citizens Advice Bureau and the Council’s benefits staff. 
Confirmation that the premium call rate for people living outside 
the Borough was 7pence per minute was also given. 
The total number of cases passed for the year 2012/13 was 
987with 429 in 2013/14. 
 
2. Question from Councillor Blyth 
 
Now that seven out of nine Countryside Rangers are no longer 
in post, has the Cabinet Member any plans to train an army of 
volunteers to take on these roles? 
 
Councillor Hibbert thanked Councillor Blyth for recognising the 
importance of both volunteering and the get Oldham Working 
initiative, however, he pointed out that the Council would not be 
replacing core roles with volunteers as this would defeat the 
object of Get Oldham Working.  
 
At this point in the meeting the Mayor advised that the time limit 
for this item had expired. 
 
RESOLVED that the questions raised and the responses given 
be noted. 

11   TO NOTE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS OF THE 
CABINET HELD ON THE UNDERMENTIONED DATES, 
INCLUDING THE ATTACHED LIST OF URGENT KEY 
DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST MEETING OF THE 
COUNCIL, AND TO RECEIVE ANY QUESTIONS OR 
OBSERVATIONS ON ANY ITEMS WITHIN THE MINUTES 
FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL WHO ARE NOT 
MEMBERS OF THE CABINET, AND RECEIVE 
RESPONSES FROM CABINET MEMBERS  

 

Page 20



 

The Cabinet Minutes for the meeting held on 29th July 2013 
were submitted. 
 
The following observations were made: 
 
1. Councillor Thompson – Cabinet Meeting – 29th July 2013, 
page 33, Agenda Item 10, - Quarter 4 Performance. Reference 
was made to the fact that the figures in the report referred to the 
last financial year, which was unfortunate. 
Councillor Thompson stated that the key figures were way out 
and that the explanation that had been given “that the invoices 
had come in late”, in her opinion was appalling; she asked for an 
assurance that this would not happen again. Councillor 
Thompson suggested that perhaps the current targets were not 
sufficiently challenging and gave examples to illustrate this. 
Councillor Thompson also pointed out that comparison with last 
year’s figures would be a better way to understand performance 
and suggested that perhaps a performance report should be 
submitted to Council in its own right and become a standing 
agenda item twice a year. 
 
Councillor McMahon pointed out that you could not expect to 
take £150m out of a budget and it not to have an impact; 
however, according to the recent survey, during the last few 
years resident satisfaction had increased from 22% in 2008 to 
65% today. Councillor McMahon stated that he was proud of 
what the Council had achieved, the people of Oldham were 
responding to the Council providing services and he was 
disappointed that these achievements had not been recognised 
by some members. 
 
2. Councillor Alcock – Cabinet meeting – 29th July 2013, page 
33, Agenda Item 10, - Quarter 4 Performance. – Does the 
Council use external bailiffs for collection? 
 
Councillor Jabbar, Cabinet Member for Finance advised that 
external bailiffs were only used when collecting outside the 
Borough. 
 
RESOLVED that:  
 
1. The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 29th July 2013 be 
noted. 
2. The questions put forward at the meeting and the responses 
given be noted.  

12   NOTICE OF ADMINISTRATION BUSINESS   

Motion 1 
 
Councillor Moores MOVED and Councillor Shuttleworth 
SECONDED the following motion: 
 
“The Conservative Government recently announced a series of 
proposals regarding parking rules and regulations. These 
proposals include “banning static CCTV parking cameras and 

Page 21



 

car mounted cameras, instead allowing only visible traffic 
wardens to film vehicles”.  
Inconsiderate and dangerous parking is something we all have 
experience of. Residents who live close to schools are plagued 
by car drivers who think that they have an automatic right to 
park their car as close as possible to the school gates; these 
drivers are lacking in common courtesy and have little respect 
for other road users.  
When used appropriately, CCTV equipment - both static and car 
mounted -plays a vital part in the enforcement of parking 
restrictions that have been put in place to prevent accidents, 
maintain traffic flow and to prevent local residents being 
inconvenienced.  
It is of considerable concern to this Council that any changes to 
the law limiting the use of static and mobile CCTV equipment 
will have a detrimental effect on parking enforcement activities, 
particularly around schools. 
This council resolves: 
to write to the Communities Secretary Eric Pickles and 
Transport Secretary Patrick McLoughlin, asking them to 
reconsider the proposal to ban the use static and car mounted 
CCTV cameras; 
to write to the three local MPs asking them to support OMBC’s 
position that static CCTV and car-mounted parking cameras are 
a legitimate enforcement tool.” 
 
Councillor McCann spoke in support of the Motion 
Councillor Judge spoke in support of the Motion. 
 
Without further debate Members moved to the vote. 
 
On being put to the vote FIFTY SEVEN VOTES were cast IN 
FAVOUR of the MOTION with ONE ABSTENTION. The 
MOTION was therefore CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED that:  
 
1. The Chief Executive write to the Communities Secretary Eric 
Pickles and Transport Secretary Patrick McLoughlin, asking 
them to reconsider the proposal to ban the use static and car 
mounted CCTV cameras; and 
2. The Chief Executive write to the three local MPs asking them 
to support Oldham Council’s position that static CCTV and car-
mounted parking cameras are a legitimate enforcement tool. 
 
 
Motion 2 
 
Councillor McMahon MOVED and Councillor Sykes 
SECONDED the following motion: 
 
“This council notes  

• that England is now widely recognised to be the country 
with the most centralised system of government in 
Europe; 

Page 22



 

•  that devolution has brought decisions about tax and 
spending, and the quality of public services, closer to 
voters in Scotland and Wales, while English voters have 
not gained comparably greater influence over decision-
making that affects their taxes and services; and 
considers: 

• that the likely scale of change in how public services are 
funded and provided  makes it democratically 
unsustainable for those changes to be decided within the 
existing over-centralised model; 

• that services need to be reformed and integrated across 
local agencies to enable them to prevent problems rather 
than picking up the pieces; 

• that voters should be given back a meaningful say on a 
wider range of tax and spending decisions, through 
place-based budgetary arrangements, the abolition of the 
discredited Barnett formula and the reinstatement of fair 
financial distribution agreed among English councils, the 
re-creation of a municipal bond market, and the certainty 
of multi-year funding settlements for the life of a 
Parliament; 

• that central government should enable that local 
decision-making by joining up and reducing in size 
Whitehall departments in order to facilitate local place-
based budgets, by reducing Ministers’ powers to  
intervene in local decisions, and replacing bureaucratic 
tick-box inspection regimes with local service users 
champions; and 

• that such a new more mature settlement between central 
and local government should be put beyond future 
revision by giving formal constitutional protection to local 
democracy; and resolves: 

 

• to support the Local Government Association’s Rewiring 
Public Services campaign, which embodies these 
objectives; 

• to ask the borough’s Members of Parliament to support 
the Rewiring Public Services campaign to improve local 
voters’ influence over services, tax and spending; and 

• to ask the Chief Executive of the Council to write to the 
Secretary of State to make the council’s position on this 
issue clear.” 

 
 
On being put to the vote FIFTY SEVEN VOTES were cast IN 
FAVOUR of the MOTION with ONE ABSTENTION. The 
MOTION was therefore CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1. This Council support the Local Government Association’s 
Rewiring Public Services campaign, which embodies these 
objectives; 

Page 23



 

2. The Borough’s Members of Parliament be requested to 
support the Rewiring Public Services campaign to improve local 
voters’ influence over services, tax and spending; and 
3. The Chief Executive write to the Secretary of State to make 
the Council’s position on this issue clear. 
 
Motion 3 
 
Councillor Jabbar Moved and Councillor Harrison SECONDED 
the following motion: 
 
This council notes that: 

• Oldham residents are currently being contacted by 
companies offering to have their Council Tax valuation 
band lowered for a substantial fee; 

• This service is in fact already available free of charge 
from the Manchester Valuation Office Agency; 

• The Manchester Valuation Office Agency is signposted 
on the Council Tax section of Oldham Council’s website, 
but; 

• Many residents who are unaware of this free service may 
be persuaded to part with their money unnecessarily. 

•  
And resolves to: 
 

• Continue in its financial exploitation awareness-raising 
campaigns; and 

• Further promote the work of the Manchester Valuation 
Office agency through the Oldham Council website, 
Borough Life magazine, social media and Neighbourhood 
Teams. 

 
Councillor Beeley spoke in support of the motion. 
Councillor Sheldon requested clarification as to whether or not 
re-evaluation was available to businesses as well as households 
and Councillor Jabbar, Cabinet Member for Finance, confirmed 
that this was the case. 
 
Councillor Jabbar exercised his right of reply. 
 
On being put to the vote FIFTY SEVEN VOTES were cast IN 
FAVOUR of the MOTION with ONE ABSTENTION. The 
MOTION was therefore CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

• 1. This Council continues in its financial exploitation 
awareness-raising campaigns; and 

• 2. Council further promotes the work of the Manchester 
Valuation Office agency through the Oldham Council 
website, Borough Life magazine, social media and 
Neighbourhood Teams. 

13   NOTICE OF OPPOSITION BUSINESS   

Motion 1 

Page 24



 

 
Councillor Blyth MOVED and Councillor J Dillon SECONDED 
the following motion: 
 
“This Council recognises the courage and dedication of the men, 
women and animals of our mountain rescue services. In many 
locations in the UK, they provide an invaluable service to many 
people who find themselves in need on our nearby hills and 
mountains.  
Locally, many motorists, walkers and climbers owe a debt of 
gratitude to volunteers from the Oldham Mountain Rescue 
Service who have risked life and limb to help others, sometimes 
in treacherous conditions. 
This service is reliant upon voluntary public donations, yet 
unhelpfully at present they have to pay VAT on supplies.  
In February 2010, Council unanimously passed a resolution 
calling upon the Government to exempt the Oldham Mountain 
Rescue Service from VAT. 
This Council again reiterates its position that these invaluable 
services should be exempt from VAT and resolves that the Chief 
Executive: 
Write to the Chancellor of the Exchequer requesting a VAT 
exemption be put in place as soon as possible 
Write to the Borough’s three MPs asking them to support the 
Council’s position.” 
 
Councillor McDonald spoke in support of the motion and 
suggested that the Council look into the possibility of assisting 
with the purchase of equipment and the payment of VAT. 
Councillor Battye spoke in support of the motion. 
 
At this point in the meeting it was MOVED that the motion be put 
to the vote. 
Councillor Blyth exercised his right of reply and the motion was 
then put to the vote. 
 
On being put to the vote FIFTY SEVEN VOTES were cast IN 
FAVOUR of the MOTION with ONE ABSTENTION. The 
MOTION was therefore CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 
1. This Council again reiterates its position that these invaluable 
services should be exempt from VAT and that the Chief 
Executive write to the Chancellor of the Exchequer requesting a 
VAT exemption be put in place as soon as possible 
2. The Chief Executive write to the Borough’s three MPs asking 
them to support the Council’s position. 
 
Motion 2 
 
Councillor Sedgwick MOVED and Councillor Roughley 
SECONDED the following motion: 
“This Council recognises that winter represents a time when, 
with the onset of bad weather, the elderly, disabled and 

Page 25



 

vulnerable residents of our borough can become trapped in their 
homes. 
Council recognises the merit of the approach adopted by other 
local authorities, who have asked active citizens to sign up to be 
‘snow angels’. Participants are provided with snow shovels, 
gloves and grit, and they pledge to clear the pathways in their 
area and check upon their neighbours to offer help.  
This low-cost approach completely resonates with Oldham 
Council’s commitment to become a more co-operative borough; 
accordingly Council resolves to ask Overview and Scrutiny 
Board to establish the dynamics of such a scheme and to work 
with local District Executives, Parish Councils and local 
corporate sponsors to make the scheme a reality in every part of 
the borough in time for the onset of winter.” 
 
At this point in the meeting the Mayor informed Council that an 
amendment to the motion had been received; however a 
request had now been received to withdraw the amendment. 
 
Councillor HIBBERT as MOVER of the AMENDMENT and 
Councillor AMES as SECONDER of the AMENDMENT 
requested Council’s permission to withdraw the AMENDMENT. 
 
On being put to the vote Council AGREED that the 
AMENDMENT be WITHDRAWN. 
 
Without further discussion a vote was then taken on the motion. 
 
On being put to the vote FIFTY SEVEN VOTES were cast IN 
FAVOUR of the MOTION with ONE ABSTENTION. The 
MOTION was therefore CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED that the Overview and Scrutiny Board be asked to 
establish the dynamics of such a scheme and to work with local 
District Executives, Parish Councils and local corporate 
sponsors to make the scheme a reality in every part of the 
borough, in time for the onset of winter. 
 
Motion 3 
 
Councillor Beeley MOVED and Councillor Thompson 
SECONDED the following motion: 
 
“In 2012-13, self-build schemes delivered almost 11,000 new 
homes in the UK in an industry worth approximately £4 billion to 
the nation’s economy. 
The Government has just announced an initiative, backed by 
£65 million in grant funding, to support those on lower incomes 
to self-build. 
This Council resolves to ask the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
to: 
identify the measures that this Council can adopt to support the 
self-build initiative and to assist local groups looking to self-build 
to access Government funding.” 
 
AMENDMENT 

Page 26



 

Councillor Hibbert MOVED and Councillor Briggs SECONDED 
the following amendment: 
 
“2nd Paragraph 
Delete ‘The Government has just’, insert ‘Some time ago, 
Oldham Council’;  delete ‘backed by £65 million in grant 
funding’;  delete  ‘on lower incomes’, insert ‘those who wished’. 
1st bullet point: 
Delete ’the’, insert ‘any further’; delete ‘this’, insert ‘Oldham’. 
2nd bullet point: 
Delete ’Government’, insert ‘any available’. 
The resolution will now read: 
In 2012-13, self-build schemes delivered almost 11,000 new 
homes in the UK in an industry worth approximately £4 billion to 
the nation’s economy. 
Some time ago, Oldham Council announced an initiative, to 
support those those who wished to self-build. 
This Council resolves to ask the Overview and Scrutiny Board 
to: 
Identify any further measures that Oldham Council can adopt to 
support the self-build initiative 
And to assist local groups looking to self-build to access any 
available funding” 
 
No Member spoke on the amendment. 
 
Councillor Beeley exercised her right of reply. 
Councillor Hibbert exercised his right of reply. 
 
On being put to the vote FORTY THREE VOTES were cast IN 
FAVOUR of the AMENDMENT with THIRTEEN VOTES cast 
AGAINST AND TWO ABSTENTIONS. The AMENDMENT was 
therefore CARRIED. 
 
On being put to the vote FORTY THREE VOTES were cast IN 
FAVOUR OF the MOTION AS AMENDED with THIRTEEN 
VOTES cast AGAINST and TWO ABSTENTIONS 
The MOTION AS AMENDED was therefore CARRIED. 
 
RESOLVED that Overview and Scrutiny Board be requested to: 
 
1. Identify any further measures that Oldham Council can adopt 
to support the self-build initiative 
2. Assist local groups looking to self-build to access any 
available funding. 

14   TO NOTE THE MINUTES OF THE FOLLOWING JOINT 
AUTHORITY AND OLDHAM PARTNERSHIP MEETINGS 
AND THE RELEVANT SPOKESPERSONS TO RESPOND 
TO QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS  

 

Minutes of the Joint Authorities were submitted as follows: 
 

Unity Partnership Board 
 

  18th June 2013 

Greater Manchester Waste Disposal 
Authority 

14th June 2103 

Page 27



 

 
Association of Greater Manchester 
Authorities Executive 
 

30th August 2013 

Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority 
 

30th August 2013 

National Park Authority 
 

5th July 2013 

Transport for Greater Manchester 
Committee 
 

12th July 2013 

Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue 
Authority 

5th September 2013 

 
Questions and observations were raised in relation to the 
following Joint Authority Minutes: 
 
Councillor Houle referred to the Minutes of the National Park 
Authority held on  5th July 2013, page 67, Minute 39/13 Item 10 
Members’ Attendance Annual Return and asked if the Appendix 
relating to members’ Attendance was available for scrutiny. 
 
Councillor Beeley advised the meeting that she would have to 
obtain the figures from the National Park Authority. 
 
Councillor Dean referred to the Minutes of the Fire and Rescue 
Authority held on 5th September 2013, page 84, Minute 36, 
Proposals for Operational Restructuring and expressed his 
concerns at the proposed changes to the staffing structure; 
stating that cuts made to the emergency services had reached 
the stage where they were no longer sustainable. Some stations 
would no longer have cover at night and others would be losing 
appliances. 
Councillor Dean asked what the future would hold for the Fire 
Service and how would the service respond to future cuts.  
 
Councillor Williams advised Council that the Service had 
changed a great deal in recent years, Members did not want to 
make these cuts; he pointed out that reduced funding by Central 
Government had been the root cause and that even though this 
year the budget had been reduced to £20m there could possibly 
be a further £10m reduction next year, in spite of this Greater 
Manchester was not closing any fire stations. Members were 
also informed that there were now 450 volunteers who carried 
out fire prevention work across the County. 
 
RESOLVED that the questions raised and the responses given 
be noted. 
 

15   CO-OPERATIVE ANNUAL REPORT 2013: FROM CO-
OPERATIVE INTENT TO CO-OPERATIVE DELIVERY - 
REPORT OF THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 

Consideration was given to the Co-operative Annual Report 
2013, a report of the Deputy Chief Executive, which detailed the 

Page 28



 

progress made against the Council’s ambition for a co-operative 
future. In MOVING the report Councillor Stretton thanked all the 
Members in the Chamber for the part they had played. The 
report charted the movements of the Council and Councillor 
Stretton gave examples of what had been achieved so far; these 
included paying the Living Wage, setting up Oldham Care and 
Support as a trading arm, the Council had given support to the 
armed forces and veterans, the release of dormant funds. The 
Council had also fought for a fair deal in relation to the fuel 
initiative and the First bus campaign for cheaper fares and was 
committed to continue this work with the Credit Union to provide 
fair finance. 
 
Councillor McMahon SECONDED the report thanking Councillor 
Stretton and her colleagues for all their hard work in preparing 
the document and helping to move the town forward. Reference 
was made to the fact that the Town now belongs to its people; 
the Council stepped up to respond to residents needs and in 
turn the residents were now responding to the Council. The 
mood on the High Street was changing; Oldham was changing 
into a town that the people deserve. Councillor McMahon 
encouraged all Members in the Chamber to be Ambassadors for 
Oldham. 
 
Councillors Harkness and Ball spoke on this item. 
 
Councillor Stretton exercised her right of reply. 
 
On being put to the vote FORTY THREE votes were cast IN 
FAVOUR of the report and THIRTEEN votes cast AGAINST with 
ONE ABSTENTION. 
 
RESOLVED that the report be approved. 

16   IMPROVING THE QUALITY AND EXPERIENCE OF OUR 
TOWN CENTRES - REPORT OF EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
NEIGHBOURHOODS  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Director 
Neighbourhoods which provided a response to concerns that 
had been raised at the Council Meeting in July 2013 regarding 
the visual amenity of the Borough’s Town centres and the 
negative impact that could be caused through inappropriate 
development. The report sought approval to undertake the 
necessary evidence gathering and the investigation of further 
potential solutions for improving the quality and experience of 
the Town Centres. 
 
The report outlined the potential options available and the type 
of evidence gathering required to progress the preferred option. 
 
In considering the report Members suggested that Village 
Centres be included in the proposals. 
 
RESOLVED that approval be given to allow the compilation of 
the necessary evidence base and consultations, following on 
from which, options could be drawn up for further discussion and 

Page 29



 

approval aimed at improving the visual amenity, quality and offer 
of the Town Centres and Villages. 
 

17   TREASURY MANAGEMENT REVIEW 2012/13 - REPORT 
OF THE BOROUGH TREASURER  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Treasurer 
which reviewed treasury management activities compared to the 
actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2012/13. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1. The actual 2012/13 prudential and treasury indicators as 
detailed in the report be approved. 

2. The annual treasury management report for 2012/13 be 
approved. 

3. The amendment to the 2012/14 Treasury Management 
strategy, by removing the debt maturity structure lower 
limit indicator, as set out in section 2.3.3 of the report, be 
approved. 

4. The amendment to the 2013/14 Treasury Management 
strategy to increase the duration of investments with 
other Public Bodies, as set out in section 2.10.6 of the 
report, be approved. 

18   ELECTION 2014 AND MUNICIPAL DIARY 2014/2015   

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Solicitor 
which sought Council’s approval on a number of committee 
membership alterations and date changes to the Council’s 
Calendar of Meetings and also informing Council of the date of 
the 2014 local elections. 
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

1. Councillor Williams replace Councillor McDonald as Chair 
of the Standards Committee. 

2. The date of the next Local and European election be 
noted as 22nd May 2014. 

3. The date of the Annual Council be noted as 11th June 
2014 

4. The Council’s Calendar of Meetings, as set out in 
Appendix 1 to the report, be noted. 

19   CHIEF OFFICER REMUNERATION - MD FOR THE UNITY 
PARTNERSHIP - REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Chief Executive which 
sought approval for a single payment of £8k to the Executive 
Director Commercial Services, for the additional responsibility 
incurred following the Selection Committee’s recent approval of 
the appointment of a dual role, whereby the Officer would be 
seconded to the post of the Managing Director of the Unity 
Partnership for 50% of the working week until the end of July 
2014. The payment to be made after the end of July 2014. 
 
RESOLVED that approval be given to a non-consolidated 
payment of £8k, to be paid in recognition of the additional 

Page 30



 

responsibilities of this post, particularly in the initial year of this 
arrangement, and subject to the delivery of the framework and 
milestones agreed by the Council’s Chief Executive and the 
Joint Venture Board. 

20   REVISED OFFICER CODE OF CONDUCT - REPORT OF 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

 

Council gave consideration to a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive informing Members that, following changes to 
legislation in June 2013 and significant technological changes to 
the working environment, the Code had been reviewed to reflect 
current legislation, HR best practice and to better reflect the 
current employment environment in the Council.  
Members were informed that since the issue of the papers the 
numbering in the report had been amended however officers 
advised that there had been no change to the content of the 
report. 
 
RESOLVED that the Code of Conduct, and associated 
documents as outlined in the report, be adopted by this 
Authority. 

21   SCRUTINY REVIEW: WELFARE REFORM - REPORT OF 
THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY BOARD  

 

Council gave consideration to a report of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board which presented Members with 
recommendations that had been endorsed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Board in relation to the Welfare Reform in Oldham 
workshops which had taken place on 30th September 2013. 
 
RESOLVED that approval be given to the recommendations, as 
outlined in the report. 

22   SCRUTINY WORKSHOP: OLDHAM RESIDENCY 
REQUIREMENTS FOR COUNCIL JOB VACANCIES - 
REPORT OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORKSHOP  

 

Consideration was given to a report presented by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Workshop which had taken place on 3rd October 
2013 in relation to Oldham Residency Requirements for Council 
Job Vacancies. Members who had been in attendance at the 
Workshop had been of the opinion that the proposed approach 
which had already been developed by Officers in conjunction 
with their Trade Union colleagues and Members of the Local 
Joint Consultative Committee was an acceptable one. 
 
RESOLVED that approval be given to the recommendations, as 
outlined in the report. 

23   UPDATE ON ACTIONS FROM COUNCIL   

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Solicitor 
informing Members of actions that had been taken following 
previous Council meetings and providing feedback on other 
issues raised at the meeting. 
 

Page 31



 

RESOLVED that the actions and correspondence received, 
regarding motions agreed at previous Council meetings be 
noted. 
 
 

The meeting started at 6.00 pm and ended at 9.35 pm 
 

Page 32



Page 1 of 1 Update on Actions from Council 18Dec2013 

 

 
 
 
COUNCIL 
 

 
Petitions 
 

Report of the Borough Solicitor 
 

Portfolio Holder : Various 

 

 

18 December 2013 
 

Officer Contact : Liz Frier, Head of Constitutional Services 

Ext. 4705 
 

Reason for Decision 

 
The decision is for Elected Members to note petition received by Council in accordance 
with the Petitions Protocol. 
 
Petitions Received 

 
Neighbourhoods 
 
Petition to relating to Failsworth Higher Memorial Park (received 24 October 2013) (107 
signatures) (Ref 2013-022). 
 
 
Recommendation that Council note the petition received. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET  
21/10/2013 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillor McMahon (Chair)  
Councillors Akhtar, Brownridge, A Chadderton, Harrison, 
Hibbert, Jabbar and Stretton 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

There were no apologies for absence received. 

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

Councillor Hibbert and Councillor Brownridge declared a non 
pecuniary interest in Item 10 First Choice Homes, by virtue of 
their Council appointment to the Board of First Choice Home. 

4   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON THE 
23RD SEPTEMBER 2013  

 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 23RD 
September 2013 be approved as a correct record. 

5   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no public questions received.  

6   BUDGET PROPOSALS 2014/15   

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Borough 
Treasurer, which provided Cabinet with details of a budget 
option in relation to Children Centres which had been referred 
back to Cabinet by the Performance and Value Select 
Committee (PVFM), following its meeting of the 26th September 
2013.  
Members were advised that concerns were raised at the 
meeting in relation to the budget option of 10 % saving on 
Children’s Centres contracts and PVFM had made a 
recommendation that the Cabinet should undertake a further 
review of the budget option.  
It was further reported that in order to comply with the 
recommendation of the PVFM Committee the Preventative 
Service had amended the budget pro forma to set out how the 
risks of the savings would be managed and not impact on the 
most vulnerable groups and a draft Equality impact Assessment 
(EIA) document was prepared for Cabinet to consider.  
Members considered the savings budget savings pro-forma at 
appendix A and the draft EIA and suggested that for future 
budget proposals a less traditional approach is adopted in 
relation to consultation with Members and the PVFM committee 
to adopt a Borough wide approach. This would ensure that ward 
Members were fully appraised of the budget options and at ward 
level could relay the information to their communities.  
Options/Alternatives considered 
Option 1 – To approve the revised savings proposal at appendix 
A  

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 11

Page 35



Option 2 – Not to approve the revised savings proposal  
RESOLVED that the savings proposal NEIGH 13 305 be 
approved and referred back to the 7th November 2013 meeting 
of the Performance and Value for Money Scrutiny Select 
Committee. 

7   INNOVATION AND REFORM: A NEW APPROACH FOR 
OLDHAM  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive which set out a proposal for developing and delivering 
a place based approach to supporting innovation and reform 
with the development of an Innovation and Reform Hub.  
Members were advised that the Council’s ambition for a Co-
operative future was focused around developing a new model 
for Local Government a model based on co-operative values 
and principles. In order to increase the pace and depth of 
change in delivering the co-operative ambition, partners within 
Oldham had recognised that a different approach to innovation 
and reform was needed.  
It was further reported that if Cabinet approved the development 
of an Innovation and Reform hub, further work would be 
undertaken to produce an operating model in order that a 
preferred model of delivery to support the collective/partner 
approach to innovation and reform in Oldham could be agreed.  
Options/Alternatives 
Option 1 – That the Council continue with the current approach 
to innovation and reform through existing structures and 
systems  
Option 2 – That an Innovation and Reform Hub for Oldham is 
established.  
RESOLVED that: 

1. The development of an Innovation and Reform Hub in 
Oldham be agreed. 

2. The interim arrangements as set out in the report in order 
improve the coordination, communications and 
development of innovation and reform in Oldham 
alongside the work to progress the Innovation and 
Reform Hub be agreed. 

8   COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REPORT Q1 2013-14   

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive which provided Cabinet with an overview of the 
Council’s performance against those priorities within the 
Corporate plan monitored during the period April -June 2013. 
Members were advised that an updated Corporate Plan was 
approved by Full Council on the 17th July 2013 and the 
performance framework would be updated to reflect the updated 
Corporate Plan.  
Members were asked to review the document, acknowledge 
highlights and recommend any areas for further scrutiny. 
Options/Alternatives  
None considered 
RESOLVED that the Council’s performance for Quarter 1 of 
2013/14 be noted.   

9   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   

Page 36



RESOLVED that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they contain exempt information under paragraphs 
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and it would not, on 
balance, be in the public interest to disclose the reports. 

10   FIRST CHOICE HOMES OLDHAM - HEAD OFFICE 
DEVELOPMENT  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration a report of the Borough 
Treasurer which updated Cabinet on the First Choice Homes 
Oldham, Head office development.  
Options/alternatives considered 
Not applicable 
RESOLVED that the approach of the Council be approved in 
respect of the new head office development and the signing of 
contractual agreements. 
 

The meeting started at 6.00pm and finished at 6.35pm  
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



CABINET  
18/11/2013 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillors McMahon (Chair)  
Councillors Akhtar, Brownridge, A Chadderton, Harrison, 
Hibbert, Jabbar and Stretton 
 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Councillor Akhtar opened and adjourned the meeting due to the 
Leader of the Council meeting with Trade Union representatives. 
The meeting reconvened at 6.25pm.  
 
There were no apologies for absence received.   
 

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

There were no declarations of interest received. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no public questions received.  

5   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON THE 
21ST OCTOBER 2013  

 

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on the 
21st October 2013 be approved. 

6   INVESTING IN A VIBRANT TOWN CENTRE – POLICY 
FRAMEWORK FOR SUPPORTING TOWN CENTRE 
BUSINESSES  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Director of 
Development and Infrastructure which sought approval of a 
policy framework for supporting new and existing independent 
Town Centre businesses and to assist with the improvement of 
the physical appearance of premises. 
It was reported that Oldham Town Centre was undergoing 
transformation and regeneration to create a vibrant town centre 
but due to decades of poorly coordinated development, the 
traditional high street areas around Yorkshire Street and Union 
Street had low demand and creating new developments in 
isolation of those areas would not bring the maximum return for 
investment. 
It was further reported that a comprehensive package of support 
for both existing and new independent business would improve 
the Town’s identity and distinctiveness and would establish 
viable businesses and improve links within he major 
redevelopment sites. 
Options/Alternatives considered 
Option 1 – not to approve a policy framework supporting 
businesses in the Town Centre 

Public Document Pack

Page 39



Option 2 – to approve a policy framework supporting businesses 
in the Town Centre  
RESOLVED that: 
1. The Overall Framework for support of existing and new 
independent businesses in the town centre as described 
in the report be agreed.  

2. The immediate release of £1millon being £453,000 from 
the approved Public Realm Capital SCP Programme, and 
£547,000 from the Capital Programme to fund eligible 
capital expenditure to support the following be agreed: 
- Building Improvement Grants as highlighted within 
section 3 of this report; 

- The refurbishment of key buildings that will be 
occupied by uses which will increase the vibrancy 
of independent traders and support the relocation 
of new and existing businesses; 

- Assisting Independent businesses to acquire their 
own building with potential grant support of up to 
25% of the purchase price; 

- Further research into demand and supply of 
business premises in the town centre. 

3. The submission of a bid to to the Oldham Enterprise 
Trust to support the development of a revenue grant fund 
for independent businesses be agreed. 

4. The provision of flexible occupational agreements with 
concessionary terms to assist start-ups, and 
Independents seeking to locate into the Town Centre be 
agreed within the framework.  

5. The Council works alongside existing business support 
and training providers such as the Business Growth Hub, 
Oldham College and Oldham Sixth Form College; to 
support the creation and development of new businesses 
that could operate in or be located in the Town Centre. 

6. A Review Panel be established for the approval of grants 
and investments. The Panel would include the Leader, 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and 
would report regularly on the progress of the programme. 

 

7   PUBLIC SERVICE REFORM IN OLDHAM - A PLACE 
BASED APPROACH  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive which provided the detail of the strategic approach to 
Oldham’s public service reform agenda.  
It was reported that Oldham Council was developing a co-
operative model of public service reform, which would increase 
residents and communities productivity, independence and self 
reliance so that there was less dependence and demand on 
public sector services. 
It was further reported that over the last 12 months the work had 
evolved to a place based approach which incorporated, but was 
not limited to, the five strands of Greater Manchester Public 
Service Reform activity.(GM PSR)  

Page 40



The five strands were Early Years, Health and Social Care, 
Skills and Worklessness, Troubled Families, and Transforming 
Justice.  
The first phase of activity had focused on the St. Mary’s and 
Coldhurst wards of the Borough with a population of 
approximately 20,000.  
Members were advised that the strategic approach had been 
adopted as the sixth strand of GM PSR activity and explored the 
connection between the strands of activity and the places in 
which they were addressed. 
Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 - proceed to phase 2 of the Public Service Reform 
programme 
Option 2 - limit the PSR programme to the existing phase 1 
activity  
Option 3 - stop the Public Service reform programme. 
RESOLVED that the approach to Public Service Reform as set 
out in the report be approved, in particular the principles of the 
place based approach and the proposed next phase of work as 
set out in appendix two to the report. 

8   MINUTES OF THE PERFORMANCE AND VALUE FOR 
MONEY SELECT COMMITTEE  MEETING HELD ON THE 
7TH NOVEMBER 2013  

 

RESOLVED that the Minutes of the Performance and Value for 
Money Select Committee be noted.  
 

9   BUDGET PROPOSALS 2014/15   

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Treasurer 

which presented to Cabinet the details of the first round of the 

Administration’s savings proposals 2014/15 to Cabinet for 

approval. 

It was reported that Cabinet had earlier in the financial year, 

considered and approved high level savings proposals for 

2014/15 totalling £20.506 million. The savings target had 

increased to £23.004 million as a result of Government funding 

changes and therefore further savings proposals were required. 

This report provided information on £11.963 million of savings 

proposals and the balance of a further £11.041 million would be 

presented to Cabinet on the 2nd December 2013. 

Options/Alternatives considered 

Option 1 – approve the savings proposals included within the 

report and commend them to Council. 

Option 2 – find alternative proposals to the value of any savings 

it does not wish to commend to Council. 

RESOLVED that: 

1. The current estimated funding gap of £23.004million for 

2014/15 be noted. The first round of £11.963million of 

savings proposals that contributed to the bridging of the 

funding gap be approved. 

2. The proposed budget savings of £1.5m to be effected by 
virtue of  the proposed changes in relation to the 

Page 41



changes to employees’  terms and conditions be 
approved. 

3. The three changes proposed are changes to sick pay, the 
freezing of increments and changes to car allowances be 
noted. 

4. Cabinet noted that a dispute had been lodged by the 
Unions in respect of the detail of the proposed changes to 
terms and conditions and Cabinet would consider any 
recommendations arising from the dispute procedure and 
approve any consequential amendments to the detailed 
proposals on the 2nd December. 

5. Cabinet noted further proposals to bridge the current 
funding gap would be presented for approval on 2nd 
December 2013. 

6. Cabinet noted that any request for further information 
including the conclusion of any consultations/negotiations 
would be brought back for approval on 2nd December 
2013. 

7. Cabinet noted that the savings target may need to be 
revised as a result further financial developments 
including changes to Government funding.  

10   A CO-OPERATIVE APPROACH TO USE OF COUNCIL 
ASSETS  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Executive 
Director, Commercial Services which sought approval of revised 
Council Land and Property Protocols, a streamlined and 
updated Community Use of Assets Policy and Procedure and a 
governance process to implement the Community Right to Bid 
process. 
It was reported that as a Co-operative Council Members wanted 
to encourage and support local residents to ‘do their bit’ for their 
community and the Council was committed to using its 
resources to enable local people to do this.  
Options Alternatives considered 
Option  1 – to approved the detail within the report to ensure that 
the financial and social value of the Council’s land and property 
assets were maximised. 
Option 2 – not to approve the recommendations 
RESOLVED that:  
1. The revised Land and Property Protocols be approved 
and commended to Council. 

2. The governance arrangements for Community Right to 
Bid be approved and commended to Council. 

3. This process is used in relation to an application recently 
received relating to Boundary Park. 

4. The Streamlined and updated Community use of Assets 
Policy & Procedure to extend spectrum of opportunities 
be approved and commended to Council.  

5. The existing Community Asset Transfer Strategy be 
discontinued. 

 
 

11   FUTURE DELIVERY MODEL FOR THE INTEGRATED  

Page 42



YOUTH SERVICE  

The Cabinet gave consideration to a report of the Executive 
Director, Neighbourhoods which provided details of the 
proposed approach to delivering a wider youth offer across the 
Borough. The approach would incorporate the voluntary and 
community sector contribution to service provision and proposed 
commissioning the Council’s integrated Youth Services in line 
with the Council’s Co-operative ambitions. 
Consultation 
To date, the District Executives had been involved in 
discussions around the youth service as part of the wider 
Districts and Assets Review. Overview and Scrutiny and the 
Youth Council had also been involved in discussions. If 
agreement was given to commission the youth service, 
consultation of staff, elected members, users and partners 
would be conducted and the Youth Council would be fully 
engaged in the shaping of the commission/s. 
Options/Alternatives considered 
Option 1 – to commission the Integrated Youth Service activities 
through a revised commissioning framework 
Option 2 – not to commission the Integrated Youth Service 
RESOLVED that: 
1. The report be noted. 
2. The Integrated Youth Service activities be commissioned 
through a revised commissioning framework to deliver the 
Council’s co-operative ambitions.  

12   REVENUE MONITOR 2013-14; MONTH 4, 5 & 6 
(SEPTEMBER)  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Treasurer 
which provided the Cabinet with an update on the Council’s 
2013/14 revenue budget position forecast to the year end, as at 
the period ending 30th September 2013 which included months 
4, 5 and 6. 
It was reported that the current position for 2013/14 was a 
possible projected overspend of £1,631k reduced from £1,843k 
at month 3.  
Options alternatives considered  
Option 1 - not to approve the management actions detailed 
within the report. 
Option 2 - not to approve some of the actions included in the 
report 
Option 3 - approve all actions within the report 
RESOLVED that: 
1.  At the end of Month 6 (30th September 2013) the full year 
forecast of a possible projected £1,631k overspend be 
noted.  

2. The transfer to/from reserves and virements as detailed 
in section 8 of the report be approved.  

3. The forecast positions for both the HRA and Collection 
Fund be agreed.  

4. The forecast and actual as at month 6 Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement, Movement in 

Page 43



Reserves Statement, Balance Sheet and Cashflow 
Statement be noted.  

5. The MTFS estimated revenue budget challenges for 
2014/15 to 2016/17 be noted.  

13   CAPITAL INVESTMENT PROGRAMME 2013/14   

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Treasurer 
which sought to advise Cabinet of the latest position on the 
2013/14 capital programme as at month 6 and the proposed 
changes to the 2013/14 capital programme as outlined at 
section 3 of the report.  
It was reported that the report provided the most up to date 
capital spending proposals for 2013/2017, including the current 
project managers forecast outturn position of £90.430million 
expenditure leading to potential slippage of £27.914million. The 
forecast outturn position based upon statistical analysis was 
£79.042milllion. 
It was further reported that as the financial year progressed, the 
position of each project within the programme would become 
clearer enabling an informed projection of the year end position.  
Options/ Alternatives considered 
Option 1 – not to approve any changes within the report 
Option 2 – not to approve some of the changes included within 
the report 
Option 3 – to approve all the changes included in the report.  
RESOLVED that: 
1. The projected capital outturn for 2013/14 at the end of 
month 6. 

2. Variations to the 2013/14 capital programme detailed in 
Appendix A which advised of budget movements of 
schemes resulting in a net decrease in expenditure of 
£3.415million and an decrease in resources of 
£3.415million in 2013/14 be approved.  

3. Variations to the 2013/14 and future years capital 
programmes detailed in Appendix B which advised of re-
profiling of schemes totalling £21.616million from 2013/14 
to future years, resulting in a nil net movement in budget 
overall over the life of the capital programme be 
approved.  

14   OLDHAM'S CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY   

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Director 
Commercial Services which sought approval of the renewal of 
the Council’s approach to climate change, in line with the 
Greater Manchester Climate Change Strategy (GMCCS). 
It was reported that the report provided a new climate change 
strategy which would meet the requirement of the Greater 
Manchester target of a 48% reduction in carbon emissions by 
2020 on a 1990 baseline. The strategy would also allow Oldham 
to benefit from and participate in the wider AGMA climate 
change programme.  
Options/ Alternatives  
Option 1 – not to approve the strategy  
Option 2 - to approve the strategy 

Page 44



RESOLVED that the draft Climate Change Strategy be 
approved.  

15   PROPOSED AMALGAMATION OF SPRINGHEAD INFANT 
AND NURSERY SCHOOL AND KNOWSLEY JUNIOR 
SCHOOL  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Director 
Commissioning which sought approval for the referral of a 
proposal to amalgamate Springhead Infant and Nursery School 
and Knowsley Junior to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator 
(OSA) for determination.  
It was reported that any proposal to establish a community 
school must be submitted to the OSA for determination under 
section 11 sub section A3 of the Education and Inspections Act 
2006, as amended. 
Consultation  
Full details of the statutory consultation were included within the 
Proposal, which was attached at Appendix 2. 
A statutory process, as set out in Schedule 2 to the EIA 2006 
and the Establishment and Discontinuance Regulations must be 
undertaken.  The regulations set out the statutory timescale and 
a list of people with whom the proposer must consult.   
Following informal consultation with the Governing Bodies of 
both schools, the following individuals and groups were formally 
consulted: 

• The Governing Body of each school 

• Members of staff from each school and their 
Trade Union representatives 

• Parents of children attending either school 

• The pupils attending either school 

• Local Councillors 

• Local Member of Parliament 

• Neighbouring authorities 

• Nearby schools 

• Preventative Services 

• Members of the local community, prospective 
parents and members of the public. 

Consultation documentation was provided and consultation 
meetings and events were held at both schools.  The 
consultation was also available via the Oldham Council website. 
A number of key concerns emerged during the consultation; the 
closure of an outstanding school, identification of a Headteacher 
for the amalgamated school, potential loss of the teaching and 
learning style currently in place at Springhead School, the fact 
that there would still be two separate buildings and the potential 
disruption to children and staff.  These concerns were taken into 
consideration in reaching the decision to publish a Notice 
however, the LA position remained unchanged.  It was the 
Council’s view that the proposed amalgamation would enhance 
the educational opportunities for all children and families 
residing in the locality by offering greater continuity and 
consistency across all key stages, providing value for money 
and by increasing the likelihood of a new build in the future 
thereby securing a primary school at the heart of this community 
for many years to come. 

Page 45



A Notice was published in the Oldham Chronicle on 13 
September 2013; the notice and a copy of the full proposal were 
also published on the Oldham Council website.  A total of eight 
representations were received, to which individual responses 
have been sent and attached at Appendix 3 to the report.  
Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 – do nothing 
Option 2 - develop and alternative proposal and re-consult  
Option 3 – submit the published proposals to the Office of the 
Schools adjudicator. 
RESOLVED that: 
The proposal to amalgamate Springhead Infant and Nursery 
School and Knowsley Junior School be referred to the Office of 
the Schools Adjudicator.  

16   LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME - CONVERTER 
ACADEMIES - TREATMENT OF EXISTING PENSION 
LIABILITIES AND POOLING WITH THE COUNCIL  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Treasurer 
which sought approval of a policy to allow converting academies 
to pool with the Council in respect of non-teaching employees 
pensions on all current and future applications. 
It was reported that until now the Council had not agreed a 
formal policy for the pension implications of converting 
academies and as the number of academies in the Borough was 
likely to grow, the Council needed to ensure that its financial 
position was safeguarded. 
Options Alternatives considered 
Option 1 – refuse to allow converting Academies to pool with the 
Council for non- teaching employee pension purposes 
Option 2 – continue to allow converting Academies to pool with 
the Council for non-teaching employee pension purposes 
Option 3 – continue to allow liabilities in respect of transferring 
employees to be funded in line with the solvency of the overall 
Council pension fund held within Greater Manchester Pension 
Fund  
Option 4 – On current and future applications for converting 
Academies agreeing that liabilities remaining with the Council in 
respect of deferred and pension members are fully funded rather 
than transferring employees being funded in line with the overall 
solvency of the Council pension fund. 
RESOLVED that: 
1. The continuation of converting Academies to pool with 
the Council in respect of non-teaching employees 
pensions on all current and future applications be 
approved. 

2. Included in all current and future applications for 
converter Academy pension agreements that all Greater 
Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF) pension liabilities 
relating to deferred (former employee) and pensioner 
members remaining with the Council must be fully funded 
by retaining funds within the Council’s GMPF held 
pension fund prior to any transfer of assets to the 
Academies’ GMPF held pension fund. 

Page 46



3. On receipt of any requests from Academies to opt out of 
pension pooling the Council negotiates on the basis that 
that all liabilities falling on the Council are fully funded. 

17   LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME - POOLING OF 
FREE SCHOOLS WITH THE COUNCIL.  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Treasurer 
which sought the Cabinet’s views on the implications arising 
from Free Schools being allowed to pool with the Council in 
respect of non-teaching employee pensions.  
It was reported that the Council had sought advice from the 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF) and the current 
understanding was that GMPF was not aware of any obligation 
for the Council to accept pooling from a Free school.  
It was further reported that allowing existing Local Education 
Authority schools to pool with the Council when converting to 
Academy status was seen as a separate issue due to the 
Council previously managing those schools, being the ceding 
employer and the employees transferring to the academy. 
Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 - allowing any Free School to pool with the Council for 
non-teaching employee pension purposes. 
Option 2 - refusing to allow any Free School to pool with the 
Council for non-teaching employee pension purposes. 
Option 3 - Making a decision on each such request from 
individual Free Schools. 
RESOLVED that: 
1. Free Schools’ requests to allow pooling with the Council 
in respect of pensions be refused. 

2. This policy would apply to all current and future Free 
School pooling requests. 

 

18   GM BROADBAND PLAN – FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION   

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Director 
Neighbourhoods which sought approval of a contribution of 
£312,500 capital funding towards the implementation of the 
Greater Manchester (GM) Broadband Plan and Greater 
Manchester’s ambition to become one of the top twenty digital 
cities by 2020. 
Members were advised that the report provided an update on 
Greater Manchester’s approach to delivering the GM Broadband 
Plan, with a particular focus on the roll-out of broadband 
infrastructure across Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, 
Stockport, Tameside, Trafford and Wigan and the requirement 
to approve match funds from those Councils in order to secure 
maximum ERDF and BDUK investment. 
Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 – not to approve the funding 
Option 2 – to approve the funding 
RESOLVED that the commercial information detailed at Item 21 
of the agenda be considered before a decision was taken on the 
GM Broadband Plan.  
 

19   ACCEPTANCE OF TENDER FOR PROPOSED EXTENSION  

Page 47



AND REMODELLING OF BARE TREES PRIMARY 
SCHOOL  

Report received which sought approval of the outline scheme for 
the proposed extension and remodelling of Bare Trees Primary 
School and award of the Contract. 
It was reported that in order to provide a three form entry at the 
school to contribute to the urgent need to increase the capacity 
for primary schools in Chadderton, the building needed to be 
extended. 
Options/Alternatives considered  
Option 1 – not to approve the extension and award of contract  
Option 2 – to approve the extension and award of contract. 
RESOLVED that Cabinet would consider the commercially 
sensitive information at Item 22 of the agenda before making a 
decision.  

20   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   

RESOLVED that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they contain exempt information under paragraphs 
3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and it would not, on 
balance, be in the public interest to disclose the reports. 

21   GM BROADBAND PLAN – FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTION   

The Cabinet gave consideration to the commercially sensitive 
information in relation to Item 18 GM Broadband Plan. After 
consideration of both the public and commercially sensitive 
information the Cabinet reached its decision. 
RESOLVED that: 
1. Stockport Council would be the Lead Authority for GM for 
this project, as identified in the report.  

2. Funding of £312,500 as an equal contribution to the 
Match Funding, subject to the other 7 AGMA authorities 
agreeing to contribute identical amounts and subject to 
this being matched to obtain additional external funding 
be approved. 

3. The ability to enter into any relevant legal agreements 
and make any necessary contractual decisions to 
implement the scheme as identified in the report be 
delegated to the Borough Solicitor. 

22   ACCEPTANCE OF TENDER FOR PROPOSED EXTENSION 
AND REMODELLING OF BARE TREES PRIMARY 
SCHOOL  

 

The Cabinet gave consideration to the commercially sensitive 
information in relation to Item 19 Acceptance of Tender for 
Proposed Extension and remodelling of Bare Trees Primary 
School. After consideration of both the public and commercially 
sensitive information the Cabinet reached its decision. 
RESOLVED that: 
1. The scheme be funded through the approved capital 
programme. 

Page 48



2. The contract for the extension and remodelling of Bare 
Trees Primary School be awarded to Jackson, Jackson & 
Sons Limited. 

3. The capital programme is amended to reflect the actual 
cost of the works. 

 
The meeting started at 6.25pm and ended at 7.15pm 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



U
R
G
E
N
T
 K
E
Y
 D
E
C
IS
IO
N
S
 T
A
K
E
N
 B
Y
 C
A
B
IN
E
T
 F
R
O
M
 2
3
R
D
 S
E
P
T
E
M
B
E
R
 T
O
 6

T
H
 D
E
C
E
M
B
E
R
 2
0
1
3
 

 C
A
B
IN
E
T
 –
 2
3
R
D
 S
E
P
T
E
M
B
E
R
 2
0
1
3
-1
0
-1
7
 

 T
it
le
 o
f 
R
e
p
o
rt
 

R
e
a
s
o
n
 t
h
e
 R
e
p
o
rt
 w
a
s
 E
x
e
m
p
t 
fr
o
m
 C
a
ll
-I
n
 

D
e
c
is
io
n
 

T
h
e
 O
ld
h
a
m
 C
o
lis
e
u
m
 T
h
e
a
tr
e
 a
n
d
 

H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 C
e
n
tr
e
  
A
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 

D
e
s
ig
n
 T
e
a
m
 

 

T
h
e
 C
h
a
ir
 a
g
re
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
is
 i
te
m
 o
f 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 a
s
 a
 m
a
tt
e
r 
o
f 
u
rg
e
n
c
y
 i
n
 a
c
c
o
rd
a
n
c
e
 

w
it
h
 S
.1
0
0
 B
 (
4
) 
o
f 
th
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
A
c
t 

1
9
7
2
. 
 U
rg
e
n
t 
C
a
b
in
e
t 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 
w
a
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 

e
n
a
b
le
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 f
u
lf
il 
it
s
 o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 L
o
tt
e
ry
 F
u
n
d
. 

 

R
E
S
O
L
V
E
D
 t
h
a
t 
d
e
le
g
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
d
e
c
is
io
n
 

m
a
k
in
g
 i
n
 r
e
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
p
p
o
in
tm
e
n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 D
e
s
ig
n
 T
e
a
m
 f
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
w
 O
ld
h
a
m
 

C
o
lis
e
u
m
 T
h
e
a
tr
e
 a
n
d
 H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 C
e
n
tr
e
 t
o
 

th
e
 C
h
ie
f 
E
x
e
c
u
ti
v
e
 i
n
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

In
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 b
e
 a
p
p
ro
v
e
d
. 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

ASSOCIATION OF GREATER MANCHESTER AUTHORITIES 
 

MINUTES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD HELD ON  
FRIDAY 27 SEPTEMBER 2013 AT DUKINFIELD TOWN HALL 

 
 
BOLTON COUNCIL   Councillor Cliff Morris 
 
BURY COUNCIL   Councillor Mike Connolly 

            
MANCHESTER CC Councillor Richard Leese 
  
OLDHAM COUNCIL  Councillor Jim McMahon 

       
ROCHDALE MBC   Councillor Colin Lambert 

           
SALFORD CC   Mayor Ian Stewart 

       
STOCKPORT MBC   Councillor Sue Derbyshire 
      
TAMESIDE MBC   Councillor Keiran Quinn 
        
TRAFFORD COUNCIL  Councillor Matt Colledge 
 
WIGAN COUNCIL   Councillor Peter Smith (in the Chair) 
    
JOINT BOARDS AND OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE 
      

 TfGMC    Councillor Andrew Fender 
  
 GMFRSA    Councillor David Acton 
      Councillor John Bell 
             
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE 
   

Howard Bernstein   GMCA Head of Paid Services 
Richard Paver   GMCA Treasurer 
Sean Harriss    Bolton Council 
Mike Kelly    Bury Council 
Carolyn Wilkins   Oldham Council 
Jim Taylor    Rochdale MBC 
Barbara Spicer   Salford CC 
Eamonn Boylan   Stockport MBC 
Steven Pleasant   Tameside MBC     
Helen Jones    Trafford Council 
Donna Hall    Wigan Council 

 Mike Emmerich   New Economy 
 Dave Newton   TfGM 
 Steve Warrener   TfGM 
 Des Gardner    TfGM 

4 

Agenda Item 14

Page 53



 2 

 Tony Lloyd    OPCC 
Julie Connor           )  
Kerry Bond           )  Greater Manchester 
Sylvia Welsh           )  Integrated Support Team 
                    

31/13 APOLOGIES 
  
Theresa Grant and Jon Lamonte. 
 
32/13 CHAIR ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 
33/13 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 None received. 

 
34/13 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTVE BOARD MEETING - 30 AUGUST 2013 

 
RESOLVED/- 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 30 August 2013 as a correct record. 
 
35/13 FORWARD PLAN OF STRATEGIC DECISIONS 

 
RESOVLED/- 
 
To note the Forward Plan. 
 
36/13 AGMA STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2012/13 

  
 The AGMA Executive Board received a report from Richard Paver, AGMA Treasurer 

detailing the Statement of Accounts for 2012/13, including a Letter of Representation 
and Annual Governance Report from Grant Thornton. A representative of Grant 
Thornton attended the meeting to confirm the findings of the report. 

 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. To welcome the presentation and the work undertaken. 
 

 2. To approve the Annual Statement of Accounts for 2012-13. 
 

3. To note the amendments made to the Annual Statement of Accounts during 
the external audit. 

 
 4. To approve the Letter of Representation.  

Chair. 

Page 54



 

 1 

ASSOCIATION OF GREATER MANCHESTER AUTHORITIES 
 

MINUTES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD HELD ON  
FRIDAY 25 OCTOBER 2013 AT OLDHAM CIVIC CENTRE 

 
 
BOLTON COUNCIL   Councillor Cliff Morris 
 
BURY COUNCIL   Councillor Mike Connolly 

            
MANCHESTER CC Councillor Richard Leese 
  
OLDHAM COUNCIL  Councillor Jim McMahon 

       
ROCHDALE MBC   Councillor Colin Lambert 

             
STOCKPORT MBC   Councillor Sue Derbyshire 
      
TAMESIDE MBC   Councillor Keiran Quinn 
        
TRAFFORD COUNCIL  Councillor Sean Anstee 
 
WIGAN COUNCIL   Councillor Peter Smith (in the Chair) 
    
JOINT BOARDS AND OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE 
      

 TfGMC    Councillor Andrew Fender 
  
 GMFRA    Councillor David Acton 
      Councillor John Bell 
      Ged Murphy 
 
 GMWDA    Councillor Neil Swannick 
             
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE 
   

Howard Bernstein   GMCA Head of Paid Services 
Richard Paver   GMCA Treasurer 
Sean Harriss    Bolton Council 
Mike Kelly    Bury Council 
Richard Leese   Manchester CC 
Charlie Parker   Oldham Council 
Jim Taylor    Rochdale MBC 
Karen Hirst    Salford CC 
Eamonn Boylan   Stockport MBC 
Steven Pleasant   Tameside MBC     
Theresa Grant   Trafford Council 
Paul McKevitt   Wigan Council 

 Mike Emmerich   New Economy 
 Lorna Fitzsimmons    New Economy 

4.

Page 55



 

 2 

Jon Lamonte    TfGM 
 Steve Warrener   TfGM 
     

Julie Connor           )  
Kerry Bond           )  Greater Manchester 
Sylvia Welsh           )  Integrated Support Team 
                    

37/13 APOLOGIES 
 
Ian Stewart, Councillor Matt Colledge, Barbara Spicer, Donna Hall. 
 
38/13 CHAIR ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 
39/13 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 None received. 

 
40/13 MINUTES OF THE EXECUTVE BOARD MEETING - 27 SEPTEMBER 2013 

 
RESOLVED/- 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 September 2013 as a correct 
record. 
 
41/13 FORWARD PLAN OF STRATEGIC DECISIONS 

 
RESOLVED/- 
 
To note the Forward Plan. 
 
42/13 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING REPORT 2013/14 

  
 The AGMA Executive Board received a report from Richard Paver, AGMA Treasurer 

informing members of the 2013/14 forecast revenue outturn position as at end 
September 2013. 

. 
RESOLVED/- 
 
To note the report and the current revenue outturn forecast for 2013/14 which is 
projecting an underspend of £369,000. 

 
 
 
 

Chair. 

4.

Page 56



 1

GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

MINUTES OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY 
MEETING HELD ON FRIDAY 27 SEPTEMBER 2013 AT DUKINFIELD TOWN 

HALL 
 
BOLTON COUNCIL   Councillor Cliff Morris 
 
BURY COUNCIL   Councillor Mike Connolly 

            
MANCHESTER CC Councillor Richard Leese 
  
OLDHAM COUNCIL  Councillor Jim McMahon 

       
ROCHDALE MBC   Councillor Colin Lambert 

           
SALFORD CC   Mayor Ian Stewart 

       
STOCKPORT MBC   Councillor Sue Derbyshire 
      
TAMESIDE MBC   Councillor Keiran Quinn 
        
TRAFFORD COUNCIL  Councillor Matt Colledge 
 
WIGAN COUNCIL   Councillor Peter Smith (in the Chair) 
    
JOINT BOARDS AND OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE 
      

 TfGMC    Councillor Andrew Fender 
  
 GMFRSA    Councillor David Acton 
      Councillor John Bell 
             
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE 
   

Howard Bernstein   GMCA Head of Paid Services 
Richard Paver   GMCA Treasurer 
Sean Harriss    Bolton Council 
Mike Kelly    Bury Council 
Carolyn Wilkins   Oldham Council 
Jim Taylor    Rochdale MBC 
Barbara Spicer   Salford CC 
Eamonn Boylan   Stockport MBC 
Steven Pleasant   Tameside MBC     
Helen Jones    Trafford Council 
Donna Hall    Wigan Council 

 Mike Emmerich   New Economy 
 Dave Newton   TfGM 
 Steve Warrener   TfGM 
 Des Gardner    TfGM 
 Tony Lloyd    OPCC 

Julie Connor           )  
Kerry Bond           )  Greater Manchester 
Sylvia Welsh           )  Integrated Support Team 

4. 

Page 57



 2

 
 
44/13  APOLOGIES 
  
Theresa Grant and Jon Lamonte. 
 
45/13  CHAIR ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None 
 
46/13  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
None received. 
 
47/13  MINUTES OF GMCA MEETING 27 AUGUST 2013  
 
RESOLVED/- 
  
To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 August 2013 as a correct 
record.  
 
48/13  FORWARD PLAN OF STRATEGIC DECISIONS 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
To note the Forward Plan. 
 
49/13  GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT FUND UPDATE 

  

The Combined Authority received a report from Howard Bernstein, GMCA Head of 
Paid Service and Richard Paver, GMCA Treasurer, and Jon Lamonte, Chief 
Executive TfGM updating members in relation to the Greater Manchester 
Transport Fund and other strategic public transport schemes. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. To note the contents of the report, including in particular the scheme 

funding and financing strategy set out in section 6 of the report. 
 
2. To approve the release of £7.9 million in relation to the Leigh, Salford, 

Manchester Busway and a further £19.1 million in relation to the Cross City 
Bus Scheme from the Greater Manchester Transport Fund, as included in 
GMCA’s approved capital programme to instruct works to enable the 
scheme delivery to proceed, including the placing of contracts for 
construction works, utility diversions and other costs. 

 
3. To approve the release of £19.8 million from the Capital Programme 

Allowance, as included in GMCA’s approved capital programme, to fund 
costs relating to the delivery of the Metrolink Capital programme. 

 
4. To note that an update report will be presented to GMCA in October in 

relation to the Metrolink Trafford Line scheme and the timing and phasing 
of the works for the Second City Crossing. 

Page 58



 3

5. To note that further updates on the Fund will be brought back to GMCA at 
regular intervals.  

 
50/13 GM STRATEGY: REVISED DRAFT AND PLAIN ENGLISH 

SUMMARY  
 

The Combined Authority received a revised draft GM Strategy from Sir Howard 
Bernstein, Head of Paid Service detailing amendments made following the GMCA 
meeting in July. Also presented (attached at annex B to the report) was a plain 
English summary version of the Strategy which is to be used for engagement with 
wider partners to help communicate the vision and broad themes of the GMS 
more effectively to residents, businesses and non specialist audiences. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1.  To approve the revised Greater Manchester Strategy. 
 
2. To approve the ‘plain English’ summary of the GMS attached at Annex B, 

including design and format of the document. 
 
3.  To note that a revised version of the full strategy will be produced using the 

same design principles. 
 
4. To delegate sign off of the final draft of both the full strategy and the 

summary to the Chair and Vice Chairs of the GMCA and Chair of the 
GMLEP. 

  
51/13  STRATEGIC GROWTH AND REFORM PLAN  
 
The Combined Authority received a report from Sir Howard Bernstein, Chief 
Executive, Manchester City Council detailing key points from the Government 
guidance on Strategic Economic Plans, EU Structural Fund Investment Strategies 
and the ongoing dialogue about developing a framework for the wider reform 
programme,  proposing the development of a Greater Manchester place-based 
Growth and Reform Plan that complies with the guidance but that delivers against 
the breadth of our objectives and emphasises the interconnectivity of the growth 
and reform agendas. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1.  To agree the proposed approach to developing a Strategic Growth and 

Reform Plan for GM as set out in the report. 
 
2. Too note proposals to develop a draft plan in consultation with the LEP 

Chair and Leader portfolio holders during September, with a full draft to be 
considered for approval by the GM LEP and GMCA in October. 

 
52/13    LONG TERM RAIL STRATEGY  
 
The Combined Authority received a report presented by Dave Newton, TfGM 
summarising the key aspects of the Rail North draft Long Term Rail Strategy 
presenting a framework for how rail in the North of England could develop over 
the next twenty years.  

 

Page 59



 4

RESOLVED/- 
 
1. To note the contents of the report. 

2. To agree that a consultation response be sent to Rail North as presented at 
Appendix 1 of the report. 

3. To invite David Higgins to a future meeting of the GMCA. 

4. That officers be also be requested to report back on a review of the more 
local impacts of the strategy, in particular the potential of making better use 
of existing lines and stations currently unused, which might benefit 
residents. 

53/13   LOW CARBON HUB PROCUREMENT FRAMEWORK  
 
The Combined Authority received a report presented by Carolyn Wilkins, Oldham 
Council detailing the Low Carbon Procurement Framework to be used when 
investments are being made on behalf of the Low Carbon Hub and requested that 
this framework is also considered by the GMCA for use in wider procurement 
activities to support the objectives of the GM Climate Change Strategy, agreed by 
AGMA/GMCA in 2012, and glean the associated economic and social benefits 
across GM districts. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
 
1.  To endorse the Low Carbon Hub Board’s proposal that all tenders let for 

Low Carbon Hub projects should be subject to the procurement framework 
agreed today. 

 
2. To agree the further dissemination of the Low Carbon Hub Procurement 

Framework to all local authority procurement teams for consideration 
beyond Low Carbon Hub Investments. 

 
3. That officers be requested report back in 6 months time, on the extent to 

which districts have embedded the framework within their procurement 
process. 

 
54/13 MANCHESTER FAMILY STRUCTURE  
 
The Combined Authority received a report from Sir Howard Bernstein, Head of 
Paid Service bringing forward proposals, following extensive consultation with 
stakeholders, to deliver full integration of functions for the Manchester Family 
structures and to strengthen the democratic accountability and arrangements for 
securing the effective oversight of these functions, as the next crucial stage of a 
review process, which was commenced over 18 months ago. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1.  To endorse the principles set out in paragraph 7 of the report as the key 

objectives to be met by the next stage of the review of the Manchester 
Family structures – principles which have now been agreed with 
stakeholders. 

Page 60



 5

2.  That a Company Limited by Guarantee (effectively owned by the GMCA) 
be established to enable members of the GMLEP (as agreed by the GMCA 
following recommendations made to the GMCA by the LEP) to exercise 
clear and direct responsibilities over the activities of, and outcomes 
delivered by, the new Group Board (and subsidiary structures under it) 
which has been established as a new partnership structure between the 
GMCA and business to assume direct responsibility for Manchester Family 
structures. 

 
3. To invite the GM LEP to nominate 5 nominees to serve on the Board and 

the Group Structure, of which no more than 2 members shall be from the 
Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce; and to note that the Chief 
Executive of the Chamber will remain an adviser to the Group Board. 

 
4. That Marketing Manchester should become a formal and direct part of the 

new group structure, requiring changes to the constitutional arrangements 
of the present Company to provide direct nomination rights to the Group 
Board. 

 
5. That while New Economy will remain directly accountable to the GMCA, 

given its strategic role across the growth and reform agendas, and 
therefore will retain a direct reporting relationship to GMCA, it should also 
be included in the new Group structure. 

 
6. That a new name for the New Economy should be brought forward and that 

the Company should remain wholly-owned by the GMCA.  
 
7. That the MIDAS Company will be included in the new Company and that it 

will remain wholly-owned by GMCA. 
 
8. That the Group Chief Executive, working with the other Chief Executives of 

the Family structures, be requested to bring forward as soon as possible to 
the GMCA and GMLEP, through the Group Board, outline organisational 
and service management arrangements, including proposals for the 
creation of subsidiary structures of the Group Board to oversee the 
operational delivery of the various functions, having regard to the effective 
alignment of Executive and political leadership responsibilities and the 
principles described in paragraph 17 of this report. 

 
9.  That the Group Chief Executive be charged with the responsibility for 

leading a fundamental review of priorities and resourcing of the new Group 
structure and to bring forward for presentation to the GMCA and the 
GMLEP, through the Group Board, no later than December, a single 
integrated Business Plan for all Group functions to inform the Budget 
process for 2014/15. This would include the identification of any savings 
that accrue from the proposals and how they could be reinvested. 

 
10.  To authorise the Chair of the WLT and the Group Chief Executive, in 

consultation with legal and Treasury advice, to give effect to these 
decisions. 

 
 
 
 

Page 61



 6

55/13 LEP MINUTES - 9 SEPTMBER 2013  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
T note the draft minutes of the LEP meeting held on 9 September 2013.  
 
54/13 SCRUTINY POOL MINUTES - 13 SEPTEMBER 2013  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
To note the draft minutes of the Scrutiny Pool meeting held on 13 September 
2013. 
 
55/14  TfGMC MINUTES - 13 SEPTEMBER 2013  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
To note the draft minutes of the TfGMC held on 13 September 2013. 
 
56/14  GMCA AUDIT COMMITTEE MINUTES - 20 SEPTEMBER 2013  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
To note the draft minutes of the GMCA Audit Committee held on 19 September 
2013. 
 
57/14 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 
Public should be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that this involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set 
out in paragraph 3, Part 1, Schedule 12A, Local Government Act 1972 and that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
58/13  UPDATE ON GM EU INVESTMENT PLAN  
 
The Combined Authority received a report presented by Simon Nokes, New 
Economy detailing an update of the EU Investment Plan which will be submitted 
to Government by the 7 October to justify how the £365m will be invested. The 
document is being edited continuously to ensure the document flows and to 
ensure that the level of information under each priority is consistent. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1.  To endorse, the GM EU Investment Plan. 
 
2. To note and approve the approach on Regional Aid. 
 
3. To delegate authority to Councillor Quinn as CA lead on investment in 

association with Chair of the LEP and in consultation with Eamonn Boylan 
and Sir Howard Bernstein, to finalise and sign off the GM EU Investment 

Page 62



 7

Plan and Regional Aid submissions to Government, making any minor 
amendments deemed necessary. 

 

59/13 GM INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK AND CONDITIONAL PROJECT 
APPROVAL 

 
 
The Combined Authority received a report from Eamonn Boylan, Chief Executive, 
Stockport MBC seeking approval for the James Briggs and NXP investment 
projects. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the project funding application by James Briggs (loan of £2,500,000) 

and NXP (grant of £1,050,000 and loan of £730,000), be given conditional 
approval and progress to due diligence. 

 
2. To delegate authority to the Combined Authority Treasurer and Combined 

Authority Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence information and, 
subject to their satisfactory review and agreement of the due diligence 
information and the overall detailed commercial terms of the transactions, 
to sign off any outstanding conditions, issue final approvals and complete 
any necessary related documentation in respect of the loans. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

        Chair 

Page 63



Page 64

This page is intentionally left blank



 1

GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY 
 

MINUTES OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY 
MEETING HELD ON FRIDAY 25 OCTOBER 2013 AT OLDHAM CIVIC CENTRE 

 
BOLTON COUNCIL   Councillor Cliff Morris 
 
BURY COUNCIL   Councillor Mike Connolly 

            
MANCHESTER CC Councillor Richard Leese 
  
OLDHAM COUNCIL  Councillor Jim McMahon 

       
ROCHDALE MBC   Councillor Colin Lambert 

            
STOCKPORT MBC   Councillor Sue Derbyshire 
      
TAMESIDE MBC   Councillor Keiran Quinn 
        
TRAFFORD COUNCIL  Councillor Sean Anstee 
 
WIGAN COUNCIL   Councillor Peter Smith (in the Chair) 
    
JOINT BOARDS AND OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE 

 
TfGMC    Councillor Andrew Fender 

  
 GMFRA    Councillor David Acton 
      Councillor John Bell 
      Ged Murphy 
 
 GMWDA    Councillor Neil Swannick 
      John Bland 
            
 OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE 
   

Howard Bernstein   GMCA Head of Paid Services 
Richard Paver   GMCA Treasurer 
Sean Harriss    Bolton Council 
Mike Kelly    Bury Council 
Charlie Parker   Oldham Council 
Jim Taylor    Rochdale MBC 
Karen Hirst    Salford CC 
Eamonn Boylan   Stockport MBC 
Steven Pleasant   Tameside MBC     
Theresa Grant   Trafford Council 
Paul McKevitt   Wigan Council 

 Mike Emmerich   New Economy 
 Lorna Fitzsimmons   New Economy 

Jon Lamonte    TfGM 
Dave Newton   TfGM 

 Steve Warrener   TfGM 
Julie Connor           )  
Kerry Bond           )  Greater Manchester 

4.

Page 65



 2

Sylvia Welsh           )  Integrated Support Team 
 
 
60/13  APOLOGIES 
  
Ian Stewart, Councillor Matt Colledge, Barbara Spicer, Donna Hall. 
 
61/13  CHAIR ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS  
 
None 
 
62/13  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
None received. 
 
63/13  MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED/- 
  
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 27 September 2013 as a correct 
record.  
 
64/13  FORWARD PLAN OF STRATEGIC DECISIONS 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
To note the Forward Plan. 
 
65/13  WORK PROGRAMME LEAVERS 

  

The Combined Authority received a report presented by Mike Emmerich, Chief 
Executive New Economy seeking approval for Greater Manchester to test a place-
based pilot for people who leave the Work Programme (‘Work Programme 
Leavers’). This programme will help long-term Employment Support Allowance 
claimants to move into sustained work. If successful, there will be significant fiscal 
and economic benefits to both GM and Government. The programme has been 
co-designed with and jointly funded by Government to reflect that many of the 
financial benefits of success flow to Treasury and the Department for Work and 
Pensions. 
 
The Combined Authority AGREED: 
 
1. to endorse in principle the implementation of the Work Programme Leavers 
across Greater Manchester and the next steps as set out in Section 5 of the 
report. 
2. to note that GM Districts will be asked to fund £2.882m of the programme cost 
and £150k evaluation costs across 2013/14 to 2015/16 as set out in Appendix 
A of the report. 
3. to note that the £1.441m of the District contribution will be funded from the 
2014/15 ESF programme. 
4. that more detailed information be provided in relation to the funding model 
which lies behind the costs and subject to this information being provided, 
authority be given to Councillors Smith and McMahon to approve final costs. 
5. that subject to the action in recommendation 4 above districts be requested to: 

4.

Page 66



 3

a. ensure that the appropriate approvals are in place to fund and progress 
this programme. 
b. agree that Salford City Council will provide the lead authority role for the 
procurement process. 
6. that a paper be requested for consideration by Leaders when they next meet to 
consider budgets in relation to the funding costs/implications to Districts arising 
from the work of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority/AGMA to enable 
this to be taken into account by districts when developing their own budgets. 
 
66/13 THE ALLIANCE PROJECT – FUTURE WORK AND 

MANAGEMENT 
 
The Combined Authority received an update report from Mike Emmerich on 
progress of The Alliance Project that was established to examine the potential for 
repatriating textiles manufacturing to the UK, the report includes an outline 
business case, details of the three areas of activity, funding required and a 
programme of activity.  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. to confirm the governance and management structure as outlined below 
2. to note the need for continuing funding up to £150k during 2014/5 to secure the 
leadership and capacity of the project and to delegate to the Head of Paid 
Services and Treasurer of GMCA to bring forward detailed funding requirements 
as part of the forthcoming Budget. 
3. to keep the project under six monthly review. 
  
67/13 METROLINK SECOND CITY CROSSING AND METROLINK 

TRAFFORD PARK SCHEME 
 
The Combined Authority received a report from Sir Howard Bernstein, Chief 
Executive, Manchester City Council and Jon Lamonte Chief Executive TfGM 
updating members in relation to the Metrolink Second City Crossing and Metrolink 
Trafford Park schemes following the recent award of Transport and Works Act. 
 
Work is underway to progress contractual agreements to deliver the works which 
would provide significant additional economic and customer benefits to the 
programme. If the application is successful, works included in the bid will have to 
be completed by June 2015 and be operational by the end of 2015. 
 
The report sets out the proposed phasing strategy for the Metrolink Trafford 
scheme which is a long standing GM investment priority and limits initial capital 
investment whilst progressing the scheme to ensure that it is ‘shovel ready’, 
including applying for the Transport and Works Act powers which are required to 
build and operate the Trafford Park Metrolink scheme, and the purchase of the 
10 LRVs required for the scheme. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. to note the recent award of Transport and Works Act powers to operate the 
Metrolink Second City Crossing (2CC). 
2. to note that some works elements which would be delivered under the 2CC 
programme, including access and enhancements works at Deansgate 
Castlefield, are the subject of an ERDF funding bid (the ERDF works). 

4.

Page 67



 4

3. to approve the works required to deliver the 2CC programme, which have a 
total cost of approximately £165 million (earmarked within the capital programme); 
and delegate authority to the Chief Executive and the Finance and Corporate 
Services Director of TfGM, in consultation with the GMCA Treasurer, to progress 
contractual arrangements for 2CC and, subject to demonstrating value for 
money, the award of contracts to deliver the works, excluding the ERDF works, 
unless ERDF funding is subsequently secured for those works. The contractual 
and delivery arrangements will reflect the proposals within the ERDF bid. 
4. to note that the GM Transport Fund includes allowances for the 2CC works, 
including allowances for risks and issues, within the overall Metrolink programme 
budgets, including the programme contingency. The detailed budgets will be 
updated in subsequent capital monitoring reports. 
5. to note that following the previous CA approval to commit up to £5 million from 
the GM Transport Fund, work has been ongoing to progress the Trafford Park 
Metrolink scheme outline business case, procure tram “long lead” items and 
develop a phasing strategy for the works recognising the critical importance of 
establishing a stable funding resource from the Earnback formula and associated 
revenues in order to make a robust decision about further large scale 
infrastructure enhancements. 
6. to note that the proposed phasing strategy for the Metrolink Trafford Park 
scheme is to progress public consultation and an application to obtain TWA 
powers which are required to build and operate the extension; and to procure the 
10 Light Rail Vehicles (LRVs) required for the scheme. These activities will 
develop the scheme such that it is “shovel ready”. 
7. to note the additional cost and funding requirement to progress the Trafford 
Park Metrolink scheme, including the cost of the additional LRVs, is £31.9 million; 
and to authorise the inclusion of this sum within the capital programme. 
8. to approve the costs and funding for the works required to progress the 
proposed phasing strategy for the Metrolink Trafford Park scheme; and delegate 
authority to the Chief Executive and the Finance and Corporate Services Director 
of TfGM, in consultation with the GMCA Treasurer, to progress the contractual 
arrangements, including the procurement of the 10 Light Rail Vehicles (LRVs) 
required for the scheme. 
9. to delegate authority to the GMCA Treasurer and the TfGM Finance and 
Corporate Services Director to determine the optimum financing strategy to fund 
these costs within the existing resources available within the Transport Fund, 
pending the definition of a stable funding resource from Earnback to support the 
further capital investment. 
10. that the Chief Executive of TfGM be asked to bring a paper to a future meeting 
in relation to capacity and numbers of trams for the Greater Manchester network 
to ensure we are planning sufficiently. 
 
68/13    REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2013/14 
 
The Combined Authority received a report from Richard Paver, GMCA Treasurer  
informing members of the 2013/14 forecast revenue outturn position as at the end 
of September 2013. 

 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. to note the contents of the report and that the latest revenue forecast for 
2013/14 is currently projecting a contribution to general reserves of £135,000 
arising primarily from additional income. 

4.

Page 68



 5

2. to note and approve the revised budget as detailed in paragraph 1.6 in relation 
to the Regional Growth Fund grant. 
 
69/13   CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2013/14 
 
The Combined Authority received a report from Richard Paver, GMCA Treasurer 
informing members of the 2013/14 forecast capital outturn position as at the end 
of September 2013. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. to note the actual expenditure as at September 2013 and the current 2013/14 
forecast compared to the 2013/14 capital forecast reported to GMCA in July 
2013. 
2. to note that a separate report is scheduled on the agenda for this meeting in 
relation to the Metrolink Second City Crossing and the Metrolink Trafford Park 
extension. It should be noted that the figures presented in this report do not 
include the Metrolink Trafford Park extension. 
3. to note the current position for the Growing Places Fund and Regional Growth 
Fund as described in paragraphs 6.1 – 6.5. 
 
70/13 MANCHESTER MONITOR  
 
The Combined Authority received the latest Manchester Monitor Quarterly as 
presented by Mike Emmerich, Chief Executive of New Economy. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
to note the report. 
 
71/13 GM LOCAL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MINUTES – 11 JULY & 2 

SEPTEMBER 2013  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
to note the draft minutes of the GM Local Management Committee held on 11 July 
& 2 September 2013.  
 
72/13 SCRUTINY POOL MINUTES – 11 OCTOBER 2013  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
to note the draft minutes of the Scrutiny Pool meeting held on 11 October 2013. 
 
73/14  TfGMC MINUTES – 11 OCTOBER 2013  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
to note the draft minutes of the TfGMC held on 11 October 2013. 
 
74/14 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 

4.

Page 69



 6

That under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 
Public should be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that this involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set 
out in paragraph 3, Part 1, Schedule 12A, Local Government Act 1972 and that 
the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
75/13  GREATER MANCHESTER BROADBAND UPDATE  
 
The Combined Authority received a report from report from Jon Lamonte and 
Eamonn Boylan providing an update on GM’s revised approach to delivering the 
GM Broadband Programme including detail of the roll-out and an update on 
Manchester and Salford’s Urban Broadband Fund award. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. to support the GM Broadband Programme and the contribution of £2.65million 
    match funds on an equal share basis (£312,500 per district). 
2. to note the outcome of the re-scoped UBF submission and the agreement to   
    participate in a pilot voucher scheme. 
 
76/13 GM INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK AND CONDITIONAL PROJECT 

APPROVAL 
 
The Combined Authority received a report from Eamonn Boylan seeking seeks 
GMCA’s approval for the DataCentred Phase 2 and BeauLily investment projects. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. that the project funding application by DataCentred (loan of £4,750,000) and 
BeauLily (loan of £1,200,000), be given conditional approval and progress to due 
diligence. 
2. to delegate authority to the Combined Authority Treasurer and Combined 
Authority Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence information and, subject to 
their satisfactory review and agreement of the due diligence information and the 
overall detailed commercial terms of the transactions, to sign off any outstanding 
conditions, issue final approvals and complete any necessary related 
documentation in respect of the loans at 1) above. 
3. to note that a report would be prepared for a future meeting detailing the 
profiling of the GM Investment Fund and projected timeline for reinvestment. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

        Chair 

4.

Page 70



 

Item No. 3 

MINUTES OF THE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL MEETING HELD ON  

FRIDAY 26
th

 JULY 2013 AT BOLTON TOWN HALL 

 

 

 Members Present- 
     

BOLTON COUNCIL    Councillor Cliff Morris 
 
BURY COUNCIL    Councillor Mike Connolly 

             
 MANCHESTER CC    Councillor Richard Leese  
              

OLDHAM COUNCIL   Councillor Jim McMahon 
     

ROCHDALE MBC    Councillor Colin Lambert 
           

SALFORD CC    Councillor David Lancaster 
       

STOCKPORT MBC    Councillor Sue Derbyshire 
          
TAMESIDE MBC    Councillor Keiran Quinn 
             
TRAFFORD COUNCIL   Councillor Matthew Colledge 
      
WIGAN COUNCIL    Councillor Peter Smith - Chair 
 
 
Also in attendance- 

  
Tony Lloyd     Police and Crime Commissioner 
Sean Harriss     Bolton Council 
Mike Kelly     Bury Council 
Geoff Little     Manchester CC 
Richard Paver    Manchester CC 
Charlie Parker    Oldham Council 
Jim Taylor     Rochdale Council 
Martin Vickers    Salford CC 
Eamonn Boylan    Stockport MBC 
Steven Pleasant    Tameside MBC 
Theresa Grant    Trafford Council 
Donna Hall     Wigan Council 
Peter Fahy     Chief Constable, GM Police 
Julie Connor             GMIST   
              

 01/13 APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies were received from Mayor Ian Stewart, Howard Bernstein and Barbara 
Spicer. 
 
 

Page 71



 
02/13 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

 None were received. 
 

03/13 MINUTES OF POLICE AND CRIME PANEL MEETING 22 FEBRUARY 2013 

 

RESOLVED/- 

 

 To approve the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 February 2013 as a correct record. 
 

04/13 APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 

  
The Panel was informed that the Police and Crime Commissioner had decided to 
appoint a Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner and as such the Panel has to hold a 
confirmation hearing at which the PCC’s proposed candidate is requested to appear to 
answer questions relating to his appointment. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner outlined the recruitment process, as detailed in 
the report, following interview his proposed candidate was Jim Battle, who also 
attended the meeting to answer any questions from Panel members and comply with 
due process.   

 
RESOLVED/- 

 
1. To note the process outlined for the appointment of the Deputy Police and Crime 

Commissioner. 
2. To receive the outcome of the recruitment process and the Police and Crime 

Commissioners proposed appointment and recommends that Jim Battle should be 
appointed to the post. 

 
05/13 EXTENSION TO CHIEF CONSTABLE APPOINTMENT 
 
The Panel was informed that the Chief Constable, Sir Peter Fahy, was currently on a 
five year fixed term appointment which was due to end on 31 August 2013.  It was 
reported that having considered the various options and consultation with appropriate 
officers including Sir Peter Fahy, and in full accordance with Police Regulations 2003, 
as amended by Police (Amendment) Regulations 2006 and the Police (Amendment) 
Regulations 2011 the Police and Crime Commissioner had decided to extend this 
appointment by three years, the maximum allowed under the regulations. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner said he was delighted that Sir Peter Fahy had 
accepted the extension and that he would bring back to members proposals for 
implementing his Police and Crime Plan in due course. 
 
RESOLVED/- 

 
To note the action taken by the Police and Crime Commissioner to extend the contract 
of Sir Peter Fahy, the Police Constable, by three years. 

 

 

 

Page 72



 

 

 

 

06/13 FORWARD PLAN 

 
 A report was submitted that set out a proposed forward plan for 2013/14 to inform the 

business of the Police and Crime Panel.  The forward plan allowed the Panel to meet 
its statutory functions.  The forward plan assumes that much of the detailed work to 
support the Police and Crime Panel and the Police and Crime Commissioner will be 
undertaken by the Police and Crime Steering Group. 

 

 RESOLVED/- 

 

1. To approve the forward plan 2013/14. 
2. To note that in approving the forward plan would result in three meetings of the 

Panel per year – normally, in January, June and October. Ad hoc meetings may be 
required to allow consideration of any proposed senior appointments by the Police 
and Crime Commissioner and possibly to enable detailed consideration of precept 
and budget reports. 

 
 
 

Chair 

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

MINUTES OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE 
MEETING OF THE TRANSPORT FOR 
GREATER MANCHESTER COMMITTEE, 
HELD ON 13 SEPTEMBER 2013 

  

Present: Councillor Fender (in the Chair). 
 

Councillors Ahmed, Aldred, Bayley, Bradbury, Bray, Briggs, Chadwick, 
Clayton, Colledge, Cordingley, Corris, Dickinson, Dillon, Duckworth,  
Fitzpatrick, Godson, Harkin, Holland, Jones, Paul, Reilly, Robinson, 
Smethurst, Walters, Warner, Wild and Wright.  
 
Apologies: Councillors Bellis, Dean, Garrido, Grimshaw and Rawlins.  
 

TfGMC13/34 CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
 
(a) East Manchester Line Metrolink Extension  
 
The Chair provided an update on the progress of the East Manchester Metrolink 
extension to Ashton and in response to a recent press announcement reiterated 
previous TfGM statements that although this line was scheduled to open before 
the end of 2013, once the final installation of Tram Management System (TMS) 
equipment and subsequent driver training had been completed, officers are 
working towards an opening in early October. It was hoped that a formal 
announcement would be made in the near future confirming the opening date. 
Members noted that should the current programme be maintained, two Metrolink 
lines would have been successfully introduced during this year, several months 
ahead of schedule.    
 
(b) Multi Operator Ticketing 
 
The Chair explained that Greater Manchester Ticketing Limited (GMTL) was to 
run an initiative that would reduce the costs to passengers on a number of 
products by around 15%. Promotional work was to be undertaken to advise 
passengers of these potential savings and it was hoped that this initiative would 
become permanent.   
 
In addition, Members noted that TfGM was working with Job Centre Plus to 
promote a travel initiative for job seekers to assist them back in to work. 
     
(c) Members Training 
 
Members were reminded that at the rise of the TfGMC meeting, a Members’ 
training session was to take place on the topic of A Guide to Metrolink.  
  
(d) TfGMC Website 
 
Members were advised that work was taking place to resolve the problems with 
the TfGMC website. It was noted that as a temporary measure, papers for 
upcoming meetings would be uploaded on to the www.agma.gov.uk website.  

Page 75



 2 

 
(e) Salford Crescent Station  
 
Members noted that a visit had been arranged to Salford Crescent Station on 1 
October 2013. Officers undertook to canvas Members regarding their attendance 
at this event.  
 
TfGMC13/35 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest made by any Member regarding any item 
on the agenda. 
 
TfGMC13/36 MINUTES 
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the TfGMC meeting held on 12 July 2013 were 
submitted.  
 
Resolved/-  
 
That the Minutes of the proceedings of the TfGMC meeting held on 12 July 2013 
be approved as a correct record.  
   
TfGMC13/37 MINUTES FROM SUB COMMITTEES  
 
(a) Bus Network and TfGM Services Sub Committee  
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the Bus Network and TfGM Services Sub 
Committee meeting held on 26 July 2013 were submitted.  
 
Resolved/-  
 
That that the Minutes of the proceedings of the Bus Network and TfGM Services 
Sub Committee, held on 26 July 2013, be received and noted.  
   
(b) Capital Projects and Policy Sub Committee 
 
The Minutes of the Capital Projects and Policy Sub Committee meeting, held on 6 
September 2013 were submitted.  
 
A Member commented that with regard to the carriage of mobility scooters on 
Metrolink, officers were working with disability groups regarding the introduction of 
a mobility scooter permit scheme and invited Members to pass any comments 
regarding this scheme to the Chair of the Capital Projects and Policy Sub 
Committee.      
 
A Member commented that information on the patronage levels on the South 
Manchester Metrolink extension was now included within Metrolink service 
performance reports.  
 
Resolved/-  

Page 76



 3 

 
That the Minutes of the Capital Projects and Policy Sub Committee meeting, held 
on 6 September 2013 be received and noted.     
 
TfGMC13/38  FORWARD LOOK 
 
Members received a report which presented them with a Forward Look of key 
work streams requiring decisions from the Transport for Greater Manchester 
Committee over the next four months.  
 
A Member requested that Velocity 2025 be included as an item for consideration 
at future TfGMC meetings.  
 
Resolved/-  
 
That the Forward Look be noted. 
 
 
Section 2 - TfGMC Recommendations for Further Approval by GMCA 
 
There were no items requiring further approval by GMCA reported.  
 
 
Section 3 - Items for Resolution by TfGMC 
 
There were no items requiring a resolution from TfGMC.  
 
Section 4 – Items for Information 
 
TfGMC13/39 MANCHESTER –SHEFFIELD RAIL SERVICES 
 
A report was presented which advised Members of a consultation by the Minister 
of State for Transport concerning the preservation of infrastructure on the 
Woodhead route and the concerns with progress with the delivery of the  Northern 
Hub infrastructure enhancements and train services developments on the Hope 
Valley route.   
 
A Member commented that he understood the approach on the Woodhead route 
and sought clarification from officers on the Northern Hub upgrades to the Hope 
Valley line, particularly line speeds between New Mills and Ashburys. In response, 
officers confirmed the importance of Hope Valley line services. 
  
A Member highlighted that to open the former LNER tunnels would require very 
significant infrastructure improvements and investment throughout the Woodhead 
route.  
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the contents of the report and the actions taken by TfGM to progress 
the two issues be noted; 

Page 77



 4 

2.) That the request for further reports on the Northern Hub programme of 
works as schemes were developed be noted.  

 
TfGMC13/40 RAIL NORTH: LONG TERM RAIL STRATEGY  
 
Members received a report which informed them of the Rail North published 
consultation on the draft Long Term Rail Strategy for the North of England (LTRS) 
which presented a framework of how rail in the North of England could develop 
over the next twenty years. The report gave a summary of the key aspects of the 
Strategy and presented a draft Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 
response for comment.  
 
Following an enquiry from a Member regarding the timing of the first and last 
trains to Manchester Airport, officers explained that a more detailed report on this 
matter would be considered at future meetings of this Committee.  
 
With regards to the minimum train frequencies suggested by the LTRS, a Member 
commented that local train service should run until 23.30hrs 7 days a week.  
 
A Member welcomed the concerns set out in the response at the exclusion of 
Ashton in the list of major towns.  
    
Resolved/-  
 

1.)  That the contents of the report and the draft consultation response on the 
Long Term Rail Strategy for the North of England, as set out at Appendix 
1 to the report, be noted; 

 
2.) That a further report on be brought back to this Committee in 6 months 

time, be noted. 
  
TfGMC13/41 OFFICE OF RAIL REGULATION: DRAFT DETERMINATION 
 
A report was presented which informed Members of the key aspects of the Rail 
Regulation Draft Determination for Control Period 5 and presented the 
consultation response sent by Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM).  
 
Following an enquiry from a Member regarding Hope Valley and possible 
efficiency measures, officers confirmed that TfGM did not believe any of the 
reported outputs would be lost.  
   
Resolved/-  
 
That the report, including the TfGM response to the Office of Rail Regulation at 
Appendix 1 to the report, be noted.     
 
TfGMC13/42 PUBLIC ART STRATEGY UPDATE 
 
Members received an update on the Public Arts Strategy and highlighted the 
progress made with the public art projects taking place at Bolton, Wythenshawe, 

Page 78



 5 

Rochdale and Altrincham Interchanges. 
 
The Chair explained that TfGMC Members will be approached to be a Public Art 
Champion on a scheme by scheme basis, depending on where such art schemes 
were to be introduced.  
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the report and that a further report on the progress with stakeholders 
on public art projects be noted.  

2.) That Councillor Guy Harkin be the Public Art Champion for the Bolton 
Interchange works, be noted   

3.) That the Public Art Champions for the Altrincham and Wythenshawe 
Interchanges were to be confirmed at a later date, be noted.  

 
TfGMC13/43 HIGH SPEED 2 CONSULTATION – PICCADILLY AND 

MAYFIELD STRATEGIC REGENERATION FRAMEWORK  
 
A report was presented which outlined the Government’s consultation on the High 
Speed 2 (HS2) rail link from the West Midlands to Manchester and Leeds, the 
growth opportunities this presented for Greater Manchester City Region and the 
work officers were undertaking to ensure that TfGM can respond fully to the 
consultation. A draft Strategic Regeneration Framework (SRF) for the wider 
Piccadilly area, building on the opportunities presented by HS2 and the Northern 
Hub rail schemes and a refreshed SRF for Mayfield was also presented.   
 
Members noted that the SRF will provide the context within which the full 
economic, social and environmental potential of the Mayfield area can be brought 
forward, through the creation of a distinctive new urban quarter which would 
define a key gateway into Manchester.  
 
Following an enquiry by a Member, officers confirmed where the new platforms to 
accommodate HS2 were to be located at Piccadilly and highlighted the potential 
benefits that the regeneration of the Mayfield area would create.  
 
A Member commented that the proposals would, 10 years hence, increase the 
number of trains through Stockport and highlighted that such an increase could 
have a detrimental affect to local rail services. It was noted that discussions 
between TfGM and Stockport officers on what proposals were being considered 
would be helpful. In response, officers explained that discussions on this matter 
were on-going with the Department for Transport and the train operating 
companies and undertook to speak with the relevant officers at Stockport Council 
to clarify the work  TfGM was doing in relation to HS2.  
 
A Member commented that HS2 was not just about speed of train journeys and 
explained the additional capacity which would be provided for local, regional and 
freight rail services.  
 
A Member commented that recent national media coverage of HS2 had not been 
helpful and that European countries had long invested and benefitted from High 

Page 79



 6 

Speed Rail.   
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the details of the HS2 consultation process, the potential opportunities 
presented for Greater Manchester and the work which was being 
undertaken to ensure TfGM can respond fully to the  consultation exercise, 
be noted; 

2.) That Manchester City Council will undertake a public consultation exercise 
with the outcomes of the consultation to be brought back to the December 
meeting of this committee, be noted.  

3.) That the Chief Executive, TfGM will report on the substantive response to 
the HS2 consultation to this committee in December, which would include 
impacts on the Piccadilly area and the HS2 station at Manchester Airport, 
be noted 

4.) That the key principles of the SRF and the proposed delivery structures, as 
set out in the report be noted;  

5.) That Manchester City Council was to undertake a public consultation 
exercise on the SRF with local residents, businesses and other 
stakeholders and that the outcome of this consultation be reported back to 
the Committee in December 2013, be noted; 

6.) That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive, TfGM and the director 
of Finance and Corporate Services, TfGM in consultation with the Chair of 
TfGMC to finalise the Heads of Terms for establishing a partnership to 
redevelop the Mayfield site in accordance with the key principles out lined 
in the report, be granted.  

    
TfGMC13/44 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
Resolved/-  
 
That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 
public should be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that this involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set 
out in paragraph 7 Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information.  
 
TfGMC13/45 METROLINK STANDARD FARE 
  
Member considered a report which provided them with information on the 
proposed changes to the Metrolink Standard Fare charges as a result of the 
introduction of the Smart ticketing scheme.  
 
Following an enquiry from a Member, officers confirmed that the rules regarding 
travelling on a tram without valid authority and the processes for collecting the 
Standard Fare from passengers would be publicised.  
 
In response to an enquiry from a Member, officers undertook to clarify the tariff of 
standard fare charges with the Member concerned outside of the meeting.    

Page 80



 7 

 
Resolved/-  
 
That the report on the proposed changes to the Metrolink Standard Fare, as set 
out in the report, be noted.  
 
 

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

4 
MINUTES OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE MEETING OF THE 
TRANSPORT FOR GREATER MANCHESTER COMMITTEE, HELD ON 11 
OCTOBER 2013 AT10.30 AM AT  MANCHESTER TOWN HALL 
  

Present:  
 
Councillor Chadwick  Bolton  
Councillor Harkin   Bolton 
 
Councillor Bayley    Bury  
Councillor Grimshaw  Bury 
 
Councillor Fender    Manchester (in the Chair). 
Councillor Clayton   Manchester  
Councillor Paul    Manchester  
Councillor Rawlins   Manchester  
Councillor Walters    Manchester  
 
Councillor Briggs    Oldham  
Councillor Dean   Oldham  
Councillor Dillon   Oldham  
 
Councillor Ahmed   Rochdale  
Councillor Duckworth  Rochdale  
Councillor Godson   Rochdale  
 
Councillor Garrido    Salford  
Councillor Jones   Salford  
Councillor Warner    Salford  
 
Councillor Bellis    Stockport  
Councillor Corris    Stockport 
Councillor  Wright    Stockport  
 
Councillor Bray   Tameside  
Councillor Dickinson  Tameside  
Councillor Robinson   Tameside 
 
Councillor Colledge    Trafford  
Councillor Cordingley   Trafford  
 
Councillor Aldred    Wigan 
Councillor Bradbury   Wigan  
Councillor Smethurst   Wigan  
 
Officers In Attendance: 
 
Jon Lamonte   Chief Executive, TfGM 

Page 83



 2 

Rodney Lund   Monitoring Officer, GMCA 
Steve Warrener  Director of Finance and Corporate Services, TfGM 
Bob Morris   Chief Operating Officer, TfGM 
Dave Newton   Transport Strategy Director, TfGM 
Howard Hartley  Head of Bus, TfGM 
Sue Vanden   TfGM 
Tony Walmsley  TfGM 
Rod Fawcett Greater Manchester Integrated Support Team 

(GMIST) 
Paul Harris GMIST 
 
Apologies: Councillors Fitzpatrick (Stockport), Holland (Wigan), Reilly 
(Trafford) and Wild (Bolton). 
 
 

TfGMC13/46 CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
 
(a) Winston Ramsey 
 
The Chair informed Members of the death of former GMPTA Member and Bury 
Councillor, Winston Ramsey. As a mark of respect, the Committee stood for a 
moment in silent reflection.  
 
(b)  Powers Approved for Metrolink’s Second City Crossing 
 
Members noted that Transport and Works Order Act powers to install a second 
Metrolink route through Manchester city centre have been approved by the 
Government. Members also noted that as a result of this approval, TfGM can now 
finalise arrangements for delivering the scheme, which will see a new, larger tram 
stop in St Peter’s Square and a new stop in Exchange Square, one of the city’s 
main retail and leisure areas. 
 
(c) Green Bus Fund 

 
The Chair was pleased to announce that TfGM had been successful in securing 
£1.3 million from the fourth round of the DfT Green Bus fund for low-carbon 
emission buses, which will deliver a further 23 green buses for Greater 
Manchester.  
 
(d) Metrolink Services to Ashton-Under-Lyne 

 
Members noted that Metrolink passenger services to Ashton-under-Lyne 
commenced on 9 October, several months ahead of schedule.  
 
(e) Light Rail Awards 
 

Members welcomed that the achievements of Metrolink and its partners were 
recognised and rewarded at the recent International Light Rail Awards. 
 
The Metrolink expansion was named UK Project of the Year, with Transport for 
Greater Manchester, MRDL and MPT rewarded for three joint entries – the East 

Page 84



 3 

Manchester line to Droylsden, the East Didsbury line and the Oldham-Rochdale 
line. 
 
MPT, the project’s principal contractor, was also awarded Supplier of the Year. 
 
RATP won the Operator of the Year award for their global light rail operations, 
including Metrolink – which they operate as MRDL. 
 
Bombardier, which supplies Metrolink’s M5000 trams, won the award for 
Manufacturer of the Year and was highly commended as Supplier of the Year. 
 
TfGM and MPT were highly commended for Best Environmental Initiative for their 
overall environmental commitment on the Metrolink expansion project, including 
the crossing of the Mersey Valley as part of the new line to Manchester Airport. 
 
The Metrolink Tram Pro network simulator (delivered by TfGM, MRDL and Ian 
Rowe Associates) was also highly commended in the Innovation of the Year 
category for significantly reducing the time needed for driver training on the 
network’s new lines 
 
Members extended congratulations to all of them.  
 
(f)      Petition 
 
The Chair announced that a petition had been received from the Lighthouse 
Christian Centre requesting public transport improvements in Centenary Park, 
Coronet Way, Eccles and the surrounding area.  
 
TfGM were asked to provide a response to the petitioner.  
 
(g) Ministers for Transport 
 
The Chair explained that following the recent Cabinet re-shuffle, he had written to 
both Baroness Kramer, Minister of State of Transport and Robert Goodwill MP, 
Parliamentary Under Secretary for Transport, the new Ministers at the Department 
for Transport and to Norman Baker MP, who was leaving the DfT.     
 
Members noted the efforts Mr Baker had made to support transport improvements 
in Greater Manchester.  
 
TfGMC13/47  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made by any Member regarding any item 
on the agenda. 
 
TfGMC13/48  MINUTES 
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the TfGMC meeting held on 12 July 2013 were 
submitted.  
 
It was noted that with regard to the Public Art Strategy Update, Minute Ref 

Page 85



 4 

TfGMC13/42, Councillor Tracey Rawlins was appointed as the Public Art 
Champion for the Wythenshawe Interchange scheme.   
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the Minutes of the proceedings of the TfGMC meeting held on 12 July 
2013 be approved as a correct record.  

2.) That the appointment of Councillor Rawlins as the TfGMC Public Arts 
Champion for the Wythenshawe Interchange scheme be noted.   

 
TfGMC13/49 MINUTES FROM SUB COMMITTEES 
 
(a) Metrolink and Rail Networks – 20 September 2013 
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the Metrolink and Rail Networks Sub 
Committee, held on 20 September 2013 were submitted.  
 
Resolved/-  
 
That the Minutes of the Metrolink and Rail Network Sub Committee meeting, held 
on 20 September 2013, be noted.  
 
(b) Bus Network and TfGM Services  - 4 October 2013 
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the Bus Network and TfGM Services Sub 
Committee, held on 4 October 2013 were submitted.  
 
Resolved/-  
 
That the Minutes of the Bus Network and TfGM Services Sub Committee meeting, 
held on 4 October 2013, be noted.  

 
TfGMC13/50 FORWARD LOOK 
 
Members received a report which presented them with a Forward Look of key 
work streams requiring decisions from the Transport for Greater Manchester 
Committee over the next four months.  
 
Resolved/-  
 
That the Forward Look be noted. 
 
Section 2 - TfGMC Recommendations for Further Approval by GMCA 
 
There were no items requiring further approval by GMCA reported.  
 
 
Section 3 - Items for Resolution by TfGMC 
 
There were no items requiring a resolution from TfGMC.  
 

Page 86



 5 

Section 4 - Items for Information 
 
TfGMC13/51 GREATER MANCHESTER TRANSPORT FUND UPDATE 
 
Members received a report which provided  them with an update on the Greater 
Manchester Transport Fund (GMTF), and noted that  this report had been 
considered by Greater Manchester Combined Authority at its meeting on 27 
September 2013.  
 
In response to an enquiry from a Member regarding a park and ride facility at the 
Prestwich Metrolink site, officers noted that such projects needed to satisfy a 
number of criteria including value for money. Members noted that a further 
feasibility study was being undertaken at this site.  
 
Following an enquiry from a Member in relation to the proposed allocation of £50 
million for Contributions to Rail Stations, officers confirmed that the central 
Government funding had been withdrawn as part of the Comprehensive Spending 
Review. 
  
In response to an enquiry from a Member in relation to a park and ride scheme for 
Atherton Rail Station, officers explained that this station was not part of the 
previously identified park and ride programme, but undertook to explore options to 
see if a scheme for Atherton would be viable.  
 
Members noted that with regard to Shaw and Crompton, TfGM had worked up 
design proposals for a Park and Ride Scheme, however such a scheme was cost 
prohibitive.  
 
The Chair invited Members to share details of any potential park and ride sites 
with officers, should they be aware of any such sites.  
 
A Member welcomed the Longdendale Integrated Transport Strategy proposals 
as set out in the report.  
 
A Member highlighted that given its proximity to the boundary of Greater 
Manchester, Horwich Parkway station car park continued to be well used, often by 
commuters from outside of Greater Manchester. Officers were asked to speak 
with representatives of the Train Operating Companies to see if alternative 
stations on the periphery of Greater Manchester with park and ride facilities, such 
as Buckshaw,  be made more attractive to such commuters.  
 
Following an enquiry from a Member regarding cycling initiatives, officers 
undertook to include updates on active travel as part of the Local Sustainable 
Transport Fund and Cycle City Ambition Grant reports.    
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the contents of the report  be noted; 
2.) That a future reports brought back to the GMCA and TfGMC relating to 

options for the Metrolink Trafford Line and the Second City Crossing, be 
noted.  

Page 87



 6 

  
TfGMC13/52 BUS UPDATE 
 
Members received a report which informed them of an initiative being led by 
Greater Manchester Travel Cards Limited (GMTL) and TfGM to offer fare 
reductions for job seekers. In addition, Members also noted an update regarding 
GMTL’s System One fare reductions and the proposed purchase of Finglands 
Coachways by First UK Bus.  
 
A Member highlighted the further potential for the cost of GMTL products to be 
reduced in line with the recent fare initiatives by First and Stagecoach. In 
response, officers noted that this was a matter for the GMTL Board.   
 
A Member welcomed the job seekers fare initiative and enquired as to why rail 
travel was not included as part of this initiative. In response, officers explained 
that this initiative was a provision of the Local Sustainable Transport Fund and 
was predominately for bus and Metrolink services, however, officers undertook to 
speak with representatives of the Train Operating Companies regarding this 
matter.  
 
Following an enquiry from a Member regarding the travel shop at Leigh Bus 
station, officers undertook to speak with the Member concerned after the meeting.  
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the System One fare reductions be noted; 
2.)  That the job seekers fare initiative  be noted; 
3.) That the position in regard to the purchase of Finglands Coachways by 

First UK Bus be noted.  
  
TfGMC13/53 METROLINK COMMERCIAL MATTERS 
 
A report was presented which advised Members of those issues influencing 
Metrolink Fares and outlined the proposed Metrolink fare changes for January 
2014 that will deliver an overall price increases on the network to meet TfGM’s 
long term financial strategy, continue to eliminate historical anomalies within 
different fare types and deliver the simpler zonal-based fare structure to support 
the future introduction of get me there Smart Ticketing.  
 
Members noted that a detailed presentation on the proposed fare structure for 
Metrolink from January 2014 would be provided in Part B of the meeting. Minute 
Ref TfGMC13/55 refers.   
 
Following a comment from a Member regarding the patronage and revenues on 
the Metrolink network, officers explained that the current revenues were in line 
with the financial strategy. In addition, Members noted that patronage levels on 
the Metrolink network were monitored and reported to the Metrolink and Rail 
Networks Sub Committee.  
  
Resolved/-  
 

Page 88



 7 

1.) That the contents of the report be noted. 
  
TfGMC13/54 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
Resolved/-  
 
That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 
public should be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that this involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set 
out in paragraph 3 Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information.  
 
Section 5 - Items for Resolution by TfGMC 
 
TfGMC13/55 METROLINK COMMERCIAL MATTERS – PRESENTATION 
 
Members received a presentation which set out a proposal for Metrolink fare 
increases in line with the principles set out in the Metrolink Commercial Matters 
report (referred to at Minute Ref TfGMC13/53, above,) and considered the 
approval of such. In addition approval was also sought from Members in relation 
to the introduction of a proposed new Metrolink fare structure for smart ticketing.  
 
Further detailed fares information was circulated for the information of Members 
and examples of zonal journeys were explained. 
 
In response to an enquiry by a Member, officers confirmed that the scheme is 
being developed so that regardless of the number of journeys a passenger may 
make using smart ticketing in any one day, they would not be charged more than 
the cost of a network wide day travel card.  
 
Following a comment from a Member regarding the lack of a combined bus and 
tram product during the morning peak, officers explained that they were working 
to achieve this. 
 
In response to an enquiry from a Member regarding the introduction of the zonal 
pricing system, officers explained that the pricing of the zones reflected factors 
such as the frequency of services and length of routes.  
 
Following a comment from a Member regarding the visibility of cheaper family 
tickets on ticket vending machines (TVMs), officers explained that such options 
were now more prominent on TVM screen options.   
 
A member highlighted that some passengers will experience some service 
disruption whilst refurbishment works at Victoria station were taking place in 
January 2014. In response,  Officers explained that a communications strategy 
has been developed around this.  
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the presentation be received and noted;  

Page 89



 8 

2.) That the proposed fare increases to be applied in January 2014, based on 
the previously agreed principle of (RPIx+1%), be approved; 

3.) That the zonal based Metrolink fares structure that will support the future 
introduction of "get me there" Smart ticketing, be approved. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 1 

4 
 

MINUTES OF THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE MEETING OF THE 
TRANSPORT FOR GREATER MANCHESTER COMMITTEE, HELD ON 15 
NOVEMBER 2013 AT 10.30 AM AT MANCHESTER TOWN HALL 
  

Present:  
 
Councillor David Chadwick   Bolton 
Councillor Guy Harkin   Bolton 
Councillor Paul Wild    Bolton 
 
Councillor Joan Grimshaw   Bury  
 
Councillor Mark Clayton   Manchester 
Councillor Andrew Fender    Manchester (in the Chair) 
Councillor Chris Paul    Manchester  
Councillor Tracey Rawlins   Manchester 
 
Councillor Peter Dean   Oldham  
Councillor John Dillon   Oldham  
 
Councillor Shakil Ahmed   Rochdale  
Councillor Ian Duckworth   Rochdale  
Councillor Alan Godson   Rochdale  
 
Councillor Robin Garrido    Salford  
Councillor Barry Warner    Salford  
 
Councillor Paul Bellis    Stockport  
Councillor Stuart Corris    Stockport  
Councillor Dean Fitzpatrick   Stockport  
Councillor Craig Wright    Stockport  
 
Councillor Warren Bray   Tameside 
Councillor Doreen Dickinson  Tameside 
Councillor Peter Robinson    Tameside 
 
Councillor Michael Cordingley   Trafford 
 
Councillor Mark Aldred    Wigan  
Councillor Norman Bradbury   Wigan  
Councillor Lynne Holland   Wigan  
Councillor Eunice Smethurst   Wigan  
 
Officers in Attendance: 
 
Jon Lamonte   Chief Executive, TfGM 
Rodney Lund   Monitoring Officer, GMCA 

Page 91



 2 

Steve Warrener  Director of Finance and Corporate Services, TfGM 
Bob Morris   Chief Operating Officer, TfGM 
Dave Newton   Transport Strategy Director, TfGM 
Sue Vanden   TfGM 
Hugh Chaplain   TfGM 
Rod Fawcett Greater Manchester Integrated Support Team 

(GMIST) 
Paul Harris GMIST 
 
Apologies: Councillors Noel Bayley (Bury), Norman Briggs (Oldham), Matt 
Colledge (Trafford), Roger Jones (Salford), June Reilly (Trafford) and Roy 
Walters (Manchester) 
 

 

TfGMC13/56 CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
 
(a) Councillor June Reilly 
 
Members wished to convey their best wishes to Councillor June Reilly for her to 
make a quick and full recovery following from her recent illness.  
 
(b) Rochdale Interchange 
 
Members welcomed the announcement that Rochdale’s new interchange was to 
open on Sunday 17 November.    
 
(c) Training 
 
Members noted that a training session on the topic of a Guide to Rail was to take 
place at the rise of the TfGMC meeting.  
 
(d) Transport Museum Advisory Panel   
 
Members of the Transport Museum Advisory Panel were reminded that a meeting 
of this Panel was to take place after the training session.  
   
TfGMC13/57 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest made by any Member regarding any item 
on the agenda. 
 
TfGMC13/58 MINUTES 
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the TfGMC meeting held on 11 October 2013 
were submitted.  
 
Resolved/-  
 
That the Minutes of the proceedings of the TfGMC meeting held on 11 October 
2013 be approved as a correct record.  

Page 92



 3 

 
 
 
TfGMC13/59 MINUTES FROM SUB COMMITTEES 
 
(a) Metrolink and Rail Networks – 1 November 2013 
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the Metrolink and Rail Networks Sub 
Committee, held on 1 November 2013 were submitted.  
 
Resolved/-  
 
That the Minutes of the Metrolink and Rail Network Sub Committee meeting, held 
on 1 November 2013, be noted.  
 
(b) Capital Projects and Policy Sub Committee – 8 November 2013 
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the Capital Projects and Policy Sub 
Committee, held on 8 November 2013 were submitted.  
 
Resolved/-  
 
That the Minutes of the Capital Projects and Policy Sub Committee meeting, held 
on 8 November 2013, be noted.  

 
TfGMC13/60 FORWARD LOOK 
 
Members received a report which presented them with a Forward Look of key 
work streams requiring decisions from the Transport for Greater Manchester 
Committee over the next four months.  
 
A Member highlighted the need to be mindful of longer term funding implications 
of shuttle bus services introduced as part of a planning condition.  
 
A Member suggested that a section of the Forward Look should also include 
Tram-train proposals. In response, it was noted that the Forward Look was 
designed primarily to highlight the work requiring decisions from the Committee 
over the next four months, albeit that some projects were still in the early stages 
of development.  
     
Following a comment from a Member, the Committee was encouraged to continue 
to promote the benefits of High Speed Rail 2. 
  
Resolved/-  
 
That the Forward Look be noted. 
 
Section 2 - TfGMC Recommendations for Further Approval by GMCA 
 
There were no items requiring further approval by GMCA reported.  

Page 93



 4 

 
Section 3 - Items for Resolution by TfGMC 
 
TfGMC13/61 APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR OF TFGMC AND CHAIR OF 

THE CAPITAL PROJECTS AND POLICY SUB COMMITTEE 
 
Members considered the appointment of the Vice Chair of TfGMC and the Chair 
of the Capital Projects and Policy Sub Committee for the remainder of 2013/14. 
 
Resolved/- 
 
That Councillor Guy Harkin be appointed as the Vice Chair of TfGMC and Chair of 
the Capital Projects and Policy Sub Committee for 2013/14.  
 
Section 4 - Items for Information 
 
ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 
TfGMC13/62 ACTIVE TRAVEL AND TRAVEL CHOICES UPDATE 
 
A report was presented which provided Members with an update on the progress 
made to date on Active Travel and Travel Choices initiatives including those 
schemes included within the Local Sustainable Transport Fund (LSTF) 
Programme.  
 
With regard to the Travel Choices Programme, particularly sustainable travel 
choices for job seekers, Members noted that TfGM was working in partnership 
with Jobcentre Plus to deliver this initiative.  
 
A Member highlighted the limited public transport choices for people working in 
Trafford Park and enquired as to whether employers were being encouraged to 
promote their own active travel schemes. In response, it was noted that a wider 
travel plan for Trafford Park transport was now being developed and that cycling 
improvements along the Bridgewater Canal corridor were to be introduced as part 
of LSTF.  
 
In relation to the Smarter Travel component of the LSTF Programme and 
following an enquiry from a Member, officers explained that the Smartphone and 
desktop real-time journey assistant applications would coordinate information on 
transport modes and traffic conditions to enable the users to receive bespoke 
journey planning information.  
 
A Member welcomed the introduction of cycle shelters on the platform at Wigan 
Wallgate station. It was noted that the introduction of similar shelters at street 
level would have also been helpful.  
 
An update from the TfGMC Cycle Champion which highlighted the recent work 
that he had undertaken was provided which included work with the Manchester 
Cycle Forum, promoting the Cycle to Work Scheme and holding informal 
discussions with the Cycling Strategy Board.   

Page 94



 5 

 
In welcoming the report a Member commented that the use of appendices to 
detail progress made on the different component areas would be helpful. 
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the progress to date with the delivery of the LSTF Large Project “Let’s 
Get to Work” be noted; 

2.) That the progress to date with the delivery of the capital and revenue 
elements of the Key Component Commuter Cycle project be noted; 

3.) That the early progress made following the announcement made in August 
2013 that Greater Manchester had been successful in its Cycle City 
Ambition Grant bid to the Department for Transport (DfT) for £20 million 
capital funding, under the wider strategy of Velocity 2025, be noted.  

4.) That it be noted that quarterly progress updates on Active Travel and 
Travel Choices matters be provided to future meetings of this Committee 

5.) That it be noted that reports highlighting any specific Active Travel issues 
be brought to bi-monthly occurrences of this committee, starting with a 
report on the Cycle City Ambition Grant in January 2014.   

 
TfGMC13/63 CUSTOMER SMART PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
Member received a report which provided them with an update on the 
implementation of Smart ticketing as part of the Customer Smart Programme in 
Greater Manchester.   
 
In addition, Members also received a presentation which set out the content of the 
Smart ticketing promotional and marketing campaign for “get me there”.  
 
Following a question from a Member it was noted that Ticket Vending Machines 
will continue to provide paper tickets and receipts.  
 
In response to an enquiry from a Member, it was noted that the introduction of 
Smart ticketing would generate some fare differentials in comparison with paper 
tickets, although not at the same level as in London.   
 
A Member enquired as to the process for people who did not touch out at the end 
of their journey. In response, Members noted those processes in place when 
passengers had not tapped off. It was also noted that the intention of Smart 
ticketing was to change behaviour and to encourage all users to get in the habit of 
touching in at the start and touch out at the end of each journey. 
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the update on Smart ticketing be noted, 
2.) That the presentation on the smart ticketing marketing campaign be 

received and noted.  
  
 
 

Page 95



 6 

 
TfGMC13/64 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
Resolved/-  
 
That, under section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 
public should be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on 
the grounds that this involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set 
out in paragraph 3 Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and 
that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest 
in disclosing the information.  
 
TfGMC13/65  NORTHERN DIRECT AWARD 
 
A report was presented which provided Members with an update on the interim 
Franchise Agreement negotiation for the Northern Rail franchise for the period 
April 2014 to February 2016. 
 
A Member highlighted the need for accessible and frequent Sunday services. In 
response it was noted that this was an option for discussion as part of the long 
term franchise agreement.  
 
Following an enquiry by a Member around revenue protection, officers explained 
that discussions regarding this matter were continuing with Northern Rail.    
 
In response to an enquiry from a Member regarding the use of diesel units on 
certain routes in the next franchise, it was noted that there would be up to 15 
additional electric units operated and that the cascaded diesel units may be 
utilised for peak service strengthening.    
 
Resolved/-  
 

1.) That the position on the negation of a Northern Rail Direct Award taken by 
the Rail North Steering Group be noted.  

2.) That the policy challenges raised by the Direct Award process be noted 
3.) That it be noted that a further report will be provided to this Committee prior 

to the conclusion of the Direct Award process, including the entering into of 
a Franchise Agreement by TfGM as co-signatory.  

  
 
 

Page 96



 

 

ANY AMENDMENTS TO THESE MINUTES WILL BE SHOWN WITHIN THE TEXT OF THE 

MINUTES FOR THE NEXT MEETING OF THIS COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Meeting: National Park Authority Meeting 

 
Date: 4 October 2013 at 10.00am 

 
Venue: Aldern House Baslow Road Bakewell Derbyshire 

 
Chair: Clr A Favell 

 
Present:  Mrs F Beatty, Clr Mrs B Beeley, Miss P Beswick, Clr D Birkinshaw, 

Clr P Brady, Clr D Chapman, Clr G Claff, Clr C Furness, Clr Mrs H 
Gaddum, Clr D Greenhalgh, Mr Z Hamid, Clr Mrs N Hawkins, Clr Mrs 
G Heath, Clr H Laws, Ms S Leckie, Clr A McCloy, Clr S Marshall-
Clarke, Mr G Nickolds, Mr C Pennell, Clr P Rippon, Clr Mrs L C 
Roberts, Clr Mrs N Turner, Clr Mrs J Twigg, and Clr Ms E Wilcox. 
 

Apologies for absence: 
 

Mr P Ancell, Clr P Harrison, Mr R Helliwell, Clr C Carr, and  
Clr Mrs K Potter. 
 

45/13 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

 The Chair reported that the National Parks UK Conference held in the North York 
Moors National Park on 25 – 27 September had been a success and had included 
discussions on the planning changes which would be covered under item 11 on the 
agenda.  It was also noted that Paul Hamblin from National Parks England was 
present and would be speaking to Members about the work of his organisation at the 
end of the meeting. 
 
He also welcomed Mary Bagley to her first meeting of the Authority following her 
appointment as Assistant Director Enterprise and Field Services, and reminded 
Members that they were invited to attend the Annual Parishes Day event to be held on 
12 October at the Whitworth Centre in Darley Dale. 
 
With the consent of the Chair Mr C Pennell advised the meeting that that the 
Authority’s Monitoring Officer had recently received and determined a complaint that 
alleged that he had breached the Members’ Code of Conduct by not declaring his 
membership of Friends of the Peak District as a personal and prejudicial interest when 
considering matters relating to Traffic Regulation Orders at meetings of the Audit, 
Resources and Performance Committee. While the Monitoring Officer, in consultation 
with an Independent Person, had determined that his interest was not prejudicial, she 
had concluded that there were two occasions when he had not declared a personal 
interest. Mr Pennell therefore offered his apologies to the Authority and its Members 
for not declaring his personal interest as a member of Friends of the Peak District in 
items relating to Traffic Regulation Orders considered at meetings of the Audit, 
Resources and Performance Committee held on 9 November 2012 and 3 May 2013. 
Mr Pennell confirmed that he had been a member of Friends of the Peak District for 
many years but did not have any part in their policy making process and his 
membership was only through providing financial support to the organisation.  
 

Page 97



National Park Authority Meeting Minutes 
4 October 2013 

Page 2 

 

46/13 MINUTES 
 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 5 July 2013 were approved as a correct record  
 

47/13 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

 There were no members of the public present to make representations to the meeting. 
 

48/13 MEMBERS DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Members declared interests in items on the agenda as follows: 
 
Item 7 
 

 Clr Godfrey Claff, personal prejudicial interest as a member of High Peak 
Borough Council where he would be involved in decisions relating to the Rural 
Business Advisor Post. It was noted that he would leave the room during any 
discussions on that specific matter. 

 
 Item 8 

 

 It was noted that all members had received an email from Cllr Chris Furness 
who was also a Member of the Authority. 

 All Members present declared a personal interest as they were required to 
comply with the approved Code of Conduct in carrying out their duties as 
Members of the Authority.  

 
49/13 7. BUDGET PLANNING:  ALLOCATION OF ONE OFF EXTRA RESOURCE 

(A137/RMM) 
 

 The Director of Corporate Resources presented proposals to approve one off 
additional resource allocations to priority areas, in the context of budget planning for 
2014/15 and beyond. 

  
 The recommendations in the report were moved, seconded, put to the vote and carried.  

 
 RESOLVED: 

 
 1. To approve the proposals in Appendix 1 for the allocation of one off 

additional resources to priority areas with the subsequent implementation 
including staff establishment changes being delegated to RMT and 
managers in accordance with Standing Orders to be effective as soon as 
possible. 
 

 2. To appoint the following four members to form a reference group for 
consultation on the expenditure plan of the £45k proposed to support the 
Enterprise Plus programme: 
 
Mr Christopher Pennell 
Clr Lesley Roberts 
Clr Chris Furness 
Clr Godfrey Claff 
 

 3. To include participation in the reference group as an approved duty for the 
purpose of claiming travel and subsistence expenses. 
 

 Mr Z Hamid arrived at 10.15am during consideration of this item. 

Page 98



National Park Authority Meeting Minutes 
4 October 2013 

Page 3 

 

 

50/13 8. AMENDMENT TO MEMBERS’ CODE OF CONDUCT – RECOMMENDATION 
FROM THE MEETING OF THE AUDIT AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEETING 
ON 20 SEPTEMBER 2013 (A.111/JS) 
 

 The Head of Law presented proposals to amend the Members’ Code of Conduct to 
reflect the latest report from the Committee on Standards in Public Life, following a 
review of the arrangements for dealing with standards allegations under the Localism 
Act 2011 considered by the Audit, Resources and Performance Committee on 20 
September 2013. 
 

 A motion to defer consideration of the proposed amendments, and ask Officers to carry 
out a comprehensive review of the Code of Conduct for consideration by a group of 
members was moved and seconded, put to the vote and lost.  
 

 The recommendation from Audit Resources and Performance Committee was moved 
and seconded, put to the vote and carried.  
 

 RESOLVED: 
 

 To amend the Members’ Code of Conduct as set out in Appendix 1.   
   
51/13 9. MEMBER LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT ANNUAL REPORT (A.111/RC) 

 
 Members considered a report setting out proposals for the annual programme of 

Member learning and development events to cover the period January to December 
2014. 

  
The Deputy Chair encouraged all Members to attend the member development event to 
be held on 29 November where an external facilitator had been appointed to help 
Members address issues identified in the 2012 Members Survey.  
 

 The recommendations set out in the report were moved, seconded, put to the vote and 
carried.  
 

 RESOLVED:  

 1. To approve the proposed Member learning and development events 
programme for January to December 2014 at appendix 1. 
 

 2. To continue to record Member learning and development activities in 
terms of hours and include personal learning and development by 
Members outside of events organised by the Authority, with the target of 
20 hours per Member in every 12 months. 
 

52/13 10.1 AMENDMENTS TO PART 2 OF STANDING ORDERS AND THE 
CONFIDENTIAL REPORTING/WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY (A111/AGM) 

  
 It was noted that paragraph 10.5 of the policy would be amended to remove “An 

Authority Member” from the list of possible contact points. 
 

 Subject to the proposed amendment to paragraph 10.5, the recommendations set out in 
the report were moved, seconded, put to the vote and carried.  
 

Page 99



National Park Authority Meeting Minutes 
4 October 2013 

Page 4 

 

 

 RESOLVED:  

 1. To approve the amended Confidential Reporting/Whistle-Blowing Policy 
as set out in appendix 1, subject to an amendment to paragraph 10.5 to 
remove the words “An Authority Member”. 
 

 2. To amend section v of paragraph 2.12 in Part 2 of Standing Orders – 
Contracts to delete a reference to the “prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 
and 1916” and replace it with the “Bribery Act 2010”. 
. 

 3. To authorise the Head of Law, in consultation with the Chair of the 
Authority, to amend Standing Orders and Authority Policies to reflect any 
approved changes in job titles and changes to legislation if those 
changes do not have a significant effect on operational matters. 

   
53/13 11. AUTHORITY RESPONSE ON PROPOSED PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT 

RIGHTS (A.610/BJT) 
  
 The Director of Planning presented a report assessing the impact on National Parks of 

proposals set out in Government consultation on proposals to remove the need for 
planning permission for the change of use from agricultural buildings to dwelling 
houses.  It was confirmed that a copy of the Authority’s formal response would be sent 
to the Members of Parliament for constituencies located in the National Park. 
 
The recommendations as set out in the report were moved and seconded, put to the 
vote and carried unanimously. 
 

 RESOLVED:  

 1. To endorse the assessment on the impact of the Government’s proposed 
changes to permitted development as set out in the report and confirm 
that it be used as the basis for a response to Government seeking 
National Park exemption from those changes. 
 

 2. To authorise the Director of Planning to prepare a final a response, 
following consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of Planning 
Committee. 

  
 The meeting ended at 11.20pm. 

 

 

Page 100



MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 
GREATER MANCHESTER FIRE AND RESCUE AUTHORITY 

 
HELD ON 17th OCTOBER 2013 

 
Present: 

 
Councillor David Acton (Chairman), Councillor Tommy Judge (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors John Bell (Deputy Chairman), Mohammed Ayub, 
Walter Brett, Lynda Byrne, Basil Curley, Jim Dawson, Grace Fletcher-
Hackwood, Daniel Hawthorne, Derek Heffernan, James Hennigan, 
Barrie Holland, Bernard Judge, Bryan Leck, Alan Matthews, Sheila Newman, 
John O'Brien, Shaun O'Neill, Brian Rigby, Michael Smith, Stella Smith, 
Fred Walker, Steve Williams, George Wilson and Michael Whetton. 
 
Also in Attendance: Steve McGuirk (County Fire Officer & Chief Executive), 
Paul McKevitt (Treasurer, Wigan Council), Paul Argyle (Director of 
Emergency Response), Ged Murphy (Director of Finance and Technical 
Services), Peter O'Reilly (Director of Prevention and Protection), Donna 
Parker (Democratic Services Manager), Gwynne Williams (Deputy Clerk and 
Authority Solicitor) and Shelley Wright (Director of Corporate 
Communications). 
 
Guest:  Andrew North (Senior Manager, Grant Thornton UK LLP). 
 
44. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Jim Ellis, Hilary 
Fairclough, Iain Lindley and Amna Mir. 
 
45. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The Minutes of the Meeting held on 5th September 2013 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
46. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Councillors Basil Curley, Grace Fletcher-Hackwood, James Hennigan, 
Tommy Judge and Shelia Newman declared a disclosable percuniary interest 
in Minute 55 – ‘Development Goal 20 Operational Training Ground Update’ by 
virtue of contracts which were made between GMFRS and Manchester City 
Council in relation to Development Goal 20 – Operational Training Site’. A 
dispensation was granted pursuant to (Section 33(2)(e) of the Localism Act 
2011) to allow these Members to remain in the meeting during this item to 
speak but not vote on any matter relating to the above (Minute 24 refers). 
 
47. URGENT BUSINESS (IF ANY)  
 
There were no items of urgent business submitted. 
 

Page 101



 

48. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
1. The Chairman informed Members that a Member Training & 

Development Session on ‘People at Increased Risk of Fire’ would be 
taking place at the rise of this meeting. The session would be hosted 
by the Prevention and Protection Team and all Members were 
encouraged to attend.  
 

2. The Chairman informed Members that the Member Training & 
Development Session  ‘A Day in the Life of A Firefighter’ that was due 
to take place on Wednesday 30th October 2013 had been postponed 
due to County Guard and possibly further strike action. The session 
would be re-arranged in the New Year and Members would be advised 
of the date in due course. 
 

3. The Chairman informed Members that the ‘Long Service and Good 
Conduct Award Ceremony’ that was due to take place on Thursday 
28th November 2013 had been postponed due to County Guard and 
possibly further strike action. The ceremony would be re-arranged in 
the New Year and Members would be advised of the date in due 
course. 

  
4. The Chairman informed Members that the ‘Brigade Carol Service’ 

would be taking place on Thursday 5th December 2013 commencing at 
7.30pm at St Ann’s Church, Manchester. Further details would be 
available nearer the time. 
 

5. The Chairman advised Members that GMFRS had won an 
‘International Green Apple Award for Best Environmental Practice in 
the Public Sector’. The Award Ceremony was taking place on Monday 
11th November 2013 at the House of Commons and Councillor George 
Wilson would attend this event in his capacity as Member Champion 
for Sustainability. 

 
6. The Chairman informed Members that the North West Charter on 

Elected Member Development Level 1 Review Verification Visit would 
be taking place on Thursday 30th January 2014 which a number of 
Members and Officers would be invited to attend to support the 
application. More information would be available nearer the time. 
 

7. The Chairman advised Members that the ‘GMFRA Revenue Budget 
2014/15 and Medium Term Financial Strategy’ would be presented to 
the AGMA Informal Leaders Meeting on Friday 25th October 2013 
which he and the Director of Finance and Technical Services would 
attend.  

 
8. The Chairman advised Members that notification had been received 

from the Fire Brigade’s Union (FBU) of their intention to take industrial 
action between 6.30pm and 11.30pm on Saturday 19th October 2013. 
The ‘strike’ followed a ‘yes’ vote in an FBU ballot to take industrial 

Page 102



 

action over the Government’s pension proposals for uniformed staff in 
August which remained unresolved. As with the previous period of 
industrial action on 25th September 2013, the Chairman reassured the 
Authority that GMFRS was prepared for this eventuality and would 
again utilise the Emergency Fire Crew (EFC) to provide cover from key 
locations across Greater Manchester. This plan was known as 
‘Operation County Guard’ and had been widely reported in the press. 
(Minute 53 refers).  

 
49. QUESTIONS (IF ANY) UNDER STANDING ORDER 7  
 
There were no questions submitted. 
 
50. MINUTES OF MEETING THURSDAY, 19 SEPTEMBER 2013 OF 
POLICY, RESOURCES AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE  
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the Policy, Resources and Performance 
Committee held on 19th September 2013 were submitted (Appendix 1). 
 
Resolved: That the proceedings of the Policy, Resources and Performance 
Committee held on 19th September 2013, be approved.  
 
51. MINUTES OF MEETING THURSDAY, 26TH SEPTEMBER 2013 OF 
AUDIT, SCRUTINY AND STANDARDS COMMITTEE  
 
The Minutes of the proceedings of the Audit, Scrutiny and Standards 
Committee held on 26th September 2013 were submitted (Appendix 2). 
 
The Chairman of the Audit, Scrutiny and Standards Committee, Councillor 
Brian Rigby, took the opportunity to thank the Director of Finance and 
Technical Services and the Treasurer and their staff involved for their 
excellent work in preparing and finalising the Statement of Accounts for 
2012/13. 
 
Resolved: That the proceedings of the Audit, Scrutiny and Standards 
Committee held on 26th September 2013, be approved.  
 
52. ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER FOR GREATER MANCHESTER FIRE AND 
RESCUE AUTHORITY - YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2013  
 
Andrew North, Senior Manager from Grant Thornton UK LLP was in 
attendance and presented the Annual Audit Letter 2012/13 to the Authority. 
 
The report summarised the key findings for the year ending 31st March 2013 
with regards to auditing the ‘2012/13 accounts and Whole of Government 
Accounts’ submission and assessing the Authority’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The 
Annual Audit Letter was intended to communicate key messages to the 
Authority and external stakeholders including members of the public. The 
detailed findings from the audit work were presented to the Authority’s Audit, 

Page 103



 

Scrutiny and Standards Committee on 26th September 2013 in the ‘Audit 
Findings for GMFRS Year Ended 31st March 2013’ report (Minute 62 refers). 
 
The Chairman reported that this was an excellent report and took the 
opportunity to thank both Members of the Audit, Scrutiny and Standards 
Committee and Officers for their involvement in this process. 
 
Resolved: That the Annual Audit Letter 2012/13, be noted. 
 
53. HR IMPLICATIONS ARISING FROM INDUSTRIAL ACTION  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the County Fire Officer and Chief 
Executive which provided an update of the response from GMFRS as it 
applied its Business Continuity Management Plan known as County Guard 
and explained the rationale for the approach taken including the risks and 
implications for the Authority in deciding whether to recruit additional 
Emergency Fire Crews or to remain at the current level. 
 
It was reported that on the 29th August 2013, the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) 
membership nationally voted in favour of industrial action, in the form of strike 
action and Wednesday 25th September 2013 was selected by the FBU to be 
the date of the first period of industrial action, with that action lasting for a 4 
hour period (12:00 until 16:00 hours). On Friday 11th October 2013 notification 
was received from the FBU of their intention to take further industrial action on 
Saturday 19th October 2013 lasting for a 5 hour period (18:30 until 23:30 
hours).  
 
Resolved: That the content of the report, be noted. 
 
54. PROPOSALS FOR OPERATIONAL RESTRUCTURING - 
CONSULTATION FEEDBACK  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the County Fire Officer and Chief 
Executive which provided an update on the outcome of the consultation 
regarding the proposed changes to the operational establishment and 
planned re-deployment of resources. The changes were necessary as part of 
a range of planned measures, being delivered to address the budgetary 
constraints being applied to the Authority. 
 
At the last meeting of the Authority on 5th September 2013 (Minute 36 refers) 
Members were advised that the operational establishment and planned re-
deployment of resources were subject to a six week consultation period which 
commenced on 12th August 2013. This had now concluded and the feedback 
had been analysed in detail. A full report detailing the consultation process, 
approach and outcomes was attached at Appendix 1 of the report, for 
Members’ reference. No alternative options had been suggested through the 
consultation therefore, the proposals would now be implemented to meet the 
needs of the organisation. The Director of Emergency Response reported that 
in Appendix 1 – ‘Consultation Feedback’ document there had been an 
omission on pages 53 and 66 under Tameside Borough and the following 

Page 104



 

bullet point should be included ‘Stalybridge Fire Station – The second 
appliance becoming a strategic reserve’.  
 
Members had a detailed discussion and raised a number of questions and 
comments on the proposed changes and the consultation process that had 
taken place that were answered accordingly by Officers. In addition, 
Councillor Michael Smith and Grace Fletcher-Hackwood took the opportunity 
to thank the Director of Emergency Response for coming along to their home 
authorities to speak to Members on this matter as part of the consultation 
process.  
 
Resolved: That: 
 
1. The content of the report, and comments raised, be noted. 

 
2. The following bullet point be included on pages 53 and 66 of Appendix 

1 – Consultation Feedback document under Tameside Borough:-  
 
‘Stalybridge Fire Station – The second appliance becoming a strategic 
reserve’. 
 

3. The need to make changes to operational resource deployment to 
meet the approved budget, be approved. 

 
4. The proposals were put to public consultation for a 6 week period, 

commencing 12th August 2013 and no alternatives or ideas were 
received to make the necessary savings, be noted. 
 

5. Delegated authority having previously been given to the County Fire 
Officer & Chief Executive in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Authority to determine and implement changes to operational resource 
deployment, subject to the consultation feedback being received; it be 
acknowledged that the proposals are to be implemented to appropriate 
timescales to meet the organisation’s needs (as previously approved at 
the last meeting of the Authority Minute 36(4) refers). 

 
55. DEVELOPMENT GOAL 20 - OPERATIONAL TRAINING SITE 
UPDATE  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the County Fire Officer and Chief 
Executive which provided an update on the DV20 Operational Training Site 
Project. This was reported to the last meeting of the Authority held on 5th 
September 2013 (Minute 40 refers). 
 
It was reported that a site visit and presentation by GMFRS for contractors 
was held on 13th September 2013 to enable potential contractors to 
determine if they wished to be involved in the mini competition for the 
scheme. Seven contractors attended the day and returns of ‘Expressions of 
Interest’ were received on 17th September 2013 from four contractors. 
Contractors were required to sign a statement confirming agreement to the 

Page 105



 

£6,883,000 budget for the design and build of this facility. The process was 
geared to selecting a development partner to take forward the detailed design 
and delivery of the overall scheme working in partnership with the Authority. 
 
Evaluation of the submissions from the mini competition was due to 
commence on 14th October 2013 and it was intended that the selection of a 
contractor would be made by late October 2013. The successful contractor 
would then work closely with the project team to undertake all the detailed 
design and planning work through the Autumn and Winter, with a view to 
starting on site in Quarter 4 2013/14.  
 
Resolved: That the content of the report, be noted. 
 
56. UPDATE ON GMFRS PARTNERSHIP WORK 2013  
 
Consideration was given to a report of the County Fire Officer and Chief 
Executive which provided an update on the development of a Strategic 
Partnership Register (SPR) that was discussed in the ‘Update of GMFRS 
Partnership Prevention Work 2012’ report presented to the Prevention and 
Protection Committee on 8th November 2012 (Minute 25 refers). The report 
sought continued support from the Authority in relation to the extensive 
partnership work being undertaken by the organisation. 
 
The Strategic Partnership Register outlined the approach to the management 
of partnerships and illustrated the range of partnerships that the organisation 
was involved in. A copy of the Strategic Partnership Register was attached at 
Appendix A of the report, for Members’ reference.  
 
Members welcomed the report and asked a series of questions on the content 
of the Register that was answered accordingly by the Director of Prevention 
and Protection. In addition, he asked Members to speak to their own local 
authorities with regards to improving partnership working with GMFRS when 
looking after vulnerable people and referred to the recent incidents in which 3 
elderly people died. 
 
Resolved: That: 
 
1. The content of the report and comments raised, be noted. 

 
2. The Authority continue to support GMFRS approach to partnership 

working. 
 

3. The quality and depth of the existing Partnership work being 
undertaken, be acknowledged. 

 
 
 
 

CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 106



 

 
 

Page 107



Page 108

This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 
 

 

UNITY PARTNERSHIP BOARD 

 
 

4 September 2013 
 
Members' Meeting Room - Civic Centre, Oldham, OL1 1NL 
5.30 pm 

 
Present: Councillor Jabbar (Chair) 

Councillors Akhtar, McCann and Sykes 
 

 Emma Alexander Executive Director Commercial 
Services 

 Kay Andrews Agilisys 
 Craig Apsey Mouchel 
 Philip Cresswell Assistant Executive Director, 

Commercial Services 
 Andrew Kendall 

Ailsa Gerrard 
Janet Horton 

Unity Partnership 
Unity Partnership 
Mouchel 

 John Sillitoe Mouchel 
 
 

1 Welcome and Apologies  

Apologies were received from Councillors Hudson and McMahon, Charlie Parker and 
Will Dougherty. 

2 Minutes and Matters Arising  

The Minutes of the meeting held on 18th June 2013 were agreed as a correct record. 
 

3 Managing Director's Report and KPI Report (Standing Item)  

The Board received a report on the work of the Unity Partnership since the previous 
meeting and it was pointed out that the report format had now been strengthened to 
cover the three themes within the Heads of Agreement as follows: 
 

• The service highlights across each of the four Unity services which included an 
update on Highways, Property, Transactional Services, ICT and Contact 
Centre. The Board was also informed of the introduction of a Service Delivery 
Project Management Office, the purpose and framework for delivery for which 
was outlined. In addition reference was made to a briefing session for 
Members where IT issues could be addressed.  

• The support that Unity was providing to Oldham’s transformation programme – 
identifying the main initiatives that Unity was currently supporting 

• Indicating how Unity was supporting the Get Oldham Working programme. 
 

Page 109



  
 

The KPI report was also included for the Board’s information. 
 
The Board noted the report and the progress made. 

4 Update on Phase 3 (Standing Item)  

Officers informed the Board that following approval for the transfer of the HR Advisory 
Service, the remaining ICT services and the Property Services, a programme of 
TUPE consultation had commenced for the staff that were affected. No significant 
issues had arisen during the consultation and the transfer dates of 22nd July for HR 
and ICT Services and 5th August for the Property Services staff had been agreed, 
with staff transferring successfully on these dates. At the point of transfer Unity had 
provided a full induction programme, details of which were outlined in the report. 
 
The Board noted the final update. 

5 Unity Change Programme (Standing Item)  

Consideration was given to a report of the Executive Director, Commercial Services 
which provided an update for the Board on the progress made in implementing the 
Heads of Agreement, which set out the details of the agreed changes. 
Councillor Jabbar acknowledged that a lot of work had been undertaken since May 
this year and Members had seen the level of work that had been required to reach 
this stage and he thanked both Emma Alexander and Andrew Kendall for all their 
hard work. A request was put to Emma Alexander that a report be brought back to the 
Board if targets were not being met. 
 
The Board noted the report and the level of work that this process had entailed 
and asked that the Board’s thanks be placed on record to Emma and Andrew 
for all their hard work. 

6 Operations Board (Standing Item)  

There were no matters arising from the Operations Board. 

7 AOB  

There were no matters to be considered under this item. 

8 Date and Time of Next Meeting  

It was noted that the next meeting of the Unity Partnership Board was 
scheduled for 11th November 2013. 
 

The meeting started at 5.35 pm and ended at 6.15 pm 
 

Page 110



 

 

 
COUNCIL 

 
LGA CORPORATE PEER CHALLENGE: OLDHAM COUNCIL, 
OCTOBER 2013 
 
Report of Deputy Chief Executive  
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Jim McMahon, Leader and Cabinet Member 
for Regeneration and Strategic Projects 
 
 
18 December 2013  
 
Officer Contact: Carolyn Wilkins, Deputy Chief Executive 
Ext. 5532 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
This report  highlights the findings of the LGA Peer Support Challenge carried out in 
Oldham during October 2013. The Peer Challenge Team concluded that there has 
been: “A remarkable transformation in Oldham in recent years, both in the place and 
in having established an ambitious and effective council. The authority can be proud 
of what has been achieved”. The report states that the Council is now seen to be a 
disciplined organisation that is competent and effective – which in turn generates the 
confidence and credibility for it to do more challenging and difficult things. It also 
states there is increased confidence, belief and trust in the Council – which has been 
achieved through the building of competence and successful delivery. 

 

This report summarises the key aspects of this transformation identified by the Peer 
Review Team. It also comments on the issues identified for consideration by the 
Council as we continue to move forward.  
 
Recommendations 
 
1. That the Council welcomes the findings of the 2013 LGA Corporate Peer 

Challenge Report of Oldham Council; and 
2. That the Council endorses the response to the findings set out in this report. 
3. That a report be presented to a future meeting of Cabinet outlining progress 

against the areas identified for consideration. 

Agenda Item 15

Page 111



Page 2 of 9 [Corporate Peer Challenge] [18 December 2013] 

 
COUNCIL        18 December 2013 
 
LGA Corporate Peer Challenge: Oldham Council 2013  
 
1.0 Background 
 
1.1 Oldham Council agreed to take part in a Corporate Peer Challenge as part of 

the Local Government Association’s (LGA) programme of sector-led 
improvement. The review took place in October 2013. Peer challenges are 
managed and delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers.  
The peers who delivered the peer challenge were: 

 
Barry Quirk, Chief Executive, London Borough of Lewisham 
 
Councillor Sharon Taylor, Leader, Stevenage Borough Council and 
elected member on Hertfordshire County Council (Labour) 
 
Councillor Paul Tilsley, Birmingham City Council (Liberal Democrat) 
 
John O’Brien, Chief Executive, London Councils 

 
Andrew Lewis, Assistant Chief Executive, Newcastle City Council 
 
Chris Bowron, Peer Challenge Manager, Local Government 
Association 
 

1.2 During the Peer Challenge, the Team met with a wide range of stakeholders 
including Councillors, staff, partners (at borough and Greater Manchester level) 
as well as community and voluntary sector representatives. 

 
1.3 Following the review, a Corporate Peer Challenge Report was prepared by the 

Challenge Team. The Council committed to publish this report ahead of the 
Corporate Peer Challenge taking place, and is set out in full in Appendix A.  

 

1.4 All Corporate Peer Challenges explore a number of guiding questions covering 
areas such as political and managerial leadership; financial planning and 
governance and decision-making arrangements. In order to tailor the peer 
challenge to local circumstances, Oldham requested that the Peer Challenge 
Team consider the Cooperative ambition of the Council and explore a number 
of additional questions: 

  

• The extent to which the approach is joined up and mainstreamed;  

• What would happen if key individuals were to leave; 

• Whether the council is making a difference to the place; 

• If the council’s reputation built on solid foundations; and 

• Whether the authority’s civic leadership approach shared with partners and 
residents? 

 

Page 112



Page 3 of 9 [Corporate Peer Challenge] [18 December 2013] 

 
2.0 Corporate Peer Challenge: Key Messages 

 
2.1 The Peer Challenge Report is set out in full in Appendix A. It highlights that 

there has been: “A remarkable transformation in Oldham in recent years, both 
in the place and in having established an ambitious and effective council. The 
authority can be proud of what has been achieved”. 

The improvements and achievements that have contributed to this 
transformation are summarized as:   

 

• The council is now seen to be a disciplined organisation that is competent 
and effective – which in turn generates the confidence and credibility for it 
to do more challenging and difficult things.  The organisational culture feels 
positive, financial management is strong and performance management is 
effective.   

 

• There is a real maturity of vision for Oldham, set by the political leadership, 
including how it is positioned in the context of Greater Manchester.   
 

• The concept of a ‘Co-operative’ approach has real resonance with people 
internally and externally. An underpinning infrastructure has been 
established in order to help translate the vision into tangible actions and 
generate drive and momentum.  

 

• Significant capital investment, from both the public and private sectors, is 
being made and planned in Oldham and there is a clear and balanced 
economic strategy in place.   

 

• Public satisfaction with the council has increased from 22 per cent to 65 per 
cent in the period since 2008.  There is increased confidence, belief and 
trust in the council – which has been achieved through the building of 
competence and successful delivery. The authority sees an improving 
reputation being secured as a by-product of successful delivery. 

 

• The Council is very highly valued and well-respected by its local partners, 
who are overwhelmingly positive about the authority and its trajectory of 
improvement and stakeholder engagement. They see a significant 
improvement not just in the Council but also in the borough. 

 

• The Council is now seen to be ‘punching above its weight’ and is one of the 
most highly respected and influential in Greater Manchester.  It is fully 
integrated and playing a leading role within the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority.  In addition The Council and key individuals within it 
are also very effectively engaged and influential at the national level. 

 

• The council’s political and managerial leadership has been integral to what 
has been achieved. It is in step and complementary with a shared clarity of 
purpose. It puts people and the place above the Council. It is respected 
internally and externally and galvanises support from staff and partners.  

Page 113



Page 4 of 9 [Corporate Peer Challenge] [18 December 2013] 

The Leader’s style and approach is both exceptional and unique in nature 
and the council has benefitted enormously from having a driven Chief 
Executive with an entrepreneurial outlook and who has provided strong 
corporate direction for organisational change and improvement.  There is 
good managerial leadership at Executive Director and Assistant/Associate 
Executive Director level. This strength in depth stands the authority in good 
stead to maintain its strong performance during the period of transition to a 
new Chief Executive. Staff at all levels demonstrated passion, enthusiasm 
and commitment and are really bought in to the council’s agenda and both 
understand and support the vision that has been established. 

 

• The emphasis placed on districts within a borough context was valued with 
benefits identified including an increased responsiveness on the part of 
council officers and more engagement by citizens. Ward councilors are 
seen as more involved and demonstrating increased leadership. They are 
increasingly being seen to facilitate communities and encourage greater 
self-reliance. 

 

• As a result of the Council’s two-year budgeting approach the report 
acknowledges good progress has been made in finalising a balanced 
budget for 2014/15 to meet the projected gap of £23m.  

 
2.2 Oldham Council’s decision to take part in the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 

was part of its ongoing commitment to learning and improvement. The process 
has provided valuable insight into the work that the Council has been delivering 
over recent years, as well as providing feedback on proposals for further 
development.  

 
2.3 The following section summarises the main issues highlighted in the Report for 

the Council to consider in moving forward. Also set out is the Council’s 
response to these issues. 
 

3.0 Issues Identified for Consideration by Oldham Council 
 
3.1 Contained within the Peer Challenge report are a number of areas that the 

Corporate Peer Challenge Team identified for consideration by the Council as 
it moves forward. 
  

3.1.1 Maintain focus and continue to deliver 
 

The Peer Challenge report acknowledges the importance for the Council in 
remaining focused and continuing to make progress by building on what has 
been achieved. The report highlights a number of areas where this is 
particularly important – the main ones being successful completion of key 
regeneration projects such as the Old Town Hall and continued focus on 
performance in the delivery of council services. 

 
Response: 
 

Page 114



Page 5 of 9 [Corporate Peer Challenge] [18 December 2013] 

The Council is clear that it is essential to continue to deliver on priority 
commitments. In turn, such delivery is a key driver of satisfaction with, and 
confidence in, the Council by all stakeholders. It is equally important that focus 
continues on standards of service delivery. To support this the Council has a 
clear Corporate Plan setting out the key outcomes, programmes and projects 
to be delivered over the next three years. This is supported by a Medium Term 
Financial Strategy and Capital Programme, combined with a robust People 
Strategy to ensure the appropriate capacity and information is in place to 
support delivery. Specialist support has been brought in such as hotel, cinema 
and retail expertise, overseen by dedicated project management and financial 
support. 
 
The Council’s performance framework was revised following the adoption of 
the Corporate Plan by Council in July 2013. Regular reporting takes place 
through Overview and Scrutiny and Cabinet. Improvements in the 
communication of the Council’s performance in the delivery of services are 
planned for early 2014.  Resident surveys also take place on a regular basis to 
test satisfaction and contribute to understanding of views and concerns. 

 
In addition, the Council has continued to deliver on the Regeneration 
Programme since the Peer Challenge took place in October, with a number of 
key decisions recently being taken by the Council’s Cabinet. These include a 
comprehensive new package of support for businesses in the ‘Yorkshire Street 
triangle area’, a redevelopment masterplan to regenerate the Mumps/Eastern 
Gateway of Oldham Town Centre, and approval of the business case for the 
flagship Hotel Future project. 
 
The Council recognizes the importance of retaining public confidence and has 
been disciplined in ensuring that developments are communicated at the right 
time to manage expectations and to allow adequate due diligence and project 
management.  

 
Delivery plans are in place for the regeneration schemes, supported by the 
Councils Capital Programme.  Communication of the overall Programme and 
its delivery will continue throughout 2014. Interim arrangements have been put 
in place including Sir Howard Bernstein providing advice and support on the 
authority’s regeneration and economic development activities and projects.  

 
 
3.1.2 Council to drive a more comprehensive programme for employment and skills  
 

The Peer Challenge Report highlights that there is a key role for the Council to 
drive a more comprehensive programme for employment and skills, with much 
clearer connections made between education, employment and enterprise.   
 
The importance of partners’ engagement with the achievement of the education 
and employment ambitions for Oldham was also highlighted. 

 
Response: 
 

Page 115



Page 6 of 9 [Corporate Peer Challenge] [18 December 2013] 

The Council has prioritised growth and productivity as essential to a positive 
future for the Borough. This has included the introduction of a number of key 
programmes such as Invest in Oldham and Get Oldham Working, as well as 
the introduction of the Enterprise Trust and Oldham Community Learning 
Partnership. Underpinning such programmes is the longer term ambition to 
restructure Oldham’s labour market. In order to achieve this, developments 
need to take place in education, employment and enterprise. This requires 
partnership working at a Borough level with the Council seeking to engage 
organisations in coordinating activity and in the delivery of programme activity 
including Oldham Business Leadership Group (OBLG), Enterprise Trust, Job 
Centre Plus and the National Apprentic Service who have seconded staff 
resource. It also requires alignment with existing delivery mechanisms such as 
work programme providers, colleges, housing associations and voluntary 
groups. It also involves partnership working across Greater Manchester in 
order that Oldham maximizes the potential benefits from the wider city-region. 
 
There are a number of strands of activity in this area, and work is underway to 
consolidate them within a broad place-based framework for learning, enterprise 
and employment. This will be supported by a fit-for-purpose partnership 
delivery and governance infrastructure necessary to drive results. 

 
3.1.3   Cooperative Ambition 

The Peer Challenge Report highlighted that the concept of a Cooperative 
approach has real resonance with people within and outside the Council. The 
report also acknowledges that there was tremendous consistency in the way 
people articulated their understanding of the Cooperative agenda, the Co-
operative Council and Borough and the types of changes that it entails, not 
least in terms of the behaviours and approaches of citizens and professionals, 
is complex and transformational in nature.  It can only be achieved over a 
significant period of time. Developing a more widely shared understanding of 
the sorts of timescales involved would aid thinking, planning and the 
management of expectations.  
 
Response: 
 
One of the main ambitions in the Cooperative agenda is to change the 
relationship between the Council and the public. This is not an easy or quick 
change to achieve, requiring sustained, consistent activity and approaches 
across a broad range of issues and areas. In developing the Cooperative 
agenda we will continue to emphasis the long term nature of the ambition. 
Equally the learning from the ambitious work on public service reform, both in 
Oldham and in Greater Manchester, will continue to be applied within a 
Cooperative Framework as part of delivering a new model for public services. 

 
3.1.4 Scale and nature of the on-going budget challenge 
 

The Peer Challenge Report highlights the excellent work that has taken place 
to ensure the Council has sound financial management in place. The report 
also acknowledges the work that has taken place to deliver a two-year budget 
for 2013-2015. In relation to 2015 to 2017 the report emphasizes the 

Page 116



Page 7 of 9 [Corporate Peer Challenge] [18 December 2013] 

importance of understanding of the scale and implications of the budget 
challenge and having a clear, shared approach for delivering this within the 
cooperative framework. 

 
Response: 
 
The current focus is on completing the 2014/15 budget which has been agreed 
by Cabinet and will be considered by Full Council in March 2014. Alongside 
this work is now also underway in developing the framework for addressing the 
scale of budget reductions currently predicted for 2015-2017. This includes a 
communications and engagement programme. A core element of the work on 
the budget will be to ensure any future organisational infrastructure continues 
to operate effectively and efficiently in order to maintain the focus on delivery.  
 
 

3.1.5 Future developments of the district-based approach and Local Leaders  
 

The Peer Challenge report acknowledges the contribution district-based 
working has made to the overall transformation. It highlights that ward 
councilors are seen as more involved and demonstrating increased leadership.  
But it also urges caution in considering further developments given the financial 
challenge facing local authorities. The report also identifies possible future 
developments for the Local Leaders Programme.  
  
Response: 
 
The district approach is developing and is increasingly focused on partnership 
working. The place-based Public Service Reform pilot is supporting the 
development of a new model of place management that incorporates 
consideration of behaviours that drive demand for high cost reactive services 
with examination of the total public service costs resulting from this. In addition, 
the work on the District Asset Reviews has set a framework for engaging 
Councillors in discussions about future service delivery models in a place 
within a reducing cost envelope. This is part of the Local Leadership role. 

 
We recognise that whilst structural changes have been made which have 
created a strong foundation there is a need to ensure Districts are engaging 
and reaching the public and have not just created local Cabinets which do not 
engage or provide community leadership. 
 
The third Local Leaders Programme began with the first session on 29 October 
2013. Following feedback from the 2012/13 Programme the opportunity to 
tailor elements of the Programme more to the circumstances of individuals has 
been incorporated. It is also recognised that training and development takes 
place outside the core components of the ‘Local Leaders’ programme and 
ways of incorporating this activity are being developed. 

Page 117



Page 8 of 9 [Corporate Peer Challenge] [18 December 2013] 

 
 
4.0 Recommendation 
 
4.1 i) That the Council welcomes the findings of the 2013 LGA Corporate Peer 

Challenge Report of Oldham Council; and 
 

ii) That the Council endorses the response to the findings set out in this 
report. 

 
 iii) That a report be presented to a future meeting of Cabinet outlining 

progress against the areas identified for consideration 
 
5.0 Consultation 
 
5.1 Consultation and engagement will continue with all relevant stakeholders as 

part of the Councils programmes and projects that address the issues 
identified in the Corporate Peer Challenge Report. 

 
6.0 Financial Implications  
 
6.1 Any financial implications arising from this report will be financed from existing 

budgets or will be the subject of separate reports as necessary (Steve Mair) 
 
7.0 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 No legal implications at this stage (Paul Entwistle) 
 
8.0 Cooperative Agenda 
 
8.1 The Corporate Peer Challenge Report recognises the work to date by the 

Council to develop and deliver the Cooperative Agenda. A number of the 
recommendations within the report relate to strengthening and deepening the 
impact of this work. These will be progressed as part of the Council’s 
response to the Report.  

 
 
9.0 Human Resources Comments 
 
9.1 No implications at this stage.  
 
10.0 Risk Assessments 
 
10.1 None at this stage 
 
11.0 IT Implications 
 
11.1 No implications at this stage. 
 
12.0 Property Implications 

Page 118



Page 9 of 9 [Corporate Peer Challenge] [18 December 2013] 

 
12.1 No implications at this stage. 
 
13.0 Procurement Implications 
 
13.1 No implications at this stage. 
 
14.0 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
14.1 No implications at this stage. 
 
15.0 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
15.1 No implications at this stage. 
 
16.0 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
16.1  No  
 
17.0 Key Decision 
 
17.1 No  
 
18.0 Forward Plan Reference 
 
18.1 Not applicable 
 
19.0 Background Papers 
 
19.1 None 
 
20.0 Appendices  
 
20.1 Corporate Peer Challenge: Oldham Council 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



   

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Corporate Peer Challenge 
 

Oldham Metropolitan 
Borough Council 

 

21
st
 to 24

th
 October 2013 

 
Report 
 

 

 

Page 121



1. Background and scope of the peer challenge 
 
On behalf of the team, I would just like to say what a pleasure and privilege it was to be 
invited in to Oldham to deliver the recent corporate peer challenge.  The team very much 
appreciated the efforts that went into preparing for the visit and looking after us whilst we 
were on site and the participation of elected members, staff and partners in the process.     
 
This was one of the corporate peer challenges delivered by the Local Government 
Association as part of the approach to sector led improvement.  Peer challenges are 
managed and delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers.  The peers who 
delivered the peer challenge were: 
 

Barry Quirk, Chief Executive, London Borough of Lewisham 
 

Councillor Sharon Taylor, Leader, Stevenage Borough Council and elected 
member on Hertfordshire County Council (Labour) 
 

Councillor Paul Tilsley, Birmingham City Council (Liberal Democrat) 
 

John O’Brien, Chief Executive, London Councils 
 

Andrew Lewis, Assistant Chief Executive, Newcastle City Council 
 

Chris Bowron, Peer Challenge Manager, Local Government Association 
 

 
It is important to stress that this was not an inspection.  Peer challenges are improvement-
orientated and tailored to meet individual councils’ needs.  Indeed they are designed to 
complement and add value to a council’s own performance and improvement focus.  The 
peers used their experience and knowledge to reflect on the evidence presented to them 
by people they met, things they saw and material that they read. 
 
The guiding questions for all corporate peer challenges are: 

Ø Does the council understand its local context and has it established a clear set 
of priorities? 

Ø Does the council have a financial plan in place to ensure long term viability and 
is there evidence that it is being implemented successfully? 

Ø Does the council have effective political and managerial leadership and is it a 
constructive partnership? 

Ø Are effective governance and decision-making arrangements in place to 
respond to key challenges and manage change, transformation and 
disinvestment? 

Ø Are organisational capacity and resources focused in the right areas in order to 
deliver the agreed priorities? 

 

Page 122



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

1 

In order to tailor the peer challenge to local circumstances, the authority asked us to 
consider Oldham as a ‘Co-operative Council’, representing what the authority see as a 
new model for public service delivery in local government, and probing the following: 
  

Ø Is it joined up? 
Ø How mainstreamed is it?  
Ø What happens if key individuals leave? 
Ø Is the council making a difference to the place? 
Ø Is the council’s reputation built on solid foundations? 
Ø Is the authority’s civic leadership approach shared with partners and residents? 

 
The economy is clearly a key theme that is central to ‘Co-operative Council’ so we also 
ensured a focus on that. 
 
As you will recall, we undertook to write to you to confirm the team’s findings, building on 
the feedback provided to you on the final day of the peer challenge and, in particular, 
expanding upon those areas that we highlighted as likely to benefit from some further 
attention.  This report sets out those findings.   
 

2. Executive summary and issues for consideration 
 
There has been a remarkable transformation in Oldham in recent years, both in terms of 
the place and in having established an ambitious and effective council.  The authority can 
be proud of what has been achieved.   
 
In 2008, following a highly critical inspection judgement, the council felt itself to be on the 
verge of government intervention.  The borough was also continuing to experience decline 
and there was little confidence amongst local people that the council could credibly do 
anything about these issues.  The judgement served as a wake-up call to the council’s 
leadership and triggered a cross-party response.  The challenge of turning around the 
council was clearly immense, with significant issues in relation to its organisational culture, 
ways of working, governance, financial management and the performance of its services. 
 
The council is now seen to be a disciplined organisation that is competent and effective – 
which in turn generates the confidence and credibility for it to do more challenging and 
difficult things.  The organisational culture feels positive and performance management is 
effective.  The council’s political and managerial leadership has been integral to what has 
been achieved.  It is respected internally and externally and galvanises support from staff 
and partners.  Public satisfaction with the council has increased from 22 per cent to 65 per 
cent in the period since 2008.   
 
Thus there is increased confidence, belief and trust in the council – which has been 
achieved through the building of competence and successful delivery.  Looking forward, it 
is important that the council remains focused, with a need to continue to make progress by 
building on what has been achieved – although we believe that there is no sense of the 
council either becoming complacent or easing off.  It has an ambition to increase citizen 
satisfaction further, with a target of exceeding 80 per cent.  The increasing belief amongst 
the public now needs to be cemented through the successful completion of key 

Page 123



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

2 

regeneration projects, such as the Old Town Hall, and continued focus on performance in 
the delivery of council services.    
 
Financial management within the council is seen to be highly effective, with a dramatic 
improvement having been made from a few years ago at the time of the CPA report.  The 
council has secured £100m savings since 2009/10, with a further £20m on track to be 
delivered in the current financial year.  The council is required to deliver further savings 
estimated to total £83m in the three financial years of 2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17.  
Good progress has been made in determining how a balanced budget will be set for 
2014/15 – involving achieving £23m of the savings.  This position has been reached as a 
result of the council’s two-year budgeting approach.  The overall approach provides the 
space for very careful consideration of options and good lead-in time for the 
implementation of changes that result from budget decisions. 
 
Work is already underway to address the financial gap in 2015/16 and 2016/17.  The 
council is aware of the scale of the financial challenge it faces and has a broad strategic 
framework to help to achieve it.  There is also a clear timetable and process in place that 
the council will follow – with this being the same one it has used in recent years and which 
has clearly worked.  What is different this time is the potential scale of the impact and we 
see the need for a greater recognition of the implications of what is required to be 
achieved.   
 
There is a real maturity of vision for Oldham, set by the political leadership, including how 
it is positioned in the context of Greater Manchester.  The Leader’s style and approach is 
both exceptional and unique in nature and the council has benefitted enormously from 
having a driven Chief Executive with an entrepreneurial outlook and who has provided 
strong corporate direction and achievement around organisational change and 
improvement.  There is also good managerial leadership at Executive Director and 
Assistant/Associate Executive Director level.  The staff that we met at all levels of the 
organisation demonstrated passion, enthusiasm and commitment, are really bought in to 
the council’s agenda and both understand and support the vision that has been 
established.  The council is now seen to be ‘punching above its weight’ and is one of the 
most highly respected and influential in Greater Manchester.  It is fully integrated and 
playing a leading role within the City Region Combined Authority both politically and 
organisationally.   
 
Significant capital investment, from both the public and private sectors, is being made and 
planned in Oldham.  Clearly there are challenges in managing the risks of these projects 
and ensuring their successful delivery.  The importance of managing and maintaining the 
relationships with the partners involved in delivering key initiatives during a period of 
transition with the council’s Chief Executive moving on will be key.  Indeed the ability of the 
council to secure the involvement of Sir Howard Bernstein to both advise and support on 
the authority’s regeneration and economic development activities and projects during that 
period of transition is both extremely positive and a reflection of how far the authority has 
come in recent years. 
 
There is a clear and balanced economic strategy.  However, given the importance, for the 
economy and the future of Oldham generally, of getting people into employment, we see a 
key role for the council to drive a more comprehensive programme for employment and 
skills.  There is a need for a much clearer connection to be made between education, 

Page 124



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

3 

employment and enterprise.  Partners within the borough must think deeply about how the 
education and employment ambitions of the place can be achieved. 
 
There is a risk, in our view, that the proliferation of initiatives and brands underpinning the 
vision actually dilutes the strength of it.  It is not necessary for the council, or the Leader, to 
have a project or initiative to address every strand and element that emerges from the 
vision.  The strength of the vision, with some broad frameworks and initiatives to support 
its delivery, is sufficient. 
 
The concept of a ‘Co-operative’ approach has real resonance amongst the people we 
spoke to, both within and outside the council.  From the way people described it, the 
approach can be seen to be concerned with a spirit or ethos regarding the way citizens 
conduct themselves and the contribution they make to society.  It is a modern articulation 
of co-operative values and principles rather than the pursuit of specific organisational 
forms.  An underpinning infrastructure has been established in order to help translate the 
vision into tangible actions, generate drive and momentum and, in turn, help to achieve 
budget savings.   
 
With a key aspect of the Co-operative approach being concerned with helping to cope with 
the reduced amount of public sector funding available, there needs to be realism around 
the extent of the contribution it can make to the financial challenge being faced.  The 
council understands that the budget gap cannot be addressed solely through the Co-
operative approach, but this understanding needs to be broadened within the organisation.  
In addition, there are still significant challenges in linking the Co-operative concept to the 
wider public service reform agenda.  
  
The emphasis placed on districts within a borough context is valued by many of the people 
we spoke to, who were able to outline benefits that they saw having been achieved as a 
result.  Examples include an increased responsiveness on the part of council officers and 
more engagement by citizens.  Ward councillors are seen to be more involved and 
demonstrating increased leadership.  They are increasingly being seen to facilitate 
communities and encourage greater self-reliance.   
 
The question that is being asked in relation to the district-based approach would appear to 
be not ‘is this the right direction to go in’ but ‘how much further can it be developed’.  We 
would suggest that any further development of the district-based approach requires careful 
consideration.  It could, for example, become a source of tensions as resources are 
reduced in line with the need for the council to address the budget gap.  There is also a 
potential trade-off between the benefits of an increasingly local focus with the possible 
efficiency benefits of borough-wide approaches. 
 
The council’s current management arrangements have served the organisation well on the 
phase of its journey to date.  Whilst what has been put in place has been done as part of a 
deliberate strategy to address historic organisational fiefdoms and aid cross-council 
working, it is likely that the council, under the stewardship of a new Chief Executive, will 
wish to consider what is most appropriate for the future.  
 
 
 

Page 125



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

4 

3. Detailed findings 

 

3.1 A story of improvement 
 

• There has been a remarkable transformation in Oldham in recent years, both in 
terms of the place and in having established an ambitious and effective council.  
The authority can be proud of what has been achieved.  In 2008, following a highly 
critical inspection judgement under the Comprehensive Performance Assessment 
(CPA) regime, the council felt itself to be on the verge of government intervention.  
The borough was also continuing to experience decline, with a progressive fall from 
the high point of its industrial peak and a 50 per cent loss in its manufacturing base.  
In addition, there was decline in the quality and vitality of the town centre and issues 
of increasing dependence on the state in places across the borough.  Crucially, 
there was also little confidence amongst local people that the council could credibly 
do anything about these issues.    

 
• The inspection judgement served as a wake-up call to the council’s leadership and 

triggered a cross-party response inspired by the Liberal Democrat Administration.  
The Liberal Democrat group, and its Leader in particular, deserve considerable 
credit for the part they have played in the transformation.  Focusing on sorting out 
the ‘internal’ business of the authority and the challenge of turning around the 
council was clearly immense, with significant issues in relation to its organisational 
culture, ways of working, governance, financial management and the performance 
of its services.  Extracts from the CPA report include: 

 
Ø “The council should enable a much better pace of change and improvement by 

tackling departmental and organisational cultures and structures which are 
acting as barriers to modernisation and improvement.  It needs to work much 
more corporately and to introduce strong and clear accountabilities.” 

 
Ø “As a matter of urgency the council should tackle the weaknesses in its financial 

management” 
 

• The improvement that was instigated under the Administration at the time has been 
continued, still with strong cross-party involvement and support, since Labour 
assumed control of the authority.  The current Administration has built on this and 
focused its energies on the renewal of Oldham as a place as well as the council’s 
internal operation.  This is best exemplified by the £100m investment fund 
established by the Labour Administration to kick start the growth and development 
of the borough.   

 
• The council is now seen, both by those within it and external partners, to be an 

organisation that is disciplined, competent and effective – which in turn generates 
the confidence and credibility for it to do more challenging and difficult things.  The 
organisational culture feels positive, financial management is strong and 
performance management is effective.   
 

• The council’s political and managerial leadership has been integral to what has 
been achieved.  It is respected internally and externally and galvanises support 

Page 126



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

5 

from staff and partners.  The political leadership is inclusive, engaging and 
involving, as can be seen with the commitment to cross-party working, the 
innovative ways in which Full Council operates, the encouragement given to young 
people locally to become involved in democracy through the likes of the Youth 
Council and Children in Care Council and the emphasis placed on devolution to 
individual districts in the borough in order to bring the council closer to communities. 

 
• Public satisfaction with the council has increased from 22 per cent to 65 per cent in 

the period since 2008.  The council is very highly valued and well-respected by its 
local partners, who are overwhelmingly positive about the authority and its trajectory 
of improvement and stakeholder engagement.  They see a significant improvement 
not just in the council but also in the borough.  This reflects the recognition, by the 
Administration, of the need to address the decline of the borough and the 
importance of the symbolism involved in turning certain key projects in to a reality.   
 

• The most obvious of these is the Old Town Hall, which has lain derelict for decades.  
Around the time of the peer challenge, work was just beginning on site to turn the 
building into a cinema and entertainment complex – and, in so doing, addressing 
another key aspect of symbolism for Oldham as the largest town in the country 
without a cinema.  The work to route the tram through the town centre and extend it 
to Rochdale via Shaw under phase 3(b) of the Metrolink development represents 
another key project coming to fruition and a visible pay-off from a constructive 
approach to city-region collaboration.  There are more development projects coming 
on stream in the next few months.   

 
• Thus there is increased confidence, belief and trust in the council amongst partners 

and the public – which has been achieved through the building of competence and 
successful delivery.  It is important that the council remains focused, however, with 
a need to continue to make progress by building on what has been achieved – 
although there is no sense of the council either becoming complacent or easing off.  
It has an ambition to increase citizen satisfaction further, with a target of exceeding 
80 per cent.  The increasing belief amongst the public now needs to be cemented 
through the successful completion of key regeneration projects, such as the Old 
Town Hall, and continued focus on performance in the delivery of council services.  
In line with other councils, there is also a need to continue to transform the authority 
in the face of reductions in funding from central government. 

 

3.2   Leadership and vision 
 

• There is a real maturity of vision for Oldham, set by the current political leadership, 
including how it is positioned in the context of Greater Manchester.  Whilst the 
leadership is keen to promote the borough as a place in its own right, for example 
for inward investment and destination marketing purposes, and has strategies in 
place to enable this, it also recognises the significant benefit to be gleaned from 
Oldham being seen as part of the Greater Manchester City Region.  The borough 
looks to capitalise, rather than hide from, the fact that it is a more cost effective 
location than Manchester whilst offering tremendous accessibility to the city centre 
through its improving transport links.  Not all authorities would take this position, of 
recognising that their economic futures cannot be determined within their 

Page 127



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

6 

boundaries alone, but Oldham have adopted this more sophisticated approach and 
are already securing economic benefit from it.     
 

• The ‘Hotel Future’ project, which will shortly see the establishment of a dedicated 
hotel, hospitality and conference facility in Oldham town centre, is a case in point.  
This is essentially somewhere for a number of the largest hoteliers in the country to 
use for the training of their staff – with Oldham successfully selling the benefits of a 
more cost effective but very accessible location to those behind the project who had 
previously been looking to locate it in Manchester city centre.   
 

• The council’s political and managerial leadership is in step and is complementary 
with a shared clarity of purpose.  It puts people and the place above the council, 
moving away from a focus on the types of political wranglings that dominated in the 
past, whilst not compromising robust political debate, and instead concentrating its 
efforts on doing the right things and getting them done well.  Also, instead of placing 
an emphasis on actively managing the reputation of the council, the authority 
instead sees an improving reputation being secured as a by-product of successful 
delivery. 
 

• The Leader’s style and approach is both exceptional and unique in nature.  His 
message is exceptionally well thought through and his vision is compellingly 
articulated.  There is real authenticity in his commitment to, and leadership of, 
Oldham.  His vision is rooted in the locality and fosters contribution, self-reliance 
and civic responsibility.  It is reflected in the three corporate objectives that relate 
both to the council and to the borough: 
 
Ø A productive place to invest where business and enterprise thrive 

 
Ø Confident communities where everyone does their bit 

 
Ø A co-operative council creating responsive and high quality services   
 

• These three objectives underpin the corporate ambition of a ‘Co-operative’ future 
where everyone does their bit to create a confident and ambitious borough.  ‘Co-
operation’ offers a coat peg for strong issues of self-reliance and civic responsibility 
and is a concept that we expand upon later in this report.  
 

• A range of initiatives sit underneath the overall vision.  These include ‘Repositioning 
Oldham’ as the council’s main change programme, comprising: 
 
Ø Managing demand 

 
Ø Changing the way services are delivered 

 
Ø Working together 

 
Ø Transforming our business  

 
• There are a further set of initiatives reflected in the council’s four key work 

programmes of: 

Page 128



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

7 

 
Ø Invest in Oldham 

 
Ø Get Oldham Working 

 
Ø See Oldham Differently 

 
Ø Campaigning Council 
 

• Each of these has a large number of activities within them.  Then, in addition, there 
are a raft of areas of work that form the public service reform agenda, including; 
reducing demand, developing self-reliance, revising professional philosophies and 
changing decision-making and behaviours across the council and partner 
organisations.   
 

• Given all of the above, there is a risk, in our view, that the proliferation of initiatives 
and brands dilutes the strength of the overall vision.  It is not necessary for the 
council, or the Leader, to have a project or initiative to address every strand and 
element that emerges from the vision.  The strength of the vision, with some broad 
frameworks and initiatives to support its delivery, is sufficient. 
 

• The council has benefitted enormously from having a driven Chief Executive with an 
entrepreneurial outlook and who has provided strong corporate direction for 
organisational change and improvement.  His achievements in relation to economic 
development and organisational transformation and direction are clear and 
palpable.  He is moving on to a new role elsewhere in the coming months but he 
leaves a lasting and very positive legacy in Oldham from his time there. 
 

• There is also good managerial leadership at Executive Director and 
Assistant/Associate Executive Director level.  As well as the expertise demonstrated 
at these levels in relation to people’s direct areas of responsibility and professional 
domains, it is clear that they are also very much in tune with the corporate agenda 
and are grounding its narratives in service design and delivery.  This strength in 
depth stands the authority in good stead to maintain its strong performance during 
the period of transition to a new Chief Executive.  

 

3.3    The economy 
 

• Getting people into employment is recognised by the council as the key to turning 
round the fortunes of the borough.  Oldham is a place with a proud history and 
industrial legacy that is seeking to create a new and more vibrant economic future.  
There is a clear and balanced economic strategy – connecting Oldham to the wider 
City Region as a source of employment and enabling local people to gain the 
capabilities, through education and training, which are necessary to secure those 
employment opportunities.   
 

• Whilst the economic strategy is sound, further development of it could usefully 
involve the identification of the unique characteristics and distinctive capabilities of 
Oldham that can provide it with a competitive advantage.  There is clarity about 
Oldham’s future generally, in terms of 7,000 additional jobs being required for 

Page 129



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

8 

people in the borough and the measures being taken to achieve it.  These include 
the Metrolink route through to ‘Airport City’ and the ‘Getting Oldham Working’ 
initiative with its target of 2,015 new jobs or training placements for better 
employment opportunities by the year 2015.  However, there is much less clarity 
about what are the distinctive capabilities that the locality possesses.  If the climate 
for innovation was crucial to Oldham’s emergence as the world centre of the cotton 
industry, what is the equivalent unique selling point (USP) that marks the borough 
out for the future? 
 

• Significant capital investment, from both the public and private sectors, is being 
made and planned in Oldham.  We have already mentioned the Metrolink, Hotel 
Future and the re-development of the Old Town Hall.  In addition, there are 
ambitions for other parts of the town centre including the outdoor market, 
development of the Coliseum and Heritage Centre, the creation of a new leisure 
centre in Oldham town centre and public realm improvements.  There is also the re-
development of Royton town centre, including a new leisure centre, and the 
development of land for business and employment opportunities at Foxdenton and 
Hollinwood.   
 

• Clearly there are challenges in managing the risks of these projects and ensuring 
their successful delivery.  Within this there is the importance of managing and 
maintaining the relationships with the partners involved during a period of transition 
with the council’s Chief Executive, who has been instrumental in much of what is 
planned, moving on.  The ability of the council to secure the involvement of Sir 
Howard Bernstein, the Chief Executive of Manchester City Council, to advise on 
and support the authority’s regeneration and economic development activities and 
projects during that period of transition, is both extremely positive and a reflection of 
how far the authority has come in recent years. 
 

• Securing job opportunities for local people is seen as vital to the economy and 
Oldham’s future generally.  Both a Learning Trust /Partnership and Enterprise Trust 
have been or are being established and work is taking place promoting jobs in retro-
fitting and digital media.  There are also ambitions around developing science and 
engineering as key sources of employment and future economic drivers.  As part of 
Get Oldham Working, the authority is developing an employment agency to better 
support local employers – particularly in the private sector – to train and recruit local 
people.  
 

• However, given the importance of getting people into employment, we see a key 
role for the council to drive a more comprehensive programme for employment and 
skills.  The ambition across the council and partner organisations for local people 
needs to reflect the competitive regional, national and international context within 
which Oldham sits.  Children, young people and older generations in Oldham are 
not competing just with one another for employment opportunities – they are faced 
with the challenge offered by a much wider geography and ambitions need to be set 
accordingly.  As part of this, we see the need for a much clearer connection to be 
made between education, employment and enterprise given the critical importance 
that Oldham attaches to this agenda.  The fragmentation being seen within 
education and skills nationally, at both school and college level, and in respect of 
skills funding, applies to Oldham as much as elsewhere and partners within the 

Page 130



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

9 

borough must think deeply about how the education and employment ambitions of 
the place can be achieved. 
 

3.4    Oldham and the City Region 
 

• As we have already outlined, Oldham’s conscious decision to play a full and active 
role in, and link its economic strategy to, the Greater Manchester City Region 
shows a maturity of leadership and vision.  This will continue to reap dividends for 
the borough through enhanced public and private investment.  Significant 
investment is already being seen as a result of the approach and the borough can 
realistically expect to capitalise further from this approach in the future – benefitting 
the place in terms of jobs, housing, infrastructure and the economy generally.  The 
Greater Manchester investment framework for growth and the £1.5billion Transport 
Fund provide further opportunities.  So do the Regional Growth Fund and Growing 
Places Fund resources that have been secured.  ‘Airport City’, which has been 
designated as an Enterprise Zone, ‘MediaCityUK’, as a national hub for the digital 
and creative industry, and the investment that has been secured for 
transformational initiatives such as the Sharp Project might not be happening within 
the borough of Oldham but they do provide opportunities that the borough, with its 
growing reputation and transport links, can look to benefit from.    
 

• Oldham’s influence within Greater Manchester has increased significantly.  
Whereas the council previously had a poor reputation and would have featured low 
down any ranking of authorities within the region, it is now seen to be ‘punching 
above its weight’ and is one of the most highly respected.  It is also one of the most 
influential, which is important given the agendas and opportunities presented by 
Greater Manchester being established as the UK’s first City Region Combined 
Authority, along with the Local Enterprise Partnership, the ‘City Deal’ and Greater 
Manchester’s status as a Whole Place Community Budget Pilot.  Oldham is not 
‘riding on the coat-tails of Greater Manchester’ – it is fully integrated and playing a 
leading role within the Combined Authority.   
  

• Greater Manchester partners acknowledge the remarkable transformation that has 
taken place in both the authority and the borough.  This approach began under the 
Leader of the former Liberal Democrat Administration, and has been taken forward 
by the current Leader and his Labour Administration.  The role of a Leader in the 
Combined Authority has grown enormously in recent years as it has taken on a 
more significant role in Greater Manchester, not least in relation to economic 
growth.  The Chief Executive and other senior officers have been personally and 
constructively involved in contributing to City Region-wide policy development. 
 

• In addition to Oldham now being respected, involved and influential at the regional 
level, the council and key individuals within it are also very effectively engaged and 
influential at the national level.  The council is regularly represented on national 
platforms and forums, both by the political and managerial leadership.  It is well 
linked in to Whitehall.  The Leader plays an important role in the LGA politically and 
the council’s hosting of the Co-operative Councils Innovation Network – a position 
which has been positively welcomed and endorsed by other like-minded councils.  
All of this demonstrates the authority’s desire to engage with other councils, 
contribute to the local government sector and help deliver innovation.  It also 

Page 131



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

10 

highlights the growing track record and reputation of the council and its leadership 
nationally.  

 

3.5  Co-operative Council and Borough 
 
• The concept of a ‘Co-operative’ approach has real resonance amongst the people 

we spoke to, both within and outside the council, during the course of the peer 
challenge.  There was also tremendous consistency in the way people articulated 
what they see ‘Co-operative’ as involving, including: 

 
Ø ‘Everybody doing their bit’ and ‘people doing something for something’ 
 
Ø Increased self-reliance and resilience – on the part of both individuals and  

communities 
 

Ø Reduced demand for public services as a consequence of the approach, actions 
and contributions of citizens 

 
• Thus, given the way people described ‘Co-operative’, it can be seen to be 

concerned with a spirit or ethos regarding the way citizens conduct themselves and 
the contribution they make to society.  It is a modern articulation of co-operative 
values and principles operating across a spectrum of activity, rather than the pursuit 
of specific organisational forms – the fostering of the right conditions rather than 
solely the establishment of, for example, mutuals or co-operatives.   
 

• An underpinning infrastructure has, however, been established in order to help 
translate the vision into tangible actions, generate drive and momentum and, in 
turn, help to achieve budget savings.  The Oldham Co-operative Commission has 
been established, providing an opportunity for residents and community 
representatives to help develop policy and practice on key issues related to the Co-
operative ambition.  The Commission’s membership also includes representatives 
from the voluntary sector, local business and key public-sector partners and is 
chaired by the Cabinet Member for Co-operatives and Neighbourhoods.  An ethical 
framework and Co-operative Charter have been put in place to guide organisations 
in the way they operate.   
 

• Specific initiatives that demonstrate the Co-operative concept as a reality include 
the council having implemented the ‘Living Wage’ for its staff and establishing a 
volunteering programme for employees, through which they can dedicate three of 
their working days to support local organisations or projects.  The various 
campaigns around fairness, concerned with such issues as domestic energy costs 
and public transport fares, and the setting up of the Oldham Co-operative Fund to 
provide grants to boost health and well-being in the area, utilising around £1m from 
dormant bank funds, are other examples of how the Co-operative framework is 
being delivered.  The development of the trading model for social care also has the 
opportunity to progress along Co-operative lines. 
 

• The council’s relationships with partners in Oldham are strong and partners are 
buying in to the Co-operative agenda.  However, there are still significant 
challenges in linking the Co-operative concept to the wider public service reform 

Page 132



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

11 

agenda.  The council highlights in various documents the concept of the ‘Oldham £’ 
– in terms of the amount of public sector money being spent across the borough, 
and the potential to gain greater benefit and impact from it by considering the 
effectiveness of spend from a cross-partnership perspective rather than from the 
view of a single organisation that happens to be the relevant budget holder.  Within 
this agenda, there are also ambitions to change philosophies amongst council and 
other public sector professionals that don’t encourage self-reliance and 
independence on the part of individuals and communities.  There is also a desire to 
change decision-making and behaviours across the council and partner 
organisations to reduce public service demand, for example through changing the 
way investment and commissioning takes place.  Such whole system/whole place 
reform represents a huge challenge not just in Oldham but nationally.  Positive 
initial steps have been made in the form of two place-based prototypes in the areas 
of Coldhurst/St Mary’s and Failsworth/Hollinwood but there is clearly some way to 
go still.    
      

• The council’s Co-operative ambitions are positive and have generated strong 
interest and buy-in locally.  Whilst, as we have outlined, it is essentially about 
fostering the right spirit or ethos within society, encapsulated in the notion of 
‘everybody doing their bit and everybody benefitting’, there is a key aspect of it 
which is about aiming to help to cope with the reduced amount of public sector 
funding available.  Whilst it can make a contribution to the savings agenda, there 
needs to be realism around the extent of this.  The council is required to deliver 
further savings estimated to total £83m over the next three financial years.  Such a 
gap cannot be addressed solely through a Co-operative approach.  There is a clear 
understanding of this at the senior-most levels in the council politically and 
managerially, but this understanding needs to be broadened across the 
organisation.  There are still significant challenges in linking the Co-operative 
concept to the wider public service reform agenda.   
 

• In a similar vein, fulfilling the aspirations and ambitions of becoming a ‘Co-operative 
Council and Borough’ and the types of changes that it entails, not least in terms of 
the behaviours and approaches of citizens and professionals, is complex and 
transformational in nature.  It can only be achieved over a significant period of time.  
The Leader sees it as a ten year project and this feels realistic.  Developing a more 
widely shared understanding of the sorts of timescales involved would aid thinking, 
planning and the management of expectations.  
 

3.6 Districts and neighbourhoods 
 

• The council sees one of the vital steps in becoming a more Co-operative borough 
as working more closely with communities at the local level.  There are six District 
Partnerships that cover the geography of Oldham borough and the importance of 
shaping decisions around what matters locally is reflected in the district partnership 
infrastructure that the council has established in order to enable a certain amount of 
de-centralisation to occur at that level – including some officer support, such as 
community development workers and caseworkers for councillors, and key 
governance arrangements.  One of the key aims is to strengthen local democracy 
and accountability.  The move to District Partnership working also represents a 

Page 133



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

12 

desire on the part of the council to respect the heritage of different places and local 
identities within a borough context.  
 

• Each district is represented by a District Executive, comprising the elected 
members across the wards the district is made up of.  They are supported by 
dedicated teams of officers who work out of district town halls to co-ordinate a 
range of activity in that area and try and align services with the needs of local 
people.  This virtual team can influence the much wider range of services that are 
delivered within each district, as set within the overall policy agreed by the Cabinet. 
 

• The council has recently supplemented these arrangements with regular face to 
face events, including Community Forums, to enable local people to discuss their 
priorities with their ward councillors and the officers from the district teams.  A 
‘Community Call-In’ mechanism has also been established to allow local people to 
challenge decisions made by the District Executives that they don’t agree with.   
 

• The emphasis placed on districts is valued by many of the people we spoke to, who 
were able to outline new benefits that they saw having been achieved as a result of 
closer working in localities.  Examples include an increased responsiveness on the 
part of council officers – whether in relation to residents or elected members – and 
more engagement by citizens as a consequence of feeling they can influence things 
more.  Ward councillors are seen to be more involved and demonstrating increased 
leadership, as a result of being better trained, more informed and having local 
budgets, albeit limited ones, available to them to respond to specific community 
needs.  They are increasingly being seen to facilitate communities and encourage 
greater self-reliance.  Some people also spoke of an increasing sense of co-
operation within their communities.   
 

• There were also some examples of additional resources being secured for 
communities – as a result of officers within the district teams having worked with 
local community groups to bid for external funding – with the view being that this 
would not have happened if it hadn’t been for the increased local knowledge of the 
council officers and the closer relationships they had with communities as a result of 
the shift to districts. Other people spoke of the opportunity provided to better focus 
increasingly limited resources on local need and the potential for asset 
rationalisation within districts – all enabled and informed by better local 
understanding and closer working.   
 

• There has also been some alignment of council and other services within districts, 
without de-centralising them.  An example is the concept of District Family Panels 
which provide support to the 50 most vulnerable families across the borough and 
bring together all of the relevant officers across services such as children and adult 
social care plus the relevant professionals working for other public sector partners.     
 

• Thus the reassertion of districts is both meaningful and popular and, as a result, has 
gathered momentum.  The question that is being asked would appear to be not ‘is 
this the right direction to go in’ but ‘how much further can it be developed’?  We 
would suggest that any further development of the district-based approach requires 
careful consideration.  It could, for example, become a source of tensions as 
resources are reduced in line with the need for the council to address the budget 

Page 134



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

13 

gap – by locking resources into fixed places or leading to people debating the 
relative needs and benefits of one part of the borough over another.  There is also a 
potential trade-off between the benefits of an increasingly local focus with the 
possible efficiency benefits of borough-wide approaches, again in that context of the 
financial challenge facing the council. 

 

3.7  The financial challenge 
 

• Financial management within the council is seen to be highly effective, with a 
dramatic improvement having been made from a few years ago at the time of the 
CPA report.  The council has secured £100m savings since 2009/10, with a further 
£20m on track to be delivered in the current financial year 2013/14.   
 

• Good progress has also been made in determining how a balanced budget will be 
set for 2014/15.  The means by which to address the final part of the budget gap is 
expected to be agreed at Cabinet in December 2013.  This good position has been 
reached as a result of the council’s two-year budgeting approach, which saw it set 
the budget for 2013/14 in the early part of this year and, at the same time, identify 
the primary means for achieving the necessary budget savings for the following 
year.  Thus the council demonstrates a strategic approach to managing the financial 
challenge and, by doing so, has created the space for efforts to be focused now, at 
the time when most authorities are wrestling with their budget for 2014/15, on 
2015/16 and beyond.  This provides the space for very careful consideration of 
options and good lead-in time for the implementation of changes that result from 
budget decisions. 
 

• The council’s budget-setting process is firmly established, has worked well to date 
and encourages wide engagement.  It runs on a set of timescales that allow for 
consideration of the budget position and related proposals on a cross-party basis, 
both within political groups and through Overview and Scrutiny.  The ‘Big Budget 
Conversation’ also enables and encourages community involvement in 
consideration of the budget and the options being looked at by the council.  
 

• The council has also delivered a strong and improved culture around its financial 
management arrangements, including the finalisation of its accounts.  This has 
seen Oldham close its annual accounts and secure its auditors opinion by the end 
of May – the quickest for any public body in the UK. 
 

• Work is already underway to address the financial gap in 2015/16 and 2016/17, 
which is projected to total £60m – from within a net revenue budget that, in 2014/15, 
will be an estimated £204m.  The council is aware of the scale of the financial 
challenge it faces – the £60m figure is widely understood – and has a broad 
strategic framework to help to achieve it.  This framework essentially comprises 
behaviour change, demand management and public service reform.  There is also a 
clear timetable and process in place that the council will follow – with this being the 
same one it has used in recent years and which has clearly worked.  What is 
different this time is the potential scale of the impact and we see the need for a 
greater recognition of the implications of what needs to be achieved.  Such 
recognition exists amongst a small number of people at the senior-most levels 

Page 135



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

14 

politically and managerially but – in common with most councils – the full 
implications for services over the medium term, given the sheer scale of the cuts 
required, have yet to be more widely recognised. 
 

• There is also the need for the council to have a closer grip on how things are going 
to change in order to address the budget gap.  The strategic framework helps in 
setting the broad parameters but the types of concept it involves need to be 
translated into tangible actions.  More fundamentally, really difficult decisions on 
service provision and service re-design will need to be taken in order to supplement 
what might be achieved through public service reform and demand management.  
This links to the point earlier in the report under ‘Co-operative council and borough’ 
regarding a Co-operative approach not being sufficient on its own to address the 
budget gap and the need for the understanding of this to be broadened. 

 

3.8   People and organisational development 
 
• The council has undergone significant change in recent times, which people see as 

having been very well managed.  The organisation is now smaller in size, in terms 
of employees, as a consequence of a redundancy programme and the setting up of 
the adult social care trading arm.  At the same time as these changes have been 
taking place, the Public Health function has been successfully integrated in to the 
authority. 
   

• Another significant change taking place in the authority is the moving on of the 
Chief Executive to another role in local government in a few months’ time.  He can 
be proud of what he has achieved in his time with the council and the authority 
clearly feels a debt of gratitude towards him.  It is testimony to the impact he has 
had that his legacy can be seen, at least in part, in the clear corporate direction that 
has been established, the disciplined nature of the organisation and the sentiment 
many people expressed that, whilst they will be sorry to see him leave, the authority 
is now positioned in such a way that it will be able to take such a change in its 
stride. 
 

• The staff that we met at all levels of the council, including the frontline, 
demonstrated passion, enthusiasm and commitment and are really bought in to the 
council’s agenda and both understand and support the vision that has been 
established.  Given a good proportion of those we spoke to are residents of the 
borough, we were able to get a sense of the progress the authority has made both 
from a citizen and employee perspective.  Internal communications and training and 
development are seen to be good.  People feel there are reasonable opportunities 
to progress within the organisation, as evidenced by the way some of those we 
spoke to have moved upwards in their time with the council.  The performance 
appraisal process has been strengthened by the council recently and people see 
real benefit and value in it – both in terms of clarifying the council’s expectations of 
them and identifying areas for development and how they can be addressed.   
 

• There is also seen to be good elected member development.  Most councillors we 
spoke to value the ‘Local Leaders’ programme and it is seen to be delivering 
benefit, as outlined earlier in relation to the increased engagement and leadership 
elected members are showing in their wards and districts.  The approach the 

Page 136



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

15 

council has taken of imposing sanctions on councillors who don’t fulfill their 
obligations in terms of personal development is a brave and unusual one that 
reflects the determination of the council to continue to progress.  Inevitably there is 
scope for further improvement in the elected member development programme, 
with a need to perhaps tailor things more to the circumstances of individuals, in 
terms of learning styles and varying levels of knowledge on subjects, and ensuring 
councillors with development needs that sit outside the core components of the 
‘Local Leaders’ programme can have them more systematically identified and 
addressed. 
 

• The council’s current management arrangements have served the organisation well 
on the phase of its journey to date.  Whilst what has been put in place has been 
done as part of a deliberate strategy to address historic organisational fiefdoms and 
aid cross-council working, organisational accountabilities appear overly complex 
and the strengths of a matrix system of accountability may become a weakness in 
respect of the budget challenges of the next three years.  It is likely that the council, 
under the stewardship of a new Chief Executive, will wish to consider what is most 
appropriate for the future.  

 

4.  Conclusion 
 
There has been a remarkable transformation in Oldham in recent years, both in terms of 
the place and in having established an ambitious and effective council.  The authority can 
be proud of what has been achieved.  The authority is now seen to be a disciplined 
organisation that is competent and effective – which in turn generates the confidence and 
credibility for it to do more challenging and difficult things. The organisational culture feels 
positive, financial management is strong and performance management is effective.  The 
council’s political and managerial leadership has been integral to what has been achieved.  
It is respected internally and externally and galvanises support from staff and partners.  
There is increased confidence, belief and trust in the council – which has been achieved 
through the building of competence and successful delivery and public satisfaction with the 
council has increased from 22 per cent to 65 per cent in the period since 2008.  
 
The council were keen for us to form a view on a number of questions they posed to the 
team regarding Oldham as a ‘Co-operative Council’ and what the authority see as a new 
model for public service delivery in local government.  We have sought to summarise 
below our findings in relation to each of the questions. 
  

· Is it joined up? 
 
The concept of a ‘Co-operative’ approach has real resonance amongst the people 
we spoke to, both within and outside the council.  There was also tremendous 
consistency in the way people articulated what they see ‘Co-operative’ as involving.  
An underpinning infrastructure has been established in order to help translate the 
vision into tangible actions and generate drive and momentum.  The council’s 
relationships with partners in Oldham are strong and partners are buying in to the 
Co-operative agenda.  However, there are still significant challenges in linking the 
Co-operative concept to the wider public service reform agenda.  Such whole 
system/whole place reform represents a huge challenge not just in Oldham but 

Page 137



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

16 

nationally.  Positive initial steps have been made in the form of two place-based 
prototypes but there is clearly some way to go still.    
 

· How mainstreamed is it?  
 
The Leader and Chief Executive have been integral to the development of the ‘Co-
operative’ concept and approach and to what has been achieved in Oldham 
generally.  However, the progress that has been made is not about just two people.  
There is good managerial leadership at Executive Director and Assistant/Associate 
Executive Director level.  The staff that we met at all levels of the organisation 
demonstrated passion, enthusiasm and commitment and are really bought in to the 
council’s agenda and they understand and support the vision that has been 
established.  This bodes well in terms of sustaining the achievements already made 
and meeting future challenges. 
 

· What happens if key individuals leave? 
 
Things will inevitably alter if key individuals change.  However, such is the support 
for the vision and the council’s agenda that things have every chance of being 
sustained through such changes, unless of course there is a decision to change 
policy direction.  Looking more broadly than the ‘Co-operative’ agenda, there is 
every reason to believe that the transformation to a strong and effective council is 
mainstreamed and that the council is sufficiently resilient and robust to withstand 
changes in leadership. 
 

· Is the council making a difference to the place? 
 
The physical changes in Oldham, on the back of major capital investment, and the 
increase in public satisfaction with the council demonstrate that the council is 
making a difference.  The emphasis placed on districts is valued by many of the 
people we spoke to, who were able to outline new benefits that they saw having 
been achieved as a result of closer working in localities.  What is taking place at the 
District level is clearly valued.  There are still significant challenges around the 
public service reform agenda but positive initial steps have been made.  The council 
and partners recognise that turning around long term fundamental issues in 
communities will take time – particularly given the scale of budget reductions. 
 

· Is the council’s reputation built on solid foundations? 
 
There is increased confidence, belief and trust in the council – which has been 
achieved through the building of competence and successful delivery.  The council 
is now seen to be ‘punching above its weight’ and is one of the most highly 
respected and influential in Greater Manchester.  Looking forward, it is important 
that the council remains focused, with a need to continue to make progress by 
building on what has been achieved – although we believe that there is no sense of 
the council either becoming complacent or easing off.   
 
 
 

Page 138



 

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ  T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk 
Chief Executive: Carolyn Downs 

 

17 

· Is the authority’s civic leadership approach shared with partners and residents? 
 

The council sees one of the vital steps in becoming a more Co-operative borough 
as working more closely with communities at the local level.  One of the key aims in 
establishing the District Partnerships is to strengthen local democracy and 
accountability.  It also represents a desire on the part of the council to respect the 
heritage of different places and local identities within a borough context.  Ward 
councillors are seen to be more involved and demonstrating greater leadership.  
They are increasingly being seen to facilitate communities and encourage more 
self-reliance.  Some people also spoke of an increasing sense of co-operation 
within their communities.  Thus civic leadership can be seen to be strong and 
building through local leaders but there is inevitably more to be done. 

 
 
Through the peer challenge process we have sought to highlight the many positive 
aspects of the council but we have also outlined some key challenges.  It has been our 
aim to provide some detail on them through this report in order to help the council consider 
them and understand them.  The council’s senior managerial and political leadership will 
therefore undoubtedly want to reflect further on the findings before determining how they 
wish to take things forward.   
 
Members of the team would be happy to contribute to any further improvement activity in 
the future and/or to return to the authority in due course to undertake a short progress 
review.  Gill Taylor, as the Local Government Association's Principal Adviser for your 
region, will continue to act as the main contact between the council and the Local 
Government Association, particularly in relation to improvement.  Hopefully this provides 
you with a convenient route of access to the organisation, its resources and packages of 
support going forward. 
 
All of us connected with the peer challenge would like to wish Oldham, both as a council 
and as a borough, every success in the future.  
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Chris Bowron 
Programme Manager – Peer Support 
Local Government Association 
 
 
 

Page 139



Page 140

This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 

 

 

REPORT TO COUNCIL 

 

Appointment of the Interim Chief Executive and 
Head of Paid Service  
 

Report of the Assistant Executive Director, People Services 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Jenny Harrison 
 
18 December 2013 
 
Officer Contact: Dianne Frost  Ext. 4695 
 
 
 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Selection Committee wish to recommend to Council the appointment of an 
Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service following the resignation of Charlie 
Parker, the current post holder, who will depart from Oldham Council on 12 January 
2014. 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Selection Committee recommend that Council: 
 

• Approves the appointment of Doctor Carolyn Wilkins as the Interim Chief 
Executive and Head of Paid Service and that the appointment will be effective 
from 13 January 2014; 

 

• In accordance with the Council’s Pay Policy Statement, approves a salary of 
£154,143 per annum; 

 

• Notes that the interim appointment incorporates the responsibility for the roles of: 
 

o Clerk to the Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority  
o Returning Officer for local elections;  

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 16

Page 141



Page 2 of 6 Council – Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 18 December 2013 

• Notes that this interim appointment incorporates the role of Returning Officer for 
any Parliamentary, European and Police and Crime Commissioner for which, a 
separate payment as determined by Statute is made by central government; 

 

• Notes the short term specialist advisory service to be provided by Sir Howard 
Bernstein of Manchester City Council to support Oldham Council’s ongoing 
commercial and regeneration activities; 

 

• Note that it is expected that the appointment of a permanent successor to Charlie 
Parker will be recommended to full Council in July 2014, following an appropriate 
recruitment and selection process.

Page 142



Page 3 of 6 Council – Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 18 December 2013 

COUNCIL 
 
 
Appointment of the Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 
 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The current Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service, Charlie Parker, will be 

leaving Oldham Council on 12 January 2014 to take up the post of Chief 
Executive at Westminster Council. 

 
1.2 It is a statutory requirement that the Council has a Head of Paid Service.  In 

addition, and to ensure that progress towards achieving the Council’s 
corporate ambitions and delivery of Oldham’s regeneration and repositioning 
programmes are not adversely impacted, the Selection Committee 
recommend to Council that an Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid 
Service is appointed.  Selection Committee considered that a move to the 
immediate and permanent recruitment to the post may result in a period of 
time whereby the post would lie vacant pending the selection process and any 
subsequent notice period of the successful candidate. 

 
1.3 The Selection Committee considered various options to appoint to an interim 

arrangement and determined that their recommendation to Council is the 
appointment of the current Deputy Chief Executive, Dr Carolyn Wilkins as the 
Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service. 

 
2 Responsibility of the Post 
 
2.1 The post of Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service at Oldham Council 

brings with it other responsibilities for its incumbent to undertake.  These 
include Clerk to the Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority, in addition 
the role of the Returning Officer for local elections and that of any 
Parliamentary, European, Police and Crime Commissioner Elections and 
referenda.  It is recommended by the Selection Committee that this continues 
throughout this interim arrangement. 

 
3 Remuneration 
 
3.1 In accordance with Oldham Council’s Pay Policy Statement, the Selection 

Committee recommends that the Council approve a salary of £154,143 per 
annum for the interim post.  This incorporates payment for the Clerk to the 
Greater Manchester Waste Disposal and for acting as the Returning Officer at 
local elections.  As is current practice, a separate payment made by central 
government; the amount as determined by statute, will be payable for the 
responsibility of being the Returning Officer for all other Elections detailed 
above. 

 
4 Specialist Advisory Service 
 
4.1 The Selection Committee agreed that a short term arrangement with 

Manchester City Council would be put in place to provide a specialist advisory 

Page 143



Page 4 of 6 Council – Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 18 December 2013 

service to the Council to support Oldham’s ongoing commercial and 
regeneration activities.  The intention is for Sir Howard Bernstein to provide 
that support.  Oldham’s current Chief Executive is leading on the terms for this 
advisory role.  A nominal sum will be payable to Manchester City Council for 
this support. 

 
5 Recruitment and Selection of a Permanent Chief Executive and Head of 

Paid Service 
 
5.1 The Selection Committee instructed Officers of the Council to undertake a 

procurement process to secure the services of an Executive Selection 
Agency.  This process is now concluded and Gatenby Sanderson has been 
appointed to support the Council when it commences the process to appoint a 
permanent Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service.  The timeline for the 
process is expected to commence around the end of May and that the 
appointment of a permanent successor to Charlie Parker will be 
recommended to full Council for approval in July 2014.   

 
5.2 The interim arrangements described in this report will conclude when the 

successful individual commences in the post. 
 
 
6 Consultation 
 
6.1 N/A 
 
7 Financial Implications 
 
7.1 The following reflects the financial implications based on a recruitment process 

commencing in May 2014. 
  
  

 2013/14 2014/15 

 £’000 £’000 

Chief Executive net budget available (inc on-costs & 
income from GMWDA) 

42.8 117.0 

Deputy Chief Executive budget available 41.5 97.4 

   

Cost of Interim Chief Executive 44.3 111.4 

Cost of Recruitment   30.0 

Net (saving)/cost (40.0) (73.0) 

 
7.2 The Returning Officer payment for local elections is included as part of the 

agreed basic salary, Returning Officer payments for other elections will be 
funded from allocations received from Government for that election. The 
payment for Clerk to Greater Manchester Waste is also included in the above 
calculation. 
 

7.3 The saving will be available to be utilised for any nominal sums for the advisory 
support and any additional costs of the senior officer arrangements during the 
Interim Chief Executive appointment if they arise.  Steven Mair – Borough 
Treasurer 

Page 144



Page 5 of 6 Council – Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 18 December 2013 

 
 
 
8 Legal Services Comments 
 
8.1 The Council has a statutory duty to appoint a head of paid service under the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989  
Paul Entwistle - Borough Solicitor 

 
9 Co-operative Agenda 
 
9.1 N/A 
 
 
10 Human Resources Comments 
 
10.1 Included within the content of the report. 
 
 
11 Risk Assessments 
 
11.1 N/A 
 
 
12 IT Implications 
 
12.1 N/A 
 
 
13 Property Implications 
 
13.1 N/A 
 
 
14 Procurement Implications 
 
14.1 N/A 
 
 
15 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
15.1 N/A 
 
 
16 Equality, Community Cohesion and Crime Implications 
 
16.1 N/A 
 
 
17 Equality Impact Assessment Completed 
 
17.1 N/A 

Page 145



Page 6 of 6 Council – Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service 18 December 2013 

 
18 Key Decision 
 
18.1 No 
 
 
19 Key Decision Reference 
 
19.1 N/A 
 
 
20 Background Papers 
 
19.1 None 
 
 
21 Appendices 
 
21.1 None 
 

Page 146



 

 

 

 
COUNCIL   
 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 
 

Report of the Borough Treasurer 
 
 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Jabbar, Cabinet Member for Finance  
 
18th December 2013 
 
Officer Contact: Suzanne Heywood    
Ext. 4905  
 
Purpose of Report 
 
The purpose of the report is to seek approval of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
for 2014/15.   
 
Executive Summary 
 
From the 1st April 2013 the Council introduced a localised Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme to replace Council Tax Benefit for those of working age. The requirement for 
the Council to do this was set out in the Local Government Finance Act 2012.  
 
The current localised scheme of Council Tax Reduction was agreed by full Council on 
12th December 2012. The financial remit was for the amount of support to be equal to 
the reduced amount of funding received by the council based upon an assumed 
collection rate estimated to be 50% of the total support made to those of working age. 
This led to an agreed scheme that: 
 

• Limited Council Tax Reduction to a Band A property. 

• Limited the level of award to 75% of a Band A property as the 
maximum amount available. 

• Removed second adult rebate 

• Maintained the disregard of 100% of any payments received from 
War Disablement, War Widows and Armed Forces Compensation 
Schemes.  
 

 

Agenda Item 17

Page 147



 

Page 2 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

This was based on the amount of funding to support the scheme being equal to the 
amount of direct grant received. It was also supplemented from the estimated extra 
income that the Council would generate from the introduction of the Technical 
Reforms to Council Tax. In devising the 2013/14 schemes it was assumed by the 
Council that 50% of the extra Council Tax levied under the scheme would be collected 
in year.  
 
The legislation as detailed in the Local Government Finance Act 2012 places a 
requirement that each year a Collection Authority must formally consider revising its 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  
 
Before undertaking any revision the legislation requires consultation to take place, this 
consultation began on 8th August 2013 and ended on 31st October 2013.  
 
Consultation took place on two options:    

• Maintaining the present level of support 

• Revising the present Council Tax Reduction Scheme to offer support capped at 
a level to be agreed at full Council based on the scheme being self-financing to 
the council for a Band A property, rather than the present level.  

 
Feedback from the consultation has been analysed and is included within this report..  
 
With the new scheme only having been in place since 1st April 2013 it is difficult to 
estimate what the exact percentage collection rate might be. However, an early 
indication is that the collection rate for the extra amount billed in 2013/14 will be 
higher than originally estimated at between 65% and 70%.  Equally this may change 
in the remainder of the year  
 
Recommendations 
 

1. It is recommended that option 2 is agreed and the Council implement a Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme from 1st April 2014 for all applicants of working age as 
detailed in Appendix 2 this would:   

• Increase the maximum amount of reduction available to 80% of a 
Band A rate of Council Tax. 

• Maintain other changes introduced in the 2013/14 scheme, these are 
not to award second adult rebate and to disregard 100% of any 
payments received from War Disablement, War Widows and Armed 
Forces Compensation Schemes.  

 
 

2. The scheme at Appendix 2 be subject to any changes resulting from prescribed 
requirements issued by the Secretary of State under paragraph 2(8) of 
Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and any changes 
from time to time to the figures prescribed by central government for welfare 
benefits purposes. 

 
 
 
 

Page 148



 

Page 3 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 
Council   18th December 2013 
 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2014/15  
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 From the 1st April 2013 the Council introduced a localised Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme to replace Council Tax Benefit for those of working age. 
The requirement for the Council to do this was set out in the Local Government 
Finance Act 2012. Financial responsibility for this support was transferred from 
the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) to the Department of 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG). The DCLG would pay those 
bodies affected by the change a direct grant as part of its overall financial 
settlement with a reduction of 10% on the overall estimated cost. This was part 
of the overall savings on welfare expenditure. Any reduction in actual benefit 
could only be passed onto claimants of working age.  

 
1.2 The current localised scheme of Council Tax Reduction was agreed by full 

Council on 12th December 2012. The Council’s decision at that time was to 
make the amount of support equal to the direct grant received by the Council 
based upon an assumed collection rate estimated to be 50% of the total 
support made to those of working age. This led to an agreed scheme that: 

 

• Limited the maximum amount of reduction to 75% of a Band A rate 
of Council Tax. 

• Removed second adult rebate 

• Maintained the local disregard of 100% of any payments received 
from War Disablement, War Widows and Armed Forces 
Compensation Schemes previously made under Council Tax Benefit.  
 

 
2.  Current position  
 
 
1.1 There is an obligation within the legislation on the council to consider whether 

to review this scheme on an annual basis and if the Council wants to revise the 
scheme, any revised scheme for 2014/15 needs to be approved by full Council 
on a date before 31st January 2014. 

 
1.2 Early indications were that collection rates on the debt due from the scheme 

may be higher than the 50% estimated it was also recognised that the number of 
those recipients of working age had reduced to 16,206 from 16,800 when the 
scheme was agreed by Council in December 2012.  Based on these factors the 
Council may be in a position to offer increased financial support through the 
scheme, alternatively given the uncertain and volatile nature of the Council's 
finances and the major budget reductions required in future years, the Council 
could leave the scheme unaltered until there is greater certainty in a number of 
areas. 
 

Page 149



 

Page 4 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

1.3 On this basis it was agreed that the council should undertake a 12 week 
consultation with two options:  

 
Option 1 – would be to maintain the present level of support to claimants.  
 
Option 2 – would be to revise the present Council Tax Reduction Scheme to 
offer support capped at a level to be agreed at full Council rather than the 
present maximum level of 75% of a Band A rate of Council. The level to be 
agreed based on the collection levels at the time the decision was made and the 
scheme being self-financing to the council.  

 

2.4  Consultation on the options outlined above took place during the period 8th 
August 2013 to 31st October 2013. The consultation was in the form of a paper 
questionnaire sent to all households in the borough in receipt of Council Tax 
Reduction.  An option was also provided for respondents to complete an on-line 
version through Oldham’s Consultation Portal, this facility was also made 
available to all residents through promotion on the Council website.  

 
The consultation used open and closed questions to capture residents’ views 

on:  

• two options for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme in 2014/2015 

• the impact the scheme was having on taxpayers  

• the impact of wider changes of the government’s Welfare Reform 

programme.  

 
2.5  In total, 1,503 residents responded to the consultation which equates to a 

response rate of 9%, the main findings of the consultation are outlined below.      
 

In relation to the two proposed options: 

• Option 1: Leave the current Council Tax Reduction scheme 
unchanged for 2014 onwards, just over half (54%) disagreed with the 
proposal and just under half (46%) agreed with the proposal.  

• Option 2: Increase the level of Council Tax Reduction should the 
financial position of the council be able to support the change, just 
over half (54%) agreed with the proposal and the just under half 
(46%) disagreed with the proposal 

 

2.6 In designing the 2013/14 scheme, we were unable to say what  the wider 
impacts of welfare reform might be. As part of the consultation we asked  
respondents whether a range of welfare reforms had impacted on their lives. 
The findings suggest that:   

 

• Most respondents (77%) thought the current Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme had an effect on their household financially:  either ‘a great 
deal’ (48%) or a ‘fair amount’ (29%). 

 

Page 150



 

Page 5 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

• Local Housing Allowance (36%) has had the greatest impact, closely 
followed by the introduction of Work Capability Assessment (31%).   

 

• Almost all of those responding (89%) were concerned about their 

current financial situation. 

• Most respondents appeared to be aware of the support available 
from Oldham Council and its partners to mitigate the impact of 
Welfare Reform. People appeared most aware of the advice on 
managing debts (76%), while they were least aware of information to 
get them into employment (59%).      

• The support offered in getting a bank account had helped a third of 
respondents (34%) although 20% had not found the support had 
helped them. 

• A quarter of respondents (26%) had found help in reducing energy 
costs by moving from a pre-payment meter or standard tariff to direct 
debit tariff.  

• The area that most respondents wanted information about was on 
helping to make their house more energy efficient (16%) with the 
next popular being help with energy costs by moving from a pre-pay 
meter or standard credit tariff to a cheaper direct debit tariff (14%).  

 

2.7  Further details of the consultation can be found in the consultation feedback 
summary report at Appendix 1.   

 
2.8 As part of the consultation a report outlining the two options for the scheme 

was considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Performance and Value for 
Money Select Committee on the 26th September 2013. The recommendation of 
the Committee was that the present level of support be maintained for the year 
2014/15 and that when developing the 2015/16 scheme the opportunity to 
increase support to property Bands B and C rather than basing all support on 
Band A be considered.  

 
2.9  As part of the consultation process the Office of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and the Fire and Rescue Authority have also been contacted.   
 
2.10  There was a formal response to the consultation from the Liberal Democrat 

Group who “’welcomed the proposal to use utilise the additional revenue raised 
to reduce the burden on the poorest by raising the maximum amount” awarded.  
The group also suggested the “administration consider establishing a 
discretionary hardship fund.”  
 

2.11 Responses to the consultation have been considered in the development of the 
recommendations contained within this report.  However, the creation of a 
hardship fund as suggested by the Liberal Democrat Group is not 
recommended due to the difficulties in establishing criteria for the fund 
to determine who should receive an award, in what circumstances and how 
much they should be awarded. The Council does ensure that it signposts 

Page 151



 

Page 6 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

residents to a range of support available including Discretionary Housing 
Payments and the Local Welfare Provision Scheme. Though these cannot be 
used to directly make payments for Council Tax providing funding towards 
other costs and expenditure may free up residents income to make Council Tax 
payments.  

 
2.12  As at the 9th December 2013 from the 16,200 taxpayers receiving Council Tax 

Reduction the collection remain higher than originally estimated and may reach 
65% to 70%.  It is expected that this could result in the collection of an extra 
£600,000 to £800,000 in Council Tax receipts for 2014/15.  However attention 
is drawn to the financial implications in section 6.  

 
 
3.0 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1     Option 1  

The Council could retain the 2013/14 scheme for 2014/15. This would mean:  

• Continuing to limit the maximum amount of reduction to 75% of a 
Band A rate of Council Tax. 

• Continuing not awarding second adult rebate 

• Maintaining the disregard of 100% of any payments received from 
War Disablement, War Widows and Armed Forces Compensation 
Schemes.   

  
3.2   Option 2 

The Council could revise its scheme for 2014/15. Given the predicted increase in 
collection rates and the financial difficulties facing residents identified through 
the consultation an option for the 2014/15 scheme would be to:   

• Increase the maximum amount of reduction available to 80% of a 
Band A rate of Council Tax. 

• Maintain other changes introduced in the 2013/14 scheme, these are 
not to award second adult rebate and to disregard 100% of any 
payments received from War Disablement, War Widows and Armed 
Forces Compensation Schemes.  

 
 
4.  Preferred Option/Recommendation  
 
4.1 It is recommended that option 2 is agreed and the Council implement a Council 

Tax Reduction Scheme from 1st April 2014 for all applicants of working age as 
detailed in Appendix 2 this would:   

• Increase the maximum amount of reduction available to 80% of a 
Band A rate of Council Tax. 

• Maintain other changes introduced in the 2013/14 scheme, these are 
not to award second adult rebate and to disregard 100% of any 
payments received from War Disablement, War Widows and Armed 
Forces Compensation Schemes.  

 
 

Page 152



 

Page 7 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

4.2  The scheme at Appendix 2 be subject to any changes resulting from prescribed 
requirements issued by the Secretary of State under paragraph 2(8) of 
Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and any changes from 
time to time to the figures prescribed by central government for welfare benefits 
purposes. 

 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 Details of the consultation are included within the body of the report and a 

consultation feedback summary report can be found at Appendix 1.   
 
6 Financial  
 
6.1 The direct grant paid by the Department of Communities and Local 

Government (DCLG) is estimated to be at the same level as that received for 
2013-14 as confirmed by government announcements on the finance 
settlement for this year.  For the Council this is £17.418m including grant 
support in respect of Parish Councils but excluding the major preceptors. The 
grant was guaranteed at this level for two financial years only by the DCLG. 
The technical consultation issued by the DCLG in July advised that it was the 
Governments intention that support for Council Tax localisation would remain 
the same in 2015/16 as 2014/15, thus giving this guarantee for a third year.  It 
is however not possible to identify specific elements of support within the 
overall level of general grant issued by the DCLG.  The risk that this amount of 
grant will reduce after 2015/16 is considered high. 

 
6.2   The amount of support to be provided is heavily reliant on the actual collection 

rates achieved.  After initial estimates of this only being 40%, the 2013/14 
scheme was based on a 50% collection rate.  As this is the first year of the 
scheme and no historical data or evidence is available to inform collection 
rates, forecasting the actual collection rate remains extremely difficult.  As 
there is  only 8 months data available, projections of Council Tax to be 
collected for the rest of the year still carry a  significant level of risk. In relation 
to the extra income generated by the Technical Reforms to Council Tax the 
original scheme was devised on the basis that an extra £1.020M of council tax 
would be received from this source.. At present based upon collection rates for 
7 months it is assumed the estimated £1.020M will be collected by the end of 
2013/14 and in 2014/15. 

 
6.3 As at the 1st November 2013, 86% of the 16,206 claimants had made some 

payment towards their Council Tax bill for 2013/14, suggesting a collection rate 
above that of the estimated 50%.  However, it is not possible to determine how 
many of these taxpayers currently making payments will fall into arrears during 
the remainder of the year.  Based on collection to date it is believed that by 
continuing proactive collection methods will enable the Council to collect 
between 65% and 70% of the amount due in 2013/14.  Weekly monitoring of 
the collection rate is being maintained to manage the risk associated with 
collection rate. One perceived risk at this stage is that the present collection 
rate will reduce throughout the remainder of the financial year as the impact of 
the Welfare reforms is felt by the residents.  If Council Tax Reduction  

Page 153



 

Page 8 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

claimants have their general benefits income reduced, this will affect the level 
of resources available to pay Council Tax and may result in an increased risk 
of arrears from those who are currently paying. 

 
6.4 At present the Council accounts for Council Tax and National Non Domestic 

Rates (NNDR) within the Collection Fund.  There is considerable uncertainty 
about the accounting arrangements for the Collection Fund  and no definitive 
guidance has yet been issued.   At present the Council is continuing to operate 
using existing practice of bringing together both the Council Tax and NNDR 
positions to produce an overall position for the Collection Fund.  Currently,   
this is estimated to be a largely balanced position and the Council must have 
regard to this when determining its overall budget for 2014/15.  The detail of 
the position is that the Council Tax element is estimated to be £3.1m in 
surplus, whilst the NNDR is expected to be £2.8m in deficit leaving a net 
estimated surplus of £345k in year a cumulative surplus of £543k of which the 
Oldham Council share is £474k.  This is subject to change as estimating this 
has been very difficult as noted in these comments  
 

6.5 There is great uncertainty about the NNDR position arising from the changes in 
the legislation from 1st April 2013, which passes 50% of the risk / gain of NNDR 
to Councils primarily due to: 

 

• The requirement to assess rateable value appeals, which have not 
impacted on the Council.  However, the information that is currently 
available from the Governments Valuation Office Agency (VOA) is 
inadequate for this purpose.  
 

• Appeals taking some years to resolve and often requiring tribunal 
hearings.  Appeals can be backdated if there is a change in rateable 
value of a property and, due to the length of time and the values 
involved there can be a high financial impact on the Council in a 
particular financial year. As there are currently over 550 appeals for 
properties in the Council’s NNDR area the financial impact has the 
potential to be significant.  

 

• In addition to the unresolved known appeals the Council has to make 
provision for appeals which may be submitted in the future but relate 
to periods in the current and/ or previous financial years. This is 
therefore and extremely difficult exercise and is totally reliant on 
estimation. 

 
6.6 As explained above, there is considerable scope for variance from the current 

assumptions that have been made meaning the overall Collection Fund 
position is volatile and given the impact this could have on budget setting for 
2014/15 means that a prudent approach must be taken when considering the 
Councils overall financial position.  Should the proposed change impact on the 
Collection Fund and a deficit result in this then the consequences would need 
adding to the current estimated MTFS budget gap and alternative savings from 
elsewhere in the Council will have to be found  

 

Page 154



 

Page 9 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 
 
7 Legal Services Comments  
 
7.1 The legislation states that each year an authority must give consideration to 

whether to revise its council tax reduction scheme. 
 
7.2 The revision of a scheme is a decision that the legislation reserves to full 

council. Any revision to apply to the scheme for the following year must be 
made by 31st January. 

 
7.3 No revision of a scheme can occur unless the authority has, in the following 

order: 
 

1) consulted with major precepting authorities (fire and police) 
2) published a draft proposed scheme 
3) consulted with others likely to have an interest in the scheme 

 
7.4 The authority has undertaken consultation as above and is therefore able to 

revise its scheme should it choose to do so 
 
7.5 If following consultation it is proposed that no revision is made it is still 

recommended that the matter goes to full Council. The legislation does not 
expressly state that the consideration of whether to revise a scheme, as 
opposed to actual revision, is reserved to full Council. Given the lack of clarity 
in the legislation, authorities would be wise to approach the matter with caution 
even if no revision is proposed. . 

 
7.6 In order to discharge its duties under the Equality Act 2010 the authority will 

need to consider the effects of proposals on people with a protected 
characteristic as defined by the act, which can be done by way of an equality 
impact assessment as happened before the present scheme was made. 
Further detail on this aspect is provided at 14 below.  

 
7.7  The scheme to be implemented by the Council shall apply from 1st April 2014 

and shall be in terms of the Oldham Council Tax Reduction Scheme at 
Appendix 2 of this report, subject to: 

• Any changes resulting from prescribed requirements from time to 
time issued by the Secretary of State under paragraph 2(8) of 
Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

• Any changes from time to time to the various figures in Appendix 2 
that are figures prescribed by central government for welfare benefits 
purposes.  
(Bill Balmer) 

 
8 Human Resources Comments 
 
8.1 There are no human resource comments.   
  
 

Page 155



 

Page 10 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

9 Risk Assessments 
            
9.1 There are a number of risks to be managed in this process: 
 

• Ensuring the revised scheme is not subject to a legal challenge on the 
basis of equality legislation. 

• Developing a scheme which is both fair and affordable to the Council for 
2014-15 particularly as it will only be based upon limited collection rates 
information early in the financial year and assumptions on grant funding 
previously made. 

• Linking in Council Tax Collection Processes to the Council’s Corporate Fair 
Debt Policy. 
(Mark Stenson) 

 
10 IT Implications 
 
10.1 There are no IT implications.  
 
 
11 Property Implications 
 
11.1 There are no property implications. 
 
12 Procurement Implications 
 
12.1 There are no procurement implications.  
 
13 Environmental and Health and Safety Implications 
 
13.1 There are no Environmental and Health and Safety implications. 
 
14 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
14.1 In taking financial decisions the Council must demonstrate that it has given 

“due regard” to the need to eliminate discrimination, promote equality of 
opportunity and promote good relations between different groups. 

 
14.2 Demonstrating that “due regard” has been given involves: 

• assessing the potential equality impacts of proposed decisions at an 
appropriate stage in the decision making process - so that it informs the 
development of policy and is considered before a decision is taken; 

• ensuring that decision makers are aware of the equality duties and any 
potential equality issues when making decisions.   

 
NB – having due regard does not mean the Council cannot make decisions 
which have the potential to impact disproportionately, it means that we must 
be clear where this is the case, and must be able to demonstrate that we 
have consulted, understood and mitigated the impact. 

Page 156



 

Page 11 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 
14.3 To ensure that the process of impact assessment is robust, it needs to: 

• Be specific to each individual proposal; 

• Be clear about the purpose of the proposal; 

• Consider available evidence; 

• Include consultation and involvement with those affected by the decision, 
where appropriate; 

• Consider proposals for mitigating any negative impact on particular 
groups; 

• Set out arrangements for monitoring the actual impact of the proposal. 

 
14.4 As with the 2013/14 scheme, an Equality Impact Assessment is being 

undertaken to try to and identify any potential disproportionate adverse impacts 
arising from the proposed scheme and also identify any actions which might 
mitigate these impacts.   (Jennifer Barker) 

 
15 Equality Impact Assessment Completed 
 
15.1   An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and can be found at 

Appendix 3    
  
16 Key Decision 
 
16.1 Yes, any revisions to the localised Council Tax Reduction scheme can only be 

agreed by full Council. 
 
17 Forward Plan Reference 
 
17.1  CMCL-39-13 
 
18 Background Papers 
 
18.1 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government 
Act 1972.  It does not include documents which would disclose exempt or 
confidential information as defined by the Act: 

 
Name of File:  
Proposed Consultation for the 2014-15 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme, 
Cabinet Paper 29th July 2013  
Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15  
Cabinet Paper 2nd December 2013   

 Records held in Borough Treasurer’s Department 
 Officer Name: Suzanne Heywood  
 Contact No: Extension 4905 
 
 

Page 157



 

Page 12 of 12 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 
19 Appendices  
 
19.1  Appendices  
 

1 Consultation Feedback Summary Report  
 

2 Oldham Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15  
 

3 Equality Impact Assessment  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



 

 
 
 
Consultation with residents on the 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 

2013/2014 and wider Welfare Reform

 
Summary Report  
  
20th November 2013   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Consultation with residents on the 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 

2013/2014 and wider Welfare Reform

 

 

 
 

Appendix 1  
 

 

Consultation with residents on the 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 

2013/2014 and wider Welfare Reform 

Page 159



 

Page 2 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 

1. Introduction  

 
1.1. Proposed Council Tax Reduction scheme for 2014 onwards  

 
In Oldham, there are approximately 16,500 households in receipt of council tax 
support (i.e. Council Tax Reduction), that is one-fifth of all households in the borough.  
On 1 April 2013, Council Tax Benefit was replaced by local Council Tax Reduction 
schemes in each local authority with a reduction of 10% in the total amount of money 
available for Council Tax support.  This was as part of the overall savings on welfare 
expenditure.  
 
The scheme in Oldham was devised following widespread consultation with residents 
and included:  
 
• Limiting Council Tax Support to a Band A property. 
• Limiting the level of support at 75% of a Band A property as the maximum  

amount available. 
• The removal of the second adult rebate. 
 
Oldham Council has to review the scheme on an annual basis to fulfil requirements 
set out in the Local Government Finance Act 2012. 
 
 
1.2. About these findings  

 

Statistics presented in later reporting may differ slightly from those presented here as: 

• the quality of the data that this report is based on has not yet been fully 
assessed – if problems emerge, this could lead to revised findings.   

• All findings presented in this report are unweighted.1  

 
2. Aims and Objectives   

 
The purpose of the consultation was to examine:  
 
 

• Council Tax Rebate recipients’ attitudes to two possible options for the 
local Council Tax Reduction Scheme in 2013/2014; 

 

• The impact of the local Council Tax Reduction Scheme and wider 
                                            
1
 This means that if some demographic groups are over-represented among respondents (relative to 

their proportion within the wider population of residents potentially affected by the proposed changes to 
Council Tax Benefit), the overall results will be skewed towards the over-represented groups.  Further 
work is needed to assess whether this survey should be weighted (and if so, to develop a weighting 
frame). 

Page 160



 

Page 3 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 welfare reform; and 
 

• The usefulness of support services by Oldham Council and its partners 
to help mitigate changes that may have occurred as a result of welfare 
reform.  

 
 
3. Methodology  

In August 2013, a paper questionnaire was sent to all individuals in the borough in 
receipt of Council Tax Reduction Scheme support.  An option was also provided for 
respondents to complete an on-line version through Oldham’s Consultation Portal.  
 
The questionnaire used open and closed questions to capture residents’ views on two 

options for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme in 2013/2014, the impact the scheme 

was having on them as well as the impact of wider changes of the government’s 

Welfare Reform programme.  It is anticipated that more detailed analysis will be 

needed to support work to mitigate the impact of proposed changes, and later 

responses will be incorporated fully at this stage.  

 

4. About the Respondents   

In total, 1,503 residents completed the questionnaire which equates to a response 
rate of 9%.  Almost all of the respondents replied by post (95%; n=1435); a small 
proportion (5%; n=68) were submitted online.  Four in ten respondents (42%) 
indicated that they were in receipt of support through the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme, three in ten (32%) said they were not, while 24% were unsure.  This means 
that over half the respondents indicated that they either did not receive the benefit or 
were unsure if they did or not – a high figure given that the questionnaire was only 
sent to all households in receipt of the benefit.  It suggests some respondents may 
have misunderstood the term Council Tax Reduction.   
 
Respondents had the following characteristics:  
 

• A slight majority were female (53%, n=729) compared to men (47%, n=644);   

• Most were 35 and older: 35-44 (25%), 45-54 (27%) and 55+ (22%) compared 
to only 7% who were between 16 and 24 years of age;  

• Seven in ten (72%) were white with nearly three in ten from the Black and 
Minority Ethnic (BME) groups (28%).   This means that proportionately more 
BME people responded than whites when compared to Oldham’s population;  

• Over half (56%) have a limiting long term illness or disability that affects their 
daily life; 

• Nearly two-thirds (62%) report suffering from nervous trouble or depression in 
the last 12 months;   

Page 161



 

Page 4 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

• The overwhelming majority are not in paid employment with only around one in 
six respondents (15%) either working full or part time; and 

• Almost all (89%) have a household income of £251 a week or less with around 
two in three (64%) having a household income of less than £168 a week.   

 
A complete breakdown of the demographic profile of the respondents can be found at 
Appendix 1.  
 
5. Consultation Findings    

 

5.1. Proposed Council Tax Reduction scheme for 2014 onwards  

The council asked residents about two possible options for the Council Tax Reduction 
scheme for 2014 onwards: 
 

• Maintaining the present Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  

• To increase the level of support offered through the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme should the financial position of the Council be able to support the 
change.  

 
 
5.1.1 Option 1:  Leave the current Council Tax Reduction scheme unchanged 
for 2014 onwards 

 

Respondents were asked whether they agreed or disagreed with the proposal to 
leave the scheme unchanged for 2014.  Among those who answered this question 
(n=1,233): 
 

• Just over half (54%) disagreed with the proposal.  

• Just under half (46%) agreed with the proposal.  

 
The majority of respondents who disagreed with the proposal described the negative 
impact that the scheme had on their lives and families.  Some described the financial 
burden the scheme had placed on them resulting in them struggling to live and 
manage financially.  
 
There were a small number of responses that agreed with the proposal, fearing an 
even less generous scheme might be introduced:  
 
 
5.1.2. Option 2: Increase the level of Council Tax Reduction should the financial 
position of the council be able to support the change 

 

Respondents were asked a further question on whether they agreed with the proposal 
to increase the level of Council Tax support (i.e. Council Tax Reduction) should the 
Council be financially able to so.  There were 1,173 responses to the question with:  

Page 162



 

Page 5 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 

• Just over half (54%) agreed with the proposal. 

• Just under half (46%) disagreed with the proposal.  

 
Respondents were asked to write more about why they agreed or disagreed with this 
proposed option:  four in ten (41%) did so.   There were a large number of instances 
where responses ‘disagreed’ with the proposal in the closed question but wrote 
negative comments about Council Tax Reduction.    
 

Most comments were supportive of the proposal citing that extra support would help 
them financially, allowing them to pay bills and afford necessities such as food and 
clothes:   

5.2. Financial impact of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

Most respondents (77%) thought the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme had an 
effect on their household financially:  either ‘a great deal’ (48%) or a ‘fair amount’ 
(29%) 
 

5.3. Non-financial impact of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

Respondents were asked about the wider impact of Council Tax Reduction since its 
introduction in April 2013.  The question was aimed at capturing impacts on friends 
and family, local community and businesses.  The responses showed that the majority 
(60%) felt that it had had an impact on non-financial matters while 18% felt it may do 
so within the next 12 months.  Less than one-fifth of respondents (17%) felt it had not 
made any impact on their lives.  
 
5.4. Proportion impacted by wider Welfare Reforms 

Respondents were asked whether a range of Welfare Reforms had an impact on their 
lives.  The findings suggest that:  
 

• Local Housing Allowance (36%) has had the greatest impact, closely followed 
by the introduction of Work Capability Assessment (31%);   

• Universal Credit had the smallest current impact (17% of respondents felt it 
was making an impact on their lives), although a large proportion of residents 
(27%) felt that this might have an impact in the next 12 months; 

• PIP (Personal Independence Payment) had made an impact on 18% of 
respondents although it did not apply to over a third (35%); and  

•  The introduction of the size criteria had affected 27% of respondents.  

 

 

 

 

Page 163



 

Page 6 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 
In your opinion, have any of the following changes introduced as part of 
Welfare Reform had an impact on you or your household?  

 
Base: All Responding  

 
Almost all of those responding (89%) were ‘very’ (62%) or ‘quite’ (27%) concerned 

about their current financial situation. Around one in ten respondents (9%) were ‘not 

very’ or ‘not at all’ concerned.  

Respondents were asked how easy or difficult they find it to keep up-to-date with a 

range of regular household bills: 

• Three quarters of respondents (74%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with 
Council Tax payments, with nearly half (46%) finding it ‘very difficult’. 

• Around seven in ten (69%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with utility 
payments (e.g. gas, electricity and water), with a large minority (43%) finding it 
‘very difficult’  

• Over half (57%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with housing payments e.g. 
rent or mortgage payments. Around one in five (20%) said they did not have 
housing payments or that the question did not apply to them (some 
respondents owned their house without a mortgage for example). 

• Over half of respondents (55%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with their 
landline phone/internet bill whilst about three in ten (32%) said they did not 
have this or it did not apply 

27%

23%

18%

36%

31%

26%

17%

10%

20%

20%

16%

14%

19%

27%

31%

31%

27%

27%

26%

32%

30%

33%

26%

35%

21%

29%

23%

27%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Introduction of the Size Criteria (n=1413)

Introduction of Local Welfare Provision (n= 1317)

Replacing Disability Living Allowance with PIP 

(n=1364)

Changes to Local Housing Allowance (n= 1333)

Introduction of work capability assessment (n= 

1363)

Introduction of the Benefit Cap (n= 1339)

Introduction of Universal Credit (n= 1308)

Yes Not yet, but it may in the next 12 months No Does not apply

Page 164



 

Page 7 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

• Nearly half (47%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with repayments on 
unsecured loans; almost half of respondents (48%) said they did not have 
unsecured loans or that the question did not apply 

• Nearly half (47%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with their mobile phone 
contract; the same proportion (42%) said they did not have this or it did not 
apply.  

 
Thinking about your household finances at the moment, how easy or difficult 
do you find it to . . . 

 
 

Base: All responding  

Respondents were then asked whether or not they could afford a range of basic 

goods, services and activities (see Figure 8). High proportions of respondents said 

that they would like, but could not currently afford to: 

• make regular savings of £10 a month or more (80%) 

• replace or repair broken electrical goods like a refrigerator or washing machine 
(75%) 

• buy clothing and shoes when needed (76%) 

• buy healthy food (67%) 

• keep their home warm in winter (64%) 

• get to places that are too far away to walk (62%) 

• buy household contents insurance (51%) 

• have friends and family around for a meal or drink once a month (70%).  
 

6%

6%

5%

3

3

2

16%

15%

12%

10%

8%

4%

23%

28%

26%

20%

18%

13%

34%

46%

43%

35%

29%

34%

20%

5%

13%

32%

42%

48%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Keep up to-date with housing payments  (n=1420)

keep up to-date with Council Tax payments (n=1402)

keep up-to-date with utility bills (n= 1297)

Keep up-to-date with your landline phone/internet 

(n= 1309)

Keep up-to-date with your mobile phone contract (n= 

1379)

keep up-to-date with repayments on unsecured loans 

(n=1226)

Very easy Fairly easy 

Fairly difficult very difficult

Page 165



 

Page 8 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 

Do you (and your family/partner) have enough money to...? 

 

 

 

Base: All responding 

 

 

 

7%

8%

17%

10%

8%

8%

80%

75%

66%

70%

45%

60%

5%

11%

7%

8%

8%

10%

7%

6%

10%

11%

39%

21%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Make regular savings of £10 a month or more (n= 

1423)

Replace or repair electrical goods like a 

refrigerator or washing machine when broken …

Celebrate special occasions, like children’s 

birthdays (n= 1434)

Have friends or family around for a meal or drink 

at least once a month (n= 1426)

Have your child/children take part in a regular club 

or sports group (n= 1428)

Take part in a regular activity (n=1426)

I/we have this
I/we would like this but cannot afford it at the moment
I/we don’t want/ need this at the moment
Does not apply

27%

17%

24%

22%

25%

28%

67%

76%

62%

51%

48%

64%

4%

6%

7%

10%

8%

5%

2

1

7%

17%

18%

3

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Buy healthy food for you and 

your family (n=1442)

Buy clothing and shoes when 

needed (n=1436)

Get to places that are too far 

away to walk (n= 1413)

Have household contents 

insurance (n= 1434)

Keep your home in a decent 

state of repair (n= 1427)

Keep your home warm in winter 

(n= 1433)

I/we have this

I/we would like this but cannot afford it at the moment

I/we don’t want/ need this at the moment

Does not apply

Page 166



 

Page 9 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

 

5.5. The Nature of the Impact  

 
5.5.1. Financial  

Residents were asked to give their views about the impact of Welfare Reform on their 

financial situation.  Under half (45%) commented on this question.  The majority of 

respondents were struggling to make ends meet from month-to-month, only managing 

by cutting spending to the bare essentials.  

Some wrote about the difficulty of keeping up with debts, other respondents wrote 

about the negative impact it had on their children as they were unable to afford school 

trips and clothes.    

 
5.5.2. Health  

Respondents were asked to share their experiences, in their own words, on the 
impact that Welfare Reform had on their health.  Around one in two (45%) wrote 
comments in response to this question.  A large proportion of respondents described 
that a key consequence of the welfare reform programme was in terms of their mental 
health (anxiety, depression) as they dealt with a reduction in their income.     
 
5.5.3. Housing  

Respondents were asked to describe impacts (if any) on their housing situation.  In 
total, one in three (35%) respondents wrote comments on this topic.  There was a 
view amongst a number of respondents that the Welfare Reform changes and the 
associated reduction in income had led to them struggling to meet mortgage or rents:  
 
A lot of participants mentioned that they were cutting back expenditure on heating, 
house repairs and food costs.   
 
6. Mitigating the impact of Welfare Reform 

Oldham Council believes that the Welfare Reform programme is likely to affect those 
people in receipt of a range of benefits and this is supported by a growing body of 
evidence (Beatty & Fothergill, 2013).   In order to mitigate the impact of these 
changes, the Council and our partners have put in place a range of support services.  
In order to understand people’s awareness of these services and their effectiveness, 
a range of questions were asked within the survey. The key findings:   
 

• Most respondents appeared to be aware of the support available from Oldham 
Council and its partners2: people appeared most aware of the advice on 
managing debts (76%), while they were least aware of information to get them 
into employment (59%);      

                                            
2
 Where respondents answered responded by selecting one of the following options: ‘Yes, this support 

has helped me’, ‘No, this support has not helped me’ or ‘I have not accessed this support’.  

Page 167



 

Page 10 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

• The support that most helped respondents : ‘support to access child-care 
services’, ‘information and support to become self-employed’ and ‘help with 
tackling problem landlords’ (35% of respondents for all three initiatives);   

• The support which respondents felt did not help them was ‘advice on managing 
debts’ (27% feeling it had not helped them) although at the same time over a 
third (33%) did feel it had helped;   

• The support offered in getting a bank account had helped a third of 
respondents (34%) although 20% had not found the support had helped them; 

• A quarter of respondents (26%) had found help in reducing energy costs by 
moving from a pre-payment meter or standard tariff to direct debit tariff;  

• The area that most respondents wanted information about was on helping to 
make their house more energy efficient (16%) with the next popular being help 
with energy costs by moving from a pre-pay meter or standard credit tariff to a 
cheaper direct debit tariff (14%).  

 
Has any of the available support listed below helped you to manage any 

changes for you and your household that may have occurred as a result of 

Welfare Reform?  

Base: All responding 

33%

25%

26%

21%

26%

34%

35%

31%

35%

28%

35%

27%

23%

25%

21%

19%

20%

18%

17%

20%

17%

14%

16%

19%

16%

19%

17%

14%

13%

14%

13%

14%

12%

11%

15%

12%

17%

14%

11%

10%

13%

11%

13%

10%

7%

13%

10%

16%

14%

9%

6%

12%

5%

12%

6%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Advice on managing debts e.g. Making the Most of Your 

Money (n=1413)

Help checking that you/your family are getting the 

benefits you are entitled to (n=1428)

Help to reduce spending on public transport (e.g. to 

make savings by spreading the costs of monthly or …

Help making your house more energy efficient (n= 1405)

Help reducing your energy costs by moving from a pre-

payment meter or standard credit tariff to a cheaper …

Help getting a bank account (n=1330)

Help with tackling problem landlords (n= 1244)

Information about getting into education or training (n= 

1297)

Information and support to become self-employed (n= 

1266)

Information and support to get into employment (n= 

1262)

Support to access child-care services (n= 1183)

Yes, this support has helped me No, this support has not helped me

I have not accessed this support I am not aware of this support

I would like to know more

Page 168



 

Page 11 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

Appendix 1 – About the Respondents 

  
Appendix 1 examines the personal characteristics of the respondents providing a 
better understanding of the circumstances of people in receipt of Council Tax 
Reduction.  Please note that the tables in this appendix include responses only.  
Percentages do not always add up to 100 due to rounding.  
 

Demographic profile of respondents  

The table below shows the gender, age group and ethnicity of respondents to the 
consultation:  
 

 Number Percent (%) 

Gender: 

Male  650 47 

Female  737 53 

Totals  1387 100 

Age Group:   

16-24 70 7 

25-34 195 19 

35-44 260 25 

45-54  285 27 

55+ 230 22 

Totals  1040 100 

Ethnic Group:     

White (British, Irish, other) 1018 72 

Mixed   19 1 

Asian (Indian, Pakistani)  311 22 

Black 53 4 

Other ethnic group  22 2 

Totals  1423 101 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 169



 

Page 12 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

Self-reported health and wellbeing 

The tables shows whether respondents suffer from a long-term limiting illness or 
disability or nervous trouble.  
 
 

 Number Percent (%) 

Long-Term Illness or Disability:  

Yes  781 56 

No 610 44 

Totals  1391 100 

Nervous Trouble or depression:   

No 534 38 

Yes, but I have not seen a doctor 
about it 

264 19 

Yes, and I have seen a doctor about it 608 43 

Totals  1406 100 

 
 
 

Tenure type  

Respondents were asked whether they rented or owned their accommodation.  

 

 Number Percent (%) 

Owns outright  103 7 

Owns with a mortgage or loan 137 10 

Pays part rent and part mortgage 
(shared ownership) 

2 <0.5 

Rents from First Choice Homes 
Oldham 

451 32 

Rents from a housing Association  375 27 

Rents from a private landlord 322 23 

Accommodation is a residential 
home or student halls   

3 0.21 

Other  22 2 

Totals  1415 101 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 170



 

Page 13 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

Household Composition  

Respondents were asked about their household composition (i.e. who they lived with).  
The responses to both the questions are shown below:  
 

 

 Number Percent (%) 

Live by myself 525 37 

Live with my husband/wife/partner only  201 14 

A one parent family  354 25 

A two parent family  192 14 

An extended family  95 7 

Live with adults who are not part of my 
family  

15 1 

Live in some other family arrangement  28 2 

Totals  1410 100 

 

Unpaid Care  

A question was asked about whether they provided unpaid care (because of long-
term physical or mental ill-health or disability, or problems related to old age) for 
family members, friends or neighbours.   
 
 

 Number Percent (%) 

No 1076 78 

Yes, 1-19 hours a week 121 9 

Yes, 20-49 hours a week 64 5 

Yes, 50 or more hours a week 119 9 

Totals  1380 101 

  

Page 171



 

Page 14 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

Employment and financial circumstances 

Respondents described their current employment status.  Their responses are given 
below:  
 

 

 Number Percent (%) 

Employment status:  

In full-time paid employment (30+ 
hours) 

46 3 

In part-time paid employment (less 
than 30 hours) 

160 11 

Self-employed  76 5 

Unemployed  417 30 

Retired  15 1 

Permanently sick or disabled and 
unable to work  

540 38 

Not in paid work – look after 
home/family 

116 8 

In full-time education  13 1 

Not working for some other reason 22 2 

Totals 1405 99 

Household Income:  

Under £168 per week (or under 
£8,740 per year after tax) 

837 64 

£168 to £251 per week (£8,740 - 
£13, 050 per year) 

330 25 

£252 to £511 per week (£13,051 – 
£26,570 per year) 

133 10 

£512 to £742 per week (£26,571 - 
£38,580 per year) 

10 <1 

Over £743 per week (over £38,581 
per year) 

0 0 

Totals 1310 99 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 172



 

Page 15 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

Appendix 2 – Council Tax Reduction Survey  

 
Q1. Have you received support under the council’s Council Tax Reduction scheme in 
2013/14?  

 
Q2. Thinking about your household overall, how much, if at all, do you think the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme introduced in April 2013 has affected your household 
financially? 

 
Q3. Other than the potential financial impact, have the changes made by the 
introduction of a Council Tax Reduction Scheme in April 2013 had an impact on you 
or your household?  

 
Q3a. How do you feel, if at all, the introduction of a Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
has affected you and your household? We would also like to know your views on how 
you feel its introduction has affected your local community and local businesses.  

 
Q4. In your opinion, have any of the following changes introduced as part of Welfare 
Reform had an impact on you or your household? [Introduction of the Size Criteria, 
Introduction of Local Welfare Provision; Replacing Disability Living Allowance (DLA) 
with Personal Independence Payment (PIP); Changes to Local Housing Allowance; 
Introduction of Work Capability Assessment; The introduction of the Benefit Cap;  The 
introduction of Universal Credit] 
 
Q5. Thinking about your household overall, how much, if at all, do you think the 
changes outlined above have affected your household financially?  

 
Q6a. How concerned, if at all, would you say you are about your current financial 
situation?  

 
Q6b. Has the extent of your concern about your financial situation changed since the 
introduction of changes through Welfare Reform?  

 
Q7. Thinking about your household finances at the moment, how easy or difficult do 
you find it to...? [Keep up-to-date with housing payments; Keep up-to-date with 
Council Tax payments; Keep up-to-date with utility bills; Keep up-to-date with your 
landline phone/internet bill, Keep up-to-date with your mobile phone contract; Keep 
up-to-date with repayments on unsecured loans] 
 
Q8. Do you (and your family/partner) have enough money to...? [Buy healthy food for 
you and your family; Buy clothing and shoes when needed; Get to places that are too 
far away to walk; Have household contents insurance; Keep your home in a decent 
state of repair; Keep your home warm in winter; Make regular savings of £10 a month 
or more; Replace or repair electrical goods like a refrigerator or washing machine 
when broken; Celebrate special occasions, like children’s birthdays; Have friends or 
family around for a meal or drink at least once a month; Have your child/children take 

Page 173



 

Page 16 of 16 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 18
th
 December 2013 

part in a regular club or sports group; Take part in a regular activity (e.g. sports club, 
hobby)] 
 
Q9. Oldham Council has introduced a number of different payment options to make 
paying your Council Tax easier. Which of the following payment options listed below 
do you currently use or would use in the future? [Pay online; Via Direct Debit; Over 
the telephone; Post Office and PayZone outlets; Council Tax Jam Jar Budgeting 
Account with Oldham Credit Union; Standing Order] 

 

Q10. Has any of the available support listed below helped you to manage any 
changes for you and your household that may have occurred as a result of Welfare 
Reform? [Advice on managing debts e.g. Making the Most of Your Money; Help 
checking that you/your family are getting the benefits you are entitled to; Help to 
reduce spending on public transport (e.g. to make savings by spreading the costs of 
monthly or annual bus passes); Help making your house more energy efficient; Help 
reducing your energy costs by moving from a pre-payment meter or standard credit 
tariff to a cheaper direct debit tariff; Help getting a bank account; Help with tackling 
problem landlords; Information about getting into education or training; Information 
and support to become self-employed; Information and support to get into 
employment; Support to access child-care services] 
 
Q10a. Is there any other help or support you would find useful in managing the impact 
of the changes to Council Tax Reduction or other Welfare Reforms? 

 
Surveys, such as this one, allow us to collect statistics about the impact of Welfare 
Reform on the residents of Oldham but it is the real life experiences of Oldham 
residents that have the real power to influence decision makers. Sharing your 
experiences will help us to better support our residents and do all we can to best ease 
the impact of Welfare Reform in Oldham. We would like to hear about your 
experiences of all impacts of Welfare Reform but we would especially like you to 
share your views on the impact, both actual so far and any concerns you have for the 
future on the topics below. [Managing your finances; Your health (physical and 
emotional/mental); Housing; Any other impacts] 
 

11. Do you agree or disagree with the council’s proposal to leave the current Council 
Tax Reduction scheme unchanged for 2014 onwards? 

 
Q12. Do you agree or disagree with the council’s proposal to increase the level of 
Council Tax Reduction should the financial position of the council be able to support 
the change? 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 174



Version 1                                                                                   

Council Tax Reduction Scheme

 

 

                                                                                                                                      

 
 
 
 
 

 

OLDHAM MBC  

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                      10.12.13  

2014/15   

Page 175



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

Version Control  
 
 
 
 

Version Created on Effective 
from 

Change   

1 
 

10.12.13 01.04.14  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
   
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 176



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

CONTENTS 
 

PART 1  
Introduction 

 
1. Citation 
 

PART 2  
Interpretation 

 
2. Interpretation 
3. Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 
4. Meaning of “couple” 
5. Polygamous marriages 
6. Meaning of “family” 
7. Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another 
8. Households 
9. Non-dependants 
10. Remunerative work 
 

PART 3 
Procedural matters 

 
11. Procedure for reduction applications and appeals against reduction decisions 
 

PART 4 
Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 

 
12. Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
13. Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount 
14. Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount 
15. Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners 
16. Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount 
17. Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount 
18.  Class F in the default scheme: non application in the area of the authority  
19. Periods of absence from a dwelling 
 

PART 5 
Classes of person excluded from this scheme 

 
20. Classes of person excluded from this scheme 
21. Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great Britain 
21A. Persons treated as being in Great Britain 
21B. Temporary absence from Great Britain 
22. Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control 
22A. Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit 
23. Class of person excluded from this scheme: students 
 

PART 6 
Applicable amounts for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this 

scheme and amount of reduction 
 

24. Applicable amounts: pensioners (including pensioners in polygamous marriages) 
25. Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners 
26. Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners 
27. Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit 
 

 
PART 7 

Page 177



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

Maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under 
this scheme and amount of reduction 

 
28. Maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not 
pensioners 
29. Non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 
 

PART 8 
Alternative maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a 

reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction 
 
30. Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners 
 

PART 9 
Amount of reduction under this scheme 

 
31. Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to F 
 

PART 10 
Income and capital for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this scheme 

and amount of reduction 
 

CHAPTER 1 
General 

 
32. Calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous marriages 
33. Circumstances in which capital and income of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant’s 
 

CHAPTER 2 
Income: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit 

 
34. Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners 
35. Calculation of applicant's income in savings credit only cases: pensioners 
 

CHAPTER 3 
Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit 

 
36. Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of 
universal credit 
 

CHAPTER 4 
Income: other pensioners 

 
37. Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: pensioners 
38. Meaning of “income”: pensioners 
39. Calculation of weekly income: pensioners 
40. Earnings of employed earners: pensioners 
41. Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners 
42. Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners 
43. Earnings of self-employers earners: pensioners 
44. Notional income: pensioners 
45. Income paid to third parties: pensioners 
 

CHAPTER 5 
Income: persons who are not pensioners 

 
46. Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
47. Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
48. Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 
49. Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 

Page 178



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

50. Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
51. Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
52. Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
53. Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 
54. Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners 
55. Notional income: persons who are not pensioners 
 

CHAPTER 6 
Income: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 

 
56. Calculation of income on a weekly basis 
57. Treatment of child care charges 
58. Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 
59. Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. 
60. Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 
61. Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 

 
CHAPTER 7 

Capital 
 
62. Calculation of capital 
63. Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners 
64. Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 
65. Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 
66. Notional capital 
67. Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners 
67A. Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners 
68. Capital jointly held 
69. Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners 
70. Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners 

 
PART 11 
Students 

 
CHAPTER 1 
General 

71. Interpretation 
72. Treatment of students 
73. Students who are excluded from entitlement to a council tax reduction under this scheme 

 
CHAPTER 2 
Income 

74. Calculation of grant income 
75. Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 
76. Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed 
77. Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8 
78. Other amounts to be disregarded 
79. Treatment of student loans 
80. Treatment of payments from access funds 
81. Disregard of contribution 
82. Further disregard of student’s income 
83. Income treated as capital 
84. Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 
 

PART 12 
Extended reductions 

 
85. Extended reductions: pensioners 
86. Extended payments (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 
87. Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 

Page 179



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

88. Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 
89. Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners 
90. Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 
council tax benefit under the general conditions of entitlement:pensioners 
91. Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners 
92. Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
93. Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
94. Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners 
95. Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners 
96. Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners 
97. Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to reduction under the general 
conditions of entitlement: persons who are not pensioners 
98. Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners 
99. Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners 
100. Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners 
101. Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) — movers: persons who are not 
pensioners 
102. Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 
council tax benefit under the general conditions of entitlement: persons who are not pensioners 
103. Extended reductions: movers into the authority’s area 
 

PART 13 
Period of entitlement and change of circumstances 

 
104. Date on which entitlement begins 
105. Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 
106. Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment 
 

PART 14 
Applications 

 
107. Making an application 
108. Date on which an application is made 
109. Back-dating of applications: pensioners 
110. Back-dating of applications: persons who are not pensioners 
111. Evidence and information 
112. Amendment and withdrawal of application 
113. Duty to notify changes of circumstances 
 

PART 15 
Decisions by authority 

 
114. Decision by authority 
115. Notification of decision 
 

PART 16 
Award or payment of reduction 

 
116. Time and manner of granting reduction under this scheme 
117.. Person to whom reduction is to be paid 
118. Shortfall in reduction 
119. Payment on the death of the person entitled 
 

PART 17 
Prescribed requirements, adjustments of figures by statute and repeal and re-enactment 

 
120. Incorporation of prescribed requirements 
121. Adjustments to figures set out in this scheme 
122.  Repeal and re-enactment 

Page 180



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

 
Schedules 

 
Schedule 1 – Procedural matters 
Schedule 2 – Applicable amounts: pensioners 
Schedule 3 – Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners 
Schedule 4 – Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction 
Schedule 5 – Sums disregarded from applicant’s income: pensioners 
Schedule 6 – Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: pensioners 
Schedule 7 – Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners 
Schedule 8 – Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not 
pensioners  
Schedule 9 – Capital disregards: pensioners 
Schedule 10 – Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

 
 
 
 

PART 1 
 

Introduction 
 
Citation 
 
1.-This scheme may be cited as the OLDHAM MBC Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15  and 
comes into force on 1

st
 April 2014.  

. 
PART 2 

Interpretation 
 
2.—(1) In this scheme— 
 
“the 1992 Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
 
“Abbeyfield Home” means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society including all bodies 
corporate or unincorporated which are affiliated to that society; 
 
“adoption leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional adoption leave by 
virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
 
“alternative maximum council tax reduction” means the amount determined in accordance with 
paragraph 30 and Schedule 4; 
 
“applicable amount” means— 
(a) in relation to a pensioner, the amount calculated in accordance with paragraph 24 and Schedule 2, 
and 
(b) in relation to a person who is not a pensioner, the amount calculated in accordance with— 
(i) paragraph 25 and Schedule 3; or 
(ii) paragraph 27, 
as the case may be; 
 
“applicant” means a person applying for a reduction under this scheme; 
 
“application” means an application for a reduction under this scheme; 
 
“appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for Work and Pensions dealing with state 
pension credit or an office which is normally open to the public for the receipt of claims for income 
support, a jobseeker’s allowance or an employment and support allowance; 
 
“assessment period” means the period determined— 
(a) in relation to pensioners— 
(i) in relation to the earnings of a self-employed earner, in accordance with paragraph 42 of this 
scheme for the purpose of calculating the weekly earnings of the applicant; 
or 
(ii) in relation to any other income, in accordance with paragraph 39 of this scheme for the purpose of 
calculating the weekly income of the applicant; 
(b) in relation to persons who are not pensioners, such period as is set out in paragraphs 46 to 48 of 
this scheme over which income falls to be calculated; 
 
“attendance allowance” means— 
(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the SSCBA(3); 
(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of that Act; 
(c) a payment under regulations made in exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 7(2)(b) of Part 
2 of Schedule 8 to that Act; 

Page 182



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(d) an increase of an allowance which is payable in respect of constant attendance under paragraph 4 
of Part 1 of Schedule 8 to that Act; 
(e) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 
or any analogous payment; or  
(f) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war disablement pension; 
 
“the authority” means   Oldham MBC in whose area this scheme has effect bvirtue of paragraph 4 of 
Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act  
 
“basic rate” has the meaning given by the Income Tax Act 2007; 
 
“the benefit Acts” means the SSCBA, the Jobseekers Act 1995, the State Pension Credit Act 2002  
and the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
 
“board and lodging accommodation” means accommodation provided to a person or, if he is a 
member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, for a charge which is inclusive of the 
provision of that accommodation and at least some cooked or prepared meals which both are cooked 
or prepared (by a person other than the person to whom the accommodation is provided or a member 
of his family) and are consumed in that accommodation or associated premises; 
 
“care home” has the meaning given by section 3 of the Care Standards Act 2000 and in Scotland 
means a care home service within the meaning given by section 2(3) of the Regulation of Care 
(Scotland) Act 2001; 
 
“the Caxton Foundation” means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th March 2011 out 
of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of certain persons suffering from hepatitis C 
and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with its provisions; 
 
“child” means a person under the age of 16; 
 
“child benefit” has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA; 
 
“child care costs element” has the meaning given by regulation 27 of the Universal Credit Regulations 
2012;  
 
“child tax credit” means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
 
“close relative” means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, step-
parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding persons is one member of a 
couple, the other member of that couple; 
 
“concessionary payment” means a payment made under arrangements made by the Secretary of 
State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the National Insurance Fund or to a 
Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of benefit or tax credits under the benefit Acts or 
the Tax Credits Act 2002 are charged; 
 
“contributory employment and support allowance” means a contributory allowance under Part 1 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
 
“council tax benefit” means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
 
“couple” has the meaning given by paragraph 4 of this scheme; 
 
“disability living allowance” means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA; 
 
“dwelling” has the meaning given by section 3 of the 1992 Act; 
 
“earnings” has the meaning given by paragraph 40, 42, 43 or 50 of this scheme as the case may be; 
 

Page 183



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

“the Eileen Trust” means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 1993 out of 
funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance 
with its provisions; 
 
“electronic communication” has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the Electronic 
Communications Act 2000; 
 
“employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the SSCBA and also 
includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable under any enactment having effect 
in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay or statutory maternity pay; 
 
“employment zone” means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of section 60 of 
the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and an “employment zone programme” means a 
programme established for such an area or areas designed to assist claimants for a jobseeker’s 
allowance to obtain sustainable employment;   
 
“enactment” includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an Act of the 
Scottish Parliament; 
 
“extended reduction” means a reduction under this scheme for which a person is eligible under Part 
12 (extended reductions); 
 
“extended reduction period” means the period for which a person is in receipt of an extended 
reduction in accordance with paragraph 87, 94 or 99; 
 
“extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)” means a reduction under this scheme for which 
a person is eligible in accordance with paragraph 87or 98; 
 
“family” has the meaning given by paragraph 6 of this scheme;  
 
“the Fund” means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State for the benefit 
of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a scheme established by him on 
24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 10th April 1992; 
 
“guarantee credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 2 of the State Pension Credit 
Act 2002; 
 
“a guaranteed income payment” means a payment made under article 14(1)(b) or article 21(1)(a) of 
the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 2005; 
 
“housing benefit” means housing benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
 
“housing costs element” has the meaning given by regulation 21 of the Universal Credit Regulations 
2012;  
 
“an income-based jobseeker’s allowance” and “a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance” have the 
meanings given by section 1(4) of the Jobseekers Act 1995; 
 
“income-related employment and support allowance” means an income-related allowance under Part 
1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
 
“independent hospital”—  
(a) in England means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health Service Act 2006  
that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section; 
(b) in Wales has the meaning given by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and 
(c) in Scotland means an independent healthcare service as defined by section 2(5)(a) and (b) of the 
Regulation of Care (Scotland) Act 2001; 
 

Page 184



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

“the Independent Living Fund (2006)” means the Trust of that name established by a deed dated 10th 
April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and Pensions of the one part and 
Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall and Marie Theresa Martin of the other part; 
 
“invalid carriage or other vehicle” means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by electric power 
supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant; 
 
“the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund” means the company limited by guarantee number 
5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th July 2005 for the purpose of 
(amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or financial need of victims (including families or 
dependants of victims) of the terrorist attacks carried out in London on 7th July 2005; 
 
“lone parent” means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a member of the 
same household as a child or young person; 
 
“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust” means the trust of that name, established on 29

th
 January 

1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain persons suffering 
from haemophilia; 
 
“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust” means the trust of that name, established on 3rd 
May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit of certain persons 
suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries; 
 
“the Macfarlane Trust” means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds provided by the 
Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty or distress among those 
suffering from haemophilia; 
 
“main phase employment and support allowance” means an employment and support allowance 
where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the applicant includes a component under 
section 2(1)(b) or 4(2)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 except in Part 1 of Schedule 3; 
 
“maternity leave” means a period during which a woman is absent from work because she is pregnant 
or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to return to work either under the 
terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of the Employment Rights Act 1996; 
 
“member of a couple” means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
 
“MFET Limited” means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that name, 
established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with arrangements  made 
with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a result of treatment by the NHS 
with blood or blood products; 
 
“mobility supplement” means— 
(a) in relation to pensioners, a supplement to which paragraph 5(1)(a)(vi) of Schedule 5 to this 
scheme refers; 
(b) in relation to persons who are not pensioners, a supplement to which paragraph 13 of Schedule 8 
refers; 
 
“mover” means an applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is resident, and in 
respect of which the applicant is liable to pay council tax, from a dwelling in the area of the authority to 
a dwelling in the area of a second authority; 
 
“net earnings” means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with paragraph 41 or 51 of this 
scheme, as the case may be; 
 
“net profit” means such profit as is calculated in accordance with paragraph 60 of this scheme; 
 
“new dwelling” means, for the purposes of the definition of “second authority” and paragraphs 89, 96 
and 101, the dwelling to which an applicant has moved, or is about to move, in which the applicant will 
be resident; 

Page 185



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

 
“non-dependant” has the meaning given by paragraph 9 of this scheme; 
 
“occupational pension” means any pension or other periodical payment under an occupational 
pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a fund established for relieving 
hardship in particular cases; 
 
“occupational pension scheme” has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 
1993; 
 
“partner”, in relation to a person, means— 
(a) where that person is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; or 
(b) where that person is polygamously married to two or more members of his household, any such 
member to whom he is married; 
 
“paternity leave” means a period of absence from work on leave by virtue of section 80A or 80B of the 
Employment Rights Act 1996; 
 
“pension fund holder” means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an occupational pension 
scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the case may be, of the scheme 
concerned; 
 
“pensionable age” has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 to the Pensions 
Act 1995; 
 
“pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(a) of this scheme; 
 
“person on income support” means a person in receipt of income support; 
 
“person who is not a pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(2)(b) of this scheme; 
 
“persons treated as not being in Great Britain” has the meaning given by paragraph 21 of this 
scheme; 
 
“personal independence payment” has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012; 
 
“personal pension scheme” means— 
(a) a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 1993; 
(b) an annuity contract or trust scheme approved under section 620 or 621 of the Income and 
Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the meaning of section 622(3) of that Act 
which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(f) of 
Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 
(c) a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income and Corporation 
Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered pension scheme by virtue of 
paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 
 
“policy of life insurance” means any instrument by which the payment of money is assured on death 
(except death by accident only) or the happening of any contingency dependent on human life, or any 
instrument evidencing a contract which is subject to payment of premiums for a term dependent on 
human life; 
 
“polygamous marriage” means any marriage to which paragraph 5 of this scheme applies; 
 
“public authority” includes any person certain of whose functions are functions of a public nature; 
 
“qualifying age for state pension credit” means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and (6) of the State 
Pension Credit Act 2002-  
(a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 

Page 186



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman born on the same 
day as the man; 
 
 “qualifying contributory benefit” means— 
 
(a) severe disablement allowance; 
(b) incapacity benefit; 
(c) contributory employment and support allowance; 
 
“qualifying income-related benefit” means— 
(a) income support; 
(b) income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(c) income-related employment and support allowance; 
 
“qualifying person” means a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the Fund, the 
Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief 
Charitable Fund; 
 
“reduction week” means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a Monday and ending 
with a Sunday; 
 
“relative” means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece; 
 
“relevant week”, in relation to any particular day, means the week within which the day in question 
falls; 
 
“remunerative work” has the meaning given by paragraph 10 of this scheme; 
 
“rent” means “eligible rent” to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have acquired 
the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 refer, less any deductions in respect of 
non-dependants which fall to be made under paragraph 29 (non dependent deductions) of this 
scheme; 
 
“resident” has the meaning given by Part 1 of the 1992 Act; 
 
“savings credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 3 of the State Pension Credit Act 
2002; 
 
“second authority” means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments for the new 
dwelling; 
 
“self-employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the SSCBA; 
 
“self-employment route” means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s employment whilst 
participating in— 
(a) an employment zone programme; 
(b) a programme provided by or under arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the Employment 
and Training Act 1973 (functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of the Enterprise and New 
Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 (functions in relation to training for employment, etc.); or 
(c) the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme; 
 
“service user group” means a group of individuals that is consulted by or on behalf of— 
(a) a Health Board, Special Health Board or the Agency in consequence of a function under section 
2B of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978, 
(b) a landlord authority in consequence of a function under section 105 of the Housing Act 1985, 
(c) a public authority in Northern Ireland in consequence of a function under section 49A of the 
Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
(d) a public authority in consequence of a function under section 49 of the Equality Act 2010; 1996 
c.18. Sections 75A and 75B were inserted by the Employment Act 2002 (c.22) and amended by the 
Work and Families Act 2006 (c.18), Schedule 1, paragraphs 33 and 34.  

Page 187



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(e) a best value authority in consequence of a function under section 3 of the Local Government Act 
1999,(f) a local authority landlord or registered social landlord in consequence of a function under 
section 53 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001,  
(g) a relevant English body or a relevant Welsh body in consequence of a function under section 242 
of the National Health Service Act 2006,  
(h) a Local Health Board in consequence of a function under section 183 of the National Health 
Service (Wales) Act 2006, 
(i) the Commission or the Office of the Health Professions Adjudicator in consequence of a function 
under sections 4, 5, or 108 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008, 
(j) the regulator or a private registered provider of social housing in consequence of a function under 
sections 98, 193 or 196 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, or 
(k) a public or local authority in Great Britain in consequence of a function conferred under any other 
enactment, for the purposes of monitoring and advising on a policy of that body or authority which 
affects or may affect persons in the group, or of monitoring or advising on services provided by that 
body or authority which are used (or may potentially be used) by those persons; 
 
“single applicant” means an applicant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent; 
 
“the Skipton Fund” means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton Fund Limited, 
incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons suffering from hepatitis C and 
other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the scheme’s provisions; 
 
“sports award” means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 23(2) of the 
National Lottery etc. Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for distribution under that section; 
 
“the SSCBA” means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 
 
“state pension credit” means state pension credit under the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
 
“tax year” means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th April in the next; 
 
“training allowance” means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or otherwise) 
payable— 
(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, Skills 
Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise, the Chief Executive 
of Skills Funding or the Welsh Ministers;  
(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and 
(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of training or instruction 
provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, that department or approved by that 
department in relation to him or so provided or approved by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise or the Welsh 
Ministers,  but it does not include an allowance paid by any Government department to or in respect 
of a person by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-time education, other than under 
arrangements made under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973, or is training as a 
teacher; 
 
“the Trusts” means the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the 
Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust; 
 
“universal credit” has the meaning given by section 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
 
“voluntary organisation” means a body, other than a public or local authority, the activities of which 
are carried on otherwise than for profit; 
 
“war disablement pension” means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in respect of 
disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003; 
 
“war pension” means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension or a war widower’s pension; 
 

Page 188



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

“war widow’s pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a widow under an 
instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect 
of the death or disablement of any person; 
 
“war widower’s pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a widower or to a 
surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income Tax (Earnings 
and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or disablement of any person; 
“water charges” means— 
(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 1 of Part 5 of 
the Water Industry Act 1991, 
(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish Water under a 
charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry (Scotland) Act 2002, in so far as such 
charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home; 
 
“working tax credit” means a working tax credit under section 10 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
 
“young person” means a person who falls within the definition of qualifying young person in section 
142 of the SSCBA. 
 
(2) In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction of a penny 
must be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and must otherwise be treated as a whole penny. 
 
(3) For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance on any 
day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him and on any day— 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with regulation 27A of the Jobseeker’s 
Allowance Regulations 1996 or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under section 17A of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 (circumstances in which a jobseeker’s allowance is not payable); or 
(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that Act and which falls 
immediately before a day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable to 
him or would be payable to him but for regulation 27A of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 
or section 19 or 20A or regulations made under section 17A of that Act; 
(c) in respect of which he is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
1995 and no joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance is payable in respect of that couple as a consequence 
of either member of that couple being subject to sanctions for the purposes of section 20A of that Act; 
(d) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance 
would be payable but for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 9 of the Social Security 
Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 
 
(4) For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment and support 
allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment and support allowance is 
payable to him and on any day— 
(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-related employment 
and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance with section 18 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2007 (disqualification); or 
(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act and which falls 
immediately before a day in respect of which an income-related employment and support allowance is 
payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 of that Act. 
 
(5) For the purposes of this scheme, two persons must be taken to be estranged only if their 
estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them. 
 
(6) In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit includes a person who 
would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 of the State Pension Credit 
Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit). 
 
Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 
 
3.—(1) This scheme applies to— 
(a) pensioners who fall within any of classes A to C; and 

Page 189



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) persons who are not pensioners who fall within any of classes D to E.  
(2) In this scheme— 
(a) a person is a “pensioner” if— 
(i) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and 
(ii), he is,and, if he has a partner, his partner is not— 
(aa) a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an income-related 
employment and support allowance, or 
(bb) a person with an award of universal credit; and 
(b) a person is a “person who is not a pensioner” if— 
(i) he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
(ii) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if he has a partner, his 
partner, is— 
(aa) a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an income-related 
employment and support allowance, or 
(bb) a person with an award of universal credit. 
 
Meaning of “couple” 
4.—(1) In this scheme “couple” means— 
(a) a man and woman who are married to each other and are members of the same household; 
(b) a man and woman who are not married to each other but are living together as husband and wife; 
(c) two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members of the same 
household; or 
(d) two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living together as if 
they were civil partners. 
(2) Two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other are to be regarded as living 
together as if they were civil partners if, but only if, they would be regarded as living together as 
husband and wife were they instead two people of the opposite sex. 
 
Polygamous marriages 
5.—(1) This paragraph applies to any case where— 
(a) a person is a husband or wife by virtue of a marriage entered into under a law which permits 
polygamy; and 
(b) either party to the marriage has for the time being any spouse additional to the other party. 
(2) For the purposes of paragraph 4 neither party to the marriage is to be taken to be a member of a 
couple. 
 
Meaning of “family” 
6.—(1) In this scheme “family” means— 
(a) a couple; 
(b) a couple and a member of the same household for whom one of them is or both are responsible 
and who is a child or a young person; or 
(c) a person who is not a member of a couple and a member of the same household for whom that 
person is responsible and who is a child or a young person. 
(2) The references to a child or young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) include a child or young 
person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA applies for the purposes of entitlement to child 
benefit, but only for the period prescribed under section 145A(1). 
(3) The references to a young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) do not include a young person 
who is— 
(a) on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment 
and support allowance, or has an award of universal credit; or 
(b) a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 (exclusion from benefits) 
applies. 
 
Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another 
7.—(1) A person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person who is normally living with 
him, including a child or young person to whom paragraph 6(2) applies. 
(2) Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different households, or where 
there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child or young person must be treated for 
the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) as normally living with— 
(a) the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of that child or young person, or 

Page 190



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) if there is no such person— 
(i) where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, the person who made that 
claim, or 
(ii) in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him. 
(3) For the purposes of this scheme a child or young person is the responsibility of only one person in 
any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as responsible for the child or young 
person under this paragraph is to be treated as not so responsible. 
 
Households 
8.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), an applicant and any partner and, where the applicant 
or his partner is treated (by virtue of paragraph 7) as responsible for a child or young person, that 
child or young person and any child of that child or young person, are to be treated as members of the 
same household notwithstanding that any of them is temporarily absent from that household. 
(2) A child or young person is not be treated as a member of the applicant’s household where he is— 
(a) placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 23(2)(a) of the Children 
Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of that Act, or in Scotland boarded out 
with the applicant or his partner under a relevant enactment; or 
(b) placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior to adoption; or 
(c) placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the Adoption and Children 
Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009.  
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a child or young person who is 
not living with the applicant and who—  
(a) is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a relevant 
enactment; or 
(b) has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the applicant prior to 
adoption; or 
(c) has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or the 
Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 
(4) The authority must treat a child or young person to whom sub-paragraph (3)(a) applies as being a 
member of the applicant’s household in any reduction week where— 
(a) that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that reduction week; and 
(b) the authority considers that it is reasonable to do so taking into account the nature and frequency 
of that child’s or young person’s visits. 
(5) In this paragraph “relevant enactment” means— 
(a) the Army Act 1955; 
(b) the Air Force Act 1955; 
(c) the Naval Discipline Act 1957; 
(d) the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958; 
(e) the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
(f) the Family Law Reform Act 1969; 
(g) the Children and Young Persons Act 1969; 
(h) the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973; 
(i) the Children Act 1975; 
(j) the Domestic Proceedings and Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978; 
(k) the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007; 
(l) the Family Law Act 1986; 
(m) the Children Act 1989; 
(n) the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 and;   
(o) the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 
 
Non-dependants 
9.—(1) In this scheme, “non-dependant” means any person, except someone to whom subparagraph 
(2) applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom an applicant normally resides. 
(2) This paragraph applies to— 
(a) any member of the applicant’s family; 
(b) if the applicant is polygamously married, any partner of his and any child or young person who is a 
member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible; 
(c) a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a member of his household 
by virtue of paragraph 8 (households); 

Page 191



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(d) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who, with the applicant, is jointly and severally liable to 
pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under section 6 or 7 of the 1992 Act (persons 
liable to pay council tax); 
(e) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who is liable to make payments on a commercial basis to 
the applicant or the applicant’s partner in respect of the occupation of the dwelling; 
(f) a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner of his and who is 
engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation which makes a charge to the applicant or his 
partner for the services provided by that person. 
(3) Excepting persons to whom sub-paragraph (2)(a) to (c) and (f) refer, a person to whom any of the 
following paragraphs applies is a non-dependant— 
(a) a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in respect of the 
dwelling and either— 
(i) that person is a close relative of his or his partner; or 
(ii) the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a commercial basis; 
(b) a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the authority to 
have been created to take advantage of a council tax reduction scheme except someone who was, 
for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of the agreement giving rise to the liability to 
make such payments, otherwise liable to make payments of rent in respect of the same dwelling; 
(c) a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for council tax in respect of a 
dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks prior to his becoming so liable, a 
non-dependant of one or more of the other residents in that dwelling who are so liable for the tax, 
unless the change giving rise to the new liability was not made to take advantage of a council tax 
reduction scheme. 
 
Remunerative work 
10.—(1) Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, a person must be treated for the 
purposes of this scheme as engaged in remunerative work if he is engaged, or, where his hours of 
work fluctuate, he is engaged on average, for not less than 16 hours a week, in work for which 
payment is made or which is done in expectation of payment. 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), in determining the number of hours for which a person is engaged in 
work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard must be had to the average of hours worked over— 
(a) if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle (including, where the 
cycle involves periods in which the person does no work, those periods but disregarding any other 
absences); 
(b) in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to the date of claim, or such other 
length of time as may, in the particular case, enable the person’s weekly average hours of work to be 
determined more accurately. 
(3) Where, for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a), a person’s recognisable cycle of work at a 
school, other educational establishment or other place of employment is one year and includes 
periods of school holidays or similar vacations during which he does not work, those periods and any 
other periods not forming part of such holidays or vacations during which he is not required to work 
must be disregarded in establishing the average hours for which he is engaged in work. 
(4) Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person’s work, regard must be 
had to the number of hours or, where those hours will fluctuate, the average of the hours, which he is 
expected to work in a week. 
(5) A person must be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period for which he is 
absent from work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the absence is either without good cause or by 
reason of a recognised, customary or other holiday. 
(6) A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any reduction week is to be treated as not 
being in remunerative work in that week. 
(7) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which the person is 
on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave, or is absent from work because he is ill. 
(8) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on which he is 
engaged in an activity in respect of which— 
(a) a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and 
(b) no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him. 
 

 
 

Page 192



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

PART 3 
Procedural matters 

 
Procedure for reduction applications and appeals against reduction decisions 
11. Schedule 1 contains provisions about the procedure— 
(a) by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme; 
(b) by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority; 
(c) by which a person can apply to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 
Act. 
 

PART 4 
Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 

 
Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 
12.—(1) The classes of person described in paragraphs 13 to 17 are entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme 
(2) In  those  paragraphs  references to the applicant’s income or capital include, in a case where that 
income or capital cannot accurately be determined, references to the applicant’s estimated income or 
capital. 
 
Class A: pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount 
13. On any day class A consists of any person who is a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) whose income (if any) for the relevant week does not exceed his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 24 and Schedule 2, and 
(f) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme. 
 
Class B: pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount 
14. On any day class B consists of any person who is a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 24 and Schedule 2; 
(f) in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 
(i) amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant’s case; and 
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant week and his 
applicable amount, and 
(g) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme. 
 
Class C: alternative maximum council tax reduction – pensioners 
15.—(1) On any day class C consists of any person who is a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme; and 
(f) in relation to whom the condition in sub-paragraph (2) is met. 
(2) The condition referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(f) is that no other resident of the dwelling is liable to 
pay rent to the applicant in respect of the dwelling and there is an alternative maximum council tax 
reduction in respect of the day in the case of that person which is derived from the income, or 
aggregate income, of one or more residents to whom this sub-paragraph applies. 
(3) Sub-paragraph (1) applies to any other resident of the dwelling who— 
(a) is not a person who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the 
purposes of discount; 

Page 193



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) is not a person who is liable for council tax solely in consequence of the provisions of section 9 of 
the 1992 Act (spouse’s or civil partner’s joint and several liability for tax); 
(c) is not a person who is residing with a couple or with the members of a polygamous marriage 
where the applicant is a member of that couple or of that marriage and— 
(i) in the case of a couple, neither member of that couple is a person who, in accordance with 
Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, falls to be disregarded for the purposes of discount; 
or 
(ii) in the case of a polygamous marriage, two or more members of that marriage are not persons 
who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for the purposes of 
discount; 
(d) is not a person who jointly with the applicant falls within the same paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to 
(e) of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax) as applies in the case of the applicant; or 
(e) is not a person who is residing with two or more persons both or all of whom fall within the same 
paragraph of section 6(2)(a) to (e) of the 1992 Act where two or more of those persons are not 
persons who, in accordance with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, fall to be disregarded for the purposes 
of discount. 
 
Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is less than the applicable amount 
16. On any day class D consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) whose income (if any) for the relevant week is less than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 25 and Schedule 3, and 
(f) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme. 
 
Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount 
17. On any day class E consists of any person who is not a pensioner— 
(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident; 
(b) who, subject to paragraph 19, is not absent from the dwelling throughout the day; 
(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(e) whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 25 and Schedule 3; 
(f) in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where— 
(i) amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in his case; and 
(ii) amount B is 2 6/7 per cent of the difference between his income for the relevant week and his 
applicable amount, and 
(g) who has made an application for a reduction under this scheme. 
 
18. Class F in the default scheme shall not apply in the area of the authority  
 
Periods of absence from a dwelling 
19.—(1) A person is not absent from a dwelling in relation to any day which falls within a period of 
temporary absence from that dwelling. 
(2) In sub-paragraph (1), a “period of temporary absence” means— 
(a) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day on which a person 
resides in residential accommodation where and for so long as— 
(i) the person resides in that accommodation; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 
(iii) that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from the dwelling of more 
than 52 weeks, where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it 
suits his needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit his needs; 
(b) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence from 
the dwelling, where and for so long as— 
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and 
(iii) that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks; and 

Page 194



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(c) a period of absence not exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of that absence, 
where and for so long as— 
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling; 
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; 
(iii) the person is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies; and 
(iv) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional circumstances, is unlikely 
substantially to exceed that period. 
(3) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who— 
(a) is detained in custody on remand pending trial or required, as a condition of bail, to reside— 
(i) in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in sub-paragraph (1), or 
(ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007, 
or is detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction; 
(b) is resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient; 
(c) is undergoing, or whose partner or dependent child is undergoing, in the United Kingdom or 
elsewhere, medical treatment, or medically approved convalescence, in accommodation other than 
residential accommodation; 
(d) is following, in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, a training course; 
(e) is undertaking medically approved care of a person residing in the United Kingdom or elsewhere; 
(f) is undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent from the dwelling 
normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of receiving medically approved care or 
medical treatment; 
(g) is, in the United Kingdom or elsewhere, receiving medically approved care provided in 
accommodation other than residential accommodation; 
(h) is a student; 
(i) is receiving care provided in residential accommodation and is not a person to whom subparagraph 
(2)(a) applies; or 
(j) has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a person who was 
formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned. 
(4) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
(a) detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed by a court 
(other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the Mental Health Act 
1983(83), or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care and Treatment) (Scotland) 
Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995; and  
(b) on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the provisions of the 
Prison Act 1952 or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989. 
(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on temporary 
release— 
(a) if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary absence under sub-
paragraph (2)(b) or (c), he must be treated, for the purposes of sub-paragraph 
(1), as if he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to the dwelling; 
(b) for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a), he must be treated as if he remains in detention; 
(c) if he does not fall within paragraph (a), he is not to be considered to be a person who is liable to 
pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident. 
(6) In this paragraph— 
“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner; 
“patient” means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in-patient in any 
hospital or similar institution; 
“residential accommodation” means accommodation which is provided in— 
(a) a care home; 
(b) an independent hospital; 
(c) an Abbeyfield Home; or 
(d) an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter or constituted by 
Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority;  
“training course” means a course of training or instruction provided wholly or partly by or on behalf of 
or in pursuance of arrangements made with, or approved by or on behalf of, Skills Development 
Scotland, Scottish Enterprise, Highlands and Islands Enterprise, a government department or the 
Secretary of State.  
 
 
 

Page 195



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

PART 5 
Classes of person excluded from this scheme 

 
Classes of person excluded from this scheme 
20. The classes of person described in paragraphs 21 to 23 are not entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme. 
 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons treated as not being in Great Britain 
 
21.—(1) The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person treated as not being 
in Great Britain. 
(2) For the purposes of determining whether a person meets the basic condition to be in Great Britain, 
except where a person falls within sub-paragraph (5), a person is to be treated as not being in Great 
Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, the Isle of 
Man or the Republic of Ireland. 
(3) A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, 
the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a right to reside in one of those 
places. 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right which exists by 
virtue of, or in accordance with— 
(a) regulation 13 of the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006; or regulation 14 of 
the EEA Regulations, but only in a case where the right exists under that regulation because the 
person is—  

(i) a jobseeker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in regulation 6(1) of those 
Regulations, or  

(ii) a family member (within the meaning of regulation 7 of those Regulations) of such a jobseeker;  
(ab) Article 45 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union (in a case where the person is 
seeking work in the United Kingdom, the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland); 
(b) Article 6 of Council Directive No.2004/38/EC. 
(5) A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is— 
(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the Immigration (European Economic Area) 
Regulations 2006 as a worker or a self-employed person; 
(b) a family member of a person referred to in paragraph (a) within the meaning of regulation 7 of the 
Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006; 
(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of regulation 
15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006; 
(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in Article 1 of the 
Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th July 1951, as extended by 
Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees done at New York on 31st January 1967; 

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave outside the rules 
made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971where that leave is—  

(i) discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom,  

(ii) leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession,  or  
(iii) leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the Displaced Persons 
(Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005 
(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules;  
(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9) of 
the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United Kingdom as a result of his deportation, 
expulsion or other removal by compulsion of law from another country to the United Kingdom; 

(h) in receipt of income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or on an income-related 
employment and support allowance; or  
(i) a person who is treated as a worker for the purpose of the definition of “qualified person” in 
regulation 6(1) of the EEA Regulations pursuant to regulation 5 of the Accession of Croatia 
(Immigration and Worker Authorisation) Regulations 2013(d) (right of residence of a Croatian who is 
an “accession State national subject to worker authorisation”). 
 
 
 

Page 196



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

 
 
 
 
Persons treated as being in Great Britain 
21A.—(1) A person who falls within sub-paragraph (2) or (3) is to be treated as being in Great Britain, 
unless the person is to be treated as not in Great Britain under paragraph 21. 
(2) A person falls within this sub-paragraph if the person is not in Great Britain in the capacity of 
being— 
(a) an aircraft worker; 
(b) a continental shelf worker who is in a designated area or a prescribed area; 
(c) a Crown servant; 
(d) a mariner; or 
(e) a member of Her Majesty’s forces. 
(3) A person falls within this sub-paragraph if— 
(a) the person is a member of a couple, and the other member falls within sub-paragraph (2); and 
(b) is not in Great Britain by reason only of the fact that the person is living with the other member of 
the couple. 
(4) In this paragraph— 
“aircraft worker” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a pilot, 
commander, navigator or other member of the crew of any aircraft, or in any other capacity on board 
any aircraft where— 
(a) the employment in that other capacity is for the purposes of the aircraft or its crew or of any 
passengers or cargo or mail carried on that aircraft; and 
(b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance (in whole or in 
part) while the aircraft is in flight; 
“continental shelf worker” means a person who is employed, whether under a contract of service or 
not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any activity mentioned in section 
11(2) of Petroleum Act 1998; 
“Crown servant” means a person employed by or under the Crown in right of the United Kingdom; 
“designated area” means any areas which may from time to time be designated by Order in Council 
under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the United Kingdom with 
respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may be exercised; 
“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a master or member 
of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board any ship or vessel where— 
(a) the employment in that other capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its crew  or any 
passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and 
(b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance (in whole or in 
part) while the ship or vessel is on her voyage; 
“prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than the United 
Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed and subsoil and 
exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial seas of Norway or such 
member State, or any other area which is from time to time specified under section 10(8) of the 
Petroleum Act 1998. 
 
Temporary absence from Great Britain 
21B.—(1) For the purposes of determining whether a person meets the basic condition to be in Great 
Britain, a person’s temporary absence from Great Britain is disregarded— 
(a) during the first month of the temporary absence if sub-paragraph (2) applies; or 
(b) during the first 6 months of the temporary absence if sub-paragraph (3) applies. 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
(a) the person was entitled to universal credit immediately before the beginning of the period of 
temporary absence; and 
(b) the person has not been absent for more than 2 occasions in the previous 52 weeks, starting from 
the first day of the current temporary absence period. 
(3) This sub-paragraph applies where— 
(a) the person was entitled to universal credit immediately before the beginning of the period of 
temporary absence; and 
(b) the absence is solely in connection with— 

Page 197



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(i) the treatment of the person for an illness or physical or mental disability by, or under the 
supervision of, a person appropriately qualified to carry out that treatment; 
(ii) the person accompanying a person specified in sub-paragraph (5) for the treatment of that 
specified person for an illness or physical or mental disability by, or under the supervision of, a 
professional appropriately qualified to carry out that treatment; 
(iii) the person undergoing medically approved convalescence or care as a result of treatment for an 
illness or physical or mental disability, where the person had that illness or disability before leaving 
Great Britain. 
(4) The period in sub-paragraph (1)(a) must be extended by up to a further one month if— 
(a) the temporary absence is in connection with the death of— 
(i) a person specified in sub-paragraph (5); 
(ii) a close relative of the person, or a person specified in sub-paragraph (5); and 
(b) the Secretary of State considers that it would be unreasonable to expect the person to return to 
Great Britain within the first month. 
(5) A person is specified in this sub-paragraph where the person is— 
(a) where the person is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; or 
(b) a child or qualifying young person for whom the person, or where the person is a member of a 
couple, the other member, is responsible. 
(6) In this paragraph— 
“appropriately qualified” means qualified to provide medical treatment, physiotherapy or a form of 
treatment which is similar to, or related to, either of those forms of treatment;  
“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner. 
 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: persons subject to immigration control 
22.—(1) Persons subject to immigration control are not entitled to a reduction under this scheme. 
(2) “Person subject to immigration control” has the meaning given in section 115(9) of the Immigration 
and Asylum Act 1999. 
 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit 
22A. The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any person whose capital exceeds 
£16,000. 
 
Class of person excluded from this scheme: students 
23.—(1) The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any student to whom paragraph 
73(1) applies (except to the extent that a student may be entitled to an alternative maximum council 
tax reduction by virtue of paragraph 18). 
(2) In this paragraph “student” has the meaning given by paragraph 71(1) of this scheme. 
 

PART 6 
Applicable amounts for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction 

under this scheme and amount of reduction 
 
Applicable amounts: pensioners (including pensioners in polygamous marriages) 
24.—(1) The applicable amount for a pensioner for a week is the aggregate of such of the following 
amounts as apply in his case— 
(a) an amount in respect of his personal allowance, determined in accordance with paragraph 1 of 
Schedule 2; 
(b) an amount in respect of any child or young person who is a member of his family, determined in 
accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule; 
(c) if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an amount 
determined in accordance with paragraph 3 of that Schedule (family premium); 
(d) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in accordance with Parts 
3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums). 
(2) In Schedule 2— 
“additional spouse” means a spouse by the party to the marriage who is additional to the party to the 
marriage; 
“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or 
detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within 
the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) 
Regulations 2005. 

Page 198



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

 
Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners 
25.—(1) Subject to paragraphs 26 and 27, the applicable amount for a week for a person who is not a 
pensioner is the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his case— 
(a) an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an amount in respect of both of 
them, determined in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 3; 
(b) an amount in respect of any child or young person who is a member of his family, determined in 
accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule; 
(c) if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person, an amount 
determined in accordance with Part 2 of that Schedule (family premium); 
(d) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in accordance with Parts 
3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums); 
(e) the amount of either the— 
(i) work-related activity component; or 
(ii) support component, 
which may be applicable to him in accordance with Part 5 of that Schedule (the components); 
(f) the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 7 
and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition). 
(2) In Schedule 3— 
“additional spouse” means a spouse by the party to the marriage who is additional to the party to the 
marriage; 
“converted employment and support allowance” means an employment and support allowance which 
is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a conversion decision within the 
meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance (Existing Awards) Regulations 2008; 
“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or 
detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within 
the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005. 
 
 
Polygamous marriages: persons who are not pensioners 
26. Where an applicant who is not a pensioner is a member of a polygamous marriage, his applicable 
amount for a week is the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his case— 
(a) the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in accordance with paragraph 
1(3) of Schedule 3 as if he and that partner were a couple; 
(b) an amount equal to the difference between the amounts specified in sub-paragraphs (3) and (1)(b) 
of paragraph 1 of that Schedule in respect of each of his other partners; 
(c) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule (applicable amounts) in 
respect of any child or young person for whom he or a partner of his is responsible and who is a 
member of the same household; 
(d) if he or another partner of the polygamous marriage is responsible for a child or young person who 
is a member of the same household, the amount specified in Part 2 of that Schedule (family 
premium); 
(e) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined in accordance with Parts 
3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums); 
(f) the amount of either the— 
(i) work-related activity component; or 
(ii) support component, 
which may be applicable to him in accordance with Part 5 of that Schedule (the components); 
(g) the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 7 
and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition). 
 
 
Applicable amount: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of universal credit 
27.—(1) In determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant— 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the maximum 
amount of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), subject to the 
adjustment described in sub-paragraph (2). 

Page 199



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(2) The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is to multiply the maximum amount by 12 and 
divide the product by 52. 
(3) In this paragraph “maximum amount” means the maximum amount calculated by the Secretary of 
State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 
 

PART 7 
Maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a 

reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction 
 
Maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners and persons who are not 
pensioners 
28.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (5), the maximum council tax  reduction  payable to a  
pensioner in respect of a day is 100 per cent of the amount A/B where—  
(a) A is the amount set by the authority as the council tax for the relevant financial year in respect of 
the dwelling in which he is a resident and for which he is liable, subject to any discount which may be 
appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and  

(b) B is the number of days in that financial year  

less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under paragraph 29 (non-
dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners).  

(2)  Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (5), the maximum council tax   reduction  payable to a person 
who is not a pensioner  in respect of a day is 100 per cent of the amount A/B less C  where—  
(a) A is the amount set by the authority as the council tax for the relevant financial year in respect of a 
Band A dwelling in the area in which they reside, subject to any discount which may be appropriate to 
the dwelling in which they reside under the 1992 Act; and  

(b) B is the number of days in that financial year less any deductions in respect of non-dependants 
which fall to be made under paragraph 29 (non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who 
are not pensioners); and  

(c) C is a 25% reduction in award  

And in any event the  maximum council tax  reduction   shall  be limited to  the  Band A rate of Council 
Tax      

(3) In calculating a person’s maximum council tax   reduction   under this scheme any support  in the 
amount that person is liable to pay in respect of council tax, which is made in consequence of any 
enactment in, or made under, the 1992 Act (other than a support  under this scheme), is to be taken 
into account.  

(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (5), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons, in determining the 
maximum council tax reduction   in his case in accordance with sub-paragraph (1), the amount A is to 
be divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax.  
(5) Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with only 
his partner, sub-paragraph (4) does not apply in his case.  

(6) The reference in sub-paragraph (4) to a person with whom an applicant is jointly and severally 
liable for council tax does not include a student to whom paragraph 73(2) applies.  

(7) In this paragraph “relevant financial year” means, in relation to any particular day, the financial 
year within which the day in question falls.  
 
Non-dependant deductions: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 
29.—(1) Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the non-dependant deductions in 
respect of a day referred to in paragraph 28 are— 
(a) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, £10.95 x 1/7; 
(b) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (a) does not apply, £3.65 
x 1/7. 
(2) In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, where it is 
shown to the appropriate authority that his normal gross weekly income is— 
(a) less than £186.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph is that specified in 
subparagraph 
(1)(b); 
(b) not less than £186.00 but less than £322.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph is 
£7.25; 
(c) not less than £322.00 but less than £401.00, the deduction to be made under this paragraph is 
£9.15. 

Page 200



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(3) Only one deduction is to be made under this paragraph in respect of a couple or, as the case may 
be, members of a polygamous marriage and, where, but for this paragraph, the amount that would fall 
to be deducted in respect of one member of a couple or polygamous marriage is higher than the 
amount (if any) that would fall to be deducted in respect of the other, or any other, member, the higher 
amount is to be deducted. 
(4) In applying the provisions of sub-paragraph (2) in the case of a couple or, as the case may be, a 
polygamous marriage, regard must be had, for the purpose of that sub-paragraph, to the couple’s or, 
as the case may be, all members of the polygamous marriage’s joint weekly gross income. 
(5) Where in respect of a day— 
(a) a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in respect of that 
dwelling and that day; 
(b) other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability for council tax in 
respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of section 9 of the 1992 Act (liability of 
spouses and civil partners); and 
(c) the person to whom paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or more of the liable persons, 
the deduction in respect of that non-dependant must be apportioned equally between those liable 
persons. 
(6) No deduction is to be made in respect of any non-dependants occupying an applicant’s dwelling if 
the applicant or his partner is— 
(a) blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 (additional condition for the 
disability premium); or 
(b) receiving in respect of himself— 
(i) attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for— 
(aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA; or 
(bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 
(ii) the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving that component but 
for— 
(aa) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA; or 
(bb) an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 
(iii) the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be receiving that 
allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients). 
(7) No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant if— 
(a) although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his normal home is  
elsewhere; or 
(b) he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with youth training established under 
section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 
(Scotland) Act 1990; or 
(c) he is a full-time student within the meaning of Part 11 (students); or 
(d) he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a period in excess of 52 
weeks, and for these purposes— 
(i) “patient” has the meaning given in paragraph 19(6) of this scheme, and 
(ii) where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods separated by one or more 
intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he is to be treated as having been a patient continuously for a 
period equal in duration to the total of those distinct periods.; 
(8) No deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant— 
(a) who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 
income-related employment and support allowance; or 
(b) to whom Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for purposes of discount) but 
this paragraph does not apply to a non-dependant who is a student to whom paragraph 4 of that 
Schedule refers. 
(9) In the application of sub-paragraph (2) there is to be disregarded from the non-dependant’s weekly 
gross income— 
(a) any attendance allowance, disability living allowance or personal independence payment received 
by him; 
(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which, had his income fallen to 
be calculated under paragraph 53 (calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not 
pensioners), would have been disregarded under paragraph 24 of Schedule 4 (income in kind); and 

Page 201



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(c) any payment which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 53, would have been 
disregarded under paragraph 41 of Schedule 8 (payments made under certain trusts and certain other 
payments). 
 

PART 8 
Alternative maximum council tax reduction for the purposes of calculating eligibility 

for a reduction under this scheme and amount of reduction 
 
Alternative maximum council tax reduction under this scheme: pensioners  
30.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), the alternative maximum council tax reduction in 
respect of a day where the conditions set out in paragraph 15 are fulfilled, is the amount determined 
in accordance with Schedule 4. 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in 
respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other persons, in determining the 
alternative maximum council tax reduction in his case, the amount determined in accordance with 
Schedule 4 must be divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax. 
(3) Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for council tax in respect of a dwelling with only 
his partner, solely by virtue of section 9 of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners), sub-
paragraph (2) does not apply in his case. 
 

 
PART 9 

Amount of reduction under this scheme 
 

Amount of reduction under this scheme: Classes A to E 
31.—(1) Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of a day, the amount 
of the reduction to which he is entitled is as follows. 
(2) Where the person is within class A or D, that amount is the amount which is the maximum council 
tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant’s case. 
(3) Where the person is within class B or E, that amount is the amount found by deducting amount B 
from amount A, where “amount A” and “amount B” have the meanings given in paragraph 14(f) or 
17(f), as the case may be.  
(4) Where the person is within class C or F, that amount is the amount which is the alternative 
maximum council tax reduction in respect of the day in the applicant’s case. 
(5) Sub-paragraph (6) applies where both— 
(a) sub-paragraph (2) or sub-paragraph (3), and 
(b) sub-paragraph (4), 
 apply to a person. 
(6) Subject to the maximum reduction  specified by paragraph  12 and 28,   the amount of the 
reduction to which the person is entitled is whichever is the greater of— 
(a) the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraph (2) or sub-paragraph (3), as the case may be, 
and 
(b) the amount of the reduction given by sub-paragraph (4). 
Save that in the case of a person within Class D or E paragraph 28 ( 2) ( c)  shall apply to reduce the 
award by 25%.  
 

PART 10 
Income and capital for the purposes of calculating eligibility for a reduction under this scheme 

and amount of reduction 
 

CHAPTER 1 
Income and capital: general 

 
Calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous marriages 
32.—(1) The income and capital of— 
(a) an applicant; and 
(b) any partner of that applicant,  
is to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Part. 

Page 202



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(2) The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income and capital of the 
applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies equally to any partner of that 
applicant. 
(3) Where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is married polygamously to two or more 
members of his household— 
(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to each such member; 
and 
(b) the income and capital of that member is to be calculated in accordance with the following 
provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 
 
Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as applicant’s 
33.—(1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where it appears to the authority that a non-dependant and an 
applicant have entered into arrangements in order to take advantage of this scheme and the 
nondependent has more income and capital than the applicant. 
(2) Except where— 
(a) the applicant is a pensioner and is on a guarantee credit, or 
(b) the applicant is not a pensioner and is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance 
or an income-related employment and support allowance,  
the authority will treat the applicant as possessing income and capital belonging to that non 
dependant and, in such a case, any income and capital which the applicant does possess is to be 
disregarded. 
(3) Where an applicant is treated as possessing income and capital belonging to a non-dependant 
under sub-paragraph (2) the income and capital of that non-dependant will be calculated in 
accordance with the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant and, except 
where the context otherwise requires, any reference to the “applicant” is to be construed for the 
purposes of this Part as if it were a reference to that non-dependant. 
 
 

CHAPTER 2 
Income and capital: pensioners in receipt of guarantee credit or savings credit 

 
Applicant in receipt of guarantee credit: pensioners 
34. In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner and who is in receipt, or whose partner is in receipt, 
of a guarantee credit, the whole of his capital and income must be disregarded. 
 
 
 
Calculation of applicant's income in savings credit only cases: pensioners 
35.—(1) In determining the income and capital of an applicant who is a pensioner and who has, or 
whose partner has, an award of state pension credit comprising only the savings credit, subject to the 
following provisions of this paragraph, the authority will use the calculation or estimate of the 
applicant's or as the case may be, the applicant's partner's income and capital made by the Secretary 
of State for the purpose of determining the award of state pension credit (99). 
(2) The authority will adjust the amount of the net income provided to the authority by the Secretary of 
State only in so far as necessary to take into account— 
(a) the amount of any savings credit payable; 
(b) in respect of any dependent children of the applicant, child care charges taken into account under 
paragraph 56(1)(c); 
(c) the higher amount disregarded under this scheme in respect of— 
(i) lone parent's earnings; or 
(ii) payments of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which is made or due to be made 
by— 
(aa) the applicant's former partner, or the applicant's partner's former partner; or 
(bb) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a member of the 
applicant's family except where that parent is the applicant or the applicant's partner; 
(d) any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 10(1) of Schedule 5; 
(e) the income and capital of any partner of the applicant who is treated as a member of the 
applicant's household under paragraph 8, to the extent that it is not taken into account in determining 
the net income of the person claiming state pension credit; 

Page 203



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(f) paragraph 33 (circumstances in which capital and income of a non-dependant is to be treated as 
applicant's), if the authority determines that that provision applies in the applicant's case; 
(g) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act; 
(h) any amount to be disregarded by virtue of paragraph 6 of Schedule 5. 
(3) Paragraphs 38 to 43 and 56 to 60 do not apply to the amount of the net income to be taken into 
account under sub-paragraph (1), but do apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose of determining any 
adjustments to that amount which the authority makes under sub-paragraph (2). 
(4) If sub-paragraph (5) applies, the authority must calculate the applicant's capital in accordance with 
paragraphs 62, 64 to 68 of this scheme. 
(5) This sub-paragraph applies if— 
(a) the Secretary of State notifies the authority that the applicant's capital has been determined as 
being £16,000 or less or the authority determines his capital as being £16,000 or less; 
(b) subsequent to that determination the applicant's capital rises to more than £16,000; and 
(c) the increase occurs whilst there is in force an assessed income period within the meaning of 
sections 6 and 9 of the State Pension Credit Act 2002. 
 

CHAPTER 3 
 

Calculation of income and capital: persons who are not pensioners who have an award of 
universal credit 

36.– (1) In determining the income of an applicant— 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit the authority must, subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, 
use the calculation or estimate of the income of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly 
(as the case may be), made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of determining the award of 
universal credit. 
(2)The authority must adjust the amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1) to take account of— 
(a) income consisting of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with subparagraph 
(3); 
(b) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs [to be confirmed] of Schedule 7 to this scheme 
(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners); 
(c) any sum to be disregarded under paragraphs [to be confirmed] of Schedule 8 to this scheme 
(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not 
pensioners); 
(d) paragraph 33 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as 
applicant's), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the applicant's case; 
(e) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act 
(power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable). 
(3) The amount for the award of universal credit is to be determined by multiplying the amount of the 
award by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 
(4) Paragraphs 33 (income and capital of non-dependant to be treated as applicant’s) and 52 and 53 
(disregards from income) apply (so far as relevant) for the purpose of determining any adjustments 
which fall to be made to the figure for income under sub-paragraph (2). 
(5) In determining the capital of an applicant— 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the capital of the 
applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the Secretary of 
State for the purpose of determining that award. 
 

 
CHAPTER 4 

Income: other pensioners 
 
Calculation of income and capital where state pension credit is not payable: pensioners 
37. Where neither paragraph 34 nor 35 applies in the applicant's case, his income and capital is to be 
calculated or estimated in accordance with paragraphs 38 to 43 and 56 to 60 and Chapter 7 of this 
Part. 
 

Page 204



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

Meaning of “income”: pensioners 
38.—(1) For the purposes of classes A to C in this scheme, “income” means income of any of the 
following descriptions— 
(a) earnings; 
(b) working tax credit; 
(c) retirement pension income within the meaning of the State Pension Credit Act 2002; 
(d) income from annuity contracts (other than retirement pension income); 
(e) a war disablement pension or war widow's or widower’s pension; 
(f) a foreign war disablement pension or war widow's or widower's pension; 
(g) a guaranteed income payment; 
(h) a payment made under article 21(1)(c) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation 
Scheme) Order 2005, in any case where article 23(2)(c) applies; 
(i) income from capital other than capital disregarded under Part 1 of Schedule 9; 
(j) social security benefits, other than retirement pension income or any of the following benefits— 
(i) disability living allowance; 
(ii) personal independence payment; 
(iii) attendance allowance payable under section 64 of the SSCBA; 
(iv) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of that Act; 
(v) a payment under regulations made in exercise of the power conferred by paragraph 7(2)(b) of Part 
2 of Schedule 8 to that Act;  
(vi) an increase of an allowance payable in respect of constant attendance under paragraph 4 of Part 
1 of Schedule 8 to that Act; 
(vii) child benefit; 
(viii) any guardian's allowance payable under section 77 of the SSCBA; 
(ix) any increase for a dependant, other than the applicant's partner, payable in accordance with Part 
4 of that Act; 
(x) any social fund payment made under Part 8 of that Act; 
(xi) Christmas bonus payable under Part 10 of that Act; 
(xii) housing benefit; 
(xiii) council tax benefit; 
(xiv) bereavement payment; 
(xv) statutory sick pay; 
(xvi) statutory maternity pay; 
(xvii) statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of the SSCBA; 
(xviii) statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act; 
(xix) any benefit similar to those mentioned in the preceding provisions of this paragraph payable 
under legislation having effect in Northern Ireland; 
(k) all foreign social security benefits which are similar to the social security benefits prescribed 
above; 
(l) a payment made— 
(i) under article 30 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service 
Pensions Order 2006, in any case where article 30(1)(b) applies; or 
(ii) under article 12(8) of that Order, in any case where sub-paragraph (b) of that article applies; 
(m) a pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made by 
the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria; 
(n) payments under a scheme made under the Pneumoconiosis etc. (Worker's Compensation) Act 
1979; 
(o) payments made towards the maintenance of the applicant by his spouse, civil partner, former 
spouse or former civil partner or towards the maintenance of the applicant's partner by his spouse, 
civil partner, former spouse or former civil partner, including payments made— 
(i) under a court order; 
(ii) under an agreement for maintenance; or 
(iii) voluntarily; 
(p) payments due from any person in respect of board and lodging accommodation provided by the 
applicant; 
(q) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright, 
design, patent or trade mark; 
(r) any payment in respect of any— 
(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 

Page 205



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to the Public 
Lending Right Scheme 1982; 
(s) any payment, other than a payment ordered by a court or made in settlement of a claim, made by 
or on behalf of a former employer of a person on account of the early retirement of that person on 
grounds of ill-health or disability;  
(t) any sum payable by way of pension out of money provided under— 
(i) the Civil List Act 1837, 
(ii) the Civil List Act 1937, 
(iii) the Civil List Act 1952 , 
(iv) the Civil List Act 1972 , or 
(v) the Civil List Act 1975; 
(u) any income in lieu of that specified in paragraphs (a) to (r); 
(v) any payment of rent made to an applicant who— 
(i) owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant of any property; 
(ii) occupies part of the property; and 
(iii) has an agreement with another person allowing that person to occupy that property on payment of 
rent; 
(w) any payment made at regular intervals under an equity release scheme; 
(x) PPF periodic payments within the meaning of section 17(1) of the State Pension Credit Act 2002. 
(2) Where the payment of any social security benefit referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is subject to any 
deduction (other than an adjustment specified in sub-paragraph (4)) the amount to be taken into 
account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the amount before the deduction is made. 
(3) Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit is subject to a deduction by way of 
recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit which arose in a previous tax year 
the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the amount of working tax credit 
or child tax credit awarded less the amount of that deduction. 
(4) The adjustments specified in this sub-paragraph are those made in accordance with— 
(a) the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979; 
(b) the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 1975; 
(c) section 30DD or section 30E of the SSCBA (reductions in incapacity benefit in respect of pensions 
and councillor's allowances); 
(d) section 3 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (deductions from contributory employment and support 
allowance in respect of pensions and councillor's allowances) and regulations made under it. 
(5) In sub-paragraph (1)(w), “equity release scheme” means a loan— 
(a) made between a person (“the lender”) and the applicant; 
(b) by means of which a sum of money is advanced by the lender to the applicant by way of payments 
at regular intervals; and 
(c) which is secured on a dwelling in which the applicant owns an estate or interest and which he 
occupies as his home. 
 
Calculation of weekly income: pensioners 
39.—(1) Except in a case within sub-paragraph (2) or (4), for the purposes of calculating the weekly 
income of an applicant who is a pensioner, where the period in respect of which a payment is made— 
(a) does not exceed a week, the whole of that payment is to be included in the applicant’s weekly 
income; 
(b) exceeds a week, the amount to be included in the applicant’s weekly income is to be determined— 
(i) in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 12 and 
dividing the product by 52; 
(ii) in a case where that period is three months, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 4 and 
dividing the product by 52; 
(iii) in a case where that period is a year, by dividing the amount of the payment by 52; 
(iv) in any other case, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 7 and dividing the product by the 
number of days in the period in respect of which it is made. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (3) applies where— 
(a) the applicant’s regular pattern of work is such that he does not work the same hours every week; 
or 
(b) the amount of the applicant’s income fluctuates and has changed more than once. 
(3) The weekly amount of that applicant’s income is to be determined— 
(a) if, in a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, there is a recognised cycle of work, by 
reference to his average weekly income over the period of the complete cycle (including, where the 

Page 206



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

cycle involves periods in which the applicant does no work, those periods but disregarding any other 
absences); or 
(b) in any other case, on the basis of— 
(i) the last two payments if those payments are one month or more apart; 
(ii) the last four payments if the last two payments are less than one month apart; or 
(iii) calculating or estimating such other payments as may, in the particular circumstances of the case, 
enable the applicant’s average weekly income to be determined more accurately. 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(b) the last payments are the last payments before the date 
the application was made or treated as made. 
(5) If the applicant is entitled to receive a payment to which sub-paragraph (6) applies, the amount of 
that payment is to be treated as if made in respect of a period of a year. 
(6) This sub-paragraph applies to— 
(a) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright, 
design, patent or trade mark; 
(b) any payment in respect of any— 
(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to the Public 
Lending Right Scheme 1982; and 
(c) any payment which is made on an occasional basis. 
(7) The period under which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account is to be the 
period in respect of which that benefit is payable. 
(8) Where payments are made in a currency other than Sterling, the value of the payment is to be 
determined by taking the Sterling equivalent on the date the payment is made. 
(9) The sums specified in Schedule 5 are to be disregarded in calculating— 
(a) the applicant’s earnings; and 
(b) any amount to which sub-paragraph (6) applies where the applicant is the first owner of the 
copyright, design, patent or trademark, or an original contributor to the book or work referred to in 
sub-paragraph (6)(b). 
(10) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9)(b), and for that purpose only, the amounts specified in 
paragraph (6) is to be treated as though they were earnings. 
(11) Income specified in Schedule 6 is to be disregarded in the calculation of the applicant’s income. 
(12) Schedule 9 has effect so that— 
(a) the capital specified in Part 1 is disregarded for the purpose of determining an applicant’s income; 
and 
(b) the capital specified in Part 2 is disregarded for the purpose of determining an applicant’s income 
under paragraph 69. 
(13) In the case of any income taken into account for the purpose of calculating a person’s income 
any amount payable by way of tax is disregarded. 
 
Earnings of employed earners: pensioners 
40.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an employed earner 
who is a pensioner, means any remuneration or profit derived from that employment and includes— 
(a) any bonus or commission; 
(b) any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant on account of 
the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 
(c) any payment in lieu of notice; 
(d) any holiday pay; 
(e) any payment by way of a retainer; 
(f) any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, exclusively and 
necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, including any payment made 
by the applicant’s employer in respect of— 
(i) travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and place of employment; 
(ii) expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of a member of his 
family owing to the applicant’s absence from home; 
(g) the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into account in 
the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 3 to the Social Security 
(Contributions) Regulations 2001; 
(h) statutory sick pay and statutory maternity pay payable by the employer under the SSCBA; 
(i) statutory paternity pay payable under Part 12ZA of that Act; 
(j) statutory adoption pay payable under Part 12ZB of that Act; 

Page 207



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(k) any sums payable under a contract of service— 
(i) for incapacity for work due to sickness or injury; or 
(ii) by reason of pregnancy or confinement. 
(2) Earnings does not include— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind; 
(b) any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the 
performance of the duties of the employment; 
(c) any occupational pension; 
(d) any lump sum payment made under the Iron and Steel Re-adaptation Benefits Scheme; 
(e) any payment of compensation made pursuant to an award by an employment tribunal established 
under the Employment Tribunals Act 1996 in respect of unfair dismissal or unlawful discrimination; 
(f) any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation in a service user 
group. 
(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in 
subparagraph (1)(g). 
 
Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners 
41.—(1) For the purposes of paragraph 56 (calculation of income on a weekly basis), the earnings of 
an applicant derived or likely to be derived from employment as an employed earner to be taken into 
account must, subject to paragraph 39(4) and Schedule 5, be his net earnings. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-paragraph (5) 
applies, be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that employment 
over the assessment period, less— 
(a) any amount deducted from those earnings by way of— 
(i) income tax; 
(ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA; 
(b) one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an occupational 
pension scheme; 
(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 
(d) where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory 
paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted from those earnings by way of any 
contributions which are payable under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which 
correspond to primary Class 1 contributions under the Act. 
(3) In this regulation “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable periodically as a 
contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 
(4) The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment 
period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying contribution is to be 
determined— 
(a) where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the qualifying 
contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the 
number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates. 
(5) Where the earnings of an applicant are determined under paragraph 39(2)(b) (calculation of 
weekly income: classes A to C) his net earnings is to be calculated by taking into account those 
earnings over the assessment period, less— 
(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to those 
earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to 
which the applicant is entitled under section 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 
(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment period is less than 
a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 
(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be payable by 
him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such contributions were payable; and 
(c) one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were actual earnings. 
 
 

Page 208



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

Calculation of earnings of self-employed earners: pensioners 
42.—(1) Where the earnings of an applicant who is a pensioner consist of earnings from employment 
as a self-employed earner, the weekly amount of his earnings is to be determined by reference to his 
average weekly earnings from that employment— 
(a) over a period of one year; or 
(b) where the applicant has recently become engaged in that employment or there has been a change 
which is likely to affect the normal pattern of business, over such other period (“computation period”) 
as may, in the particular case, enable the weekly amount of his earnings to be determined more 
accurately. 
(2) For the purposes of determining the weekly amount of earnings of an applicant to whom sub-
paragraph (1)(b) applies, his earnings over the computation period are to be divided by the number 
equal to the number of days in that period and the product multiplied by 7. 
(3) The period over which the weekly amount of an applicant’s earnings is calculated in accordance 
with this paragraph is to be his assessment period. 
 
Earnings of self-employers earners: pensioners 
43.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-employed 
earner who is a pensioner, means the gross income of the employment. 
(2) “Earnings” in the case of employment as a self-employed earner does not include— 
(a) where an applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board and 
lodging accommodation for which payment is made, those payments; 
(b) any payment made by a local authority to an applicant— 
(i) with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of arrangements made under section 23(2)(a) of 
the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and maintenance for a child whom they are 
looking after) or, as the case may be, section 26(1) of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995; or 
(ii) with whom a local authority fosters a child under the Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 
2009 or who is a kinship carer under those Regulations; 
(c) any payment made by a voluntary organisation in accordance with section 59(1)(a) of the Children 
Act 1989 (provision of accommodation by voluntary organisations); 
(d) any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person concerned”) who is not 
normally a member of the applicant’s household but is temporarily in his care, 
by— 
(i) a health authority; 
(ii) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the person 
concerned; 
(iii) a voluntary organisation; 
(iv) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
(v) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 1977 or 
established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health Service Act 2006; or 
(vi) a Local Health Board established under section 16B of the National Health Service Act 1977 or 
established by an order made under section 11 of the National Health Service (Wales) Act 2006; 
(e) any sports award. 
 
Notional income: pensioners 
44.—(1) An applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated as possessing— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any retirement pension income— 
(i) for which no claim has been made; and 
(ii) to which he might expect to be entitled if a claim for it were made; 
(b) income from an occupational pension scheme which the applicant elected to defer. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply to the following where entitlement has been deferred— 
(a) a Category A or Category B retirement pension payable under sections 43 to 55 of the SSCBA; 
(b) a shared additional pension payable under section 55A of the SSCBA; 
(c) graduated retirement benefit payable under sections 36 and 37 of the National Insurance Act 
1965. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), entitlement has been deferred— 
(a) in the case of a Category A or Category B pension, in the circumstances specified in section 55(3) 
of the SSCBA; 
(b) in the case of a shared additional pension, in the circumstances specified in section 55C(3) of the 
SSCBA; and 

Page 209



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(c) in the case of graduated retirement benefit, in the circumstances specified in section 36(4) and 
(4A) of the National Insurance Act 1965. 
(4) This sub-paragraph applies where a person who has attained the qualifying age for state pension 
credit— 
(a) is entitled to money purchase benefits under an occupational pension scheme or a personal 
pension scheme; 
(b) fails to purchase an annuity with the funds available in that scheme; and 
(c) either— 
(i) defers in whole or in part the payment of any income which would have been payable to him by his 
pension fund holder, or 
(ii) fails to take any necessary action to secure that the whole of any income which would be payable 
to him by his pension fund holder upon his applying for it, is so paid, or 
(iii) income withdrawal is not available to him under that scheme. 
(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies, the amount of any income foregone is to be treated as 
possessed by that person, but only from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were 
an application for it to be made. 
(6) The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(i) or (ii) applies is to be 
the maximum amount of income which may be withdrawn from the fund and must be determined by 
the authority, taking account of information provided by the pension fund holder. 
(7) The amount of any income foregone in a case where sub-paragraph (4)(c)(iii) applies is to be the 
income that the applicant could have received without purchasing an annuity had the funds held 
under the relevant scheme been held under a personal pension scheme or occupational pension 
scheme where income withdrawal was available and is to be determined in the manner specified in 
sub-paragraph (6). 
(8) In sub-paragraph (4), “money purchase benefits” has the same meaning as in the Pension 
Schemes Act 1993. 
(9) Subject to sub-paragraphs (10) and (12), a person is to be treated as possessing income of which 
he has deprived himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction under this scheme or 
increasing the amount of the reduction. 
(10) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of the amount of an increase of pension or benefit 
where a person, having made an election in favour of that increase of pension or benefit under 
Schedule 5 or 5A to the SSCBA or under Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement 
Benefit) Regulations 2005, changes that election in accordance with regulations made under 
Schedule 5 or 5A to that Act in favour of a lump sum. 
(11) In sub-paragraph (10), “lump sum” means a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A to the SSCBA or 
under Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 2005. 
(12) Sub-paragraph (9) does not apply in respect of any amount of income other than earnings, or 
earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant's participation in a service user group. 
(13) Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the rate of that benefit 
is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not more than 14 days thereafter, 
the authority will treat the applicant as possessing such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April 
or the first Monday in April in that year, whichever date the authority selects to apply, to the date on 
which the altered rate is to take effect. 
(14) In the case of an applicant who has, or whose partner has, an award of state pension credit 
comprising only the savings credit, where the authority treats the applicant as possessing any benefit 
at the altered rate in accordance with paragraph (13), the authority must— 
(a) determine the income and capital of that applicant in accordance with paragraph 35(1) (calculation 
of applicant's income in savings credit only cases: pensioners) where the calculation or estimate of 
that income and capital is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not more 
than 14 days thereafter; and 
(b) treat that applicant as possessing such income and capital at the altered rate by reference to the 
date selected by the relevant authority to apply in its area, for the purposes of establishing the period 
referred to in sub-paragraph (13). 
(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (9), a person is not to be regarded as depriving himself of 
income where— 
(a) his rights to benefits under a registered pension scheme are extinguished and in consequence of 
this he receives a payment from the scheme, and 
(b) that payment is a trivial commutation lump sum within the meaning given by paragraph 7 of 
Schedule 29 to the Finance Act 2004. 

Page 210



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(16) In sub-paragraph (15), “registered pension scheme” has the meaning given in section 150(2) of 
the Finance Act 2004. 
 
Income paid to third parties: pensioners 
45.—(1) Any payment of income, other than a payment specified in sub-paragraph (2) or (3), to a third 
party in respect of the applicant is to be treated as possessed by the applicant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made under an occupational 
pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal pension 
scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund where— 
(a) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the payment has 
been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to sequestration or a judicial factor has 
been appointed on that person's estate under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(b) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf of the 
creditors; and 
(c) the person referred to in paragraph (a) and his partner does not possess, or is not treated as 
possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 
(3) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in respect of any payment of income other than earnings, or 
earnings derived from employment as an employed earner, arising out of the applicant's participation 
in a service user group. 
 
 

CHAPTER 5 
Income: persons who are not pensioners 

 
Average weekly earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
46.—(1) Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings from 
employment as an employed earner his average weekly earnings must be estimated by reference to 
his earnings from that employment— 
(a) over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the application is made or 
treated as made and being a period of— 
(i) 5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or 
(ii) 2 months, if he is paid monthly; or 
(b) whether or not paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) applies, where an applicant’s earnings fluctuate, over such 
other period preceding the reduction week in which the claim is made or treated as made as may, in 
any particular case, enable his average weekly earnings to be estimated more accurately. 
(2) Where the applicant has been in his employment for less than the period specified in 
subparagraph (1)(a)(i) or (ii)— 
(a) if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that employment and those 
earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings from that employment his average 
weekly earnings must be estimated by reference to those earnings;  
(b) in any other case, the authority must estimate the applicant’s average weekly earnings. 
(3) Where the amount of an applicant’s earnings changes the authority must estimate his average 
weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment over such period as is 
appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated accurately but the length of 
the period will not in any case exceed 52 weeks. 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant’s earnings are to be calculated in accordance 
with paragraphs 50 and 51. 
 
Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
47.—(1) Where the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner consists of earnings from 
employment as a self-employed earner his average weekly earnings must be estimated by reference 
to his earnings from that employment over such period as is appropriate in order that his average 
weekly earnings may be estimated accurately but the length of the period must not in any case 
exceed a year. 
(2) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant’s earnings must be calculated in accordance with 
paragraphs 52, 60 and 61 of this scheme. 
 
Average weekly income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 
48.—(1) The income of an applicant who is not a pensioner which does not consist of earnings must, 
except where sub-paragraph (2) applies, be estimated over such period as is appropriate in order that 

Page 211



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

his average weekly income may be estimated accurately but the length of the period must not in any 
case exceed 52 weeks; and nothing in this paragraph authorises an authority to disregard any such 
income other than that specified in Schedule 8. 
(2) The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account is to be the 
period in respect of which that benefit is payable. 
(3) For the purposes of this paragraph income other than earnings is to be calculated in accordance 
with paragraph 53 of this scheme. 
 
Calculation of weekly income of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
49.—(1) For the purposes of paragraphs 46 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 48 
(average weekly income other than earnings) and 58 (calculation of average weekly income from tax 
credits), where the period in respect of which a payment is made— 
(a) does not exceed a week, the weekly amount is to be the amount of that payment; 
(b) exceeds a week, the weekly amount is to be determined— 
(i) in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the payment by 12 and 
dividing the product by 52; 
(ii) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number equal to the number of 
days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the product by 7. 
(2) For the purposes of paragraph 47 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners) the weekly 
amount of earnings of an applicant is to be determined by dividing his earnings over the assessment 
period by the number equal to the number of days in that period and multiplying the product by 7. 
 
Earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
50.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an employed earner 
of a person who is not a pensioner, means any remuneration or profit derived from that employment 
and includes— 
(a) any bonus or commission; 
(b) any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant on account of 
the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy;  
(c) any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation for the loss of 
employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income; 
(d) any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or interruption of the 
employment; 
(e) any payment by way of a retainer; 
(f) any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, exclusively and 
necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment, including any payment made 
by the applicant’s employer in respect of— 
(i) travelling expenses incurred by the applicant between his home and place of employment; 
(ii) expenses incurred by the applicant under arrangements made for the care of a member of his 
family owing to the applicant’s absence from home; 
(g) any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the Employment Rights Act 
1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal); 
(h) any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of the Employment Rights 
Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on suspension on medical or maternity grounds, 
complaints to employment tribunals); 
(i) any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the SSCBA (certain sums to be earnings for social 
security purposes); 
(j) any statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, or 
a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland; 
(k) any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who for the time being is on 
maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from work because he is ill; 
(l) the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken into account in 
the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 3 to the Social Security 
(Contributions) Regulations 2001. 
(2) Earnings does not include— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind; 
(b) any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the 
performance of the duties of the employment; 
(c) any occupational pension; 

Page 212



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(d) any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation in a service user 
group. 
(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred to in 
subparagraph (1)(l). 
 
Calculation of net earnings of employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
51.—(1) For the purposes of paragraph 46 (average weekly earnings of employed earners: classes D 
to F), the earnings of an applicant derived or likely to be derived from employment as an employed 
earner to be taken into account must, subject to sub-paragraph (2), be his net earnings. 
(2) There is to be disregarded from an applicant’s net earnings, any sum, where applicable, specified 
in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 7. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub-paragraph (6) 
applies, be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the applicant from that employment 
over the assessment period, less— 
(a) any amount deducted from those earnings by way of— 
(i) income tax; 
(ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA; 
(b) one-half of any sum paid by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an occupational 
pension scheme; 
(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (5) in respect of any 
qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and 
(d) where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment having effect in 
Northern Ireland and which corresponds to statutory sick pay, statutory maternity pay, statutory 
paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any amount deducted from those earnings by way of any 
contributions which are payable under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which 
correspond to primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA. 
(4) In this regulation “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable periodically as a 
contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 
(5) The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment 
period; and for the purposes of this regulation the daily amount of the qualifying contribution is to be 
determined— 
(a) where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the qualifying 
contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the 
number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution relates. 
(6) Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under paragraph 46(2)(b) (average weekly 
earnings of employed earners: classes D to F), his net earnings is to be calculated by taking into 
account those earnings over the assessment period, less— 
(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to those 
earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to 
which the applicant is entitled under section 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 
(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances but, if the assessment period is less than 
a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal 
relief deductible under this sub-paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 
(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be payable by 
him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such contributions were payable; and 
(c) one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so estimated were actual earnings. 
 
Earnings of self-employed earners: persons who are not pensioners 
52.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self-employed 
earner of a person who is not a pensioner, means the gross income of the employment. 
(2) “Earnings” does not include any payment to which paragraph 31 or 32 of Schedule 8 refers 
(payments in respect of a person accommodated with the applicant under arrangements made by a 
local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made to the applicant by a health authority, 
local authority or voluntary organisation in respect of persons temporarily in the applicant’s care) nor 
does it include any sports award. 
(3) This paragraph applies to— 

Page 213



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(a) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright, 
design, patent or trade mark; or 
(b) any payment in respect of any— 
(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is analogous to the Public 
Lending Right Scheme 1982, where the applicant is the first owner of the copyright, design, patent or 
trade mark, or an original contributor to the book or work concerned. 
(4) Where the applicant’s earnings consist of any items to which sub-paragraph (3) applies, those 
earnings must be taken into account over a period equal to such number of weeks as is equal to the 
number obtained (and any fraction is to be treated as a corresponding fraction of a week) by dividing 
the earnings by— 
(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would have been entitled had 
the payment not been made, plus 
(b) an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be disregarded from the payment 
under Schedule 7 (sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not pensioners) 
as appropriate in the applicant’s case. 
 
Calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not pensioners 
53.—(1) For the purposes of paragraph 48 (average weekly income other than earnings: persons who 
are not pensioners), the income of an applicant who is not a pensioner which does not consist of 
earnings to be taken into account must, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (8), be his gross income and 
any capital treated as income under paragraph 54 (capital treated as income: persons who are not 
pensioners). 
(2) There is to be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s gross income under 
subparagraph 
(1), any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 8. 
(3) Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction by way of 
recovery the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) must be the gross amount 
payable. 
(4) Where the applicant or, where he is a member of a couple, his partner is receiving a contributory 
employment and support allowance and that benefit has been reduced under regulation 63 of the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008, the amount of that benefit to be taken into 
account is the amount as if it had not been reduced. 
(5) Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits Act 2002 is 
subject to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax credit or child tax credit 
which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) is to 
be the amount of working tax credit or child tax credit awarded less the amount of that deduction. 
(6) In sub-paragraph (5), “tax year” means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending 
with 5th April in the next. 
(7) Sub-paragraphs (8) and (9) apply where— 
(a) a relevant payment has been made to a person in an academic year; and 
(b) that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the payment to him of the 
final instalment of the relevant payment. 
(8) Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to be taken into 
account for the assessment period for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) in respect of a person to 
whom sub-paragraph (7) applies, is to be calculated by applying the formula— 
(A - (B x C)) / D 
where— 
A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have received had he remained 
a student until the last day of the academic term in which he abandoned, or was dismissed from, his 
course, less any deduction under paragraph 79(5); 
B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following that which includes 
the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which includes the day on which the person 
abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course; 
C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 disregard, which 
would have been taken into account as income under paragraph 79(2) had the person not abandoned 
or been dismissed from, his course and, in the case of a person who was not entitled to a reduction 
under this scheme immediately before he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, had that 
person, at that time, been entitled to housing benefit; 
D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 

Page 214



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(9) Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the amount of a 
relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of 
subparagraph 
(1) in respect of a person to whom sub-paragraph (7) applies, is to be calculated by applying the 
formula in sub-paragraph (8) but as if— 
A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have received, from 
the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the course, or was dismissed 
from it, less any deduction under paragraph 79(5). 
(10) In this regulation— 
“academic year” and “student loan” have the same meanings as in Part 11 (students); 
“assessment period” means— 
(a) in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with the reduction 
week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and 
ending with the reduction week which includes the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment 
of the relevant payment was payable to that person; 
(b) in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the period 
beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction week which includes— 
(i) the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the relevant payment would 
have been due had the payments continued; or 
(ii) the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was payable to that 
person, whichever of those dates is earlier; 
“quarter” in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning on— 
(c) 1st January and ending on 31st March; 
(d) 1st April and ending on 30th June; 
(e) 1st July and ending on 31st August; or 
(f) 1st September and ending on 31st December; 
“relevant payment” means either a student loan or an amount intended for the maintenance of 
dependants referred to in paragraph 74(7) or both. 
(11) For the avoidance of doubt there must be included as income to be taken into account under 
sub-paragraph (1)— 
(a) any payment to which paragraph 40(2) or 50(2) (payments not earnings) applies; or 
(b) in the case of an applicant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the Immigration and 
Asylum Act 1999 including support provided by virtue of regulations made under Schedule 9 to that 
Act, the amount of such support provided in respect of essential living needs of the applicant and his 
dependants (if any) as is specified in regulations made under paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 
 
 
Capital treated as income: persons who are not pensioners 
54.—(1) Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which the claim is 
made or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision or supersession, must, if the 
aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount of the applicant’s capital otherwise 
calculated in accordance with Chapter 7 of this Part exceeds £16,000, be treated as income. 
(2) Any payment received under an annuity is to be treated as income. 
(3) Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income is to be treated as income. 
(4) Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 
1973 is to be treated as income. 
(5) Where an agreement or court order provides that payments must be made to the applicant in 
consequence of any personal injury to the applicant and that such payments are to be made, wholly 
or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such periodic payments received by the applicant (but not 
a payment which is treated as capital by virtue of this Part), is to be treated as income. 
 
Notional income: persons who are not pensioners 
55.—(1) An applicant who is not a pensioner is to be treated as possessing income of which he has 
deprived himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction under a council tax reduction 
scheme or increasing the amount of the reduction. 
(2) Except in the case of— 
(a) a discretionary trust; 
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 

Page 215



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(c) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the 
Pension Protection Fund where the applicant has not attained the qualifying age for state pension 
credit; 
(d) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 9 (capital to be disregarded) applies which is 
administered in the way referred to in paragraph 50(1)(a); 
(e) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 9 refers; 
(f) rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973; 
(g) child tax credit; 
(h) working tax credit, or 
(i) any sum to which sub-paragraph (11) applies, any income which would become available to the 
applicant upon application being made, but which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as 
possessed by the applicant but only from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were 
an application made. 
(3) Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in sub-paragraph (4), made— 
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a member of the 
third party’s family) must, where that payment is a payment of an occupational pension, a pension or 
other periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of 
the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may 
be, by that member; 
(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family (but not a 
member of the third party’s family) must, where it is not a payment referred to in paragraph (a), be 
treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that member to the extent that it is used for the 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case may 
be, of any member of that family or is used for any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable; 
(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in respect of 
another member of that family) must be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case 
may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him or used by or on behalf 
of any member of the family. 
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made— 
(a) under or by the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane 
(Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the 
Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006); 
(b) pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal); 
(c) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a person’s 
participation— 
(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance 
Regulations 1996; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; 
(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those Regulations; or 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 
(d) in respect of a person’s participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme; 
(e) in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
(f) in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme; 
(g) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical 
payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension 
Protection Fund where— 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the payment has 
been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to sequestration or a judicial factor has 
been appointed on that person’s estate under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf of the 
creditors; and 
(iii) the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is 
not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 
(5) Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the rate of that benefit is 
altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not more than 14 days thereafter, 
the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such benefit at the altered rate from either 1st 
April or the first Monday in April in that year, whichever date the authority selects, to the date on which 
the altered rate is to take effect. 

Page 216



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(6) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), where— 
(a) an applicant performs a service for another person; and 
(b) that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a comparable 
employment in the area, the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such earnings (if any) as 
is reasonable for that employment unless the applicant satisfies the authority that the means of that 
person are insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for the service. 
(7) Sub-paragraph (6) does not apply— 
(a) to an applicant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a volunteer if 
the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for him to provide those services 
free of charge; or 
(b) in a case where the service is performed in connection with— 
(i) the applicant’s participation in an employment or training programme in accordance with regulation 
19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996, other than where the service is performed in 
connection with the applicant’s participation in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 
75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; or 
(ii) the applicant’s or the applicant’s partner’s participation in an employment or training programme as 
defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for which a training allowance is not payable or, 
where such an allowance is payable, it is payable for the sole purpose of reimbursement of travelling 
or meal expenses to the person participating in that programme; or 
(c) to an applicant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary of State (or a 
person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the placement starts.  
(8) In sub-paragraph (7)(c) “work placement” means practical work experience which is not 
undertaken in expectation of payment. 
(9) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of sub-paragraphs (1) to (8), 
the foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of that income 
as if a payment had actually been made and as if it were actual income which he does possess. 
(10) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any earnings under sub-paragraph (6) the foregoing 
provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of those earnings as if a 
payment had actually been made and as if they were actual earnings which he does possess except 
that paragraph 41(2) or 51(3) (calculation of net earnings of employed earners: pensioners and 
persons who are not pensioners, respectively) do not apply and his net earnings are to be calculated 
by taking into account those earnings which he is treated as possessing, less— 
(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by applying to those 
earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to 
which the applicant is entitled under section 257(1) of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 
(personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances; 
but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to be 
applied and the amount of the personal relief deductible under this sub-paragraph is to be calculated 
on a pro rata basis; 
(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that would be payable by 
him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such contributions were payable; and 
(c) one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an occupational or 
personal pension scheme. 
(11) Sub-paragraphs (1), (2), (3) and (6) do not apply in respect of any amount of income other than 
earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the applicant’s participation in a service 
user group. 
 

CHAPTER 6 
Income: further provisions applying to pensioners and persons who are not pensioners 

 
Calculation of income on a weekly basis 
56.—(1) Subject to paragraph 59 (disregard of changes in tax, etc.), the income of an applicant is to 
be calculated on a weekly basis— 
(a) by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in accordance with this 
Part; 
(b) by adding to that amount the weekly income calculated— 
(i) if the applicant is a pensioner, under paragraph 69 (tariff income: pensioners); 
(ii) if the applicant is a person who is not a pensioner, under paragraph 70 (tariff income:  
persons who are not pensioners); and 

Page 217



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(c) deducting from the sum of paragraphs (a) and (b) any relevant child care charges to which 
paragraph 57 (treatment of child care charges) applies from any earnings which form part of the 
average weekly income or, in a case where the conditions in sub-paragraph (2) are met, from those 
earnings plus whichever credit specified in paragraph (b) of that subparagraph is appropriate, up to a 
maximum deduction in respect of the applicant’s family of whichever of the sums specified in sub-
paragraph (3) applies in his case. 
(2) The conditions of this paragraph are that— 
(a) the applicant’s earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less than the lower of 
either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions specified in paragraph (3) 
otherwise applies in his case; and 
(b) that applicant or, if he is a member of a couple either the applicant or his partner, is in receipt of 
either working tax credit or child tax credit. 
(3) The maximum deduction to which paragraph (1)(c) above refers is to be— 
(a) where the applicant’s family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant child care charges 
are paid, £175.00 per week; 
(b) where the applicant’s family includes more than one child in respect of whom relevant child care 
charges are paid, £300 per week. 
 
Treatment of child care charges 
57.—(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant (within the meaning in this paragraph) is incurring 
relevant child care charges and— 
(a) is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work; 
(b) is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; or 
(c) is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative work and the other— 
(i) is incapacitated; 
(ii) is an in-patient in hospital; or 
(iii) is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in custody awaiting trial or 
sentence). 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) and subject to sub-paragraph (4), a person to whom sub-
paragraph (3) applies must be treated as engaged in remunerative work for a period not exceeding 28 
weeks during which he— 
(a) is paid statutory sick pay; 
(b) is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A to 30E of the SSCBA; 
(c) is paid an employment and support allowance; 
(d) is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under regulation 4ZA of, and 
paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; or 
(e) is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for work under 
regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 
(3) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work immediately 
before— 
(a) the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory sick pay, short term 
incapacity benefit, an employment and support allowance or income support on the grounds of 
incapacity for work; or 
(b) the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, as the case may be. 
(4) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(d) or (e) applies, the period of 28 weeks begins on the day 
on which the person is first paid income support or on the first day of the period in respect of which 
earnings are credited, as the case may be. 
(5) Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which sub-paragraphs (6) and (7) apply, 
and are to be calculated on a weekly basis in accordance with sub-paragraph (10). 
(6) The charges are paid by the applicant for care which is provided— 
(a) in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is not disabled, in respect of the period 
beginning on that child’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following that child’s fifteenth birthday; or 
(b) in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is disabled, in respect of the period beginning 
on that person’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following that person’s sixteenth birthday. 
(7) The charges are paid for care which is provided by one or more of the care providers listed in sub-
paragraph (8) and are not paid— 
(a) in respect of the child’s compulsory education; 

Page 218



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) by an applicant to a partner or by a partner to an applicant in respect of any child for whom either 
or any of them is responsible in accordance with paragraph 7 (circumstances 
in which a person is treated as responsible or not responsible for another); or 
(c) in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 
(8) The care to which sub-paragraph (7) refers may be provided— 
(a) out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local authority— 
(i) for children who are not disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eighth birthday and 
ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September following their fifteenth birthday; or 
(ii) for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their eighth birthday and ending 
on the day preceding the first Monday in September following their sixteenth birthday; or 
(b) by a child care provider approved in accordance with the Tax Credit (New Category of Child Care 
Provider) Regulations 1999; or 
(c) by persons registered under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010; or 
(d) by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children and Families (Wales) 
Measure 2010 because the child care that person provides is in a school or establishment referred to 
in article 11, 12 or 14 of the Child Minding and Day Care Exceptions (Wales) Order 2010; or 
(e) by— 
(i) persons registered under section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010; or 
(ii) local authorities registered under section 83(1) of that Act, 
where the care provided is child minding or day care of children within the meaning of that Act; or 
(f) by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of the Tax Credits 
Act 2002; or 
(g) by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the Childcare Act 2006; or 
(h) by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in circumstances 
where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of that Act does not apply by virtue of 
section 34(2) of that Act; or 
(i) by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in circumstances where 
the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of that Act does not apply by virtue of section 
53(2) of that Act; or 
(j) by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning of “childcare” for the purposes of Part 1 
and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of that subsection; or 
(k) by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services Regulations 2002, the Fostering 
Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 2009 in 
relation to a child other than one whom the foster parent is fostering or kinship carer is looking after; 
or 
(l) by a domiciliary care worker under the Domiciliary Care Agencies Regulations 2002; or 
(m) by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 
(9) In sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), “the first Monday in September” means the Monday which first 
occurs in the month of September in any year. 
(10) Relevant child care charges must be estimated over such period, not exceeding a year, as is 
appropriate in order that the average weekly charge may be estimated accurately having regard to 
information as to the amount of that charge provided by the child minder or person providing the care. 
(11) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) the other member of a couple is incapacitated where— 
(a) the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged not less than 80; 
(b) the applicant is a pensioner and the other member of the couple is aged less than 80, 
and— 
(i) the additional conditions specified in paragraph 10 of Schedule 3 to this scheme are treated as 
applying in his case; and 
(ii) he satisfies those conditions or would satisfy them but for his being treated as capable of work by 
virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made under section 171E of the 
SSCBA; 
(c) the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium on 
account of the other member’s incapacity or the support component or the work-related activity 
component on account of his having limited capability for work; 
(d) the applicant is not a pensioner, the applicant’s applicable amount would include a disability 
premium on account of the other member’s incapacity but for that other member being treated as 
capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made under section 
171E of the SSCBA; 

Page 219



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(e) the applicant’s applicable amount would include the support component or the work related activity 
component on account of the other member having limited capability for work but for that other 
member being treated as not having limited capability for work by virtue of a determination made in 
accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008; 
(f) the applicant is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so 
treated as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 
12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for this 
purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days must be 
treated as one continuous period; 
(g) the applicant has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated 
as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008 for a continuous period of not less than 196 days and for this purpose any two or 
more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be treated as one 
continuous period; 
(h) there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or allowances— 
(i) long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the higher rate under Schedule 4 to 
the SSCBA; 
(ii) attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA; 
(iii) severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the SSCBA; 
(iv) disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA; 
(v) personal independence payment under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
(vi) increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA; 
(vii) a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or under an industrial injuries 
scheme which is analogous to an allowance or increase of disablement 
pension under sub-paragraph (ii), (iv), (v) or (vi) above; 
(viii) main phase employment and support allowance; 
(i) a pension or allowance to which sub-paragraph (vi) or (vii) of paragraph (h) above refers was 
payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased to be payable in consequence of his becoming a 
patient, which in this paragraph means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of 
imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient 
treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) 
Regulations 2005; 
(j) an attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA or disability living allowance under 
section 71 of that Act would be payable to that person but for— 
(i) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA; or 
(ii) an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 
(k) the daily living component of personal independence payment would be payable to that person but 
for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012 (hospital in-patients); 
(l) paragraph (h), (i), (j) or (k) would apply to him if the legislative provisions referred to in those 
paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding enactment having effect in Northern Ireland; or 
(m) he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State under section 
5(2)(a) of and Schedule 2 to the National Health Service Act 1977 or under section 46 of the National 
Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978or provided by the Department of Health, Social Services and 
Public Safety in Northern Ireland under Article 30(1) of the Health and Personal Social Services 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1972. 
(12) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(f) applies to the applicant, if he 
then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of work, 
that sub-paragraph shall, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at 
the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains incapable, or is 
treated as remaining incapable, of work. 
(13) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(g) applies to the applicant, if 
he then ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be treated as having, limited capability 
for work, that paragraph is, on his again having, or being treated as having, limited capability for work 
at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he has, or is treated as 
having, limited capability for work. 
(14) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), a person is disabled if he is a person— 
(a) to whom an attendance allowance or the care component of disability allowance is payable or 
would be payable but for— 
(i) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA; or 

Page 220



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(ii) an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 
(b) to whom the daily living component of personal independence payment is payable or would be 
payable but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 86 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 
(c) who is registered as blind in a register compiled under section 29 of the National Assistance Act 
1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is 
registered as blind in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of 
the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 
(d) who ceased to be registered as blind in such a register within the period beginning 28 weeks 
before the first Monday in September following that person’s fifteenth birthday and ending on the day 
preceding that person’s sixteenth birthday. 
(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) a person on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption 
leave is to be treated as if she is engaged in remunerative work for the period specified in sub-
paragraph (16) (“the relevant period”) provided that— 
(a) in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave began she was 
in remunerative work; 
(b) the applicant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of sub-paragraph (5); and 
(c) she is entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the SSCBA, statutory paternity 
pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of that Act, statutory adoption pay by of section 171ZL of that 
Act, maternity allowance under section 35 of that Act or qualifying support. 
(16) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (15) the relevant period begins on the day on which the 
person’s maternity, paternity leave or adoption leave commences and ends on— 
(a) the date that leave ends; 
(b) if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement to maternity 
allowance, qualifying support (if relevant), statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory 
adoption pay ends, the date that entitlement ends; or 
(c) if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that entitlement to maternity 
allowance or qualifying support, statutory maternity pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the date that 
entitlement to that award of the child care element of the working tax credit ends, whichever occurs 
first. 
(17) In sub-paragraphs (15) and (16)— 
(a) “qualifying support” means income support to which that person is entitled by virtue of paragraph 
14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; and  
(b) “child care element” of working tax credit means the element of working tax credit prescribed 
under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act 2002 (child care element). 
(18) In this paragraph “ applicant “ does not include an applicant- 
(a) who has, or 
(b) who ( jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit.  
 
Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 
58.—(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant receives a tax credit. 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into account 
must be the period set out in sub-paragraph (3). 
(3) Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is— 
(a) a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the instalment is paid; 
(b) a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is due to be 
paid; 
(c) a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the day on which the 
instalment is due to be paid; 
(d) a four weekly instalment, the period is 28 days, ending on the day on which the instalment is due 
to be paid. 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph “tax credit” means child tax credit or working tax credit. 
 
Disregard of changes in tax, contributions etc. 
59. In calculating the applicant’s income the authority may disregard any legislative change— 
(a) in the basic or other rates of income tax; 
(b) in the amount of any personal tax relief; 
(c) in the rates of social security contributions payable under the SSCBA or in the lower earnings limit 
or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under that Act, the lower or upper limits applicable to 

Page 221



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

Class 4 contributions under that Act or the amount specified in section 11(4) of that Act (small 
earnings exception in relation to Class 2 contributions); 
(d) in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of Category A, B, C or D 
retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated pension payable under the SSCBA; 
(e) in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit, for a period not exceeding 30 
reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week immediately following the date from which the 
change is effective. 
 
Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners 
60.—(1) For the purposes of paragraphs 47 (average weekly earnings of self-employed earners: 
persons who are not pensioners) and 56 (calculation of income on a weekly basis) the earnings of an 
applicant to be taken into account must be— 
(a) in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own account,the net 
profit derived from that employment; 
(b) in the case of a self-employed earner who is a pensioner whose employment is carried on in 
partnership, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less— 
(i) an amount in respect of income tax and of social security contributions payable under the SSCBA 
calculated in accordance with paragraph 61 (deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed 
earners); and 
(ii) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of any 
qualifying premium; 
(c) in the case of a self-employed earner who is not a pensioner whose employment is carried on in 
partnership or is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security (Mariners’ 
Benefits) Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less— 
(i) an amount in respect of income tax and of social security contributions payable under the SSCBA 
calculated in accordance with paragraph 61 (deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed 
earners); and 
(ii) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of any 
qualifying premium. 
(2) There must be disregarded from the net profit of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any sum, 
where applicable, specified in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 7. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) the net profit of the employment must, except where 
sub-paragraph (9) applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings of the employment over 
the assessment period less— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that period 
for the purposes of that employment; 
(b) an amount in respect of— 
(i) income tax; and 
(ii) social security contributions payable under the Act, 
calculated in accordance with paragraph 61; and 
(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of any 
qualifying premium. 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the net profit of the employment is to be calculated by 
taking into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment period less, subject to sub-
paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred in that period for the purposes of 
the employment. 
(5) Subject to sub-paragraph (6), no deduction is to be made under paragraph (3)(a) or (4), in respect 
of— 
(a) any capital expenditure; 
(b) the depreciation of any capital asset; 
(c) any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of the employment; 
(d) any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
(e) the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the employment; 
(f) any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment; and 
(g) in the case of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any debts, except bad debts proved to be such, 
but this paragraph does not apply to any expenses incurred in the recovery of a debt. 
(6) A deduction is to be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in respect of the repayment of capital 
on any loan used for— 
(a) the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; or 

Page 222



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is payable under an 
insurance policy for its repair. 
(7) The authority must refuse to make a deduction in respect of any expenses under subparagraph 
(3)(a) or (4) where it is not satisfied given the nature and the amount of the expense that it has been 
reasonably incurred. 
(8) For the avoidance of doubt— 
(a) a deduction must not be made under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (4) in respect of any sum unless it 
has been expended for the purposes of the business; 
(b) a deduction must be made thereunder in respect of— 
(i) the excess of any value added tax paid over value added tax received in the assessment period; 
(ii) any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum 
is payable under an insurance policy for its repair; 
(iii) any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the employment. 
(9) Where an applicant is engaged in employment as a child minder the net profit of the employment 
is to be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less— 
(a) an amount in respect of— 
(i) income tax; and 
(ii) social security contributions payable under the SSCBA, 
calculated in accordance with paragraph 61 (deduction of tax and contributions for self employed 
earners); and 
(b) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect of any 
qualifying premium. 
(10) For the avoidance of doubt where an applicant is engaged in employment as a self employed 
earner and he is also engaged in one or more other employments as a self-employed or employed 
earner any loss incurred in any one of his employments must not be offset against his earnings in any 
other of his employments. 
(11) The amount in respect of any qualifying premium is to be calculated by multiplying the daily 
amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the number of days in the assessment 
period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the daily amount of the qualifying premium must be 
determined— 
(a) where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the qualifying 
premium by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 
(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the 
number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates. 
(12) In this paragraph, “qualifying premium” means any premium which is payable periodically in 
respect of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the date of application. 
 
Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners 
61.—(1) The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under paragraph 60(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(i) or 
(9)(a)(i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) must be calculated— 
(a) on the basis of the amount of chargeable income, and 
(b) as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic rate of tax applicable to the 
assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under section 257(1) 
of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his 
circumstances. 
(2) But, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of tax is to 
be applied and the amount of the personal relief’s deductible under this paragraph must be calculated 
on a pro rata basis. 
(3) The amount to be deducted in respect of social security contributions under paragraph 60(1)(b)(i), 
(3)(b)(ii) or (9)(a)(ii) is the total of— 
(a) the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(1) or, as the case may be, 11(3) of 
the SSCBA at the rate applicable to the assessment period except where the applicants chargeable 
income is less than the amount specified in section 11(4) of that Act (small earnings exception) for the 
tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the assessment period is less than a year, the 
amount specified for that tax year must be reduced pro rata; and 
(b) the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 15 of the 
SSCBA (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the percentage rate 
applicable to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable income as exceeds the lower limit 
but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and gains applicable for the tax year applicable to the 

Page 223



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

assessment period; but if the assessment period is less than a year, those limits must be reduced pro 
rata. 
(4) In this paragraph “chargeable income” means— 
(a) except where paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the employment less any expenses 
deducted under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or, as the case may be, (5) of paragraph 60; 
(b) in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that employment. 
 

CHAPTER 7 
Capital 

 
Calculation of capital 
62.—(1) The capital of an applicant(130) to be taken into account must be, subject to subparagraph 
(2), the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this Part and (in the case of persons who 
are not pensioners) any income treated as capital under paragraph 63 (income treated as capital: 
persons who are not pensioners). 
(2) There must be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s capital under sub-paragraph 
(1), any capital, where applicable, specified in— 
(a) Schedule 9, in relation to pensioners; 
(b) Schedule 10, in relation to persons who are not pensioners. 
(3) In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner, his capital is to be treated as including any 
payment made to him by way of arrears of— 
(a) child tax credit; 
(b) working tax credit; 
(c) state pension credit, 
if the payment was made in respect of a period for the whole or part of which a reduction under this 
scheme was allowed before those arrears were paid. 
(4) The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the family of an applicant who is not a 
pensioner must not be treated as capital of the applicant. 
 
Income treated as capital: persons who are not pensioners 
63.—(1) This paragraph applies in relation to persons who are not pensioners. 
(2) Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 7 applies and paid at 
intervals of at least one year is to be treated as capital. 
(3) Any amount by way of a refund of income tax deducted from profits or emoluments chargeable to 
income tax under Schedule D or E is to be treated as capital. 
(4) Any holiday pay which is not earnings under paragraph 40(1)(d) or 50(1)(d) (earnings of employed 
earners) is to be treated as capital. 
(5) Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 17, 30 to 33, 50 
or 51 of Schedule 10, any income derived from capital is to be treated as capital but only from the 
date it is normally due to be credited to the applicant’s account. 
(6) In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any loan made by 
the applicant’s employer is to be treated as capital. 
(7) Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at regular intervals, 
other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Independent Living Fund (2006) or the London 
Bombings Charitable Relief Fund, is to be treated as capital. 
(8) There is to be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried on by a 
person in respect of which assistance is received under the self-employment route, but only in so far 
as those receipts were payable into a special account during the period in which that person was 
receiving such assistance. 
(9) Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to an applicant as a lump sum must be 
treated as capital. 
(10) Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit must be treated as capital. 
 
Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom 
64. Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom is to be calculated at its current 
market or surrender value less— 
(a) where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent; and 
(b) the amount of any encumbrance secured on it. 
 

Page 224



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom 
65. Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom will be 
calculated— 
(a) in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the United Kingdom of 
an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that country, at that value; 
(b) in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold in the United 
Kingdom to a willing buyer, 
less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent and the amount of any 
encumbrances secured on it. 
 
Notional capital 
66.—(1) An applicant is to be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself for the 
purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction or increasing the amount of that reduction except to the 
extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with paragraph 67 (diminishing notional capital rule). 
(2) A person who is a pensioner who disposes of capital for the purpose of— 
(a) reducing or paying a debt owed by the applicant; or 
(b) purchasing goods or services if the expenditure was reasonable in the circumstances of the 
applicant’s case, 
is to be regarded as not depriving himself of it. 
(3) Sub-paragraphs (4) to (6) apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners. 
(4) Except in the case of— 
(a) a discretionary trust; or 
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or 
(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded under Schedule 5; or 
(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the 
Pension Protection Fund; or 
(e) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 10 (capital to be disregarded) applies which is 
administered in the way referred to in paragraph 50(1)(a); or 
(f) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 10 refers; or 
(g) child tax credit; or 
(h) working tax credit, 
any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application being made, but which 
has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as possessed by him but only from the date on which it 
could be expected to be acquired were an application made. 
(5) Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in sub-paragraph (6), made— 
(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but not a member of the 
third party’s family) must, where that payment is a payment of an occupational pension, a pension or 
other periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of 
the Pension Protection Fund, be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may 
be, by that member; 
(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the family (but not a 
member of the third party’s family) must, where it is not a payment referred to in paragraph (a), be 
treated as possessed by that single applicant or by that member to the extent that it is used for the 
food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case may 
be, of any member of that family or is used for any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable; 
(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but not in respect of 
another member of the family) must be treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case 
may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is kept or used by him or used by or on behalf 
of any member of the family. 
(6) Sub-paragraph (5) does not apply in respect of a payment of capital made— 
(a) under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Independent Living 
Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the London Bombings Relief Charitable 
Fund; 
(b) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a person’s 
participation— 
(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance 
Regulations 1996; 
(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
(iii) in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; 

Page 225



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) of those Regulations; or 
(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those Regulations; 
(c) in respect of a person’s participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme; 
(d) in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
(e) in respect of an applicant’s participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme; 
(f) under an occupational pension scheme, in respect of a pension or other periodical payment made 
under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund 
where— 
(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of whom the payment has 
been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is subject to sequestration or a judicial factor has 
been appointed on that person’s estate under 
section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting on behalf of the 
creditors; and 
(iii) the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family does not possess, or is 
not treated as possessing, any other income apart from that payment. 
(7) Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that of a sole 
owner or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he were such sole owner 
or partner and in such a case— 
(a) the value of his holding in that company must, notwithstanding paragraph 62 (calculation 
of capital) be disregarded; and 
(b) he must, subject to sub-paragraph (8), be treated as possessing an amount of capital equal to the 
value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of that company and the foregoing 
provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of calculating that amount as if it were actual capital 
which he does possess. 
(8) For so long as the applicant undertakes activities in the course of the business of the company, 
the amount which he is treated as possessing under sub-paragraph (7) is to be disregarded. 
(9) Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of sub-paragraphs (1), (4) or  
(5) the foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the purposes of calculating its amount as if it 
were actual capital which he does possess. 
 
Diminishing notional capital rule: pensioners 
67.—(1) Where an applicant who is a pensioner is treated as possessing capital under paragraph 
66(1) (notional capital), the amount which he is treated as possessing— 
(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to— 
(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-paragraph (2) are satisfied; or 
(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions, is to be reduced by 
an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3); 
(b) in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply but where— 
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph (4) is satisfied, 
is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5). 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week where the applicant satisfies the conditions that— 
(a) he is in receipt of a reduction in council tax under this scheme; and 
(b) but for paragraph 66(1), he would have received a greater reduction in council tax under this 
scheme in that week. 
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital 
he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) must be equal to the aggregate 
of— 
(a) an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to which subparagraph 
(2)(b) refers; 
(b) where the applicant has also claimed state pension credit, the amount of any state pension credit 
or any additional amount of state pension credit to which he would have been entitled in respect of the 
reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 21(1) of the 
State Pension Credit Regulations 2002 (notional capital); 
(c) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit or any 
additional amount of housing benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or 
part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 47(1) 
of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) 
Regulations 2006 (notional capital); 

Page 226



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker's allowance, the amount of an income based 
jobseeker's allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the reduction week to which 
sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance 
Regulations 1996 (notional capital); and 
(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the amount of an 
income-related employment and support allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of 
the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 115 of the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (notional capital). 
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the condition is that the 
applicant is a pensioner and would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax under this scheme 
in the relevant week but for paragraph 66(1). 
(5) In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated as possessing for 
the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) is equal to the aggregate of— 
(a) the amount of the reduction in council tax to which the applicant would have been entitled in the 
relevant week but for paragraph 66(1); 
(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 21 of the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002, have 
been entitled to state pension credit in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 
1(2) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the 
amount to which he would have been entitled; 
(c) if the applicant would, but for regulation 47(1) of the Housing Benefit (Persons who have 
attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006, have been entitled to housing 
benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect of the benefit week which includes the 
last day of the relevant week, the amount which is equal to— 
(i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would have been entitled; or 
(ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit to which he would 
have been entitled; 
(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996, have 
been entitled to an income-based jobseeker's allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the 
meaning of regulation 1(3) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the 
relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; and 
(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support allowance in 
respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of those Regulations 
(interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he would have 
been entitled. 
(6) But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-paragraph (5) (“the relevant 
amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount that is to be taken into account under that 
paragraph is to be determined by— 
(a) dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in that part week, and 
(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7. 
(7) The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under that subparagraph 
if the applicant makes a further claim for a reduction in council tax and the conditions in sub-
paragraph (8) are satisfied, and in such a case— 
(a) paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words “relevant week” there were 
substituted the words “relevant subsequent week”; and 
(b) subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from the first week following 
the relevant subsequent week in question. 
(8) The conditions are that— 
(a) a further claim is made 26 or more weeks after— 
(i) the date on which the applicant made a claim for a reduction in council tax in respect of which he 
was first treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 66(1); 
(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with subparagraph 
(11), the date on which he last made a claim for a reduction in council tax which resulted in the weekly 
amount being re-determined, or 
(iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction in council tax,whichever last 
occurred; and 
(b) the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax under this scheme but for 
paragraph 66(1). 

Page 227



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(9) The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (6) must not have effect if it is less than 
the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a case the 
higher amount must continue to have effect. 
(10) For the purposes of this paragraph— 
“part-week”— 
(a) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a period of less than a week 
for which a reduction in council tax under this scheme is allowed; 
(b) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a period of less than a week 
for which housing benefit is payable; 
(c) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), means— 
(i) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support, an income-related 
employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance 
is payable; and 
(ii) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question of which the 
applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of paragraph 66(1)— 
(a) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to a reduction; 
or 
(b) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or re-determining 
his entitlement to a reduction on that subsequent occasion and that determination or re-determination 
resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to receive, a reduction;  
and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to paragraphs (a) and (b) of this 
definition, the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may be, the later or latest such part-
week is the relevant week; 
“relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which includes the day on which 
the further claim or, if more than one further claim has been made, the last such claim was made. 
 
Diminishing notional capital rule: persons who are not pensioners 
67A.—(1) Where an applicant who is not a pensioner is treated as possessing capital under 
paragraph 66(1) (notional capital), the amount which he is treated as possessing— 
(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to— 
(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub-paragraph (2) are satisfied; or 
(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those conditions, 
is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3); 
(b) in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply but where— 
(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph (4) is satisfied, 
is to be reduced by the amount determined under sub-paragraph (5). 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a reduction week (or, in the case of persons who are not 
pensioners, part-week) where the applicant satisfies the conditions that— 
(a) he is in receipt of a reduction in council tax under this scheme; and 
(b) but for paragraph 66(1), he would have received a greater reduction in council tax under 
this scheme in that week. 
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the amount of 
capital he is treated as possessing for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) is equal to the 
aggregate of— 
(a) an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to which subparagraph 
(2)(b) refers; 
(b) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing benefit or any 
additional amount of that benefit to which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part 
of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 49(1) of 
the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 (notional capital); 
(c) where the applicant has also claimed income support, the amount of income support to which he 
would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph 
(2) refers but for the application of regulation 51(1) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987 
(notional capital); 
(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker’s allowance, the amount of an income based 
jobseeker’s allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the 
reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 113 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 (notional capital); and 

Page 228



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the amount of an 
income-related employment and support allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect of 
the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the application of 
regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (notional capital). 
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the condition is that the 
applicant is not a pensioner and would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax in the relevant 
week but for paragraph 66(1). 
(5) In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is treated as possessing 
must be equal to the aggregate of— 
(a) the amount of council tax benefit to which the applicant would have been entitled in the relevant 
week but for paragraph 66(1); 
(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006, have been 
entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing benefit in respect of the benefit week 
which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount which is equal to— 
(i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he would have been entitled; or 
(ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing benefit to which he would 
have been entitled; 
(c) if the applicant would, but for regulation 51(1) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987, 
have been entitled to income support in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 
2(1) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the 
amount to which he would have been entitled; 
(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996, have 
been entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the 
meaning of regulation 1(3) of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the 
relevant week, the amount to which he would have been entitled; and 
(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment and support allowance in 
respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) of those Regulations 
(interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount to which he would have 
been entitled. 
(6) But if the amount mentioned in paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub-paragraph (5) (“the relevant 
amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount that is to be taken into account under that 
paragraph is to be determined by— 
(a) dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in that part week, and 
(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7. 
(7) The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under the appropriate 
sub-paragraph if the applicant makes a further claim for a reduction in council tax and the conditions 
in sub-paragraph (8) are satisfied, and in such a case— 
(a) paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words “relevant week” there were 
substituted the words “relevant subsequent week”; and 
(b) subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from the first week following 
the relevant subsequent week in question. 
(8) The conditions are that— 
(a) a further claim is made 26 or more weeks after— 
(i) the date on which the applicant made a claim for a reduction in council tax in respect of which he 
was first treated as possessing the capital in question under paragraph 66(1); 
(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance with subparagraph 
(7), the date on which he last made a claim for a reduction in council tax which resulted in the weekly 
amount being re-determined, or 
(iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction in council tax, whichever last 
occurred; and 
(b) the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax under this scheme but for 
paragraph 66(1). 
(9) The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (6) must not have effect if it is less than 
the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re-determination and in such a case the 
higher amount must continue to have effect. 
(10) For the purposes of this paragraph— 
“part-week”— 
(a) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a period of less than a week 
for which a reduction in council tax under this scheme is allowed; 

Page 229



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b), means a period of less than a week 
for which housing benefit is payable; 
(c) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), means— 
(i) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support, an income-related 
employment and support allowance or, as the case may be, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance 
is payable; and 
(ii) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question of which the 
applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of paragraph 66(1)— 
(a) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to a reduction; 
or 
(b) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of determining or re determining 
his entitlement to a reduction on that subsequent occasion and that determination or re-determination 
resulted in his beginning to receive, or ceasing to receive, a reduction, and where more than one 
reduction week is identified by reference to paragraphs (a) and (b) of this definition, the later or latest 
such reduction week or, as the case may be, the later or latest such part-week is the relevant week;  
“relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which includes the day on which 
the further claim or, if more than one further claim has been made, the last such claim was made. 
 
Capital jointly held 
68. Except where an applicant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 66(7) 
(notional capital), where an applicant and one or more persons are beneficially entitled in possession 
to any capital asset they must be treated as if each of them were entitled in possession to the whole 
beneficial interest therein in an equal share and the foregoing provisions of this Chapter apply for the 
purposes of calculating the amount of capital which the applicant is treated as possessing as if it were 
actual capital which the applicant does possess. 
 
Calculation of tariff income from capital: pensioners 
69. Subject to paragraph 62(2)(a), the capital of an applicant who is a pensioner is to be treated as if it 
were a weekly income of— 
(a) £1 for each £500 in excess of £10,000; and 
(b) £1 for any excess which is not a complete £500. 
 
 
 
Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners 
70.—(1) Where the capital of an applicant who is not a pensioner calculated in accordance with this 
Part exceeds £6,000, it must be treated as equivalent to a weekly income of £1 for each complete 
£250 in excess of £6,000 but not exceeding £16,000. 
(2) Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (1) where any part of the excess is not a complete £250 that part 
must be treated as equivalent to a weekly tariff income of £1. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), capital includes any income treated as capital under 
paragraph 63 (income treated as capital). 
 

PART 11 
Students 

 
CHAPTER 1 
General 

 
Interpretation 
71.—(1) In this Part— 
“academic year” means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 1

st
 July or 1st 

September according to whether the course in question begins in the winter, the spring, the summer 
or the autumn respectively but if students are required to begin attending the course during August or 
September and to continue attending through the autumn, the academic year of the course is to be 
considered to begin in the autumn rather than the summer; 
“access funds” means— 
(a) grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 for the purpose of 
providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students; 

Page 230



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) grants made under sections 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(c) grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1993 or 
grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further Education (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1997 in each case being grants, or grants, loans or other payments as the case may be, for the 
purpose of assisting students in financial difficulties; 
(d) discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made available to students in 
further education by institutions out of funds provided by the Secretary of State under section 14 of 
the Education Act 2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding under sections 100 and 101 of the 
Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009; or 
(e) Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers; 
“college of further education” means a college of further education within the meaning of Part 1 of the 
Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
“contribution” means— 
(a) any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the Secretary of State, 
the Scottish Ministers or an education authority takes into account in ascertaining the amount of a 
student’s grant or student loan; or 
(b) any sums, which in determining the amount of a student’s allowance or bursary in Scotland under 
the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or education authority takes into account 
being sums which the Scottish Ministers or education authority considers that it is reasonable for the 
following persons to contribute towards the holder’s expenses— 
(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary; 
(ii) the holder’s parents; 
(iii) the holder’s parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living with the holder’s parent as if 
he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that parent; or 
(iv) the holder’s spouse or civil partner; 
“course of study” means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich course and whether or 
not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it; 
“covenant income” means the gross income payable to a full-time student under a Deed of Covenant 
by his parent; 
“education authority” means a government department, a local authority as defined in section 579 of 
the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority as defined in section 123 of the 
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, an education and library board established under Article 3 of 
the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, any body which is a research council for 
the purposes of the Science and Technology Act 1965 or any analogous government department, 
authority, board or body, of the Channel Islands, Isle of Man or any other country outside Great 
Britain; 
“full-time course of study” means a full-time course of study which— 
(a) is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education Act 
2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers or a full-time course of study 
which is not funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a college of further education or a 
full-time course of study which is a course of higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the 
Scottish Ministers; 
(b) is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education Act 2002, 
the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if it involves more than 16 guided 
learning hours per week for the student in question, according to the number of guided learning hours 
per week for that student set out— 
(i) in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the Education Act 
2002 or the Chief Executive of Skills Funding, in the student’s learning agreement signed on behalf of 
the establishment which is funded by either of those persons for the delivery of that course; or 
(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document signed on behalf of the 
establishment which is funded by that Council for the delivery of that course; or 
(c) is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers at a college of 
further education and involves— 
(i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed learning under 
the direct guidance of teaching staff according to the number of hours set out in a document signed 
on behalf of the college; or  
(ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based programmed learning under the 
direct guidance of teaching staff and additional hours using structured learning packages supported 
by the teaching staff where the combined total of hours exceeds 21 hours per week, according to the 
number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; 

Page 231



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

“full-time student” means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study and includes a 
student on a sandwich course; 
“grant” (except in the definition of “access funds”) means any kind of educational grant or award and 
includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition, allowance or bursary but does not include a 
payment from access funds or any payment to which paragraph 12 of Schedule 4 or paragraph 53 of 
Schedule 5 applies; 
“grant income” means— 
(a) any income by way of a grant; 
(b) any contribution whether or not it is paid; 
“higher education” means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the Further and Higher 
Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
“last day of the course” means— 
(a) in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course falls or the date on 
which the final examination relating to that course is completed, whichever is the later; 
(b) in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in respect of the 
course in which the student is enrolled; 
“period of study” means— 
(a) in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the start of the 
course and ending with the last day of the course; 
(b) in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case may be, any 
subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, the period beginning with the 
start of the course or, as the case may be, that year’s start and ending with either— 
(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the student’s grant or loan is 
assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying throughout the year or, if he does not have a grant or 
loan, where a loan would have been assessed at such a rate had he had one; or 
(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation appropriate to his 
course; 
(c) in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning with that year’s 
start and ending with the last day of the course; 
“periods of experience” means periods of work experience which form part of a sandwich course; 
“qualifying course” means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 and 4 of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996; 
“sandwich course” has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education (Student Support) 
Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans) (Scotland) 
Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(8) of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 
2007, as the case may be; 
“standard maintenance grant” means— 
(a) except where paragraph (b) or (c) applies, in the case of a student attending or undertaking a 
course of study at the University of London or an establishment within the area comprising the City of 
London and the Metropolitan Police District, the amount specified for the time being in paragraph 
2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (“the 2003 
Regulations”) for such a student;  
(b) except where paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his parent’s home, the 
amount specified in paragraph 3 thereof; 
(c) in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education (Scotland) Act 
1980, the amount of money specified as “standard maintenance allowance” for the relevant year 
appropriate for the student set out in the Student Support in Scotland Guide issued by the Student 
Awards Agency for Scotland, or its nearest equivalent in the case of a bursary provided by a college 
of further education or a local education authority; 
(d) in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to the 2003 Regulations 
other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof;  
“student” means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, who is attending or 
undertaking— 
(a) a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
(b) a qualifying course; 
“student loan” means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any regulations made 
under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, section 73 of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 and 
includes, in Scotland, a young student’s bursary paid under regulation 4(1)(c) of the Students’ 
Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 2007. 

Page 232



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(2) For the purposes of the definition of “full-time student” in sub-paragraph (1), a person must be 
regarded as attending or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time course of study or as being on a 
sandwich course— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), in the case of a person attending or undertaking a part of a modular 
course which would be a full-time course of study for the purposes of this Part, for the period 
beginning on the day on which that part of the course starts and ending— 
(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational establishment as attending or 
undertaking that part as a full-time course of study; or 
(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is dismissed from it; 
(b) in any other case, throughout the period beginning on the date on which he starts attending or 
undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the course or on such earlier date (if any) as he 
finally abandons it or is dismissed from it. 
(3) For the purposes of paragraph (a) of sub-paragraph (2), the period referred to in that paragraph 
includes— 
(a) where a person has failed examinations or has failed successfully to complete a module relating to 
a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course as a fulltime course of study, any 
period in respect of which he attends or undertakes the course for the purpose of retaking those 
examinations or that module; 
(b) any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately following that 
period except where the person has registered with the educational establishment to attend or 
undertake the final module in the course and the vacation immediately follows the last day on which 
he is required to attend or undertake the course. 
(4) In sub-paragraph (2), “modular course” means a course of study which consists of two or more 
modules, the successful completion of a specified number of which is required before a person is 
considered by the educational establishment to have completed the course. 
 
Treatment of students 
72. This scheme has effect in relation to students subject to paragraph 23 (class of person excluded 
from this scheme: students) and the following provisions of this Part. 
 
Students who are excluded from entitlement to a council tax reduction under this scheme 
73.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (6), for the purposes of paragraph 23 (class of person 
excluded from this scheme: students), this paragraph applies to full-time students and students who 
are persons treated as not being in Great Britain. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a student— 
(a) who is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance; 
(b) who is a lone parent; 
(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this paragraph, include the disability premium or severe 
disability premium; 
(d) whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his being treated as capable 
of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with regulations made under section 171E of 
the SSCBA; 
(e) who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been so treated as 
incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made under, Part 12A of the 
SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous period of not less than 196 days; and for this purpose 
any two or more separate periods separated by a break of not more than 56 days must be treated as 
one continuous period; 
(f) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been treated as having, 
limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008 for a continuous period of not less than 196 days, and for this purpose any two or more separate 
periods separated by a break of not more than 84 days must be treated as one continuous period; 
(g) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as responsible for 
a child or young person; 
(h) who is a single applicant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or voluntary organisation 
within the meaning of the Children Act 1989 or, in Scotland, boarded out within the meaning of the 
Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
(i) who is— 
(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher education, or 

Page 233



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(ii) a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the SSCBA (child and 
qualifying young person); 
(j) in respect of whom— 
(i) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Part 2 of Schedule 2 to 
the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003; 
(ii) an allowance, or as the case may be, bursary has been granted which includes a sum under 
paragraph (1)(d) of regulation 4 of the Students’ Allowances (Scotland) Regulations 1999 or, as the 
case may be, under paragraph (1)(d) of regulation 4 of the Education Authority (Bursaries) (Scotland) 
Regulations 1995, in respect of expenses incurred; 
(iii) a payment has been made under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 or under or by virtue of 
regulations made under the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998; 
(iv) a grant has been made under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) Regulations 2005 
or under regulation 13 of the Education (Student Support) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2000; or 
(v) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of Schedule 6 to the 
Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1999 or a payment has been made under Article 
50(3) of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) Order 1986, on account of his disability by 
reason of deafness. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(i)(i) the student must have begun, or been enrolled or 
accepted onto, the course before attaining the age of 19. 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), once sub-paragraph (2)(e) applies to a full-time student, if 
he then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be treated as incapable, of 
work, that sub-paragraph must, on his again becoming so incapable, or so treated as incapable, of 
work at the end of that period, immediately thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains 
incapable or is treated as remaining incapable, of work. 
(5) In sub-paragraph (2)(i) the reference to a course of higher education is a reference to a course of 
any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education Reform Act 1988. 
(6) A full-time student to whom paragraph (i) of sub-paragraph (2) applies must be treated as 
satisfying that sub-paragraph from the date on which he made a request for the supplementary 
requirement, allowance, bursary or payment as the case may be. 
(7) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a full-time student for the period specified in subparagraph 
(8) if— 
(a) at any time during an academic year, with the consent of the relevant educational establishment, 
he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is— 
(i) engaged in caring for another person; or 
(ii) ill; 
(b) he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case may be, he 
has subsequently recovered from that illness; and 
(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified in subparagraph 
(8). 
(8) The period specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (7) is the period, not exceeding one year, 
beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the case may 
be, the day on which he recovered from that illness and ending on the day before— 
(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may resume 
attending or undertaking the course, whichever first occurs. 
 

CHAPTER 2 
Income 

 
Calculation of grant income 
74.—(1) The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account must, subject to 
subparagraphs 
(2) and (3), be the whole of his grant income. 
(2) There must be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment— 
(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
(b) in respect of the student’s disability; 
(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential study away from the 
student’s educational establishment; 
(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at which he resides during 
his course; 

Page 234



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside the United Kingdom and 
there is no applicable amount in respect of him; 
(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the course; 
(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant; 
(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part 3 of the Children Act 1989. 
(3) Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing such a loan, there 
must be excluded from the student’s grant income— 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, whether or not any 
such costs are incurred. 
(4) There must also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for dependants known as 
the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations made under Article 3 of the Education 
(Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education 
Act 1998. 
(5) Subject to sub-paragraphs (6) and (7), a student’s grant income must be apportioned— 
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (8), in a case where it is attributable to the period of study, equally 
between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which coincides 
with, or immediately follows, the first day of the period of study and ending with the reduction week, 
the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study; 
(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the 
first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the period for which it is 
payable and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the period for which it is payable. (6) Any grant in respect of dependants 
paid under section 63(6) of the Health Services and Public Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the 
provision of instruction to officers of hospital authorities) and any amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants under Part 3 of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) 
Regulations 2003 must be apportioned equally over the period of 52 weeks or, if there are 53 
reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the year, 53. 
(7) In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have acquired a 
student loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants to which neither sub-paragraph (6) nor paragraph 78(2) (other amounts 
to be disregarded) applies, must be apportioned over the same period as the student’s loan is 
apportioned or, as the case may be, would have been apportioned. 
(8) In the case of a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the period of 
study must be excluded and the student’s grant income must be apportioned equally between the 
weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which immediately follows 
the last day of the period of experience and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which 
coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study. 
 
Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed 
75.—(1) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study and a 
contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken into account for that 
period and any summer vacation immediately following must be the whole amount of the covenant 
income less, subject to sub-paragraph (3), the amount of the contribution. 
(2) The weekly amount of the student’s covenant must be determined— 
(a) by dividing the amount of income which falls to be taken into account under subparagraph 
(1) by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; and 
(b) by disregarding £5 from the resulting amount. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the contribution must be treated as increased by the 
amount (if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 74(2)(g) (calculation of grant income) 
falls short of the amount specified in paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory 
Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel expenditure). 
 
Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed 
76.—(1) Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of his covenant 
income must be calculated as follows— 
(a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 74(2)(a) to (e) (calculation of grant 
income) necessary as a result of his attendance on the course must be disregarded; 

Page 235



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, which is not so 
disregarded, must be apportioned equally between the weeks of the period of study; 
(c) there must be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which would have been 
disregarded under paragraph 74(2)(f) and (3) (calculation of grant income) had the student been in 
receipt of the standard maintenance grant; and 
(d) the balance, if any, must be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the circumstances and 
treated as weekly income of which £5 must be disregarded. 
(2) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution has been assessed, 
the amount of his covenanted income must be calculated in accordance with subparagraphs 
(a) to (d) of sub-paragraph (1), except that— 
(a) the value of the standard maintenance grant must be abated by the amount of such grant income 
less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 74(2)(a) to (e); and 
(b) the amount to be disregarded under sub-paragraph (1)(c) must be abated by an amount equal to 
the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 74(2)(f) and (g) and (3). 
 
Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 8 
77. No part of a student's covenant income or grant income shall be disregarded under paragraph 19 
of Schedule 8. 
 
Other amounts to be disregarded 
78.—(1) For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income and 
loans treated as income in accordance with paragraph 79 (treatment of student loans), any amounts 
intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 74(2) (calculation of grant income), necessary as 
a result of his attendance on the course shall be disregarded. 
(2) But sub-paragraph (1) applies only if, and to the extent that, the necessary expenditure exceeds or 
is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under paragraph 74(2) or (3), 75(3), 76(1)(a) 
or (c) or 79(5) (calculation of grant income, covenant income and treatment of student loans) on like 
expenditure. 
 
Treatment of student loans 
79.—(1) A student loan is to be treated as income. 
(2) In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income— 
(a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, a loan which is payable 
in respect of that period is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with— 
(i) except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of which 
coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the single academic year; 
(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or where the course is less 
than an academic year’s duration, the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or 
immediately follows, the first day of the course, and ending with the reduction week, the last day of 
which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the course; 
(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st September, a loan which 
is payable in respect of that academic year is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period— 
(i) beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with or immediately follows, the 
first day of that academic year, and 
(ii) ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or immediately precedes, the 
last day of that academic year, but excluding any reduction weeks falling entirely within the quarter 
during which, in the opinion of the authority, the longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes 
of this paragraph, “quarter” shall have the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education 
(Student Support) Regulations 2005; 
(c) in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single year’s duration), a 
loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year is to be apportioned equally between the 
weeks in the period beginning with— 
(i) except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the first day of which 
coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of that academic year; 
(ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, the first day of which 
coincides with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st September or the first day of the autumn term, 
and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, 
the last day of the course; 

Page 236



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(d) in any other case, the loan is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning 
with the earlier of— 
(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows the first day of the 
autumn term, and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of June, and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned there shall 
be disregarded £10. 
(3) A student is to be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an academic year where— 
(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
(b) he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to do so. 
(4) Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under sub-paragraph (3), the amount of 
the student loan to be taken into account as income must be, subject to sub-paragraph (5)— 
(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic year, a sum 
equal to— 
(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps 
to do so; and 
(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 
(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an academic year, the 
maximum student loan that would be made to the student if— 
(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of 
that year; and 
(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means test. 
(5) There must be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under sub-paragraph 
(4)— 
(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, whether or not any 
such costs are incurred. 
 
Treatment of payments from access funds 
80.—(1) This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to which 
paragraph 83(2) or (3) (income treated as capital) applies. 
(2) A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (3) applies, must be 
disregarded as income. 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4) of this paragraph and paragraph 40 of Schedule 8— 
(a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item of food, ordinary 
clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, as the case 
may be, of the applicant or any other member of his family, and 
(b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water charges for which 
that applicant or member is liable, must be disregarded as income to the extent of £20 per week. 
(4) Where a payment from access funds is made— 
(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but before receipt 
of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is intended for the purpose of bridging the 
period until receipt of the student loan; or 
(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person becoming a student, 
that payment must be disregarded as income. 
 
Disregard of contribution 
81. Where the applicant or his partner is a student and, for the purposes of assessing a contribution to 
the student’s grant or student loan, the other partner’s income has been taken into account, an 
amount equal to that contribution must be disregarded for the purposes of assessing that other 
partner’s income. 
 
Further disregard of student’s income 
82. Where any part of a student’s income has already been taken into account for the purposes of 
assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into account must be 
disregarded in assessing that student’s income. 
 
Income treated as capital 
83.—(1) Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student’s covenant income must be 
treated as capital. 

Page 237



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(2) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum must be treated as capital. 
(3) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum which is intended and used for an item 
other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, or which is used for an item 
other than any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable, must be 
disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the payment. 
 
Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation 
84. In calculating a student’s income the authority must disregard any change in the standard 
maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate to the student’s course, 
if that vacation does not form part of his period of study from the date on which the change occurred 
to the end of that vacation. 
 
 
 
 

PART 12 
 

Extended reductions 
CHAPTER 1 

Extended reductions: pensioners 
 
Extended reductions: pensioners 
85. Paragraphs 86 to 91 apply in relation to applicants who are pensioners. 
 
Extended payments (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 
86.—(1) Except in the case of an applicant who is in receipt of state pension credit, an applicant who 
is entitled to a reduction under this scheme (by virtue of the general conditions of entitlement) must be 
entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) where— 
(a) the applicant or the applicant's partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the applicant's 
partner— 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, and that employment is or, as the 
case may be, those increased earnings or increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks 
or more; 
(c) the applicant or the applicant's partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a continuous period of at 
least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased; 
and 
(d) the applicant or the applicant's partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a qualifying income-
related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant's partner, was entitled 
to a qualifying contributory benefit. 
(2) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of the general 
conditions of entitlement where— 
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the applicant 
vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which entitlement to 
a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and  
(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances listed in sub-
paragraph (1)(b). 
 
Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 
87.—(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), the 
extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the 
reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant's partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant's partner ceases to be entitled 
to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to that 
benefit. 

Page 238



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(3) The extended reduction period ends— 
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant who is receiving the extended reduction (qualifying contributory 
benefits) has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 
 
Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): pensioners 
88.—(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 
(qualifying contributory benefits) the applicant is entitled to shall be the greater of— 
(a) the amount of council tax reduction to which the applicant was entitled under the general 
conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the applicant or the applicant's partner 
ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction period, if 
paragraph 86 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits):pensioners) did not apply to the 
applicant; or 
(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant's partner would be entitled under 
the general conditions of entitlement, if paragraph 86 did not apply to the applicant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 
(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) under 
this paragraph and the applicant's partner makes a claim for a reduction under this scheme, no 
reduction shall be awarded during the extended reduction period. 
 
Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: pensioners 
89.—(1) This paragraph applies— 
(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 
(2) The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) awarded from the Monday 
from which this paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period shall be the amount 
of reduction under this scheme which was payable to the mover for the last reduction week before the 
mover, or the mover's partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 
(3) Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a billing authority 
other than this one, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a 
payment from this authority to— 
(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 
 
Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to 
council tax benefit under the general conditions of entitlement: pensioners 
90.—(1) Where an applicant's reduction under this scheme would have ended when the applicant 
ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 
86(1)(b), that reduction does not cease to have effect until the end of the extended reduction period. 
(2) Part 13 (period of entitlement and changes of circumstances) shall not apply to any extended 
reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable in accordance with paragraph 88(1)(a) or 
paragraph 89(2) (amount of extended reduction — movers: pensioners). 
 
Continuing reductions where state pension credit claimed: pensioners 
91.—(1) This paragraph applies where— 
(a) the applicant is entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(b) sub-paragraph (2) is satisfied; and 
(c) either— 
(i) the applicant has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or, if his entitlement to income-
based jobseeker's allowance or income-related employment and support allowance continued beyond 
that age, has attained the age of 65; or 
(ii) the applicant's partner has actually claimed state pension credit. 
(2) This sub-paragraph is only satisfied if the Secretary of State has certified to the authority that the 
applicant's partner has actually claimed state pension credit or that— 
(a) the applicant's award of— 
(i) income support has terminated because the applicant has attained the qualifying age for state 
pension credit; or 

Page 239



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(ii) income-based jobseeker's allowance or income-related employment and support allowance has 
terminated because the applicant has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or the age of 
65; and 
(b) the applicant has claimed or is treated as having claimed or is required to make a claim for state 
pension credit. 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), in a case to which this paragraph applies, a reduction under this 
scheme shall continue to be awarded for the period of 4 weeks beginning on the day following the day 
the applicant's entitlement to income support or, as the case may be, income-based jobseeker's 
allowance, income-related employment and support allowance, ceased, if and for so long as the 
applicant otherwise satisfies the conditions for entitlement to a reduction under this scheme. 
(4) Where a reduction under this scheme is awarded for the period of 4 weeks in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (3) above, and the last day of that period falls on a day other than the last day of a 
reduction week, then a reduction under this scheme shall continue to be awarded until the end of the 
reduction week in which the last day of that period falls. 
(5) Throughout the period of 4 weeks specified in sub-paragraph (3) and any further period specified 
in sub-paragraph (4)— 
(a) the whole of the income and capital of the applicant is to be disregarded; 
(b) the maximum council tax benefit of the applicant is to be that which was applicable in his case 
immediately before that period commenced. 
(6) The maximum council tax benefit is to be calculated in accordance with paragraph 28(1) if, since 
the date it was last calculated— 
(a) the applicant's council tax liability has increased; or 
(b) a change in the deduction under paragraph 29 falls to be made. 

 
CHAPTER 2 

Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
 
Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
92. Paragraphs 93 to 102 apply in relation to applicants who are not pensioners. 
 
Extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners 
93.—(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme (by virtue of the general 
conditions of entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction where— 
(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the applicant or the applicant’s 
partner— 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, and that employment is or, as the 
case may be, those increased earnings or increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks 
or more; and 
(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-
related benefit, jobseeker’s allowance or a combination of those benefits for a continuous period of at 
least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1)(c), an applicant or an applicant’s partner is to be treated as 
having been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-related benefit or jobseeker’s allowance 
during any period of less than five weeks in respect of which the applicant or the applicant’s partner 
was not entitled to any of those benefits because the applicant or the applicant’s partner was engaged 
in remunerative work as a consequence of their participation in an employment zone programme. 
(3) For the purpose of this paragraph, where an applicant or an applicant’s partner is entitled to and in 
receipt of joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance they shall be treated as being entitled to and in receipt of 
jobseeker’s allowance. 
(4) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of the general 
conditions of entitlement where— 
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the applicant 
vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which entitlement to 
a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 
(c) entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the circumstances listed in 
sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

Page 240



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(5) This paragraph does not apply where, on the day before an applicant’s entitlement to income 
support ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987 (remunerative 
work: housing costs) applied to that applicant. 
 
Duration of extended reduction period: persons who are not pensioners 
94.—(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction period starts 
on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the reduction week in which the applicant, 
or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner ceases to be entitled 
to a qualifying income-related benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to 
that benefit. 
(3) The extended reduction period ends— 
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction is payable has no liability for 
council tax, if that occurs first. 
 
Amount of extended reduction: persons who are not pensioners 
95.—(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction to 
which an applicant is entitled is to be the higher of— 
(a) the amount of the reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the applicant or the applicant’s 
partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit; 
(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction period, if 
paragraph 93 (extended reductions: persons who are not pensioners) did not apply to the applicant; 
or 
(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant’s partner would be entitled under 
the general conditions of entitlement, if paragraph 93 did not apply to the applicant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 
(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this paragraph and the applicant’s 
partner makes a claim for a reduction under this scheme, no amount of reduction under this scheme 
is to be awarded by the authority during the extended reduction period. 
 
Extended reductions—movers: persons who are not pensioners 
96.—(1) This paragraph applies— 
(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 
(2) The amount of the extended reduction awarded from the Monday from which this paragraph 
applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the amount of reduction under this 
scheme to which the mover was eligible for the last reduction week before the mover, or the mover’s 
partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 
(3) Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a billing authority 
other than this one, the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a 
payment from this authority to— 
(a) the second authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 
 
Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to reduction under the general 
conditions of entitlement: persons who are not pensioners 
97.—(1) Where an applicant’s reduction under this scheme would have ended when the applicant 
ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 
93(1)(b), that entitlement does not cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 
(2) Paragraphs 104 and 105 do not apply to any extended reduction payable in accordance with 
paragraph 93(1)(a) or 96(2) (amount of extended reduction—movers: persons who are not 
pensioners). 
 
Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not pensioners 
98.—(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme (by virtue of the general 
conditions of entitlement) shall be entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
where— 

Page 241



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the applicant’s 
partner— 
(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, and that employment is or, as the 
case may be, those increased earnings or increased  number of hours are expected to last five weeks 
or more; 
(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying 
contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a continuous period of at 
least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased; 
and 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was not entitled to and not in receipt of a qualifying income-
related benefit in the last reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, was 
entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 
(2) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of the general 
conditions of entitlement where— 
(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the applicant 
vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 
(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which entitlement to 
a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 
(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the circumstances listed in sub-
paragraph (1)(b). 
 
Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are 
not pensioners 
99.—(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits), the 
extended reduction period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the 
reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying 
contributory benefit. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner ceases to be entitled 
to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to that 
benefit. 
(3) The extended reduction period ends— 
(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
(b) on the date on which the applicant entitled to the extended reduction (qualifying contributory 
benefits) has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 
 
Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners 
100.—(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the extended reduction 
(qualifying contributory benefits) payable to an applicant is to be the greater of— 
(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled under the general 
conditions of entitlement in the last reduction week before the applicant or the applicant’s partner 
ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 
(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled under the 
general conditions of entitlement for any reduction week during the extended reduction period, if 
paragraph 98 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits): persons who are not 
pensioners) did not apply to the applicant; or 
(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant’s partner would be entitled under 
the general conditions of entitlement, if paragraph 98 did not apply to the applicant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 
(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) under 
this paragraph and the applicant’s partner makes an application for a reduction under this scheme, no 
amount of reduction shall be allowed by the appropriate authority during the extended reduction 
period. 
 
 
 
 

Page 242



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)—movers: persons who are not 
pensioners 
101.—(1) This paragraph applies— 
(a) to a mover; and 
(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 
(2) The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable from the Monday 
from which this paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the amount 
of reduction under this scheme which was awarded to the mover for the last reduction week before 
the mover, or the mover’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 
(3) Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to another authority, 
the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) may take the form of a payment from this 
authority to— 
(a) that other authority; or 
(b) the mover directly. 
 
Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement 
to reduction under the general conditions of entitlement: persons who are not pensioners 
102.—(1) Where an applicant’s reduction under this scheme would have ended when the applicant 
ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 
98(1)(b), that reduction does not cease until the end of the extended reduction period.  
(2) Paragraphs 104 and 105do not apply to any extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
payable in accordance with paragraph 100(1)(a) or 101(2) (amount of extended reduction—movers: 
persons who are not pensioners). 
 

CHAPTER 3 
Extended reductions: movers in the authority’s area 

 
Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority’s area 
103.Where— 
(a) an application is made to a billing authority (“the current authority”) for a reduction under this 
scheme, and 
(b) the applicant, or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction from— 
(i) another billing authority in England; 
(ii) a billing authority in Wales; 
(iii) a local authority in Scotland, or 
(iv) a local authority in Northern Ireland, 
the current billing authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled under this 
scheme by the amount of that extended reduction. 
 
 

PART 13 
Period of entitlement and change of circumstances 

 
Date on which entitlement begins 
104.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any person by whom or in respect of whom an application for 
a reduction under this scheme is made and who is otherwise entitled to that reduction shall be so 
entitled from the reduction week following the date on which that application is made or is treated as 
made. 
(2) Where a person is otherwise entitled to a reduction under this scheme and becomes liable for the 
first time for the authority’s council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident in the 
reduction week in which his application is made or is treated as made, he shall be so entitled from 
that reduction week. 
 
Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect 
105.—(1) Except in cases where paragraph 59 (disregard of changes in tax, contributions, etc.) 
applies and subject to the following provisions of this paragraph and (in the case of applicants who 
are pensioners) paragraph 106, a change of circumstances which affects entitlement to, or the 
amount of, a reduction under this scheme (“change of circumstances”), takes effect from the first day 
of the reduction week following the date on which the change actually occurs. 

Page 243



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(2) Where that change is cessation of entitlement to any benefit under the benefit Acts, the date on 
which the change actually occurs shall be the day immediately following the last day of entitlement to 
that benefit. 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount of 
council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually occurs. 
(4) Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable to pay in respect 
of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 1992 Act (reduced amounts of 
council tax) or changes in the discount to which a dwelling may be subject under section 11 or 12 of 
that Act, it shall take effect from the day on which the change in amount has effect. 
(5) Where the change of circumstances is the applicant's acquisition of a partner, the change takes 
effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place. 
(6) Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant's partner or their separation, it 
takes effect on the day the death or separation occurs. 
(7) If two or more changes of circumstances occurring in the same reduction week would, but for this 
paragraph, take effect in different reduction weeks in accordance with sub-paragraphs (1) to (6) they 
take effect from the day to which the appropriate sub-paragraph from (3) to (6) above refers, or, 
where more than one day is concerned, from the earlier day. 
(8) Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the amount of income, other 
than a benefit or an increase in the amount of a benefit under the SSCBA, is paid in respect of a past 
period and there was no entitlement to income of that amount during that period, the change of 
circumstances shall take effect from the first day on which such income, had it been paid in that 
period at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into account for the 
purposes of this scheme. 
(9) Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (8), where the change of circumstances is the payment of 
income, or arrears of income, in respect of a past period, the change of circumstances takes effect 
from the first day on which such income, had it been timeously paid in that period at intervals 
appropriate to that income, would have fallen to be taken into account for the purposes of this 
scheme. 
(10) Sub-paragraph (11) applies if— 
(a) the applicant or his partner has attained the age of 65; and 
(b) either— 
(i) a non-dependant took up residence in the applicant’s dwelling; or 
(ii) there has been a change of circumstances in respect of a non-dependant so that the amount of 
the deduction which falls to be made under paragraph 29 increased. 
(11) Where this sub-paragraph applies, the change of circumstances referred to in sub-paragraph 
(10)(b) takes effect from the effective date. 
(12) In sub-paragraph (11), but subject to sub-paragraph (13), “the effective date” means— 
(a) where more than one change of a kind referred to in sub-paragraph (10)(b) relating to the same 
non-dependant has occurred since— 
(i) the date on which the applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under this scheme first began; or 
(ii) the date which was the last effective date in respect of such a change, 
whichever is the late, the date which falls 26 weeks after the date on which the first such change 
occurred; 
where paragraph (a) does not apply, the date which falls 26 weeks after the date on which the change 
referred to in sub-paragraph (10)(b) occurred. 
(13) If in any particular case the date determined under sub-paragraph (12) is not the first day of a 
reduction week, the effective date in that case is to be the first day of the next reduction week to 
commence after the date determined under that sub-paragraph. 
(14)This paragraph does not affect those in receipt of a Universal Credit award.  
105.a – Where the change in circumstance affects the amount of Credit entitlement the effective date 
of the change will be the date from which the Department of Work and Pensions revise the Universal 
Credit award.  
 
Change of circumstances where state pension credit in payment 
106.—(1) Sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) apply where— 
(a) the applicant is in receipt of state pension credit; 
(b) the amount of state pension credit awarded to him is changed in consequence of a change in the 
applicant's circumstances or the correction of an official error; and 
(c) the change in the amount of state pension credit payable to the applicant results in a change in the 
amount of a reduction he receives under this scheme. 

Page 244



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(2) Where the change of circumstance is that an increase in the amount of state pension credit 
payable to the applicant results in— 
(a) an increase in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first 
day of the reduction week in which state pension credit becomes payable at the increased rate; or 
(b) a decrease in the reduction he receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first 
day of the reduction week next following the date on which— 
(i) the local authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the increase in the amount of 
state pension credit; or 
(ii) state pension credit is increased, 
whichever is the later. 
(3) Where the change of circumstance (“the relevant change”) is that the applicant's state pension 
credit has been reduced and in consequence the reduction the applicant receives under this scheme 
reduces— 
(a) in a case where the applicant's state pension credit has been reduced because the applicant failed 
to notify the Secretary of State timeously of a change of circumstances, the relevant change takes 
effect from the first day of the reduction week from which state pension credit was reduced; or 
(b) in any other case the relevant change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week next 
following the date on which— 
(i) the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the reduction in the amount of state 
pension credit; or 
(ii) state pension credit is reduced, 
whichever is the later. 
(4) Where the change of circumstance is that state pension credit is reduced and in consequence of 
the change, the amount of a reduction he receives under this scheme is increased, the change takes 
effect from the first day of the reduction week in which state pension credit becomes payable at the 
reduced rate.  
(5) Where a change of circumstance occurs in that an award of state pension credit has been made to 
the applicant or his partner and this would result in a decrease in the amount of reduction he receives 
under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week next following the 
date on which— 
(a) the authority receives notification from the Secretary of State of the award of state pension credit; 
or 
(b) entitlement to state pension credit begins, 
whichever is the later. 
(6) Where, in the case of an applicant who, or whose partner, is or has been awarded state pension 
credit comprising only the savings credit, there is— 
(a) a change of circumstances of a kind described in any of sub-paragraphs (2) to (5) which results 
from a relevant calculation or estimate; and 
(b) a change of circumstances which is a relevant determination, 
each of which results in a change in the amount of reduction the applicant receives under this 
scheme, the change of circumstances referred to in sub-paragraph (b) takes effect from the day 
specified in sub-paragraph (2), (3), (4) or (5) as the case may be, in relation to the change referred to 
in paragraph (a). 
(7) Where a change of circumstance occurs in that a guarantee credit has been awarded to the 
applicant or his partner and this would result in an increase in the amount of a reduction the applicant 
receives under this scheme, the change takes effect from the first day of the reduction week next 
following the date in respect of which the guarantee credit is first payable. 
(8) Where a change of circumstances would, but for this sub-paragraph, take effect under the 
preceding provisions of this paragraph within the 4 week period specified in paragraph 91 (continuing 
reductions where state pension credit claimed), that change takes effect on the first day of the first 
reduction week to commence after the expiry of the 4 week period. 
(9) In this paragraph— 
“official error” means an error made by— 
(a) the authority or a person— 
(i) authorised to carry out any function of the authority relating to this scheme; or 
(ii) providing services relating to this scheme directly or indirectly to the authority; or 
(b) an officer of— 
(i) the Department for Work and Pensions; or 
(ii) the Commissioners of Inland Revenue, 
acting as such, 

Page 245



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

but excludes any error caused wholly or partly by any person or body not specified in paragraph (a) or 
(b) of this definition and any error of law which is shown to have been an error only by virtue of a 
subsequent decision of the court; 
“relevant calculation or estimate” means the calculation or estimate made by the Secretary of State of 
the applicant's or, as the case may be, the applicant's partner's income and capital for the purposes of 
the award of state pension credit; 
“relevant determination” means a change in the determination by the authority of the applicant's 
income and capital using the relevant calculation or estimate, in accordance with paragraph 35(1). 
 

PART 14 
Applications (including duties to notify authority of change of circumstances) 

 
Making an application 
107.—(1) In the case of a couple or members of a polygamous marriage an application is to be made 
by whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of agreement, by such one of 
them as the authority determines. 
(2) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time being 
to act, and— 
(a) a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may 
be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian acting or 
appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000(135) who has power to apply or, as 
the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 
(c) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit, has 
been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of 
Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, that deputy, judicial factor, guardian 
or attorney, as the case may be, may make an application on behalf of that person. 
(3) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable for the time being 
to act and sub-paragraph (2) does not apply to him, the authority may, upon written application made 
to them by a person who, if a natural person, is over the age of 18, appoint that person to exercise on 
behalf of the person who is unable to act, any right to which that person might be entitled under this 
scheme and to receive and deal on his behalf with any sums payable to him. 
(4) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the time being unable 
to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act on his behalf under regulation 33 of 
the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987 (persons unable to act), the authority 
may if that person agrees, treat him as if he had been appointed by them under sub-paragraph (3). 
(5) Where the authority has made an appointment under sub-paragraph (3) or treated a person as an 
appointee under sub-paragraph (4)— 
(a) it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
(b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in writing to the 
authority of his intention to do so; 
(c) any such appointment must terminate when the authority is notified of the appointment of a person 
mentioned in sub-paragraph (2). 
(6) Anything required by this scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the time being unable 
to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned in sub-paragraph (2) above or by or to the person 
appointed or treated as appointed under this paragraph and the receipt of any such person so 
appointed shall be a good discharge to the authority for any sum paid. 
(7) The authority must— 
(a) inform any person making an application of the duty imposed by paragraph 113(1)(a); 
(b) explain the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with that duty; and 
(c) set out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the reduction or its 
amount. 
 
Date on which an application is made 
108.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is— 
(a) in a case where— 
(i) an award of state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit has been made to the 
applicant or his partner, and 
(ii) the application for a reduction under this scheme is made within one month of the date on which 
the claim for that state pension credit which comprises a guarantee credit was received at the 

Page 246



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

appropriate DWP office, the first day of entitlement to state pension credit which comprises a 
guarantee credit arising from that claim; 
(b) in a case where— 
(i) an applicant or his partner is a person in receipt of a guarantee credit, 
(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the dwelling which he 
occupies as his home, and 
(iii) the application to the authority is received at the authority’s offices within one month of the date of 
the change, 
the date on which the change takes place; 
(c) in a case where— 
(i) an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income related 
employment and support allowance or an award of universal credit has been made to the applicant or 
his partner, and 
(ii) the application for a reduction under this scheme is made within one month of the date on which 
the claim for that income support, jobseeker's allowance, employment and support allowance or 
universal credit was received, 
the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance, an income-
related employment and support allowance or universal credit arising from that claim; 
(d) in a case where— 
(i) an applicant or his partner is a person on income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance 
or an income-related employment and support allowance or has an award of universal credit, 
(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of the dwelling which he 
occupies as his home, and 
(iii) the application to the authority is received at the authority’s offices within one month of the date of 
the change, the date on which the change takes place; 
(e) in a case where— 
(i) the applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his death or their separation, 
entitled to a reduction under this scheme, and 
(ii) where the applicant makes an application for a reduction under this scheme within one month of 
the date of the death or the separation, the date of the death or separation; 
(f) except where paragraph (a), (b) or (e) is satisfied, in a case where a properly completed 
application is received within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers reasonable) 
of the date on which an application form was issued to the applicant following the applicant first 
notifying, by whatever means, the authority of an intention to make an application, the date of first 
notification; 
(g) in any other case, the date on which the application is received at the offices of the authority. 
(2) For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(a) a person who has been awarded an income based 
jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance is to be treated as 
entitled to that allowance for any days which immediately precede the first day in that award and on 
which he would, but for regulations made under— 
(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker’s allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to the Jobseekers 
Act 1995 (waiting days); or 
(b) in the case of income-related employment and support allowance, paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to 
the Welfare Reform Act 2007 (waiting days), have been entitled to that allowance. 
(3) Where the defect referred to in paragraph 7 of Schedule 1 to this scheme (application by 
telephone)— 
(a) is corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers reasonable) of the 
date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority is to treat the application as if it had been duly 
made in the first instance; 
(b) is not corrected within one month (or such longer period as the authority considers reasonable) of 
the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority is to treat the application as if it had been 
duly made in the first instance where it considers it has sufficient information to decide on the 
application. 
(4) The authority is to treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in the first instance if, 
in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (5)(a), (b) or (c) are satisfied. 
(5) The conditions are that— 
(a) where paragraph 4(a) of Schedule 1 (incomplete form) applies, the authority receives at the offices 
of the authority the properly completed application or the information requested to complete it or the 
evidence within one month of the request, or such longer period as the authority may consider 
reasonable; or 

Page 247



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) where paragraph 4(b) of Schedule 1 (application not on approved form or further information 
requested by authority) applies— 
(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the offices of the authority properly 
completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the case may be, 
(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested under paragraph 4 of that 
Schedule within one month of the request, 
or, in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 
(c) where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its offices the 
properly completed application or the information requested to complete it within one month of the 
request or within such longer period as the authority considers reasonable. 
(6) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, where 
a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority but it is anticipated that he will become 
so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the relevant period), he may apply for a reduction under this 
scheme at any time in that period in respect of that tax and, provided that liability arises within the 
relevant period, the authority is to treat the application as having been made on the day on which the 
liability for the tax arises. 
(7) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great Britain, where 
the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under this scheme in the reduction week immediately 
following the date of his application but the authority is of the opinion that unless there is a change of 
circumstances he will be entitled to a reduction under this scheme for a period beginning not later 
than— 
(a) in the case of an application made by a pensioner, the seventeenth reduction week following the 
date on which the application is made, or 
(b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the thirteenth reduction 
week following the date on which the application is made, the authority may treat the application as 
made on a date in the reduction week immediately preceding the first reduction week of that period of 
entitlement and award a reduction accordingly. 
(8) Sub-paragraph (7) applies in the case of a person who has attained, or whose partner has 
attained, the age which is 17 weeks younger than the qualifying age for state pension credit. 
 
Back-dating of applications: pensioners 
109.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the time for the making of an application under this scheme 
by a pensioner is as regards any day on which, apart from satisfying the condition of making an 
application, the applicant is entitled to such a reduction, that day and the period of three months 
immediately following it. 
(2) In any case where paragraph 108(1)(a) applies, sub-paragraph (1) does not entitle a person to 
apply for a reduction under this scheme in respect of any day earlier than three months before the 
date on which the claim for state pension credit is made (or treated as made by virtue of any provision 
of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) Regulations 1987). 
 
Back-dating of applications: persons who are not pensioners 
110.—(1) Where an applicant who is a person who is not a pensioner— 
(a) makes an application under this scheme which includes (or which he subsequently requests 
should include) a period before the application is made; and 
(b) from a day in that period, up to the date he made the application (or subsequently requested that 
the application should include a past period), the applicant had continuous good cause for failing to 
make an application (or request that the application should include that period), the application is to 
be treated as made on the date determined in accordance with sub-paragraph (2). 
(2) That date is the latest of— 
(a) the first day from which the applicant had continuous good cause; 
(b) the day 6 months before the date the claim was made; 
(c) the day 6 months before the date when the applicant requested that the application should include 
a past period. 
 
Information and evidence 
111.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), a person who makes an application for a reduction under this 
scheme must satisfy sub-paragraph (2) in relation both to himself and to any other person in respect 
of whom he is making the application. 
(2) This sub-paragraph is satisfied in relation to a person if— 
(a) the application is accompanied by— 

Page 248



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(i) a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or evidence establishing 
that that number has been allocated to the person; or 
(ii) information or evidence enabling the authority to ascertain the national insurance number that has 
been allocated to the person; or 
(b) the person has made an application for a national insurance number to be allocated to him and the 
application for the reduction is accompanied by— 
(i) evidence of the application for a national insurance number to be so allocated; and 
(ii) the information or evidence enabling it to be so allocated. 
(3) Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply— 
(a) in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application for a reduction is made; 
(b) to a person who— 
(i) is a person who is a partner of a person or non-dependant resident in the dwelling with the person 
making an application for a reduction under this scheme; 
(ii) is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes of this scheme; 
(iii) is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) of the Immigration and 
Asylum Act 1999; and 
(iv) has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 
(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (5), a person who makes an application, or a person to whom a 
reduction under this scheme has been awarded, must furnish such certificates, documents, 
information and evidence in connection with the application or the award, or any question arising out 
of the application or the award, as may reasonably be required by the authority in order to determine 
that person's entitlement to, or continuing entitlement to a reduction under this scheme and must do 
so within one month of the authority requiring him to do so or such longer period as the authority may 
consider reasonable. 
(5) Nothing in this paragraph requires a person to furnish any certificates, documents, information or 
evidence relating to a payment to which sub-paragraph (7) applies. 
(6) Where a request is made under sub-paragraph (4), the authority must— 
(a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded of 
his duty under paragraph 113 (duty to notify change of circumstances) to notify the authority of any 
change of circumstances; and 
(b) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed under paragraph 113, indicate to him either orally 
or by notice or by reference to some other document available to him on application and without 
charge, the kind of change of circumstances which is to be notified. 
(7) This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments— 
(a) a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 
(b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 16 of Schedule 9 (payments made under certain 
trusts and certain other payments), other than a payment under the Independent Living Fund (2006); 
(c) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 29(9)(b) or (c) (non-dependant deductions) or 
paragraph 2(b) or (c) of Schedule 4 (second adult's gross income) other than a payment under the 
Independent Living Fund (2006). 
(8) Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under this scheme has been awarded or any 
partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and is a member of, or a person 
deriving entitlement to a pension under, a personal pension scheme, he must where the authority so 
requires furnish the following information— 
(a) the name and address of the pension fund holder; 
(b) such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to enable 
the personal pension scheme to be identified. 
 
Amendment and withdrawal of application 
112.—(1) A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a decision has 
been made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the offices of the authority. 
(2) Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1, the 
amendment may also be made by telephone. 
(3) Any application amended in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) or (2) is to be treated as if it had 
been amended in the first instance. 
(4) A person who has made an application may withdraw it by notice to the offices of the authority at 
any time before a decision has been made on it. 
(5) Where the application was made by telephone in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1, the 
withdrawal may also be made by telephone. 

Page 249



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(6) Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with sub-paragraph (4) or (5) shall have effect when 
it is received. 
 
Duty to notify changes of circumstances 
113.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (3), and (9), the applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) 
must comply with sub-paragraph (2) if there is a relevant change of circumstances at any time— 
(a) between the making of an application and a decision being made on it, or 
(b) after the decision is made (where the decision is that the applicant is entitled to a reduction under 
this scheme) including at any time while the applicant is in receipt of such a reduction. 
(2) The applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must notify any change of circumstances which 
the applicant (or that person) might reasonably be expected to know might affect his entitlement to, or 
the amount of, a reduction under this scheme (a “relevant change of circumstances”) by giving notice 
to the authority— 
(a) in writing; or 
(b) by telephone— 
(i) where the authority has published a telephone number for that purpose or for the purposes of Part 
1 of Schedule 1 unless the authority determines that in any particular case or class of case notification 
may not be given by telephone; or 
(ii) in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice may be given by telephone; 
or 
(c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case. 
(3) The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying— 
(a) changes in the amount of council tax payable to the authority; 
(b) changes in the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
(c) in the case of an applicant in receipt of a relevant benefit, changes in circumstances which affect 
the amount of the benefit but not the amount of the reduction under this scheme to which he is 
entitled, other than the cessation of that entitlement to the benefit. 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) “relevant benefit” means income support, an income-
based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance or universal 
credit. 
(5) Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by sub-paragraph (1) to notify 
the authority of any change in the composition of his family arising from the fact that a person who 
was a member of his family is now no longer such a person because he has ceased to be a child or 
young person. 
(6) The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) includes— 
(a) in the case of a person falling within class C (pensioners: alternative maximum council tax 
reduction) giving written notice to the authority of changes which occur in the number of adults in the 
dwelling or in their total gross incomes and, where any such adult ceases to be in receipt of state 
pension credit, the date when this occurs; 
(b) in the case of a person falling within class F (persons who are not pensioners: alternative 
maximum council tax reduction) giving written notice to the authority of changes which occur in the 
number of adults in the dwelling or in their total gross incomes and, where any such adult ceases to 
be in receipt of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related 
employment and support allowance, the date when this occurs. 
(7) A person who has been granted a reduction under this scheme who is also on state pension credit 
must report— 
(a) changes affecting the residence or income of any non-dependant normally residing with the 
applicant or with whom the applicant normally resides; 
(b) any absence from the dwelling which exceeds or is likely to exceed 13 weeks. 
(8) In addition to the changes required to be reported under sub-paragraph (6), a person whose state 
pension credit comprises only a savings credit must also report— 
(a) changes affecting a child living with him which may result in a change in the amount of reduction 
under this scheme allowed in his case, but not changes in the age of the child; 
(b) any change in the amount of the applicant's capital to be taken into account which does or may 
take the amount of his capital to more than £16,000; 
(c) any change in the income or capital of— 
(i) a non-dependant whose income and capital are treated as belonging to the applicant 
in accordance with paragraph 33 (circumstances in which income of a non-dependant is to be treated 
as applicant's); or 
(ii) a person to whom paragraph 35(2)(e) refers, 

Page 250



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

and whether such a person or, as the case may be, non-dependant stops living or begins or resumes 
living with the applicant. 
(9) A person who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme and on state pension credit need only 
report to the authority the changes specified in sub-paragraphs (6) and (7). 
 

PART 15 
Decisions by authority 

 
Decision by authority 
114. The authority must make a decision on an application for a reduction under this scheme within 
14 days of paragraphs 108 and 111 and Part 1 of Schedule 1 being satisfied, or as soon as 
reasonably practicable thereafter. 
 
Notification of decision 
115.—(1) The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it under this 
scheme— 
(a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter; 
(b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 
(2) Where the decision is to award a reduction the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must include a 
statement— 
(a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by paragraph 113(1)(b); 
(b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply with that duty; 
and 
(c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the reduction or its 
amount. 
(3) A person affected to whom the authority sends or delivers a notification of decision may, within 
one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in writing the authority to provide a 
written statement setting out the reasons for its decision on any matter set out in the notice. 
(4) The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (3) must be sent to the person requesting it 
within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 
(5) For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by a decision of 
the authority under this scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of that person are affected by 
that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (6). 
(6) This sub-paragraph applies to— 
(a) the applicant; 
(b) in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling and is unable for 
the time being to act— 
(i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as the case may be, receive 
benefit on his behalf; or 
(ii) in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the Adults with Incapacity 
(Scotland) Act 2000(138) who has power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit on the 
person’s behalf; or 
(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit, has 
been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of 
Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, 
(c) a person appointed by the authority under paragraph 107(3). 
 

PART 16 
Award or payment of reduction 

 
Time and manner of granting reduction under this scheme 
116.—(1) Subject to paragraph 119 (payments on death), where a person is entitled to a reduction 
under this scheme in respect of his liability for the authority's council tax as it has effect in respect of 
the financial year, the authority must discharge his entitlement— 
(a) by reducing, so far as possible, the amount of his liability to which regulation 20(2) of the Council 
Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers; or 
(b) where— 
(i) such a reduction is not possible; or 

Page 251



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(ii) such a reduction would be insufficient to discharge the entitlement to a reduction under this 
scheme; or 
(iii) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council tax and the 
authority determines that such a reduction would be inappropriate, by making payment to him of the 
amount of reduction to which he is entitled, rounded where necessary to the nearest penny. 
(2) The authority must notify the person entitled to a reduction under this scheme of the amount of 
that reduction and how his entitlement is to be discharged in pursuance of sub-paragraph (1). 
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (1)(b) refers— 
(a) if the amount of the council tax for which he remains liable in respect of the financial year, after 
any reduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) refers has been made, is insufficient to enable his 
entitlement to a reduction under this scheme in respect thereof to be discharged, upon the final 
instalment of that tax becoming due any outstanding reduction— 
(i) must be paid to that person if he so requires; or 
(ii) in any other case must (as the authority determines) either be repaid or credited against any 
subsequent liability of the person to make a payment in respect of the authority's council tax as it has 
effect for any subsequent year; 
(b) if that person has ceased to be liable for the authority's council tax and has discharged the liability 
for that tax, the outstanding balance (if any) of the reduction under this scheme in respect thereof 
must be paid within 14 days or, if that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as practicable thereafter 
(c) in any other case, the reduction under this scheme must be paid within 14 days of the receipt of 
the application at the offices of the authority or, if that is not reasonably practicable, as soon as 
practicable thereafter. 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph “instalment” means any instalment of the authority's council tax 
to which regulation 19 of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers 
(council tax payments). 
 
Person to whom reduction is to be paid 
117.—(1) Subject to paragraph 119 (payment on death) and sub-paragraph (2), any payment of the 
amount of a reduction under paragraph 116(1)(b) must be made to the person who is entitled to the 
reduction. 
(2) Where a person other than the person who is entitled to the reduction under this scheme made the 
application for the reduction and that first person is a person acting pursuant to an appointment under 
paragraph 107(3) (persons appointed to act for a person unable to act) or is treated as having been 
so appointed by virtue of paragraph 107(5), the amount of the reduction may be paid to that person. 
 
 
Shortfall in reduction 
118. Where, on the revision of a decision allowing a reduction under this scheme to a person, it is 
determined that the amount allowed was less than the amount to which that person was entitled, the 
authority must either— 
(a) make good any shortfall in reduction which is due to that person, by reducing so far as possible 
the next and any subsequent payments he is liable to make in respect of the council tax of the 
authority as it has effect for the financial year until that shortfall is made good; or 
(b) where this is not possible or the person concerned so requests, pay the amount of any shortfall in 
reduction due to that person within 14 days of the revision of the decision being made or if that is not 
reasonable practicable, as soon as possible afterwards. 
 
Payment on the death of the person entitled 
119. Where the person entitled to any reduction under this scheme has died and it is not possible to 
award the reduction which is due in the form of a reduction of the council tax for which he was liable, 
the authority must make payment of the amount of the reduction to his executor or administrator in 
accordance with regulation 58(4) of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) Regulations 
1992. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 252



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

PART 17 
Prescribed requirements, adjustments of figures by statute and repeal and re-enactment 

 
Incorporation of prescribed requirements 
120. It is hereby provided that this scheme incorporates the provisions prescribed by The Council Tax 
Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations  SI 2012 No 2885 to the 
extent that the prescribed requirements or any one of the prescribed requirements are not set out 
expressly in this scheme and that the provisions of this scheme shall be interpreted as incorporating 
any such new requirement as from the date prescribed by statute or statutory regulation upon which 
such prescribed requirement comes into force pursuant to the statute or regulation in question but no 
such change shall require a retrospective revision of the scheme to be made by the authority.     
 
Adjustments to figures set out in this scheme 
121. Where any figures set out in this scheme are changed by statute or by statutory regulation during 
the period of operation of this scheme the provisions of this scheme shall be interpreted as 
incorporating any such new figures as from the date upon which such changed figure comes into 
force pursuant to the statute or regulation in question but no such change shall require a retrospective 
re-calculation to be made by the authority.   
 

Repeal and re-enactment   
122. (1) Where an Act of Parliament or subordinate legislation  repeals a previous enactment 
(including a previous regulation)  and substitutes provisions for the enactment repealed, the repealed 
enactment remains in force until the substituted provisions come into force. 
(2) Where an Act of Parliament   or subordinate legislation repeals and re-enacts, with or without 
modification, a previous enactment (including a previous regulation) then, unless the contrary 
intention appears. 

 
SCHEDULE 1 Paragraph 11 

Procedural matters 
 

PART 1 
Procedure for an application for a reduction under this scheme 

 
Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under this scheme 
1.  Paragraphs 2 to 7 apply to an application for a reduction under this scheme. 

 
2. An application may be made— 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this Schedule, or 
(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving such 
applications, by telephone. 
 
3.—(1) An application which is made in writing must be made to the offices of the authority on a 
properly completed form. 
(2) The form must be provided free of charge by the authority for the purpose. 
 
4. Where an application made in writing is defective because— 
(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted by the authority as 
being properly completed; or 
(b) it was made in writing but not on the form approved for the purpose and the authority does not 
accept the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in the circumstances of the case 
having regard to the sufficiency of the written information and evidence, the authority may, in a case 
to which sub-paragraph (a) applies, request the applicant to complete the defective application or, in 
the case to which sub-paragraph (b) applies, supply the applicant with the approved form or request 
further information and evidence. 
(2) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed if completed in 
accordance with the instructions on the form, including any instructions to provide information and 
evidence in connection with the application. 
 

Page 253



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

5.—(1) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority must provide the 
person making the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
(2) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant does not provide all 
the information the authority requires. 
 
6. In a particular case the authority may determine that an application made by telephone is only valid 
if the person making the application approves a written statement of his circumstances provided by 
the authority. 
 
7.—(1) If an application made by telephone is defective the authority must provide the person making 
the application with an opportunity to correct the defect. 
(2) An application made by telephone is defective if the applicant does not provide all the information 
the authority requests during the telephone call. 
 

PART 2 
Procedure for making an appeal 

 
Procedure by which a person may make an appeal against certain decisions of the authority 
 
8. A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority under this scheme may serve a written 
notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds on which, he is aggrieved. 
 
9.The authority must— 
(a) consider the matter to which the notice relates; 
(b) notify the aggrieved person in writing— 
(i) that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or 
(ii) that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps taken. 
 
10.Where, following notification under paragraph 9(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still aggrieved, or if the 
authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with paragraph 9(b) within two months of 
the service of his notice, he may appeal to a valuation tribunal. 
 

PART 3 
Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction 

 
Procedure for an application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 
1992 Act 
 
11. An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 Act must be 
made— 
(a) in writing, 
(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 4 of this Schedule. 
 
 
 
 

PART 4 
Electronic communication 

 
Interpretation 
12. In this Part of this Schedule— 
“information” includes an application for a reduction under this scheme and a certificate,  notice or 
other evidence; 
“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf of the authority for 
the sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information. 
 
Conditions for the use of electronic communication 
13.—(1) The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with applications for, and 
awards of, reductions under this scheme. 

Page 254



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(2) A person other than the authority may use an electronic communication in connection with the 
matters referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the conditions specified in sub-paragraphs (3) to (6) are 
satisfied. 
(3) The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an electronic 
communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the Chief Executive of the 
authority. 
(4) The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of— 
(a) authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
(b) electronic communication; 
(c) authenticating any application or notice delivered by means of an electronic communication; and 
(d) subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 
(5) The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic communication is in a 
form approved for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule. 
(6) The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or electronic form as may 
be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the authority. 
(7) Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of submitting any 
information, that information is to be treated as not having been submitted. 
(8) In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by the Chief 
Executive of the authority for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule. 
 
Use of intermediaries 
14. The authority may use intermediaries in connection with— 
(a) the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and 
(b) the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, 
and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 
 
Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication 
15.—(1) Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to be treated 
as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of this scheme, on the day 
the conditions imposed— 
(a) by this Part of this Schedule; and 
(b) by or under an enactment, 
are satisfied. 
(2) The authority may, by a direction, determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a 
different day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 
(3) Information shall not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer system by means of 
an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to which it is delivered. 
 
Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 
16. If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of— 
(a) the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication to an official 
computer system; or 
(b) the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic communication from an 
official computer system, the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the 
person whose name is recorded as such on that official computer system. 
 
 
Proof of delivery of information 
17.—(1) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an 
electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this shall be presumed to 
have been the case where— 
(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery of that information 
has been recorded on an official computer system; or 
(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery of that 
information has been recorded on an official computer system. 
(2) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of an electronic 
communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information, this shall be presumed not to be 
the case, if that information delivered to the relevant authority has not been recorded on an official 
computer system. 

Page 255



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(3) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, when any such information 
sent by means of an electronic communication has been received, the time and date of receipt shall 
be presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system. 
 
Proof of content of information 
18. If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of any information 
sent by means of an electronic communication, the content shall be presumed to be that recorded on 
an official computer system. 
 

SCHEDULE 2 Paragraph 24 
Applicable amounts: pensioners 

 
PART 1 

Personal allowances 
 
Personal allowance 
1.The amount specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in 
column (1) is the amount specified for the purposes of paragraph 24(1)(a). 
 
 

Column (1)  

Person, couple or polygamous marriage  

Column (2)  

Amount  

(1) Single applicant or lone parent—  

(a) aged under 65;  

(b) aged 65 or over.  

(1)  

(a) £145.40  

(b) £163.50  

(2) Couple—  

(a) both members aged under 65;  

(b) one or both members aged 65 or over.  

(2)  

(a) £222.05  

(b) £244.95 

(3) If the applicant is a member of a polygamous 
marriage and none of the members of the 
marriage has attained the age of 65—  

(a) for the applicant and the other party to the 
marriage;  

(b) for each additional spouse who is a member 
of the same household as the applicant.  

(3)  

(a) £222.05  

(b) £76.65  

(4) If the applicant is a member of a polygamous 
marriage and one or more members of the 
marriage are aged 65 or over—  

(a) for the applicant and the other party to the 
marriage;  

(b) for each additional spouse who is a member 
of the same household as the applicant.  

(4)  

(a) £244.95  

(b) £81.45  

 
 
 
 
Child or young person amounts 
2.—(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in 
column (1) are the amounts, for the relevant period specified in column (1), specified for the 
purposes of paragraph 24(1)(b). 
 
 

Column (1)  

Child or young person  

Column (2)  

Amount  

Person in respect of the period—  

(a) beginning on that person’s date of birth and 
ending on the day preceding the first Monday in 
September following that person’s sixteenth 

(a) £65.62  

Page 256



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

birthday;  

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September 
following that person’s sixteenth birthday and 
ending on the day preceding that person’s 
twentieth birthday.  

(b) £65.62  

 
(2) In column (1) of the table “the first Monday in September” means the Monday which first occurs in 
the month of September in any year 
 
 

PART 2 
Family premium 

 
Family premium 
3. The amount for the purposes of paragraph 24(1)(c) in respect of a family of which at least one 
member is a child or young person is £17.40. 
 

PART 3 
Premiums 

 
4. The premiums specified in Part 4 shall, for the purposes of paragraph 24(1)(d, be applicable 
to an applicant who satisfies the condition specified in this Part in respect of that premium. 
 
5.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, once a premium is 
applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of any benefit 
for— 
(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979 
applies, any period during which, apart from the provision of those Regulations, he would be in receipt 
of that benefit; and 
(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided or 
approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973, or by 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highland and Islands Enterprise under section 2 
of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 or for any period during which he is in receipt 
of a training allowance. 
(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 9 of this Schedule, a person shall be 
treated as being in receipt of a carer’s allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so 
long as the person in respect of whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in receipt of 
attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle 
rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or the daily living component of 
personal independence payment paid at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the 
Welfare Reform Act 2012. 
 
Severe disability premium 
6.—(1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant shall be treated as being a severely disabled 
person if, and only if— 
(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as having no partner 
in consequence of sub-paragraph (3)— 
(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at the 
highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or the daily living 
component of personal independence payment paid at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 
4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; and 
(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally residing with 
him or with whom he is normally residing; and  
(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer’s allowance in respect of caring for him;  
(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner— 
(i) the applicant is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or 

Page 257



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at either rate prescribed in 
accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a polygamous marriage, 
each other member of that marriage is in receipt of such an allowance; and 
(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (6), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally 
residing with him or with whom he is normally residing, and either a person is entitled to and in receipt 
of a carer’s allowance in respect of caring for  only one of the couple or, if he is a member of a 
polygamous marriage, for one or more but not all the members of the marriage, or as the case may 
be, no person is entitled to and in receipt of such an allowance in respect of caring for either member 
of a couple or any of the members of the marriage. 
(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph 
(2)(b)(ii), and that partner is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of sub-paragraph (4), that 
partner shall be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) as if he were not a partner of the 
applicant. 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a person is blind if he is registered in a register compiled 
by a local authority under section 29 of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in 
Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is registered in a register maintained by 
or on behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994. 
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (4), a person who has ceased to be registered as blind on 
regaining his eyesight shall nevertheless be treated as blind and as satisfying the additional condition 
set out in that sub-paragraph for a period of 28 weeks following the date on which he ceased to be so 
registered. 
(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account shall be taken of— 
(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at 
the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, or the daily 
living component of personal independence payment paid at either rate prescribed in accordance with 
Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; or 
(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of sub-paragraphs (4) and (5). 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person shall be treated— 
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at 
the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA, if he would, but 
for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt; 
(b) as being in receipt of the daily living component of personal independence payment paid at the 
rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 if he would, but for his 
being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt, notwithstanding section 86 of that Act 
and regulations made there under; 
(c) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance if he would, but for the person for whom 
he was caring being a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be so entitled and in receipt. 
(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (2)(b)— 
(a) no account shall be taken of an award of carer’s allowance to the extent that payment of such an 
award is back-dated for a period before the date on which the award is first paid; and 
(b) references to a person being in receipt of a carer’s allowance shall include reference to a person 
who would have been in receipt of that allowance but for the application of a restriction under section 
6B or 7 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit). 
 
Enhanced disability premium 
7.—(1) The condition is— 
(a) that the care component of disability living allowance is, or would, but for a suspension of benefit 
in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but for an abatement as a 
consequence of hospitalisation, be payable at the highest rate prescribed under section 73(2) of that 
Act in respect of a child or young person who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 
(b) (as the case may be) that the daily living component of personal independence payment is, or 
would, but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 113(2) of the 
SSCBA or but for an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation under section 86 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012, be payable at the enhanced rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of that Act. 
(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death of a child or 
young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child benefit in respect of that 
person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death of child or qualifying young person). 
 
 

Page 258



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

Disabled child premium 
8. The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his is 
responsible and who is a member of the applicant’s household— 
(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance or personal independence payment or is no longer in 
receipt of such allowance or payment because he is a patient, provided that the child or young person 
continues to be a member of the family; or  
(b) is blind within the meaning of paragraph 6(4) of this Schedule or treated as blind in accordance 
with paragraph 6(5); or 
(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death 
of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of entitlement to child benefit but only for 
the period prescribed under that section, and in respect of whom a disabled child premium was 
included in the applicant’s applicable amount immediately before the death of that child or young 
person, or ceased to be included in the applicant’s applicable amount because of that child or young 
person’s death. 
 
Carer premium 
9.—(1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to a 
carer’s allowance. 
(2) Where a carer premium has been awarded but— 
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; or 
(b) the person in respect of whom the premium was awarded ceases to be entitled, or ceases to be 
treated as entitled, to a carer’s allowance, this paragraph shall be treated as satisfied for a period of 
eight weeks from the relevant date specified in sub-paragraph (3). 
(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) is— 
(a) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(a), the Sunday following the death of the person in respect of 
whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded (or beginning with the date of death if the date 
occurred on a Sunday); 
(b) in a case within sub-paragraph (2)(b), the date on which that person who was entitled to a carer’s 
allowance ceases to be entitled to it. 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, a person shall be treated as being entitled to and in receipt of 
a carer’s allowance for any period not covered by an award but in respect of which a payment is 
made in lieu of an award. 
 
Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
10.For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 6 to 
9 of this Schedule, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-payment 
of any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs shall be treated as if it were a payment of that benefit. 
 
Person in receipt of benefit 
11.For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person shall be regarded as being in receipt of 
any benefit if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and shall be so regarded only for any period in 
respect of which that benefit is paid. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 259



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

PART 4 
Amounts of premium specified in Part 3 

 
 

Provision  Amount  

 
12.—(1) Severe Disability Premium—  
(a) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 
6(2)(a);  
(b) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 
6(2)(b)—  
(i) in a case where there is someone in receipt of a carer’s 
allowance or if he or any partner satisfies that condition only by 
virtue of paragraph 6(7);  
(ii) in a case where there is no-one in receipt of such an 
allowance.  
 

(1)  

(a) £59.50  

(b)  

(i) £59.50  

(ii) £119.00  

 
(2) Enhanced disability premium.  
 

(2) £23.45 in respect of each 
child or young person in respect 
of whom the conditions specified 
in paragraph 7 are satisfied.  

 
(3) Disabled Child Premium.  
 

(3) £57.89 in respect of each 
child or young person in respect 
of whom the condition specified in 
paragraph 8 is satisfied  

 
(4) Carer Premium.  
 

(4) £33.30 in respect of each 
person who satisfies the condition 
specified in paragraph 9.  

SCHEDULE 3 Paragraph 25 

Applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners  

PART 1  

Personal allowances  
1. The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple specified in 

column (1) shall be the amounts specified for the purposes of paragraphs 25(1)(a) and 
26(1)(a) and (b)—  

 
 

Person or couple  Amount  

(1) A single applicant who—  (1)  

(a) is entitled to main phase employment and 
support allowance;  

(a) £71.70  

(b) is aged not less than 25;  (b) £71.70  

(c) is aged not less than 18 but less than 25.  (c) £56.80  

(2) Lone parent.  (2) £71.70  

(3) Couple.  (3) £112.55  

 
 
2. For the purposes of paragraph 1 of this Schedule an applicant is entitled to main phase 
employment and support allowance if— 
(a) paragraph 18 of this Schedule is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or 
(b) the applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance. 
 

Page 260



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

3.—(1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person specified in column (1) 
shall, for the relevant period specified in column (1), be the amounts specified for the purposes of 
paragraphs 25(1)(b) and 26(1)(c) of this scheme— 
 

Child or Young person  Amount  

Person in respect of the period—  

(a) beginning on that person’s date of birth and ending on the day 
preceding the first Monday in September following that person’s 
sixteenth birthday;  

£65.62  

(b) beginning on the first Monday in September following that 
person’s sixteenth birthday and ending on the day preceding that 
person’s twentieth birthday.  

£65.62  

 
 
 (2) In column (1) of the table in sub-paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” means the 
Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 
 

PART 2 
Family premium 

 
4.—(1) The amount for the purposes of paragraphs 25(1)(c) and 26(1)(d) in respect of a family of 
which at least one member is a child or young person shall be— 
(a) where the applicant is a lone parent to whom sub-paragraph (2) applies, £22.20; 
(b) in any other case, £17.40. 
(2) The amount in sub-paragraph (1)(a) shall be applicable to a lone parent— 
(a) who was entitled to council tax benefit on 5th April 1998 and whose applicable amount on that 
date included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 1 to the Council Tax Benefit 
(Persons who have attained the qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 as in force 
on that date; or 
(b) on becoming entitled to council tax reduction where that lone parent— 
(i) had been treated as entitled to that reduction in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) as at the day 
before the date of claim for that benefit; and 
(ii) was entitled to housing benefit as at the date of claim for council tax reduction or would have been 
entitled to housing benefit as at that date had that day not fallen during a rent free period as defined in 
regulation 81 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006, and in respect of whom, all of the conditions 
specified in sub-paragraph (3) have continued to apply. 
(3) The conditions specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) are that, in respect of the period 
commencing on 6th April 1998— 
(a) the applicant has not ceased to be entitled, or has not ceased to be treated as entitled, to— 
(i) council tax benefit (in relation to the period prior to 1st April 2013), and 
(ii) a reduction under this scheme (in relation to the period commencing on 1st April 2013); 
(b) the applicant has not ceased to be a lone parent; 
(c) where the applicant was entitled to income support or to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance 
on 5th April 1998, he has continuously, since that date, been entitled to income support, an income-
based jobseeker’s allowance or income-related employment and support allowance or a combination 
of those benefits; 
(d) where the applicant was not entitled to income support or to an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance on 5th April 1998, he has not become entitled to income support, an income based 
jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance; 
and 
(e) a premium under paragraph 9 of this Schedule or a component under paragraph 21 or 22 
of this Schedule has not become applicable to the applicant. 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2)(b)(i) and (3)(a), an applicant shall be treated as entitled to 
council tax benefit during any period where he was not, or had ceased to be, so entitled and— 
(a) throughout that period, he had been awarded housing benefit and his applicable amount included 
the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of Schedule 3 to the Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006 (lone parent rate of family premium);  
(b) he would have been awarded housing benefit during that period had that period not been a rent 
free period as defined in regulation 81 of the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 and his applicable 

Page 261



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

amount throughout that period would have included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of 
Schedule 3 to those Regulations. 
 

PART 3 
Premiums 

 
5. Except as provided in paragraph 6 of this Schedule, the premiums specified in Part 4 of this 
Schedule shall, for the purposes of paragraphs 25(1)(d) and 26(1)(e) of this scheme, be applicable to 
an applicant who satisfies the condition specified in paragraphs 9 to 14 of this Schedule in respect of 
that premium. 
 
6. Subject to paragraph 7 of this Schedule, where an applicant satisfies the conditions in respect of 
more than one premium in this Part of this Schedule, only one premium shall be applicable to him 
and, if they are different amounts, the higher or highest amount shall apply. 
 
7. The following premiums, namely— 
(a) a severe disability premium to which paragraph 11 of this Schedule applies; 
(b) an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 12 of this Schedule applies; 
(c) a disabled child premium to which paragraph 13 of this Schedule applies; and 
(d) a carer premium to which paragraph 14 of this Schedule applies, may be applicable in addition to 
any other premium which may apply under this Schedule. 
 
8.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, once a premium is 
applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person shall be treated as being in receipt of any benefit 
for— 
(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) Regulations 1979  
(140) applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of those Regulations, he would be in 
receipt of that benefit; and 
(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction provided or 
approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or by 
Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise under section 2 
of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 for any period during which he is in receipt of a 
training allowance. 
(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 14 of this Schedule, a person shall be 
treated as being in receipt of carer’s allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if and for so long 
as the person in respect of whose care the allowance has been claimed remains in receipt of 
attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at the highest or middle 
rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of 
personal independence payment payable under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 
 
Disability premium 
9. The condition is that— 
(a) where the applicant is a single applicant or a lone parent, he has not attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit and the additional condition specified in paragraph 
10 of this Schedule is satisfied; or 
(b) where the applicant has a partner, either— 
(i) the applicant has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the additional 
condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) or (b) is satisfied by him; or  
(ii) his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and the additional condition 
specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) is satisfied by his partner. 
 
Additional condition for the disability premium 
10.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and paragraph 8 of this Schedule, the additional condition 
referred to in paragraph 9 of this Schedule is that either— 
(a) the applicant or, as the case may be, his partner— 
(i) is in receipt of one or more of the following benefits: attendance allowance, disability living 
allowance, personal independence payment, the disability element or the severe disability element of 
working tax credit as specified in regulation 20(1)(b) 
and (f) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002, mobility 
supplement, long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA or severe disablement allowance 

Page 262



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

under Part 3 of that Act but, in the case of long-term incapacity benefit or severe disablement 
allowance, only where it is paid in respect of him; or 
(ii) was in receipt of long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA when entitlement to that 
benefit ceased on account of the payment of a retirement pension under that Act and the applicant 
has since remained continuously entitled to council tax benefit and, if the long-term incapacity benefit 
was payable to his partner, the partner is still a member of the family; or 
(iii) was in receipt of attendance allowance or disability living allowance but payment of benefit has 
been suspended in accordance with regulations made under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or 
otherwise abated as a consequence of the applicant or his partner becoming a patient within the 
meaning of paragraph 57(11)(i) (treatment of child care charges); or 
(iv) was in receipt of personal independence payment, but payment of that benefit has been 
suspended in accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 as a consequence of the 
applicant becoming a patient within the meaning of paragraph 57(11)(i) (treatment of child care 
charges); or 
(v) is provided by the Secretary of State with an invalid carriage or other vehicle under section 5(2) of 
the National Health Service Act 1977 (other services) or, in Scotland, under section 46 of the National 
Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978 (provision of services by Scottish Ministers) or receives payments 
by way of grant from the Secretary of State under paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to the Act of 1977 
(additional provisions as to vehicles) or, in Scotland, by Scottish Ministers under section 46 of the Act 
of 1978; or 
(vi) is blind and in consequence registered in a register compiled by a local authority under section 29 
of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and 
in consequence he is registered in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under 
section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 
(b) the applicant— 
(i) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made 
under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work); and 
(ii) has been incapable, or has been treated as incapable, of work for a continuous period of not less 
than— 
(aa) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of section 30B(4) of the 
SSCBA, 196 days; 
(bb) in any other case, 364 days. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a)(vi), a person who has ceased to be registered as blind 
on regaining his eyesight shall nevertheless be treated as blind and as satisfying the additional 
condition set out in that sub-paragraph for a period of 28 weeks following the date on which he 
ceased to be so registered. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to an applicant 
by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, if he then ceases, for a 
period of 8 weeks or less, to be treated as incapable of work or to be incapable of work he shall, on 
again becoming so incapable of work, immediately thereafter be treated as satisfying the condition in 
sub-paragraph (1)(b). 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is applicable to an applicant 
by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in that provision, he shall continue to be 
treated as satisfying that condition for any period spent by him in undertaking a course of training 
provided under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and 
New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 or for any period during which he is in receipt of a training allowance. 
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), where any two or more periods of incapacity are 
separated by a break of not more than 56 days, those periods shall be treated as one continuous 
period. 
(6) For the purposes of this paragraph, a reference to a person who is or was in receipt of long term 
incapacity benefit includes a person who is or was in receipt of short-term incapacity benefit at a rate 
equal to the long-term rate by virtue of section 30B(4)(a) of the Act (short-term incapacity benefit for a 
person who is terminally ill), or who would be or would have been in receipt of short term incapacity 
benefit at such a rate but for the fact that the rate of short-term incapacity benefit already payable to 
him is or was equal to or greater than the long-term rate. 
(7) In the case of an applicant who is a welfare to work beneficiary (a person to whom regulation 
13A(1) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations 1995 applies, and who 
again becomes incapable of work for the purposes of Part 12A of the SSCBA)— 
(a) the reference to a period of 8 weeks in sub-paragraph (3); and 
(b) the reference to a period of 56 days in sub-paragraph (5), 

Page 263



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

shall in each case be treated as a reference to a period of 104 weeks. 
(8) The applicant is not entitled to the disability premium if he has, or is treated as having, limited 
capability for work. 
 
 
Severe disability premium 
11.—(1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant shall be treated as being a severely disabled 
person if, and only if— 
(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as having no partner 
in consequence of sub-paragraph (3)— 
(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at the 
highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living 
component of personal independence payment payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012; and 
(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally residing with 
him or with whom he is normally residing; and 
(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer’s allowance under section 70 of the SSCBA in 
respect of caring for him; 
(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner— 
(i) the applicant is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living 
allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA or 
the daily living component of personal independence payment payable at either rate under Part 4 of 
the Welfare Reform Act 2012; and 
(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a polygamous marriage, 
all the partners of that marriage are in receipt of such an allowance; and 
(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 18 or over normally 
residing with him or with whom he is normally residing, and either a person is entitled to and in receipt 
of a carer’s allowance in respect of caring for only one of a couple or, in the case of a polygamous 
marriage, for one or more but not all the partners of the marriage, or as the case may be, no person is 
entitled to and in receipt of such an allowance in respect of caring for either member of a couple or 
any partner of a polygamous marriage. 
(3) Where an applicant has a partner who does not satisfy the condition in sub-paragraph 
(2)(b)(ii), and that partner is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10(1)(a)(v) 
and (2), that partner shall be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b)(ii) as if he were not a 
partner of the applicant. 
(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account shall be taken of— 
(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or disability living allowance by virtue of the care 
component at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA; or 
(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10(1)(a)(v) and (2). 
(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person shall be treated— 
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability living allowance at 
the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living 
component of personal independence payment payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012, if he would, but for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in 
receipt; 
(b) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance if he would, but for the person for whom 
he was caring being a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 days, be so entitled and in receipt. 
(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (2)(b), no account shall be taken of an award of 
carer’s allowance to the extent that payment of such an award is back-dated for a period before the 
date on which the award is first paid. 
(7) In sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (b), references to a person being in receipt of a carer’s allowance 
shall include references to a person who would have been in receipt of that allowance but for the 
application of a restriction under section 6B or 7 of the Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit 
provisions) 
 
Enhanced disability premium 
12.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the condition is that— 
(a) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant has, or is to be treated as having, limited 
capability for work-related activity; or 

Page 264



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) the care component of disability living allowance is, or would be payable at the highest rate 
prescribed under section 72(3) of the SSCBA, but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with 
regulations made under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or but for an abatement as a consequence of 
hospitalisation be payable at the highest rate prescribed under section 72(3) of the SSCBA in respect 
of— 
(i) the applicant; or 
(ii) a member of the applicant’s family, who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension 
credit; or 
(c) the daily living component of personal independence payment is, or would be payable at either 
rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with 
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 in respect of— 
(i) the applicant; or 
(ii) a member of the applicant’s family, who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension 
credit. 
(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the death of a child or 
young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled to child benefit in respect of that 
person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death of child or qualifying young person). 
(3) The condition is not satisfied if the person to whom sub-paragraph (1) refers is— 
(a) an applicant who— 
(i) is not a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage; and 
(ii) is a patient within the meaning of paragraph 57(11)(e) of this scheme (treatment of child care 
charges) and has been for a period of more than 52 weeks; or  
(b) a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage where each member is a patient within the 
meaning of paragraph 57(11)(e) and has been for a period of more than 52 weeks. 
 
Disabled child premium 
13. The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner of his is 
responsible and who is a member of the applicant’s household— 
(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance or personal independence payment or is no longer in 
receipt of such allowance because he is a patient, provided that the child or young person continues 
to be a member of the family; or 
(b) is blind or treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10 of this Schedule; or 
(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement after death 
of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of entitlement to child benefit but only for 
the period prescribed under that section, and in respect of whom a disabled child premium was 
included in the applicant’s applicable amount immediately before the death of that child or young 
person, or ceased to be included in the applicant’s applicable amount because of that child or young 
person’s death. 
 
Carer premium 
14.—(1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, entitled to a carer’s 
allowance under section 70 of the SSCBA. 
(2) Where a carer premium is awarded but— 
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; or 
(b) in any other case the person in respect of whom a carer premium has been awarded ceases to be 
entitled to a carer’s allowance, the condition for the award of the premium shall be treated as satisfied 
for a period of eight weeks from the relevant date specified in sub-paragraph (3). 
(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) shall be— 
(a) where sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, the Sunday following the death of the person in respect of 
whose care a carer’s allowance has been awarded or the date of death if the death occurred on a 
Sunday; 
(b) in any other case, the date on which the person who has been entitled to a carer’s allowance 
ceases to be entitled to that allowance. 
(4) Where a person who has been entitled to a carer’s allowance ceases to be entitled to that 
allowance and makes an application for a reduction, the condition for the award of the carer premium 
shall be treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks from the date on which— 
(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; 
(b) in any other case, the person who has been entitled to a carer’s allowance ceased to be entitled to 
that allowance. 
 

Page 265



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 
15. For the purpose of determining whether a premium is applicable to a person under paragraphs 10 
to 14 of this Schedule, any concessionary payment made to compensate that person for the non-
payment of any benefit mentioned in those paragraphs shall be treated as if it were a payment of that 
benefit. 
 
Persons in receipt of benefit for another 
16. For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person shall be regarded as being in receipt of 
any benefit if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and shall be so regarded only for any period in 
respect of which that benefit is paid. 
 
 

PART 4 
Amounts of Premiums Specified in Part 3 

 

Premium  Amount  

 
1. —(1) Disability Premium—  
 

(1)  

 
(a) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 9(a);  
 

(a) £31.00  

 
(b) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 9(b).  
 

(b) £44.20  

 
(2) Severe Disability Premium—  
 

(2)  

 
(a) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 
11(2)(a);  
 

(a) £59.50  

 
(b) where the applicant satisfies the condition in paragraph 11(2)(b)—  
 

 
(i) in a case where there is someone in receipt of a carer’s 
allowance or if he or any partner satisfies that condition only by 
virtue of paragraph 11(5);  
 

(b)(i) £59.50  

 
(ii) (ii) in a case where there is no-one in receipt of such an 
allowance.  
 

(b)(ii) £119.00  

 
(3) Disabled Child Premium.  
 

(3) £57.89 in respect of each 
child or young person in 
respect of whom the 
condition specified in 
paragraph 13 of Part 3 of 
this Schedule is satisfied.  

 
(4) Carer Premium.  
 

(4) £33.30 in respect of each 
person who satisfies the 
condition specified in 
paragraph 14.  

 
(5) Enhanced disability premium  
 

(5)  

(a) £23.45 in respect of each child or young person in respect of whom the conditions specified in 
paragraph 12 are satisfied;  

Page 266



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) £15.15 in respect of each person who is neither—  

(i) a child or young person; nor  

(ii) a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage,  

in respect of whom the conditions specified in paragraph 12 are satisfied;  

(c) £21.75 where the applicant is a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage and the 
conditions specified in paragraph 12 are satisfied in respect of a member of that couple or 
polygamous marriage.  

 
 

 
PART 5 

The components 
 
18. Subject to paragraph 20 of this Schedule the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the 
components in paragraph 21 or 22 of this Schedule if— 
(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner has made a claim for employment and support allowance; 
(b) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is to be 
treated as having, limited capability for work or limited capability for work-related activity; and 
(c) either— 
(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act has ended; or 
(ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (circumstances where 
the condition that the assessment phase has ended before entitlement to the support component or 
the work related activity component arises does not apply) applies. 
 
19. Subject to paragraph 20, the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the components in 
paragraphs 21 and 22 if the applicant or his partner is entitled to a converted employment and support 
allowance. 
 
20.—(1) The applicant has no entitlement under paragraph 21 or 22 if the applicant is entitled to the 
disability premium under paragraphs 9 and 10 of this Schedule. 
(2) Where the applicant and the applicant’s partner each satisfies paragraph 21 or 22, the component 
to be included in the applicant’s applicable amount is that which relates to the applicant. 
 
The work-related activity component 
21. The applicant is entitled to the work-related activity component if the Secretary of State has 
decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is to be treated as having, limited 
capability for work. 
 
The support component 
22. The applicant is entitled to the support component if the Secretary of State has decided that the 
applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is to be treated as having, limited capability for work-
related activity. 
 

PART 6 
Amount of Components 

 
23. The amount of the work-related activity component is £28.45. 
24. The amount of the support component is £34.80.. 
 

PART 7 
Transitional Addition 

 
25.—(1) The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 
28 where the applicant or the applicant’s partner (“the relevant person”)— 
(a) is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance; or 
(b) is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(b) of the Employment and 
Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) (Existing 
Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2008 and— 

Page 267



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(i) is treated as having limited capability for work by virtue of regulation 30 of the Employment and 
Support Allowance Regulations 2008 as modified by the Employment and Support Allowance 
(Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) 
Regulations 2008; and 
(ii) is not in receipt of an income-related employment and support allowance, unless the amount of the 
transitional addition calculated in accordance with paragraph 28 of this Schedule would be nil. 
(2) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on any of the 
following— 
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29 of this Schedule; 
(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person ceasing to meet the requirements of sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), as the case 
may be; 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an income-related employment and 
support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income support; 
(e) 5th April 2020. 
 
26.—(1) This paragraph applies where— 
(a) the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the termination of the 
applicant’s award of reduction, under— 
(i) paragraph 25(2)(b) of this Schedule; 
(ii) sub-paragraph (3)(b) of this paragraph; or 
(iii) paragraph 27(3)(b) of this Schedule; 
(b) within 104 weeks of that termination but before 5th April 2020 the applicant again becomes 
entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
(c) in the reduction week in which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme the relevant person is entitled to an employment and support allowance which is not income-
related; 
(d) if the period between the events mentioned in paragraphs (a) and (b) is more than 12 weeks, the 
intervening period is one to which regulation 145(2) (linking period where applicant is a work or 
training beneficiary) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 applies in respect 
of the relevant person; and 
(e) at the date on which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme, 
neither the applicant nor the applicant’s partner is entitled to an income-related employment and 
support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income support. 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day on which the 
applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme, to a transitional addition of the 
amount of the transitional addition that would have applied had the applicant’s entitlement to a 
transitional addition not ended (but taking account of the effect which any intervening change of 
circumstances would have had by virtue of paragraph 29), unless the amount of the transitional 
addition would be nil. 
(3) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on any of the 
following—  
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29 of this Schedule; 
(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of a reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support allowance referred to 
in sub-paragraph (1)(c); 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an income-related employment and 
support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income support; 
(e) 5th April 2020. 
 
27.—(1) This paragraph applies where— 
(a) the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the relevant person ceasing 
to be entitled to an employment and support allowance, under— 
(i) paragraph 25(2)(c); 
(ii) paragraph 26(3)(c); or 
(iii) sub-paragraph (3)(c); 
(b) before 5th April 2020 the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment and support 
allowance which is not income-related; 
(c) either— 
(i) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment 

Page 268



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

support allowance which is not income-related regulation 145(1) of the Employment 
and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 applies to the relevant person; or 
(ii) the period between the events mentioned in paragraphs (a) and (b) is one to which 
regulation 145(2) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 
applies in respect of the relevant person; and 
(d) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment support 
allowance which is not income-related, neither the applicant nor the applicant’s partner is 
entitled to an income-related employment and support allowance, an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance or income support. 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day that the 
relevant person’s entitlement to employment and support allowance takes effect for the purposes 
of a reduction under this scheme, to a transitional addition of the amount of the transitional 
addition that would have applied had the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition not 
ended (but taking account of the effect which any intervening change of circumstances would 
have had by virtue of paragraph 29 of this Schedule), unless the amount of the transitional addition 
would be nil. 
(3) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends on any 
of the following— 
(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29 of this 
Schedule; 
(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of a reduction under this scheme; 
(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support allowance 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b); 
(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an income-related 
employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income 
support; 
(e) 5th April 2020. 
 

PART 8 
Amount of Transitional Addition 

 
28.—(1) Subject to paragraph 29 of this Schedule, the amount of the transitional addition is the 
amount by which Amount A exceeds Amount B. 
(2) Where a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(a) of the Employment and Support 
Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 
2) Regulations 2010 (“the 2010 Regulations”) is made in respect of the relevant person— 
(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day that decision took effect had 
that decision not been made; and 
(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of that decision. 
(3) Where the relevant person is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(b) of 
the 2010 Regulations and is treated as having limited capability for work by virtue of regulation 30 of 
the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 as modified by the 2010 Regulations— 
(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day the relevant person was first 
treated as having limited capability for work if the relevant person had not been so treated; and 
(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of the relevant person being so 
treated. 
(4) In this paragraph and paragraph 29, “basic amount” means the aggregate of such amounts as 
may apply in the applicant’s case in accordance with paragraph 25(1)(a) to (e) or paragraph 26(1)(a) 
to (f) of this scheme. 
 
29.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where there is a change of circumstances which leads to an 
increase in the applicant’s basic amount, the transitional addition that applies immediately before the 
change of circumstances shall be reduced by the amount by which Amount C exceeds Amount D. 
(2) If Amount C exceeds Amount D by more than the amount of the transitional addition that applies 
immediately before the change of circumstances, that transitional addition shall be reduced to nil. 
(3) Amount C is the basic amount that applies as a result of the increase. 
(4) Amount D is the basic amount that applied immediately before the increase. 
 

 
 

Page 269



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

SCHEDULE 4 Paragraph 30 
Amount of alternative maximum council tax reduction 

 
1.—(1) Subject to paragraphs 2 and 3, the alternative maximum council tax reduction in respect of a 
day for the purpose of paragraph 30 is determined in accordance with the following Table and in this 
Table— 
(a) “second adult” means any person or persons residing with the applicant to whom paragraph 15(2)  
of this scheme applies; and 
(b) “persons to whom paragraph 71(1) of this scheme applies” includes any person to whom that 
paragraph would apply were they, and their partner if they had one, below the qualifying age for state 
pension credit. 
(2) In this Schedule “council tax due in respect of that day” means the council tax payable under 
section 10 of the 1992 Act less— 
(a) any reductions made in consequence of any enactment in, or under, the 1992 Act (other than a 
reduction under this scheme); and 
(b) in a case to which sub-paragraph (c) in column (1) of the table below applies, the amount of any 
discount which may be appropriate to the dwelling under the 1992 Act. 
 

(1)  

Second adult  

(2)  

Alternative maximum council tax 
support   

(a) Where the second adult or all second adults are in receipt 
of income support, an income-related employment and 
support allowance or state pension credit or are persons on 
an income-based jobseeker’s allowance;  

(a) 25 per cent of the council tax due in 
respect of that day;  

 

(b) where the gross income of the second adult or, where 
there is more than one second adult, their aggregate gross 
income disregarding any income of persons on income 
support, an income-related employment and support 
allowance, state pension credit or an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance—  

(b)  

(i) is less than £183.00 per week;  (i) 15 per cent of the council tax due in 
respect of that day;  

(ii) is not less than £183.00 per week but less than £239.00 
per week;  

(ii) 7.5 per cent of the council tax due 
in respect of that day;  

(c) where the dwelling would be wholly occupied by one or 
more persons to whom paragraph 71(1) of this scheme 
applies but for the presence of one or more second adults 
who are in receipt of income support, state pension credit, an 
income-related employment and support allowance or are 
persons on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance.  

(c) 100 per cent of the council tax due 
in respect of that day.  

 
2. In determining a second adult’s gross income for the purposes of this Schedule, there shall be 
disregarded from that income— 
(a) any attendance allowance, any disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA, or any 
personal independence payment under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton 
Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006) which, had his income fallen to 
be calculated under paragraph 53 (calculation of income other than earnings: persons who are not 
pensioners), would have been disregarded under paragraph 28 of Schedule 8 (income in kind); and 
(c) any payment which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 53, would have been 
disregarded under paragraph 41 of Schedule 8 (payments made under certain trusts and certain other 
payments). 
3. Where there are two or more second adults residing with the applicant for a reduction under this 
scheme and any such second adult falls to be disregarded for the purposes of discount in accordance 
with Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act, his income shall be disregarded in determining the amount of any 
alternative maximum council tax reduction, unless that second adult is a member of a couple and his 
partner does not fall to be disregarded for the purposes of discount. 

Page 270



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

 
SCHEDULE 5 Paragraph 39 

Sums disregarded from applicant’s earnings: pensioners 
 
1. Where two or more of paragraphs 2 to 5 apply in any particular case the overall maximum sum 
which falls to be disregarded in that case under those paragraphs is restricted to— 
(a) £25 in the case of a lone parent; 
(b) £20 in any other case. 
2. In a case where an applicant is a lone parent, £25 of earnings. 
3.—(1) In a case of earnings from any employment or employments to which sub-paragraph (2) 
applies, £20. 
(2) This paragraph applies to employment— 
(a) as a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme under 
section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of that Act 
applies; 
(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in section 1 of the Fire 
(Scotland) Act 2005) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted by an amalgamation scheme made 
under section 2(1) of that Act; 
(c) as an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
(d) in the manning or launching of a lifeboat if the employment is part-time; 
(e) as a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to the Social 
Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001. 
(3) If— 
(a) any of the earnings of the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner, or both of them, are 
disregarded under sub-paragraph (1); and 
(b) either of them has, or both of them have, other earnings,  
so much of those other earnings as would not, in the aggregate with the earnings disregarded under 
that sub-paragraph, exceed £20. 
4.—(1) If the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner is a carer, or both are carers, £20 of any 
earnings received from his or their employment. 
(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of his, their 
earnings shall for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to be disregarded in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (1) shall not exceed £20 of the aggregated amount. 
(3) In this paragraph the applicant or his partner is a carer if paragraph 14 of Part 3 of Schedule 3 
(amount applicable for carers) is satisfied in respect of him. 
5.—(1) £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner— 
(a) is in receipt of— 
(i) long-term incapacity benefit under section 30A of the SSCBA; 
(ii) severe disablement allowance under section 68 of that Act; 
(iii) attendance allowance under sections 64 to 76 of that Act; 
(iv) disability living allowance under section 71 to 76 of that Act; 
(v) personal independence payment under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; 
(vi) any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other scheme 
or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983; 
(vii) the disability element or the severe disability element of working tax credit under Schedule 2 to 
the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002; or 
(viii) main phase employment and support allowance; or 
(b) is or are registered as blind in a register compiled by a local authority under section 29 of the 
National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in 
consequence is registered in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under 
section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 
(c) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, and regulations made 
under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work), and has been incapable, or has been treated as 
incapable, of work for a continuous period of not less than— 
(i) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the meaning of section 30B(4) of the Act, 196 
days; 
(ii) in any other case, 364 days; or 

Page 271



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(d) has, or is treated as having, limited capacity for work within the meaning of section 1(4) of the 
Welfare Reform Act 1997 or limited capability for work-related activity within the meaning of section 
2(5) of that Act and either— 
(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform Act has ended; or (ii) 
regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (circumstances where the 
condition that the assessment phase has ended before entitlement to the support component or the 
work-related activity component arising does not apply) applies. 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), £20 is disregarded if the applicant or, if he has a partner, his partner 
has, within a period of 8 weeks ending on the day in respect of which the applicant or his partner 
attains the qualifying age for state pension credit, had an award of housing benefit or council tax 
benefit or been in receipt of a reduction under this scheme and— 
(a) £20 was disregarded in respect of earnings taken into account in that award; and (b) the person 
whose earnings qualified for the disregard continues in employment after the termination of that 
award. 
(3) The disregard of £20 specified in sub-paragraph (2) applies so long as there is no break, other 
than a break which does not exceed 8 weeks, in a person's— 
(a) entitlement to housing benefit; or 
(b) receipt of a reduction under a council tax reduction scheme; or 
(c) employment, following the first day in respect of which that benefit is awarded under this scheme. 
(4) £20 is the maximum amount which may be disregarded under this paragraph, notwithstanding 
that, where the applicant has a partner, both the applicant and his partner satisfy  the requirements of 
this paragraph. 
 
6.—(1) Where— 
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple) is a 
person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined in sub-
paragraph (6); and 
(c) paragraph 34 does not apply, 
the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”). 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 1 to 5 and 8 do not apply; but in any case where the 
applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount specified in 
paragraph 2, then paragraph 2 applies instead of this paragraph. 
(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 26 (calculation of income and capital of members applicant's family 
and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a couple (“A”) it shall 
not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) except to the extent provided in sub-paragraph (4). 
(4) Where A's earnings are less than the specified amount, there shall also be disregarded so much of 
B's earnings as would not when aggregated with A's earnings exceed the specified amount; but the 
amount of B's earnings which may be disregarded under this sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum 
of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied that B is also undertaking exempt work. 
(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for work 
under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 
(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in— 
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008; or (as the 
case may be); or 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations 1995, 
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member of a couple 
is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person or their partner is also 
undertaking other work. 
(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any provision 
referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is exempt 
(or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those provisions mention different amounts 
of money, the highest of those amounts). 
7. Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 18 
or 19 of Schedule 6 had the applicant's income which does not consist of earnings been sufficient to 
entitle him to the full amount disregarded there under. 

Page 272



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

 
8. Except where the applicant or his partner qualifies for a £20 disregard under the preceding 
provisions of this Schedule— 
(a) £5 shall be disregarded if an applicant who has no partner has earnings; 
(b) £10 shall be disregarded if an applicant who has a partner has earnings. 
9. Any earnings, other than earnings referred to in paragraph 39(8)(b), derived from employment 
which ended before the day in respect of which the applicant first satisfies the conditions for 
entitlement to a reduction under this scheme. 
10.—(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out 
in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in sub-
paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under this Schedule shall be 
increased by £17.10. 
(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 
(a) the applicant, or if he has a partner, either the applicant or his partner, is a person to whom 
regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002 
applies; or 
(b) the applicant— 
(i) is, or any partner of his is, aged at least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not 
less than 30 hours per week; or 
(ii) if he is a member of a couple— 
(aa) at least one member of that couple is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 
16 hours per week; and 
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium under paragraph 3 of Schedule 2; or 
(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per 
week; or 
(iv) is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, engaged in remunerative work for on average not less 
than 16 hours per week and paragraph 5(1) above is satisfied in respect of that person. 
(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1)— 
(a) any amount disregarded under this Schedule; 
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 56(1)(c); and 
(c) £17.10. 
(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 of this scheme shall apply in determining whether or not a person 
works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours in sub-
paragraph (1) of that paragraph was a reference to 30 hours. 
 
11. Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting to that payment into Sterling. 
 

SCHEDULE 6 Paragraph 39 
Amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than 

earnings: pensioners 
 

1.(1) In addition to any sum which falls to be disregarded in accordance with paragraphs 2 to 5,  the 
whole of any of the following,— 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded under 
paragraph 2 or 3); 
(b) a war widow's pension or war widower's pension; 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any power of 
Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about pensions for or in respect of 
persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence of service as members of the armed 
forces of the Crown; 
(d) a guaranteed income payment; 
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 
mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to any of 
the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
(g) a pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made by 
the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria. 

Page 273



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(2) The amounts to be disregarded under paragraph 1 include any amount included in a pension to 
which this paragraph relates in respect of the applicant's need for constant attendance or the 
applicant's exceptionally severe disablement 
2. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other scheme 
or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any payment 
intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 
3. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and surviving 
civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence to any person 
who is not a person entitled under that Order. 
4. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 
Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), the sum 
specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 
5.—(1) Any payment which is— 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner of a 
person— 
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a member of the 
armed forces of the Crown; and 
6.—(1) Any payment which is— 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner of a 
person— 
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a member of the 
armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and 
(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 
(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19

th
 December 

1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14
th
 January 1922 

(exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 
7. £15 of any widowed parent's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 39A of the 
SSCBA. 
8. £15 of any widowed mother's allowance to which the applicant is entitled under section 37 of the 
SSCBA. 
9. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board and 
lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for whom such accommodation is 
provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to— 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of such 
accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent. of such payments; or 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent. of the excess over 
£20. 
10. If the applicant— 
(a) owns the freehold or leasehold interest in any property or is a tenant of any property; and 
(b) occupies a part of that property; and 
(c) has an agreement with another person allowing that person to occupy another part of that property 
on payment of rent and— 
(i) the amount paid by that person is less than £20 per week, the whole of that amount; 
or 
(ii) the amount paid is £20 or more per week, £20. 
11. Where an applicant receives income under an annuity purchased with a loan, which satisfies the 
following conditions— 
(a) that the loan was made as part of a scheme under which not less than 90 per cent. of the 
proceeds of the loan were applied to the purchase by the person to whom it was made of an annuity 
ending with his life or with the life of the survivor of two or more persons (in this paragraph referred to 
as “the annuitants”) who include the person to whom the loan was made; 
(b) that at the time the loan was made the person to whom it was made or each of the annuitants had 
attained the age of 65; 
(c) that the loan was secured on a dwelling in Great Britain and the person to whom the loan was 
made or one of the annuitants owns an estate or interest in that dwelling; 

Page 274



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(d) that the person to whom the loan was made or one of the annuitants occupies the dwelling on 
which it was secured as his home at the time the interest is paid; and 
(e) that the interest payable on the loan is paid by the person to whom the loan was made or by one 
of the annuitants, the amount, calculated on a weekly basis, equal to— 
(i) where, or insofar as, section 369 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (mortgage interest 
payable under deduction of tax) applies to the payments of interest on the loan, the interest which is 
payable after deduction of a sum equal to income tax on such payments at the applicable percentage 
of income tax within the meaning of section 369(1A) of that Act; 
(ii) in any other case, the interest which is payable on the loan without deduction of such a sum. 
12.—(1) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, made to the 
applicant by Trustees in exercise of a discretion exercisable by them. 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to payments made to the applicant by Trustees in exercise of a 
discretion exercisable by them for the purpose of— 
(a) obtaining food, ordinary clothing or footwear or household fuel; 
(b) the payment of rent, council tax or water charges for which that applicant or his partner is liable; 
(c) meeting housing costs of a kind specified in Schedule 2 to the State Pension Credit Regulations 
2002. 
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, £20 or— 
(a) if the payment is less than £20, the whole payment; 
(b) if, in the applicant's case, £10 is disregarded in accordance with paragraph 1(a) to (g), £10 or the 
whole payment if it is less than £10; or 
(c) if, in the applicant's case, £15 is disregarded under paragraph 7 or paragraph 8 and— 
(i) he has no disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), £5 or the whole payment if it is less than £5; 
(ii) he has a disregard under paragraph 1(a) to (g), nil. 
(4) For the purposes of this paragraph, “ordinary clothing or footwear” means clothing or footwear for 
normal daily use, but does not include school uniforms, or clothing and footwear used solely for 
sporting activities. 
13. Any increase in pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 paid in respect of a dependent other than the 
pensioner's partner. 
14. Any payment ordered by a court to be made to the applicant or the applicant's partner in 
consequence of any accident, injury or disease suffered by the person or a child of the person to or 
in respect of whom the payments are made.  
15. Periodic payments made to the applicant or the applicant's partner under an agreement entered 
into in settlement of a claim made by the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant's partner for 
an injury suffered by him. 
16. Any income which is payable outside the United Kingdom for such period during which there is a 
prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 
17. Any banking charges or commission payable in converting to Sterling payments of income made 
in a currency other than Sterling. 
18. Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course  at 
an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, which 
contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating— 
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, section 1 or 2 of the Education 
Act 1962(146) or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that student's award;  
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980, that student's bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under that section or 
under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that Act of 1980, any 
payment to that student under that section; or 
(c) the student's student loan, an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but 
only in respect of the period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 
19.—(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 
either— 
(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; or 
(b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary awards) or an 
award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, or regulations made there 
under, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that Act of 1980, and the applicant makes payments by 
way of a contribution towards the student's maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling 
within paragraph 18, an amount specified in subparagraph 

Page 275



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(2) in respect of each week during the student's term. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount shall be equal to— 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less the weekly amount 
of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b), 
whichever is less. 
20.—(1) Where an applicant's applicable amount includes an amount by way of a family premium, 
£15 of any payment of maintenance, whether under a court order or not, which is made or due to be 
made by the applicant's spouse, civil partner, former spouse or former civil partner or the applicant's 
partner's spouse, civil partner, former spouse, or former civil partner. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), where more than one maintenance payment falls to be 
taken into account in any week, all such payments shall be aggregated and treated as if they were a 
single payment. 
21. Except in a case which falls under paragraph 10 of Schedule 5, where the applicant is a person 
who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, any amount of working tax 
credit up to £17.10. 
22. Where the total value of any capital specified in Part 2 (capital disregarded only for the purposes 
of determining deemed income) of Schedule 9 does not exceed £10,000, any income actually derived 
from such capital. 
23. Except in the case of income from capital specified in Part 2 of Schedule 9, any actual income 
from capital. 
24. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, was 
entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker's allowance but ceased to be 
so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing Benefit (General) 
Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of his income. 
 

SCHEDULE 7 Paragraph 52 
Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: persons who are not 

Pensioners 
 

1. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an employed earner or, 
had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so engaged— 
(a) where— 
(i) the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and 
(ii) on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is not so entitled solely 
because of his failure to satisfy the contribution conditions, any earnings paid or due to be paid in 
respect of that employment, but only for a period commencing on the day immediately after the date 
on which the employment was terminated; 
(b) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme the employment has 
been terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect 
of that employment except— 
(i) any payment of the nature described in— 
(aa) paragraph 50(1)(e) of this scheme, or 
(bb) section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee payments, suspension from 
work on medical or maternity grounds); and  
(ii) any award, sum or payment of the nature described in— 
(aa) paragraph 50(1)(g) or (i), or 
(bb) section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee payments and suspension from 
work: complaints to employment tribunals), including any payment made following the settlement of a 
complaint to an employment tribunal or of court proceedings; 
(c) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme— 
(i) the employment has not been terminated, but 
(ii) the applicant is not engaged in remunerative work, 
any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any payment or 
remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) of this Schedule or paragraph 
50(1)(j) of this scheme. 
2. In the case of an applicant who, before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this 
scheme— 

Page 276



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the employment has 
been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the employment been in Great Britain; 
and 
(b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment has been 
terminated,any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except— 
(i) where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature described in paragraph 
1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) of this Schedule; 
(ii) where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or remuneration of the nature 
described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) of this Schedule or paragraph 50(1)(j). 
3. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part-time employment 
as a self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so 
engaged and who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of the cessation of his employment, 
any earnings derived from that employment except earnings to which paragraph 52(3) and (4) of this 
scheme (earnings of self-employed earners) apply. 
4.—(1) In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 5 does not apply, £20; but 
notwithstanding paragraph 32 of this scheme (calculation of income and capital of members of an 
applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) if this paragraph applies to an applicant it shall not 
apply to his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant which are to be 
disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20. 
(2) This paragraph applies where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of the 
disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity component or support component 
under Schedule 3 (applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners). 
(3) This paragraph applies where— 
(a) the applicant is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an amount by way of 
the disability premium under Schedule 3; and 
(b) he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and at least one is 
engaged in employment. 
5. In a case where the applicant is a lone parent, £25. 
6.—(1) In a case to which neither paragraph 4 nor paragraph 5 applies to the applicant and, subject to 
sub-paragraph (2), where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of the carer 
premium under Schedule 3 (applicable amounts: persons who are not pensioners), £20 of the 
earnings of the person who is, or at any time in the preceding eight weeks was, in receipt of carer’s 
allowance or treated in accordance with paragraph 14(2) of that Schedule as being in receipt of 
carer’s allowance. 
(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any partner of his, their 
earnings shall for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, but the amount to be disregarded in 
accordance with sub-paragraph (1) shall not exceed £20 of the aggregated amount. 
7. Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of an applicant who is a member of a couple and 
whose earnings are less than £20, but is not awarded in respect of the other member of the couple, 
and that other member is engaged in an employment— 
(a) specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member’s earnings as would not when 
aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 6 exceed £20; 
(b) other than one specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member’s earnings from such 
other employment up to £10 as would not when aggregated with the amount disregarded under 
paragraph 5 exceed £20. 
8. In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant and he is one of a couple 
and a member of that couple is in employment, £10; but, notwithstanding paragraph 32 of this 
scheme (calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous 
marriage), if this paragraph applies to an applicant it shall not apply to his partner except where, and 
to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant which are to be disregarded under this paragraph are 
less than £10. 
9.—(1) In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant, £20 of earnings 
derived from one or more employments as— 
(a) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a scheme under 
section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which section 4 of that Act 
applies; 
(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service established under 
section 1A of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005  
(c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
(d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat; 

Page 277



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to the Social 
Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; but, notwithstanding paragraph 32 of this scheme 
(calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if 
this paragraph applies to an applicant it shall not apply to his partner except to the extent specified in 
sub-paragraph (2). 
(2) If the applicant’s partner is engaged in employment— 
(a) specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate with the amount 
of the applicant’s earnings disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20; 
(b) other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that employment up to 
£10 as would not in aggregate with the applicant’s earnings disregarded under this paragraph exceed 
£20. 
10. Where the applicant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 9(1), but his 
earnings derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week and he is also engaged in 
any other employment, so much of his earnings from that other employment, up to £5 if he is a single 
applicant, or up to £10 if he has a partner, as would not in aggregate with the amount of his earnings 
disregarded under paragraph 9 exceed £20. 
11. In a case to which none of the paragraphs 4 to 10 applies, £5. 
12.—(1) Where— 
(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple) is a 
person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 
(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as defined in sub-
paragraph (6); and 
(c) paragraph 14 does not apply, the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”). 
(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 4 to 11 do not apply; but in any case where the 
applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the amount specified in 
paragraph 5, then paragraph 5 applies instead of this paragraph. 
(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 32 of this scheme (calculation of income and capital of members of 
applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a 
couple (“A”) it shall not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) except to the extent provided in 
sub-paragraph (4). 
(4) Where A’s earnings are less than the specified amount, there shall also be disregarded so much 
of B’s earnings as would not when aggregated with A’s earnings exceed the specified amount; but the 
amount of B’s earnings which may be disregarded under this sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum 
of £20 unless the Secretary of State is satisfied that B is also undertaking exempt work. 
(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or 
(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability for work 
under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 
(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in— 
(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008; 
or (as the case may be) 
(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) Regulations 1995, 
and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a member of a couple 
is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial whether that person or their partner is also 
undertaking other work. 
(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any provision 
referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is exempt 
(or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those provisions mention different amounts 
of money, the highest of those amounts). 
13. Any amount or the balance of any amount which would fall to be disregarded under paragraph 23 
or 24 of Schedule 8 had the applicant’s income which does not consist of earnings been sufficient to 
entitle him to the full disregard there under. 
14. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, his earnings. 
15. Any earnings derived from employment which are payable in a country outside the United 
Kingdom for such period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom 
of those earnings. 
 

Page 278



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

16. Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling. 
17. Any earnings of a child or young person. 
18.—(1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the conditions set out 
in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total of the amounts set out in sub-
paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be disregarded under paragraphs 4 to 12 of this 
Schedule shall be increased by £17.10. 
(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 
(a) the applicant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the applicant or his partner, is a person to 
whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 
2002 applies; or 
(b) the applicant— 
(i) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is aged at least 25 and is 
engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 30 hours per week; or 
(ii) is a member of a couple and— 
(aa) at least one member of that couple, is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less 
than 16 hours per week; and 
(bb) his applicable amount includes a family premium under paragraph 4 of Schedule 3; or 
(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per 
week; or 
(iv) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is engaged in 
remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; and— 
(aa) the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium under paragraph 9, the work-
related activity component under paragraph 21 or the support component under paragraph 22 of 
Schedule 3 respectively; 
(bb) where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple satisfies the qualifying 
conditions for the disability premium or either of the components referred to in paragraph (aa) above 
and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; or 
(c) the applicant is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, a person to whom regulation 18(3) of the 
Working Tax Credit (Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002 (eligibility for 50 plus element) 
applies, or would apply if an application for working tax credit were to be made in his case. 
(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1)— 
(a) the amount calculated as disregardable from the applicant’s earnings under paragraphs 4 to 12 of 
this Schedule; 
(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 56(1)(c) of this 
scheme; and 
(c) £17.10. 
(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 of this scheme shall apply in determining whether or not a person 
works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as if the reference to 16 hours in sub-
paragraph (1) of that paragraph were a reference to 30 hours. 
19. In this Schedule “part-time employment” means employment in which the person is engaged on 
average for less than 16 hours a week. 
 

 
 
 
 

SCHEDULE 8 Paragraph 53 
Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings: 

persons who are not pensioners 
 
1. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other expenses incurred, 
or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme. 
2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme. 
3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme. 
4. Any amount paid by way of tax on income which is to be taken into account under regulation 30 
(calculation of income other than earnings). 
5. Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by an applicant who is— 

Page 279



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or 
(b) a volunteer ,if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be 
treated as possessing any earnings under paragraph 55(5) (notional income: persons who are not 
pensioners). 
6. Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation in a service user 
group. 
7. In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of expenses wholly, 
exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the employment. 
8. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, the whole of his income. 
9. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act and 
his partner is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the applicant’s income. 
10. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st March 2003, was 
entitled on that date to income support or an income-based jobseeker’s allowance but ceased to be 
so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue only of regulation 13 of the Housing Benefit (General) 
Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 1999 as in force at that date, the whole of his income. 
11. Any disability living allowance or personal independence payment. 
12. Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of— 
(a) any payment specified in paragraph 11 or 14; 
(b) income support; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) an income-related employment and support allowance. 
13. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other scheme 
or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any payment 
intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 
14. Any attendance allowance. 
15. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George Cross or any 
analogous payment. 
16.—(1) Any payment— 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 
(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996 (payment of school expenses; grant 
of scholarships etc.); 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 (power to assist 
persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under section 
12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and National 
Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related to education or childcare, and 
allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 
(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 2002. 
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to— 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under section 
12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, in respect of a course of study 
attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in receipt of an education maintenance 
allowance or other payment made pursuant to any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 
17. Any payment made to the applicant by way of a repayment under regulation 11(2) of the 
Education (Teacher Student Loans) (Repayment etc.) Regulations 2002. 
18.—(1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the Enterprise and 
New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment— 
(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance, incapacity benefit, severe 
disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance; 
(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 
2(5) of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 
(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the items specified 
in sub-paragraph (2) whilst an applicant is participating in an education, training or other scheme to 

Page 280



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

help him enhance his employment prospects unless the payment is a Career Development Loan paid 
pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and the period of education or training or the scheme, which is 
supported by that loan, has been completed. 
(2) The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) are food, 
ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a 
member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable. 
19.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments— 
(a) a charitable payment; 
(b) a voluntary payment; 
(c) a payment (not falling within paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose funds are derived from 
a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; 
(d) a payment under an annuity purchased— 
(i) pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant; or 
(ii) from funds derived from a payment made, in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; 
or 
(e) a payment (not falling within paragraphs (a) to (d)) received by virtue of any agreement or court 
order to make payments to the applicant in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall not apply to a payment which is made or due to be made by— 
(a) a former partner of the applicant, or a former partner of any member of the applicant’s family; or 
(b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a member of the 
applicant’s family. 
20.(1) In addition to any sum which falls to be disregarded in accordance with paragraphs 2 to 5,  the 
whole of any of the following,— 
(a) a war disablement pension (except insofar as such a pension falls to be disregarded under 
paragraph 2 or 3); 
(b) a war widow's pension or war widower's pension; 
(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner under any power of 
Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision about pensions for or in respect of 
persons who have been disabled or have died in consequence of service as members of the armed 
forces of the Crown; 
(d) a guaranteed income payment; 
(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or payment as is 
mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 
(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is analogous to any of 
the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) above; 
(g) a pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special provision made by 
the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of the Republic of Austria. 
(2) The amounts to be disregarded under paragraph 1 include any amount included in a pension to 
which this paragraph relates in respect of the applicant's need for constant attendance or the 
applicant's exceptionally severe disablement 
2. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement 
and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a supplement by virtue of any other scheme 
or order) or under article 25A of the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any payment 
intended to compensate for the non-payment of such a supplement. 
3. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and surviving 
civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence to any person 
who is not a person entitled under that Order. 
4. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 
Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), the sum 
specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 
5.—(1) Any payment which is— 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner of a 
person— 
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a member of the 
armed forces of the Crown; and 
21. Subject to paragraph 40, £15 of any— 
(a) widowed mother’s allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the SSCBA; 
(b) widowed parent’s allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the SSCBA. 

Page 281



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

 
22.—(1) Any income derived from capital to which the applicant is or is treated under paragraph 68 
(capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub-paragraph (2), not income derived from 
capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 17 or 30 to 33 of Schedule 10. 
(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 5, 7 or 30 to 33 of Schedule 10 but 
only to the extent of— 
(a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the period during which 
that income accrued; or 
(b) any council tax or water charges which the applicant is liable to pay in respect of the dwelling or 
premises and which are paid in the period during which that income accrued. 
(3) The definition of “water charges” in paragraph 2(1) of this scheme applies to sub-paragraph 
(2) of this paragraph with the omission of the words “in so far as such charges are in respect of the 
dwelling which a person occupies as his home”. 
23. Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student attending a course at an 
establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing education in the United Kingdom, which 
contribution has been assessed for the purposes of calculating— 
(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by, sections 1 or 2 of the 
Education Act 1962 or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that student’s 
award; 
(b) under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 49 of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980, that student’s bursary, scholarship, or other allowance under that section or 
under regulations made in exercise of the powers conferred by section 73 of that Act of 1980, any 
payment to that student under that section; or (c) the student’s student loan, an amount equal to the 
weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect of the period for which that 
contribution is assessed as being payable. 
24.—(1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced education who 
either— 
(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; or 
(b) is in receipt of an award under section 2 of the Education Act 1962 (discretionary awards) or an 
award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, or regulations made 
thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other allowance under section 49(1) of the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment under section 73 of that Act of 1980, and the applicant makes 
payments by way of a contribution towards the student’s maintenance, other than a parental 
contribution falling within paragraph 23 of this Schedule, an amount specified in sub-paragraph (2) in 
respect of each week during the student’s term.  
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount shall be equal to— 
(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 less the weekly amount 
of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b), 
whichever is less. 
25. Any payment made to the applicant by a child or young person or a non-dependant. 
26. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also occupied by a 
person other than one to whom paragraph 25 or 27 of this Schedule refers and there is a contractual 
liability to make payments to the applicant in respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person 
or a member of his family— 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of the 
occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or by that person and a member 
of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; or 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 
27.—(1) Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that dwelling board 
and lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for which such accommodation is 
provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to— 
(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect of such 
accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent of such payments; 
(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent of the excess over 
£20. 
(2) In this paragraph, “board and lodging accommodation” means accommodation provided to a 
person or, if he is a member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, for a charge which 
is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some cooked or prepared meals 
which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than the person to whom the accommodation 

Page 282



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

is provided or a member of his family) and are consumed in that accommodation or associated 
premises. 
28.—(1) Any income in kind, except where paragraph 53(11)(b) of this scheme (provision of support 
under section 95 or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 in the calculation of income other than 
earnings) applies. 
(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to “income in kind” does not include a payment to a third party 
made in respect of the applicant which is used by the third party to provide benefits in kind to the 
applicant. 
29. Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such period during 
which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of that income. 
30.—(1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member of his family— 
(a) pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002 or in 
accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish Ministers under section 51A of the Adoption 
(Scotland) Act 1978(150) (schemes for payments of allowances to adopters) or in accordance with an 
adoption allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007 
(adoption allowances schemes); 
(b) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) of, and paragraph 15 
of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority contribution to a child’s maintenance where 
the child is living with a person as a result of a residence order) or in Scotland section 50 of the 
Children Act 1975 (payments towards maintenance of children); 
(c) which is a payment made by an authority, as defined in Article 2 of the Children (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1995, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 of Schedule 1 to, that Order (contribution 
by an authority to child’s maintenance); 
(d) in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 1989 (special 
guardianship support services); 
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, made to the applicant 
pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002. 
31. Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue of 
arrangements made— 
(a) by a local authority under— 
(i) section 23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of accommodation and maintenance for a child 
whom they are looking after), 
(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner of provision of accommodation to child 
looked after by local authority), or 
(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 2009 (fostering and 
kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 
(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 (provision of 
accommodation by voluntary organisations). 
32. Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person concerned”), who is 
not normally a member of the applicant’s household but is temporarily in his care, by— 
(a) a health authority; 
(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the person 
concerned; 
(c) a voluntary organisation; 
(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 1948; 
(e) a primary care trust established under section 16A of the National Health Service Act 1977 or 
established by an order made under section 18(2)(c) of the National Health Service Act 2006; or 
(f) a Local Health Board established under section 16BA of the National Health Service Act 1977 or 
established by an order made under section 11 of the National Health Service (Wales) Act 2006. 
33. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24A of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and their 
families and advice and assistance to certain children). 
34.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) Act 
1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial assistance to 
persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 

Page 283



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(c) continues to live with the applicant. 
35.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance policy taken out to 
insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments— 
(a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the applicant occupies as his home; or 
(b) under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer Credit Act 1974(151) 
or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement as defined for the purposes of 
Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 
(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) shall only be disregarded to the extent that the 
payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated on a weekly basis, 
which are used to— 
(a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may be, (1)(b); and 
(b) meet any amount due by way of premiums on— 
(i) that policy; or 
(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken out to insure against 
loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is occupied by the applicant as his home 
and which is required as a condition of the loan referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a). 
36. Any payment of income which by virtue of paragraph 63 of this scheme (income treated as capital: 
persons who are not pensioners) is to be treated as capital. 
37. Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the Social Fund). 
38. Any payment under Part 10 of the SSCBA (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 
39. Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
40. The total of an applicant’s income or, if he is a member of a family, the family’s income and the 
income of any person which he is treated as possessing under paragraph 32(3) (calculation of income 
and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage) to be disregarded under 
paragraph 75(2)(b) and paragraph 76(1)(d) of this scheme (calculation of covenant income where a 
contribution assessed, covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed), 
paragraph 79(2) of this scheme (treatment of student loans), paragraph 80(3) of this scheme 
(treatment of payments from access funds) and paragraphs 20 and 21 shall in no case exceed £20 
per week. 
41.—(1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006).  
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or 
who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts 
to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 
(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has died was 
not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved 
or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is a 
member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is 
a member of the applicant’s family. 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or who 
suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person provided that the partner or former 
partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, estranged or divorced or, 
where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, the civil 
partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at the time of 
the death, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph 
(1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 
(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is a 
member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is 
a member of the applicant’s family. 
(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, which 
derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, where— 
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or divorced or with 
whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person 
who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and 
(b) the payment is made either— 

Page 284



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student who has not 
completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his guardian, but only for a 
period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that person’s death. 
(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which subparagraph  
(1) refers, where— 
(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner from 
whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not 
been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who had not 
completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his guardian, but only for a 
period of two years from the relevant date. 
(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this paragraph is 
made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or deriving from 
any of the Trusts. 
(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed as 
including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton 
Foundation and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 
42. Any housing benefit. 
43. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 
44. Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than compensation for 
loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit Acts. 
45. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 1992 Act 
(reduction of liability for council tax). 
46.—(1) Any payment or repayment made— 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel Expenses 
and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling Expenses 
and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling expenses and health service 
supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies). 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers or the 
Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment mentioned in sub-paragraph (1). 
47. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or under 
a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or  similar 
arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments made in place of 
healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins). 
48. Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish Ministers under 
a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody. 
49.—(1) Where an applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount by way of family premium, £15 
of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, whether under a court order or not, 
which is made or due to be made by the applicant’s former partner, or the applicant’s partner’s former 
partner. 
(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment falls to be taken 
into account in any week, all such payments shall be aggregated and treated as if they were a single 
payment.  
(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance shall, for the purpose of sub-
paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a person specified in subparagraph 
(1). 
50.—(1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative where the child or 
young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a member of the applicant’s family, except 
where the person making the payment is the applicant or the applicant’s partner.  
(2) In sub-paragraph (1)— 

Page 285



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

“child maintenance” means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young person, 
including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under— 
(a) the Child Support Act 1991; 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991; 
(c) a court order; 
(d) a consent order; 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and Session or the 
sheriff court books; 
“liable relative” means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income Support (General) 
Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) of that definition  
51. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944(153) to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 
52. Any guardian’s allowance. 
53.—(1) If the applicant is in receipt of any benefit under Part 2, 3 or 5 of the SSCBA, any increase in 
the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) or section 106(a) 
(unemployability supplement) of that Act, where the dependant in respect of whom the increase is 
paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 
(2) If the applicant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the Naval, Military and 
Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006, any increase in the rate of 
that pension or allowance under that Order, where the dependant in respect of whom the increase is 
paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 
54. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving spouses and surviving 
civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the Secretary of State for Defence to any person 
who is not a person entitled under that Order. 
55. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of the Personal 
Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or surviving civil partners), the sum 
specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that Scheme. 
56.—(1) Any payment which is— 
(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving civil partner of a 
person— 
(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service as a member of the 
armed forces of the Crown; and 
(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and 
(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. 
(Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 
(2) In this paragraph “the Dispensing Instruments” means the Order in Council of 19

th
 December 

1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His Majesty of 14
th
 January 1922 

(exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and allowances). 
57. Any council tax benefit to which the applicant is entitled. 
58. Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 18 of Schedule 7, where the 
applicant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph (2) of that paragraph, any 
amount of working tax credit up to £17.10. 
59. Any payment made under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 
12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care) or under 
regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments). 
60.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who has received, 
assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that person— 
(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the commercial activity; 
(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out by that person 
for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity, in respect of which such 
assistance is or was received. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) shall apply only in respect of payments which are paid to that person from the 
special account. 
61.—(1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any 
one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of the applicant or where the applicant is a member of a family, any other 
member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable. 

Page 286



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or other special 
dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in respect of 
which the award was made. 
62. Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week exceeds the 
amount of income-based jobseeker’s allowance that person would have received in that reduction 
week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess amount. 
63. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise. 
64. Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary Financial 
Assistance Regulations 2001. 
65.—(1) Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 
applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity of the 
applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes, in England, a county council. 
66. Any payment of child benefit. 
 
 

SCHEDULE 9 Paragraph 62 
Capital disregards: pensioners 

 
PART 1 

Capital to be disregarded 
 
1. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as his home 
within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances 
to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the premises. 
2. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 
taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal proceedings, 
with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first sought 
such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and commence occupation of 
those premises. 
3. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 
alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks from 
the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or such longer 
period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 
4. Any premises occupied in whole or in part— 
(a) by a person who is a relative of the applicant or his partner as his home where that person has 
attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision shall not apply where the 
former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced or with whom he had 
formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 
5. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 
applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or sub-tenancies. 
6. Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the home 
following his estrangement or divorce from his former partner or the dissolution of a civil partnership 
with his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to 
occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who is a 
lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 
7. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of the whole of his interest 
in those premises, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such 
longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those 
premises. 
8. All personal possessions. 
9. The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes of 
which he is engaged as a self-employed earner or, if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of those assets. 
10. The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant if— 

Page 287



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease or bodily 
or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged (or, as the case may be, re-engaged) as a self-employed earner in 
that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged, or reengaged, in that business, 
for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the application for a reduction under this scheme is 
made or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or re-engaged in that business within 
that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to become so 
engaged or re-engaged. 
11. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 
12. The value of any funeral plan contract; and for this purpose, “funeral plan contract” means a 
contract under which— 
(a) the applicant makes one or more payments to another person (“the provider”); 
(b) the provider undertakes to provide, or secure the provision of, a funeral in the United Kingdom for 
the applicant on his death; and 
(c) the sole purpose of the plan is to provide or secure the provision of a funeral for the applicant on 
his death. 
13. Where an ex-gratia payment has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st February 
2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or internment of— 
(a) the applicant; 
(b) the applicant's partner; 
(c) the applicant's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
(d) the applicant's partner's deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, by the Japanese during the 
Second World War, an amount equal to that payment. 
14.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or an 
applicant's partner who is— 
(a) a diagnosed person; 
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the time of the diagnosed 
person's death; or 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents or a 
person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death. 
(2) Where a trust payment is made to— 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on the date on which that 
person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years after that date. 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust payment 
has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust payment has been 
made, which is made to an applicant or an applicant's partner who is— 
(a) the diagnosed person; 
(b) a diagnosed person's partner or was a diagnosed person's partner at the date of the diagnosed 
person's death; or 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents or a 
person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person's death. 
(4) Where a payment such as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to— 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending on the date on which that person 
dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which the payment is made and ending two years after that date. 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person— 
(a) being the diagnosed person's partner; 
(b) acting in place of the diagnosed person's parents, at the date of the diagnosed person's death 
shall include a person who would have been such a  person or a person who would have been so 
acting, but for the diagnosed person residing in a care home or an independent hospital. 
(6) In this paragraph— 
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, after his 
death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease;  
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State in respect of 
persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease 

Page 288



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions; 
“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust. 
15. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 
applicant, the applicant's partner, the applicant's deceased spouse or civil partner or the applicant's 
partner's deceased spouse or civil partner— 
(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died, during the Second World War. 
16.—(1) Any payment made under or by— 
(a) the Macfarlane Trust, the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust, the Macfarlane (Special 
Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton 
Foundation, or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund (collectively referred to in this paragraph 
as “the Trusts”); or 
(b) the Independent Living Fund (2006). 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or 
who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts 
and which is made to or for the benefit of that person's partner or former partner— 
(a) from whom he is not, or where that person has died was not, estranged or divorced, or  
(b) with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has 
died, had not been dissolved at the time of that person's death. 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or who 
suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts and which is made to or for the benefit of the person who is suffering 
from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person. 
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if— 
(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced, or 
(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, the civil 
partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at the time of 
the death. 
(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, which 
derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts, where— 
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or divorced or with 
whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child who is or had been 
a member of that person's household; and 
(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child or a student who has not completed his full-
time education and has no parent or step-parent, to any person standing in the place of his parent, 
but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that person's death. 
(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts, where— 
(a) that person at the date of his death (“the relevant date”) had no partner or former partner from 
whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that had not 
been dissolved, nor any child who was or had been a member of his household; 
and 
(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person's parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child or a student who had not completed his full-time 
education and had no parent or step-parent, to any person standing in place of his parent, but only for 
a period of two years from the relevant date. 
(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this paragraph is 
made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts. 
17.—(1) An amount equal to the amount of any payment made in consequence of any personal injury 
to the applicant or, if the applicant has a partner, to the partner. 
(2) Where the whole or part of the payment is administered— 
(a) by the High Court or the County Court under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998, or 
the Court of Protection, or on behalf of a person where the payment can only be disposed of by order 
or direction of any such court; 

Page 289



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) in accordance with an order made under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 1993 or under 
Rule 128 of those Rules; or 
(c) in accordance with the terms of a trust established for the benefit of the applicant or his partner, 
the whole of the amount so administered. 
18. Any amount specified in paragraph 19, 20, 21 or 25 of this Schedule for a period of one year  
beginning with the date of receipt. 
19. Amounts paid under a policy of insurance in connection with the loss of or damage to the property 
occupied by the applicant as his home and to his personal possessions. 
20. So much of any amounts paid to the applicant or deposited in the applicant's name for the sole 
purpose of— 
(a) purchasing premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home; or 
(b) effecting essential repairs or alterations to the premises occupied or intended to be occupied by 
the applicant as his home. 
21.—(1) Subject to paragraph 22 any amount paid— 
(a) by way of arrears of benefit; 
(b) by way of compensation for the late payment of benefit; 
(c) in lieu of the payment of benefit; 
(d) to rectify, or compensate for, an official error, as defined for the purposes of paragraph 22, being 
an amount to which that paragraph does not apply; 
(e) by a local authority out of funds provided under either section 93 of the Local Government Act 
2000(155) under a scheme known as “Supporting People” or section 91 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 
2001. 

“(f) by way of occasional assistance including arrears and payments in lieu of occasional assistance 
(and in this paragraph “occasional assistance” has the same meaning as in paragraph 16 of Schedule 
1) 
(2) In sub-paragraph (1), “benefit” means— 
(a) attendance allowance under section 64 of the Act; 
(b) disability living allowance; 
(c) personal independence payment; 
(d) income support; 
(e) income-based jobseeker's allowance; 
(f) state pension credit; 
(g) housing benefit; 
(h) council tax benefit; 
(i) child tax credit; 
(j) an increase of a disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA (increase where constant 
attendance is needed), and any further increase of such a pension under section 105 of the Act 
(increase for exceptionally severe disablement); 
(k) any amount included on account of the applicant's exceptionally severe disablement or need for 
constant attendance in a war disablement pension or a war widow's or widower's pension; 
(l) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary Financial 
Assistance Regulations 2001;  
(m) working tax credit;  
(n) income-related employment and support allowance,  
 
22.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment of £5,000 or more which has been made to 
rectify, or to compensate for, an official error relating to a relevant benefit and which has been 
received by the applicant in full on or after the day on which he became entitled to benefit under the 
Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006 or the Council Tax Benefit (Persons who have attained the 
qualifying age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006. 
(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), the total amount of any payments disregarded under— 
(a) paragraph 7(2) of Schedule 10 to the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987; 
(b) paragraph 12(2) of Schedule 8 to the Jobseeker's Allowance Regulations 1996; 
(c) paragraph 9(2) of Schedule 5 to the Council Tax Benefit Regulations 2006; 
(d) paragraph 20A of Schedule 5 to the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002, 
(e) paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 9 to the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008, 
where the award in respect of which the payments last fell to be disregarded under those Regulations 
either terminated immediately before the relevant date or is still in existence at that date. 
(3) Any disregard which applies under sub-paragraph (1) or (2) shall have effect until the award 
comes to an end. 

Page 290



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(4) In this paragraph— 
“the award”, except in sub-paragraph (2), means— 
(a) the award of benefit under the Council Tax Benefit (Persons who have attained the qualifying age 
for state pension credit) Regulations 2006during which the relevant sum or, where it is paid in more 
than one instalment, the first instalment of that sum is received; and 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of which, begins 
immediately after the previous award ends, such further awards until the end of the last such award, 
provided that, for such further awards, the applicant— 
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; 
(ii) is the partner of that person; or 
(iii) was the partner of that person at the date of his death; 
“official error”— 
(a) where the error relates to housing benefit, or council tax benefit (in respect of any period before 
1st April 2013), has the meaning given by regulation 1(2) of the Housing Benefit and Council Tax 
Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 2001; and 
(b) where the error relates to any other relevant benefit, has the meaning given by regulation 1(3) of 
the Social Security and Child Support (Decisions and Appeals) Regulations 1999; 
“the relevant date” means— 
(a) in the case of an existing award of benefit under these Regulations or the Council Tax Benefit 
Regulations 2006, 6th October 2003; and 
(b) in any other case, the date on which the claim for benefit under these Regulations or the Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations 2006 was made; 
“the relevant sum” means the total amount referred to in sub-paragraph (1). 
23. Where a capital asset is held in a currency other than Sterling, any banking charge or commission 
payable in converting that capital into Sterling. 
24. The value of the right to receive income from an occupational pension scheme or a personal 
pension scheme. 
25. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 4 of Schedule 6 
(amounts to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount which 
is disregarded under paragraph 5 or 6 of that Schedule. 
26. The dwelling occupied as the home; but only one dwelling shall be disregarded under this 
paragraph. 
27.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant falls within class C (alternative maximum 
council tax reduction: pensioners), the whole of his capital. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where an applicant falls within class B and class C. 
28. Where a person elects to be entitled to a lump sum under Schedule 5 or 5A to SSCBA or under 
Schedule 1 to the Social Security (Graduated Retirement Benefit) Regulations 2005, or is treated as 
having made such an election, and a payment has been made pursuant to that election, an amount 
equal to— 
(a) except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the amount of any payment or payments made on 
account of that lump sum; 
(b) the amount of that lump sum, but only for so long as that person does not change that election in 
favour of an increase of pension or benefit. 
29. Any payments made by virtue of regulations made under— 
(a) section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 2001 (direct payments); 
(b) section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 (direct payments in respect of community care 
services); or 
(c) sections 12A to 12C of the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care). 
 

PART 2 
Capital disregarded only for the purposes of determining deemed income 

 
30.The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 
31.The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest in 
the property in respect of which rent is due. 
32.The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 
such an annuity. 
33.Where property is held under a trust, other than— 
(a) a charitable trust within the meaning of the Charities Act 1993; or 

Page 291



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) a trust set up with any payment to which paragraph 16 of this Schedule applies, and under the 
terms of the trust, payments fall to be made, or the trustees have a discretion to make payments, to or 
for the benefit of the applicant or the applicant's partner, or both, that property. 
 

SCHEDULE 10 Paragraph 62 
Capital disregards: persons who are not pensioners 

 
1. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other expenses incurred, 
or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work for Your Benefit Scheme but only 
for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 
2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme but only for 52 
weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 
3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses incurred, or to be 
incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Employment, Skills and Enterprise Scheme but 
only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the payment. 
4. The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally occupied by the 
applicant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, but, notwithstanding paragraph 32 of this scheme (calculation of 
income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a polygamous marriage), only one 
dwelling shall be disregarded under this paragraph. 
5. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant which he intends to occupy as his home 
within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances 
to enable the applicant to obtain possession and commence occupation of the premises. 
6. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly occupied by the 
applicant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other premises intended for such 
occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 
7. Any premises occupied in whole or in part— 
(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his home where that 
person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is incapacitated; 
(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision shall not apply where the 
former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or divorced or with whom he had 
formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 
8. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-
related employment and support allowance, the whole of his capital. 
9. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the Jobseekers Act 
1995 and his partner is on income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the whole of the applicant’s capital. 
10. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of which the 
applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or sub-tenancies. 
11.—(1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for the purposes 
of which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to be so engaged, for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset. 
(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where— 
(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some disease or bodily 
or mental disablement; but 
(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self-employed earner in 
that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged or re-engaged in that business, 
for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the application for a reduction under this scheme is 
made, or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to become engaged or reengaged 
in that business within that period, for such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to 
enable him to become so engaged or re-engaged. 
(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment route, the assets 
acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in 
respect of which such assistance is being received. 
(4) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which 
assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets relating to that activity for such 
period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for disposal of any such asset. 
12.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment made to 
compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of— 

Page 292



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 11, 13 or 14 of Schedule 8; 
(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the Discretionary Financial 
Assistance Regulations 2001; 
(e) working tax credit and child tax credit; 
(f) an income-related employment and support allowance, but only for a period of 52 weeks from the 
date of the receipt of arrears or of the concessionary payment. 
(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary payment referred to 
in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, benefits or allowances amounts to 
£5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph and in sub-paragraph (3) as “the relevant sum”) and 
is— 
(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in regulation 1(2) of the 
Decisions and Appeals Regulations; and 
(b) received by the applicant in full on or after 14th October 2001, 
sub-paragraph (1) shall have effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment either for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is received in its entirety during the 
period of an award of a reduction under this scheme, for the remainder of that period if that is a longer 
period. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), “the period of an award of a reduction under this scheme” 
means— 
(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof where it is paid in 
more than one instalment); and 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of which, begins 
immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award provided that for that further 
award the applicant— 
(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that person’s partner at the 
date of his death. 
13. Any sum— 
(a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any personal 
possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 
(b) acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express condition that it is to be 
used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, 
which is to be used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which it was 
so paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to effect the repairs, 
replacement or improvement. 
14. Any sum— 
(a) deposited with a housing association as defined in section 1(1) of the Housing Associations Act 
1985 as a condition of occupying the home; 
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, for the period 
of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to enable the applicant 
to complete the purchase. 
15. Any personal possessions except those which have been acquired by the applicant with the 
intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to a reduction under this scheme or to 
increase the amount of that reduction. 
16. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender value (if any) of 
such an annuity. 
17. Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal 
injury to the applicant or applicant’s partner, the value of the trust fund and the value of the right to 
receive any payment under that trust. 
18.—(1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in consequence of any 
personal injury to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant’s partner. 
(2) But sub-paragraph (1)— 
(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the applicant first receives 
any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 
(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of that injury (whether it 
is made by the same person or another); 
(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on which the applicant no 
longer possesses it; 

Page 293



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are derived from a   
payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant no longer 
possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a payment or part of it to 
purchase an asset. 
(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as including 
references to his partner (where applicable). 
19. The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 
20. The value of the right to receive any income which is disregarded under paragraph 15 of Schedule 
7 or paragraph 29 of Schedule 8. 
21. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 
22. Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the right to receive any 
outstanding instalments. 
23. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C or 24 of the 
Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or 
sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (provision of services for children and their 
families and advice and assistance to certain children). 
24.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by a local authority 
in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 of the Children (Scotland) Act 
1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of children and powers to grant financial assistance to 
persons in, or formerly in, their care) to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant. 
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 
(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
(b) is aged 18 or over, and 
(c) continues to live with the applicant. 
25. Any social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA. 
26. Any refund of tax which falls to be deducted under section 369 of the Income and Corporation 
Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) on a payment of relevant loan interest for 
the purpose of acquiring an interest in the home or carrying out repairs or improvements to the home. 
27. Any capital which by virtue of paragraph 54 or 79 (capital treated as income: persons who are not 
pensioners, treatment of student loans) is to be treated as income. 
28. Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking charge or 
commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 
29.—(1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings 
Relief Charitable Fund. 
(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or 
who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts 
to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 
(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that person has died was 
not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved 
or, where that person has died, had not been dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is a 
member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is 
a member of the applicant’s family. 
(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is suffering or who 
suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit 
of— 
(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is a 
member of the applicant’s family; or 
(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and who is 
a member of the applicant’s family. 
(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if— 
(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has died were not, 
estranged or divorced, or 

Page 294



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, the civil 
partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at the time of 
the death. 
(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person, which 
derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers, where— 
(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or divorced or 
with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young 
person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; and  
(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or a student who has not 
completed his full-time education and has no parent or step-parent, to his guardian, but only for a 
period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that person’s death. 
(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or who was a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which subparagraph (1) refers, 
where— 
(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former partner from 
whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that had not 
been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or had been a member of his family; and 
(b) the payment is made either— 
(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a student who had not 
completed his full-time education and had no parent or step-parent, to his guardian, but only for a 
period of two years from the relevant date. 
(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this paragraph is 
made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or capital made under or 
deriving from any of the Trusts. 
(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be construed as 
including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton 
Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 
30.—(1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling occupied as the 
home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his civil partnership with, his former 
partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he ceased to occupy that 
dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as the home by the former partner who is a lone parent, 
for so long as it is so occupied. 
(2) In this paragraph “dwelling” includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, which were formerly 
occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not so occupied which it is impracticable or 
unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling is 
situated. 
31. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those premises, for a 
period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of those premises. 
32. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of which he is 
taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has commenced legal proceedings, 
with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first sought 
such advice or first commenced such proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as is 
reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and commence occupation of 
those premises. 
33. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which essential repairs or 
alterations are required in order to render them fit for such occupation, for a period of 26 weeks from 
the date on which the applicant first takes steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or such longer 
period as is necessary to enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 
34. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole or in part) of 
entitlement to housing benefit. 
35. The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 
36. The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme. 
37. The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a reversionary interest in 
the property in respect of which rent is due. 
38. Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET Limited, the 
Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund (2006). 

Page 295



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

39. Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of 
the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only for the period of 52 weeks beginning on 
the date of receipt of the payment. 
 
40. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 1992 Act 
(reduction of liability for council tax), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of 
the payment. 
41. Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the Housing Act 1988 
(156) or section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for payments to assist local housing 
authority and local authority tenants to obtain other accommodation) which is to be used— 
(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for occupation as his 
home, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such a grant or such longer period 
asis reasonable in the circumstances to enable the purchase, repairs or alterations to be completed 
and the applicant to commence occupation of those premises as his home. 
42. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 54 of Schedule 8 
(sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings) or of any amount which is 
disregarded under paragraph 55 or 56 of that Schedule, but only for a period of 52 weeks from the 
date of receipt of the arrears. 
43.—(1) Any payment or repayment made— 
(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service (Travel Expenses 
and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health service supplies); 
(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling Expenses 
and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling expenses and health service 
supplies); 
(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service (Travelling 
Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and 
health service supplies), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or 
repayment. 
(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish Ministers or the 
Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment mentioned in sub-paragraph (1), but 
only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment.  
44. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be determined by or under 
a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or similar 
arrangements in connection with the provision of those benefits (including payments made in place of 
healthy start vouchers, milk tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a period of 52 weeks from 
the date of receipt of the payment. 
45. Any payment made under Part 8A of the SSCBA (entitlement to health in pregnancy grant).  
46. Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish Ministers under a 
scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit persons in custody, but only for a 
period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the payment. 
47. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of State or any 
other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to assist disabled persons to 
obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 
48. Any payment made by a local authority under section 3 of the Disabled Persons (Employment) 
Act 1958(159) to homeworkers assisted under the Blind Homeworkers’ Scheme. 
49.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where an applicant falls within class F (alternative maximum 
council reduction: persons who are not pensioners), the whole of his capital. (2) Sub-paragraph (1) 
does not apply where an applicant falls within class E and class F. 
50.—(1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and— 
(a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court under Rule 
21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 
(b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 
(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be disposed of by order or 
direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 
(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from— 
(a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under the age 
of 18. 

Page 296



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

51. Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order made under 
section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the Ordinary Cause Rules 
1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives from— 
(a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned is under the age 
of 18. 
52. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross. 
53. In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the self 
employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing 
or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is or was received but only 
for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which that sum was acquired. 
54.—(1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt of that 
payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or more of the items 
specified in sub-paragraph (2). 
(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a member of a family, any other 
member of his family, or any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable. 
(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or other special 
dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person in the sport in respect of 
which the award was made. 
55.—(1) Any payment— 
(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 
(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; 
(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under section 
12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 
(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of State and National 
Assembly for Wales to give financial assistance for purposes related to education or childcare, and 
allowances in respect of education or training); or 
(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 
(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 2002. 
(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made pursuant to— 
(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid under section 
12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, in respect of a course of study 
attended by a child or a young person or a person who is in receipt of an education maintenance 
allowance or other payment made pursuant to any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 
56. In the case of an applicant participating in an employment zone programme, any discretionary 
payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, being a fee, grant, loan or 
otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 
57. Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 52 weeks from 
the date of receipt of the payment. 
58. Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State on or after 1st 
February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or interment of— 
(a) the applicant; 
(b) the applicant’s partner; 
(c) the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
(d) the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 
by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000. 
59.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an applicant or a 
member of an applicant’s family who is— 
(a) a diagnosed person; 
(b) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s partner at the date 
of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents or a 
person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; or 

Page 297



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

(d) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person who was a 
member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death. 
(2) Where a trust payment is made to— 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on the date on which that 
person dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years after that date; 
(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending— 
(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person— 
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest. 
(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a trust payment 
has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom a trust payment has been 
made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an applicant’s family who is— 
(a) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s partner at the date 
of the diagnosed person’s death; 
(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents or a 
person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; or 
(c) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person who was a 
member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at the date of the diagnosed 
person’s death, but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of any trust 
payments made to that person. 
(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to— 
(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending on the date on which that person 
dies; 
(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period 
beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending two years after that date; or 
(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph shall apply for the period beginning 
on the date on which that payment is made and ending— 
(i) two years after that date; or 
(ii) on the day before the day on which that person— 
(aa) ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb) attains the age of 20, 
whichever is the latest. 
(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person— 
(a) being the diagnosed person’s partner; 
(b) being a member of a diagnosed person’s family; 
(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents, 
at the date of the diagnosed person’s death shall include a person who would have been such a 
person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed person residing in a care 
home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that date. 
(6) In this paragraph— 
“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or who, after his 
death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeld-Jakob disease; 
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of State in respect of 
persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld-Jakob disease for the benefit of 
persons eligible for payments in accordance with its provisions;  
“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust. 
60. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact that the 
applicant, the applicant’s partner, the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner or the 
applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner— 
(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
(c) was a parent of a child who had died, 

Page 298



Version 1                                                                                                                                         10.12.13  

during the Second World War. 
61.—(1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on behalf of the 
applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop or sustain the capacity of the 
applicant or his partner to live independently in his accommodation. 
(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes in England a county council. 
62. Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and Social Care Act 
2001 or under section 12B of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968, or under sections 12A to 12D of 
the National Health Service Act 2006 (direct payments for health care). 
63. Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002. 
64. Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F 
of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 299



Page 300

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 26  Dec 2013 

 
 

Stage 1: Initial screening                                                

 

Lead Officer: Suzanne Heywood 

People involved in completing EIA: Suzanne Heywood 
Jennifer Barker 
Bill Balmer 
 

Is this the first time that this project, 
policy or proposal has had an EIA 
carried out on it? If no, please state 
date of original and append to this 
document for information. 

Yes 
 
An EIA on the 13/14 scheme accompanied the scheme 
for approval to Council on 12 December 2013. This EIA 
is for the scheme for 2014/15 onwards.  

 

General Information 

 

1a Which service does this project, 
policy, or proposal relate to? 

This project relates primarily to the revenue and 
benefits section of the Customer Service Team.  There 
are also close links into the finance team on this project. 

1b What is the project, policy or 
proposal?  
 

The project is the approval of Oldham’s Council Tax 
Benefit Scheme is for 2014/15 onwards. 
 
From 2013/14, all local authorities were put under a 
duty to agree a localised Council Tax Support Scheme 
at full Council to replace Council Tax Benefit by 31st 
January 2013. Previous to this, the Council Tax Benefit 
Scheme was administered nationally.  
 
There was additionally complexity in developing a 
scheme given that the resources envelope in which we 
had to deliver any scheme was 10% smaller than the 
funding we had received to cover CTB the previous 
year. In 2014/15 we expect to receive the same level of 
funding as in 2013/14, however, as the grants will all be 
delivered together in one lump sum, this may be difficult 
to confirm. 
 
There is an obligation within the legislation on the 
council to consider whether to review this scheme on an 
annual basis and if the Council wants to revise the 
scheme, any revised scheme for 2014/15 needs to be 
approved by full Council on a date before 31st January 
2014. 
 
The Council went consulted on two options:: 

Equality Impact Assessment Tool  

 

Page 301



 

Page 2 of 26  Dec 2013 

• Option 1: Leave the current Council Tax 
Reduction scheme unchanged for 2014 
onwards 

• Option 2: Increase the level of Council Tax 
Reduction should the financial position of the 
council be able to support the change  

Please see 1d and 1h for more information. 

1c What are the main aims of the 
project, policy or proposal? 
 

1. To implement a scheme that is affordable 
As in 2013/14, Oldham is once again aiming to put in a 
place a scheme that is affordable. Last year, the 
funding reduction meant a shortfall in funding of 
£3.044million. We estimate that this shortfall would be 
the same for 2014/15. 
 
Against the backdrop of needing to find £60 million of 
savings in order to balance the budget over the next 
two financial years and already having taken over 
£140m out over the last 5 years, Oldham Council 
cannot afford to fund any further shortfalls.  We are 
therefore once again looking to introduce a local 
scheme that will meet the affordability envelope and 
balance the impact against the cost of providing a local 
council tax support scheme.  
 
2. To implement a scheme that limits the financial 
impact across all Council Tax benefit recipients 
As in 2013/14, the Government has made it mandatory 
to protect pensioners at the rate of Council Tax Benefit 
that they would have been entitled to prior to 1 April 
2013. Initial guidance also suggested we should 
consider how to protect vulnerable groups and provide 
incentive to work. Whilst not providing a specific 
definition for vulnerable groups, the Government did 
advise that authorities should consider their duties 
under specific legislation when designing a scheme, 
namely: 

• The Equality Act 2010 

• Child Poverty Act 2010  

• The Housing Act 1996 
 
Whilst we have no legal duty to protect people on low 
incomes (this was revoked in December 2010), as a 
borough with a number of deprived areas, Oldham still 
chooses to continue considering the impact of any 
decisions on this group.  
 
We are now more informed about the scale of the 
impact of welfare reforms on Oldham and its people 
than we were last year, which we will need to consider 

Page 302



 

Page 3 of 26  Dec 2013 

when identifying those most vulnerable under the 
scheme. 
 
3. To design a scheme that will enable the Council 
to collect as much Council tax as possible, whilst 
supporting residents to meet their payments 
To date, Oldham’s collection rate in relation to CTR is 
higher than anticipated and we hope to achieve 
collection rates of between 65 and 70%. The good 
collection rate is due in no small part to a number of the 
actions put in place through last year’s EIA to reduce 
the impact of the scheme. Flexible funding options, 
partnerships with the Credit Union, and co-operative 
campaigns such as the Energy Switch have helped a 
number of families to be able to make their payments.  
Once again, through this process we will endeavour to 
do things differently, to do things co-operatively, which 
will help not hinder the residents of Oldham and in 
doing so, enable the Council to collect the funds it 
needs to continue to provide services. We are acutely 
aware though that shortfalls in council tax mean 
creating a budget pressure that has the potential to 
mean that further savings will need to be made from 
within council services.  

1d Who, potentially, could this 
project, policy or proposal have a 
detrimental effect on, or benefit, 
and how? 

Once again, the scale of the scheme and potential 
impact suggests there may be a significant impact on 
two or more of the protected groups if the decision is 
made to maintain the current level of support, thus it is 
appropriate for a full EIA to be completed. 1e and 1f 
have been completed as if the proposal is to increase 
support. However, were the proposal to be to maintain 
or reduce it, negative impacts or “not sure” could have 
been indicated for all of the characteristics save for 
people of particular sexual orientation/s and people who 
are proposing to undergo, are undergoing or have 
undergone a process or part of a process of gender 
reassignment. 
 
Given what we now know about the impact of welfare 
reforms, we intend to take a specific review of the 
potential disproportionate impact on impact on people 
with a protected characteristic. 

 

1e. Does the project, policy or proposal have the potential to disproportionately impact on any 
of the following groups? If so, is the impact positive or negative? 

 None Positive Negative Not 
sure 

Disabled people     

Particular ethnic groups     

Page 303



 

Page 4 of 26  Dec 2013 

Men or women  
(include impacts due to pregnancy / maternity) 

    

People of particular sexual orientation/s     

People who are proposing to undergo, are 
undergoing or have undergone a process or part of a 
process of gender reassignment 

    

People on low incomes     

People in particular age groups     

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs     

Are there any other groups that you think may be 
affected negatively or positively by this project, policy 
or proposal?         

       

 

1f. What do you think that the overall NEGATIVE 
impact on groups and communities will be?  

 

None / Minimal Significant 

  
  

 

1g Using the screening and 
information in questions 1e and 
1f, should a full assessment be 
carried out on the project, policy 
or proposal? 
 

 
 
      Yes         No    
 

1h How have you come to this 
decision? 
 
 

Once again, the scale of the scheme and potential 
impact suggests there may be a significant impact on 
two or more of the protected groups if the decision is 
made to maintain the current level of support, thus it is 
appropriate for a full EIA to be completed. 1e and 1f 
have been completed as if the proposal is to increase 
support. However, were the proposal to be to maintain 
or reduce it, negative impacts or “not sure” could have 
been indicated for all of the characteristics save for 
people of particular sexual orientation/s and people who 
are proposing to undergo, are undergoing or have 
undergone a process or part of a process of gender 
reassignment. 

1i Review date See Stage 5 

Page 304



 

Page 5 of 26  Dec 2013 

 

Stage 2: What do you know? 

 

What do you know already? 

 
The source of all data contained within this EIA is the live benefit database as at 11th November 

2013 unless otherwise stated.  

 

What we know about those currently claiming Council Tax Reduction? 

 

Current  Council Tax Reduction claimants   

 

As of 11th November 2013 the number of claimants was 26,359.  

 

The breakdown of claims by council tax band is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

This data shows that the overwhelming majority of CTR claimants live in Band A properties. 

 

Potential impact on people of a particular age 

 

The breakdown of claims by claimant type is as follows:  

 

Type of Recipient Number % 

Elderly 10,153 38% 

Working age - passported benefits 7,812 30% 

Working age – other 8,394 32% 

TOTAL 26,359  

 

This shows that those people of working age (62% of the entire claimant group) are likely to be 

disproportionately adversely affected, particularly since there is a mandatory requirement to 

protect those on pension credit i.e. those claimants in the elderly bracket. Therefore the number 

of claimants of working age is 16,206. 

 

Potential impact on men or women (including maternity or pregnancy considerations) 

 

The breakdown of claims by gender of the claimant is as follows:  

 

Gender Working Age % 

Male 7,113 44% 

Female 9,093 56% 

Total 16,206 100% 

 A B C D E F G H 

Number of 
claimants 

20,627 3,138 1,922 448 132 43 17 2 

Page 305



 

Page 6 of 26  Dec 2013 

The demographic information shows a 44/56 split in terms of men and women in the population, 

so this would indicate that slightly more women than men are affected by the scheme.  It is likely 

that this is down to the number of lone parents with dependent children included in this group, 

90% of which are women. 

 

Impact on those on low incomes  

 

In a borough that has 3 areas within the top 1% most deprived in the country, there is a real risk 
that maintaining or reducing the levels of support could drive people over the financial edge and 
have a major impact on quality of life. An increased level of support will have a positive effect for 
such people. Analysis shows that claimants living in (Lower Super Output) Areas in the wards of 
Coldhurst and St. Mary’s, particularly the Barker Street and St. Mary’s Estates, will be most 
likely to be cumulatively impacted by welfare reforms (i.e. those neighbourhoods with the 
highest volumes of claimants of all benefit types).  Other wards and neighbourhoods where 
there are high volumes of individual benefits likely to be affected by the changes include 
Werneth, Hollinwood (particularly Limeside Village), Alexandra (particularly Alt and Holts), St. 
James’ (particularly Sholver), Medlock Vale and Waterhead.   However, impacts will be felt in all 
but a few areas of Oldham. 

 

The table below shows claimant types by ward and those wards mentioned above are 

highlighted.  There is clear read across between those wards mentioned in the extract above 

and those with the largest number of claimants of working age. Therefore it is reasonable to 

suggest that those people with low incomes would potentially be disproportionately adversely 

affected by the scheme. 

 

Ward  Working Age  Elderly  Total  

Alexandra 1672 646 2318 

Chadderton Central 488 402 890 

Chadderton North 597 464 1061 

Chadderton South 744 542 1286 

Coldhurst 1932 740 2672 

Crompton 335 510 845 

Failsworth East 493 509 1002 

Failsworth West 654 567 1221 

Hollinwood 1216 745 1961 

Medlock Vale 1202 563 1765 

Royton North 358 469 827 

Royton South 432 448 880 

Saddleworth North 174 269 443 

Saddleworth South 133 322 455 

Saddleworth West and Lees 325 416 741 

Shaw 576 497 1073 

St James 963 429 1392 

St. Mary's 1576 546 2122 

Waterhead 1109 609 1718 

Werneth 1227 460 1687 

TOTAL 16,206 10,153 26,359 

 

Page 306



 

Page 7 of 26  Dec 2013 

 

Impact on those people from particular ethnic groups  

We do not currently collect ethnicity data, however, the demographic data shows the following 

information about ethnicity in the wards highlighted above. This shows that three of the wards 

(Coldhurst, St. Mary’s and Werneth) identified as being most impacted have a high proportion of 

people from a BME background (over 50% of residents). It also shows that another three 

(Alexandra, Medlock Vale, and Waterhead) have significant numbers of people from BME 

backgrounds (over 15% of residents), whilst Hollinwood and St. James are primarily made up of 

residents from non-BME backgrounds. 

 

Whilst we cannot confirm that people from particular ethnic backgrounds would be 

disproportionately adversely affected by maintaining or reducing the levels of support under the 

scheme, the demographic data suggests that this might be the case.   

 

 
% 

White 
% 

Pakistani 
% 

Bangladeshi 
% Other 

non-white 

Alexandra 63.4 22.8 3.8 10.0 

Chadderton Central 88.3 2.2 5.1 4.4 

Chadderton North 78.4 2.1 15.7 3.8 

Chadderton South 91.1 2.2 1.7 5.0 

Coldhurst 27.1 3.7 60.2 9.0 

Crompton 96.0 0.5 1.0 2.5 

Failsworth East 95.9 0.8 0.2 3.1 

Failsworth West 95.1 0.6 0.2 4.1 

Hollinwood 86.9 5.6 2.4 5.1 

Medlock Vale 61.5 22.8 6.9 8.8 

Royton North 97.4 0.3 0.4 1.9 

Royton South 93.5 0.8 2.1 3.5 

Saddleworth North 97.3 0.4 0.2 2.0 

Saddleworth South 97.5 0.4 0.2 1.9 

Saddleworth West and Lees 97.0 0.6 0.1 2.3 

Shaw 94.0 1.0 2.8 2.2 

St. James' 94.4 0.5 0.3 4.7 

St. Mary's 34.0 49.1 8.6 8.2 

Waterhead 76.8 16.1 1.3 5.7 

Werneth 23.4 48.6 17.8 10.3 

Oldham 77.5 10.1 7.3 5.1 

England 85.4 2.1 0.8 11.7 

 

Impact on people of a particular faith / belief 

Whilst we cannot confirm that people with particular faiths / beliefs would be disproportionately 

adversely affected by maintaining or reducing the levels of support under the scheme, the 

demographic data suggests that this might be the case because of the link with ethnicity. 

 

Impact on those with a disability 

Of the 16,206 working age claimants, 3,197 (19.73%) have a disability premium within their 

Page 307



 

Page 8 of 26  Dec 2013 

benefit calculation. Whilst this indicates that the individual is considered to have some form of 

disability, it does not tell us the nature or extent of the disability. Of the 3,930 claimants currently 

under the recovery process due to non-payment, 674 are in receipt of a disability premium, this 

is 17.1% of those on recovery. 

 

We looked at the number of disabled claimants in recovery due to non-payment and found that 

of the 674 claimants 114 are also affected by the size criteria, however only 36 had applied for 

additional assistance with their rent through the Discretionary Housing Payment scheme. 

 

The evidence shows that whilst the majority of claimants who are in receipt of a disability 

premium are managing to make their payments, there are some who are not. Additionally, there 

are still some changes to Disability Living Allowance to be made in terms of changing onto 

Personal Independence Payments. This impact is unknown so the potential impact on those in 

receipt of disability premiums is something we are keen to keep under review. 

 

Collection rates 

 

As of December 2013 the collection rate overall is higher than anticipated and we hope to 

achieve collection rates of between 65 and 70%. What we do not know is whether this healthy 

collection rate will continue after Christmas and we would also expect the collection rate to slow 

in February as the majority of residents pay over 10 months rather than 12. The income type of 

those who are paying in line with their billed arrangement are as follows: 

 

  
Paying as 
required 

Working Age - Passported Benefits 5,604 

Working Age - Other 6,672 

Total 12,276 

 

Recovery Activity 

 

Of those claimants receiving Council Tax Reduction 3.930 accounts are now on recovery action, 

the breakdown below shows those accounts broken down by property band.   

 

 

Band  A B C D E F G Total 

 
Number 

3391 333 150 39 12 4 1 
 

3930 
 

 

These figures are proportionately in-line with the overall number of claimants in each band, 

which might indicate that people in higher bands are not finding it more difficult to pay than 

those in lower bands. 

 

Again, this is now a mid-year estimate and the collection rate may decline as Christmas 

approaches and the pressure on household finances worsens. 

Page 308



 

Page 9 of 26  Dec 2013 

 

Other financial impacts 

We have previously highlighted a number of potential impacts from wider welfare reforms, which 
whilst not the subject of this EIA do have a bearing on overall impact on people’s ability to pay 
their Council Tax.  This year we are beginning to see actual impacts and are better able to judge 
the potential impact on CTB claimants from wider welfare reforms. 

It is notable that Oldham is ranked 26th worst affected out of the 379 local authorities in Great 
Britain with the overall annual impact of welfare reform changes being estimated at 
£90.1m, once the changes are fully implemented.  This equates to a loss of £637 a year per 
working-age adult.   This is a key finding for Oldham from the Centre for Regional Economic and 
Social Research (CRESR, Sheffield Hallam University) recently published report: “Hitting the 
poorest hardest – The local and regional impact of welfare reform”.    Further findings and more 
information is presented in the Impact of Welfare Reform report that went to Council on 17th July 
2013, which can be found below: 

ImpactofWelfareRef
orm17July2013 13 June EMT draft.doc

 
Of the key Welfare Reform changes that have been introduced from April 2013, the following is 
a headline summary of impact on Oldham. Again, more information and analysis can be found 
in the full report.  
 
Introduction of the Size Criteria (under occupation or bedroom tax) 

The size criteria was introduced to Housing Benefit for working age claimants in the social 

rented sector from 1st April 2013.   In Oldham (as at 1st November 2013): 

• 2,059 households are under occupying their properties, 1,736 by one bedroom 

and 323 by two or more bedrooms. 

• This has resulted in average reductions in Housing Benefit of £10.97 per week for 

one bedroom and £20.70 per week for two bedrooms or more. 

Groups that could potentially be negatively impacted: People on low incomes; people with a 
disability. 
  
Personal Independence Payment 

Personal Independence Payment (PIP) has been introduced to replace Disability Living 
Allowance (DLA) for eligible claimants aged 16 to 64. From 10th June 2013 it has been 
introduced to all new claimants in Oldham. Existing claimants of DLA currently remain 
unaffected and will be receiving the same level of disability funding support as previously.  
Claimants of either PIP or DLA will not be affected by the Benefit Cap. 
 
Groups that could potentially negatively impacted: People with a disability. 
 

The Benefit Cap 

The Benefit Cap limits household income from benefits to £350 per week for single claimants 
and £500 per week for couples and lone parents.   In Oldham implementation commenced from 

Page 309



 

Page 10 of 26  Dec 2013 

the 15th July 2013. There are currently:-  

• 97 households affected  
• All are households with children  

 
Additionally, tenants affected by the benefit cap have been assisted with the completion of 
applications for Discretionary Housing Payment.  

 
Groups that could potentially negatively impacted: People on low incomes. 
Those in receipt of disability benefits are not affected by the benefit cap.  

Impact on disabled people 

In Oldham the biggest impact on the local economy from Welfare Reform comes from changes 
to disability benefits.    
 
There will be an estimated annual loss of: 
 

• £22.3m (by 2015/16) resulting from changes to Incapacity Benefit; 

• £6.7m (by 2017/18 if current timelines are adhered to) resulting from the change from 
Disability Living Allowance (DLA) to Personal Independence Payment.    

 
Therefore Welfare Reform changes to disability benefits are likely to lead to an estimated 
annual loss of £29m to the local economy.    

Impact on families and children 

Some of the other areas where Welfare Reform will have a significant impact in Oldham are 
those which particularly or disproportionately affect families with children.   These include: 

• changes to Child Benefit (£10.6m); 

• changes to Tax Credits (£19.1m); 

• the Household Benefit cap (£0.8m) 
 

Discretionary Housing Payment 

Oldham Council operates a Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP) Scheme. If claimants do not 
receive full Housing Benefit and cannot afford to make up the shortfall in their rent, they may be 
able to get temporary extra help.  DHPs cannot be paid for Council Tax.    

As at the 3 December we had received 2.784 DHP applications. 

 
Local Welfare Provision 

Community Care Grants and Crisis Loans for living expenses paid by DWP ended on 31st March 
2013. Local authorities were given funding to develop their own Local Welfare Provision (LWP) 
scheme which is intended to: 

• Meet short term emergency/immediate support needs of vulnerable people  

• Assist vulnerable people to establish or maintain a home in the community  

As of the end of November we had had: 

• 1,582 applications received for 7,449 items  

Page 310



 

Page 11 of 26  Dec 2013 

• 5,751 items refused and 1,351 items have been awarded. 

 

Personal Budgeting Support  

The Council established a Personal Budgeting Support Team from April 2013 to assist 
claimants affected by the introduction of Universal Credit and the Welfare Reforms. To date the 
team has received 226 referrals. 

 

What we currently know about the Council 

The Council has already saved around £150m over the past five years (to 2014/15) and is 
required to save another £60m over the next two financial years (2015-17).  As per last year, it 
is not currently proposed that the Council commit any extra funding to the CTB scheme as this 
would result in the services having to make more savings. However, due to the healthier than 
expected collection rates, there may be an option to increase the level of Council Tax reduction 
relief. If the collection rate achieves 65% to 70% it will collect an extra £600,000 to £800,000 in 
Council Tax receipts for 2014-15.  

A number of actions were identified which could mitigate the impact of the CTR scheme across 
all groups.  The action plan continues to be implemented, monitored and updated.   

Below are the actions with an update under each. 

 

Develop a communications and marketing 
plan which focuses on early engagement with 
taxpayers particularly those who will be 
required to make payments of Council Tax for 
the first time.  

The communications plan was completed by 
April 2013 and additional activities have been 
undertaken.  In particular there was an 
increase in communications activity before 
starting any recovery action and numerous 
attempts were made to contact people prior to 
any letters going out regarding recovery 
action.  Please the Impact of Welfare reform 
report above for further information about the 
activity we have undertaken. 

Oldham Council will participate in actions 
agreed within the Fuel Poverty Agreement 
and continue to support residents to access 
insulation through the “Get Me Toasty” and 
Warm Homes Scheme campaign  
 

Our partnership project to tackle fuel poverty 
in Oldham was successfully launched in 
August, with over 70 people attending the 
launch event. 

Since the scheme was launched in August 
there have been over 300 households 
assisted, who have benefited from:  

• 245 free heating upgrades installed  

• 47 homes have had external solid wall 
insulation  

• Average saving from energy switching is 
£160 per household (per annum)  

• Average saving from behaviour change 
advice is £238 per household (per 
annum)  

• 90% of homes assisted we have applied 

Page 311



 

Page 12 of 26  Dec 2013 

for the warm homes discount of an extra 
£135  

• £4,670 extra benefits secured so far  

• 7 trust fund grants applied for household 
fuel debts to be cleared  

 
The partners have a target of 1,000 people 
this year and so far we have helped 370 
people out of fuel poverty. 

Continue to deliver energy switching 
campaigns and auctions  
 

Following the November switching scheme, 
which saw over 8,500 resident sign up and an 
average of saving of £171 per household, 
Oldham then led two GM-wide energy switch 
campaigns in Jan and April, which saw further 
savings realised for residents across the 
borough.  In response to recent energy price 
rises, Oldham is leading on the Switch Now – 
GM energy price awareness campaign, and is 
developing the third GM energy switch to go 
live in Jan/Feb 2014. 

We have used the finders fee from the 
Oldham-only collective switch to fund an 
officer to work for the CAB. The officer will be 
in post until March 2014 and works with 
households in fuel debt to help them 
switch/get better deals/change from pre-
payment to credit meters. 
 

Deliver a Free Schools Meal take up 
campaign 
 

This action will be carried over to 2014/15 as 
issues with the systems have made data 
matching and targeted activity difficult. 

Expand the Council’s Welfare Rights Service  

 

There are now 4 Welfare Rights Officers 
within the Council.  Between April and 
October, the WRS has achieved an annual 
increase in benefit claims for those on low 
incomes of £1,021,000 and one off backdated 
awards of £1.3m. 

Maintain activities to get people into work  
 

The Get Oldham Working campaign was 
launched in May 2013 and an ambition to 
create 2,015 work-related opportunities by 
2015 was set.  Additionally, on 10 May 2013 
Oldham entrepreneur Norman Stoller 
announced a £1 million grant from the Stoller 
Charitable Fund to kickstart the Trust. The 
£1m will be gifted annually for four years, at a 
rate of £250,000 per annum and will be used 
to guarantee that every 18-year old leavings 
school can access continued education, 
training, apprenticeship, or a job. 

Page 312



 

Page 13 of 26  Dec 2013 

Develop a set of performance indicators to 
monitor the impact of the scheme   
 

We monitor and analyse information relating 
to weekly Council Tax collection rates, weekly 
DD take-up and payments and monthly 
recovery activity.   

Undertake an  annual review of the localised 
council tax support scheme   
 

This is underway and consultation was issued 
on 3 August and finished on 31 October.  

Review existing policies and developing a 
policy for collecting smaller amounts of 
Council Tax 
 

As part of the recovery processes we have 
used attachment to earnings and existing 
benefits where possible.  There are currently 
around 2,386 claimants who have not yet 
made a payment or contacted the Council to 
discuss payment options.  We are currently in 
the process of issuing further letters to these 
claimants encouraging them to contact us 
urgently. 

Utilising ACORN data available through the 
Corporate Research and Intelligence Team 

ACORN customer insight information is 
currently being used to map collection rates 
and recovery information to enable us to 
better target recovery solutions to people’s 
needs. 

Deliver a series of outreach sessions and 
road shows  
 

The ‘Make the most of your money’ campaign 
ran Feb – Apr 2013.  This included outreach 
sessions and roadshows across the borough. 
Further sessions have been undertaken as 
part of the recovery process. 

Encouraging payment by direct debit – pilot  
approach to test methods 
 

The number of those currently paying CTR by 
DD is currently at 3,662 (22% of CTR 
claimants). 

Offer the opportunity for residents to make 
payments of Council Tax over 12 monthly 
instalments rather than the normal 10 
instalments  
 

This was introduced and there are 423 of 
CTR claimants using this facility. 

Providing other options for payment for 
paying such as fortnightly payments 
 

We have 215 claimants currently taking 
advantage of the fortnightly DD scheme. 

 

What don’t you know? 

Our data about ethnicity collected through the application process is currently optional, therefore 

our information about impact on people of particular ethnic backgrounds has been taken from 

demographic data.  We also don’t hold any information about those people of a particular sexual 

orientation or faiths and beliefs. As part of the work over the next twelve months we will look to 

improve our data collection in regards to the scheme. 

 

There are some groups which could be defined as vulnerable for which we do not hold data 

these include:-  

• Those leaving care 

Page 313



 

Page 14 of 26  Dec 2013 

• Those leaving prison  

 

Further data collection 

As part of the consultation process an equality monitoring questionnaire was carried out. Please 
section 3c which will be added into the EIA following the close of consultation. This will help 
inform the final decision on the LCTR scheme for 14/15 onwards.   
 

 
 

Summary (to be completed following analysis of the evidence above) 

Does the project, policy or proposal have the potential 
to have a disproportionate impact on any of the 
following groups? If so, is the impact positive or 
negative? 

None Positive Negative Not 
sure 

Disabled people     

Particular ethnic groups     

Men or women  
(include impacts due to pregnancy / maternity) 

    

People of particular sexual orientation/s     

People who are proposing to undergo, are 
undergoing or have undergone a process or part of a 
process of gender reassignment 

    

People on low incomes     

People in particular age groups     

Groups with particular faiths and beliefs     

As the proposal has emerged into increased support, it has become possible to say above that 
as compared to the 2013/14 scheme, the scheme proposed for 2014/15 represents a positive 
impact where indicated above, although it is recognised that council tax reduction itself will 
continue to have an adverse impact for people of working age and for people on low incomes 
and for particular ethnic groups, because data collected previously by the council show 
disproportionate levels of poverty in some of our BME communities - notably those of Pakistani 
and Bangladeshi heritage – and certain faith groups. The impact on those in receipt of a 
disability premium is something we want to keep under review. 

Are there any other groups that you think that this 
proposal may affect negatively or positively?         

       

 

Stage 3: What do we think the potential impact might be?  

 

 

Consultation information 
 

Page 314



 

Page 15 of 26  Dec 2013 

3a. Who have you 
consulted with? 

We consulted with all major preceptors, current CTR claimants 
and an option was also provided for any resident to comment on 
the scheme through an online form on our website. 
 

3b. How did you consult? 
(inc meeting dates, activity 
undertaken & groups 
consulted) 

The consultation process started on the 8 August 2013 and ran to 
31st October 2013. 
 
In August 2013, a paper questionnaire was sent to all individuals 
in the borough in receipt of Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
support.  An option was also provided for respondents to 
complete an on-line version through Oldham’s Consultation 
Portal.  
 
The questionnaire used open and closed questions to capture 

residents’ views on two options for the Council Tax Reduction 

Scheme in 2013/2014, the impact the scheme was having on 

them as well as the impact of wider changes of the government’s 

Welfare Reform programme.  It is anticipated that more detailed 

analysis will be needed to support work to mitigate the impact of 

proposed changes, and later responses will be incorporated fully 

at this stage.  

 
In addition, staff in Access Oldham and the Contact Centre have 
also been available to support residents in completing surveys.   

 

3c. What do you know? 

A summary of the consultation report is at Appendix 1 of the main report.  The headlines show 
that:  
 
In total, 1,503 residents responded to the consultation which equates to a response rate of 9%, 
the main findings of the consultation are outlined below.      
 
In relation to the two proposed options: 

• Option 1: Leave the current Council Tax Reduction scheme unchanged for 2014 
onwards, just over half (54%) disagreed with the proposal and just under half (46%) 
agreed with the proposal.  

• Option 2: Increase the level of Council Tax Reduction should the financial position of the 
council be able to support the change, just over half (54%) agreed with the proposal and 
the just under half (46%) disagreed with the proposal.  

Respondents were also asked whether a range of Welfare Reforms had an impact on their lives, 
the finding suggest that:   

 

• Most respondents (77%) thought the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme had an 
effect on their household financially:  either ‘a great deal’ (48%) or a ‘fair amount’ (29%). 

 

• Local Housing Allowance (36%) has had the greatest impact, closely followed by the 
introduction of Work Capability Assessment (31%).   
 

Page 315



 

Page 16 of 26  Dec 2013 

• Almost all of those responding (89%) were concerned about their current financial 

situation. 

• Most respondents appeared to be aware of the support available from Oldham Council 
and its partners to mitigate the impact of Welfare Reform. People appeared most aware 
of the advice on managing debts (76%), while they were least aware of information to get 
them into employment (59%);      

• The support offered in getting a bank account had helped a third of respondents (34%) 
although 20% had not found the support had helped them; 

• A quarter of respondents (26%) had found help in reducing energy costs by moving from 
a pre-payment meter or standard tariff to direct debit tariff;  

• The area that most respondents wanted information about was on helping to make their 
house more energy efficient (16%) with the next popular being help with energy costs by 
moving from a pre-pay meter or standard credit tariff to a cheaper direct debit tariff (14%).  

About the respondents 

In total, 1,503 residents completed the questionnaire which equates to a response rate of 9%.  
Almost all of the respondents replied by post (95%; n=1435); a small proportion (5%; n=68) 
were submitted online.  Four in ten respondents (42%) indicated that they were in receipt of 
support through the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, three in ten (32%) said they were not, 
while 24% were unsure.  This means that over half the respondents indicated that they either 
did not receive the benefit or were unsure if they did or not – a high figure given that the 
questionnaire was only sent to all households in receipt of the benefit.  It suggests some 
respondents may have misunderstood the term Council Tax Reduction.   
 
Respondents had the following characteristics:  
 

• A slight majority were female (53%, n=729) compared to men (47%, n=644);   

• Most were 35 and older: 35-44 (25%), 45-54 (27%) and 55+ (22%) compared to only 7% 
who were between 16 and 24 years of age;  

• Seven in ten (72%) were white with nearly three in ten from the Black and Minority Ethnic 
(BME) groups (28%).   This means that proportionately more BME people responded 
than whites when compared to Oldham’s population;  

• Over half (56%) have a limiting long term illness or disability that affects their daily life; 

• Nearly two-thirds (62%) report suffering from nervous trouble or depression in the last 12 
months;   

• The overwhelming majority are not in paid employment with only around one in six 
respondents (15%) either working full or part time; and 

• Almost all (89%) have a household income of £251 a week or less with around two in 
three (64%) having a household income of less than £168 a week.   

 
A complete breakdown of the demographic profile of the respondents can be found in the 
consultation report.  

Page 316



 

Page 17 of 26  Dec 2013 

Respondents’ current financial situation 

Respondents were asked how easy or difficult they find it to keep up-to-date with a range of 

regular household bills: 

• Three quarters of respondents (74%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with Council Tax 
payments, with nearly half (46%) finding it ‘very difficult’. 

• Around seven in ten (69%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with utility payments (e.g. 
gas, electricity and water), with a large minority (43%) finding it ‘very difficult’  

• Over half (57%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with housing payments e.g. rent or 
mortgage payments. Around one in five (20%) said they did not have housing payments 
or that the question did not apply to them (some respondents owned their house without 
a mortgage for example). 

• Over half of respondents (55%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with their landline 
phone/internet bill whilst about three in ten (32%) said they did not have this or it did not 
apply 

• Nearly half (47%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with repayments on unsecured 
loans; almost half of respondents (48%) said they did not have unsecured loans or that 
the question did not apply 

• Nearly half (47%) found it difficult to keep up-to-date with their mobile phone contract; the 
same proportion (42%) said they did not have this or it did not apply.  

 

Respondents were then asked whether or not they could afford a range of basic goods, services 

and activities. High proportions of respondents said that they would like, but could not currently 

afford to: 

• make regular savings of £10 a month or more (80%) 

• replace or repair broken electrical goods like a refrigerator or washing machine (75%) 

• buy clothing and shoes when needed (76%) 

• buy healthy food (67%) 

• keep their home warm in winter (64%) 

• get to places that are too far away to walk (62%) 

• buy household contents insurance (51%) 

• have friends and family around for a meal or drink once a month (70%).  

What kinds of support would respondents find helpful to mitigate the impact of the 
proposed changes? 

Oldham Council believes that the Welfare Reform programme is likely to affect those people in 

receipt of a range of benefits and this is supported by a growing body of evidence (Beatty & 

Fothergill, 2013).   In order to mitigate the impact of these changes, the Council and our 

partners have put in place a range of support services.  In order to understand people’s 

awareness of these services and their effectiveness, a range of questions were asked within the 

survey. The key findings:   

Page 317



 

Page 18 of 26  Dec 2013 

• Most respondents appeared to be aware of the support available from Oldham Council 

and its partners1: people appeared most aware of the advice on managing debts (76%), 

while they were least aware of information to get them into employment (59%);      

• The support that most helped respondents : ‘support to access child-care services’, 

‘information and support to become self-employed’ and ‘help with tackling problem 

landlords’ (35% of respondents for all three initiatives);   

• The support which respondents felt did not help them was ‘advice on managing debts’ 

(27% feeling it had not helped them) although at the same time over a third (33%) did feel 

it had helped;   

• The support offered in getting a bank account had helped a third of respondents (34%) 

although 20% had not found the support had helped them; 

• A quarter of respondents (26%) had found help in reducing energy costs by moving from 

a pre-payment meter or standard tariff to direct debit tariff;  

• The area that most respondents wanted information about was on helping to make their 

house more energy efficient (16%) with the next popular being help with energy costs by 

moving from a pre-pay meter or standard credit tariff to a cheaper direct debit tariff (14%).  

 

3d. What don’t you know? 
N/A 

 

3e. What might the potential impact on individuals or groups be? 
(think about disability, race, gender, sexual orientation, transgender, age, faith or belief and 
those on low incomes and other excluded individuals or groups) 

Generic (impact across all 
groups) 

People across all protected groups will continue to have to pay 
something towards their Council Tax, save for those over working 
age qualifying for full support. As such it may be said that an 
increased level of support would have a positive impact across all 
protected characteristics. In any case, it is imperative that we 
continue to support all groups with a range of flexible payment 
solutions, advice and signposting to financial help and developing 
campaigns and initiatives that help put money back into 
household finances. 

Men or women 
(include impacts due to 
pregnancy / maternity) 
 

There is evidence to show that more women than men may have 
been affected (44% of men v 56% of women) due to the high 
proportion of lone parents that are women. As such it may be 
said that an increased level of support would have a greater 
positive impact on women as compared to men, whereas 
maintaining the current levels would affect women more.  

Disabled people 
 
 

The evidence shows that whilst the majority of claimants who are 

in receipt of a disability premium are managing to make their 

payments, there are some who are not. Additionally, there are still 

some changes to Disability Living Allowance to be made in terms 

                                                 

1
 Where respondents answered responded by selecting one of the following options: ‘Yes, this 
support has helped me’, ‘No, this support has not helped me’ or ‘I have not accessed this 
support’.  

Page 318



 

Page 19 of 26  Dec 2013 

of changing onto Personal Independence Payments. This impact 

is unknown so the potential impact on those in receipt of disability 

premiums is something we are keen to keep under review. 

 

Particular ethnic groups We have information from other sources that demonstrates 
disproportionate levels of poverty in some of our BME 
communities - notably those of Pakistani and Bangladeshi 
heritage. The disproportionate levels of poverty in Hollinwood and 
St James would also indicate impact on communities from non-
BME backgrounds. There is strong reason to believe therefore 
that there has been a disproportionate impact on people from 
particular ethnic groups. Whilst we cannot be certain there is a 
disproportionate impact on those from particular ethnic groups, 
this is strongly indicated. As such it may be said that an 
increased level of support would have a greater positive impact 
on particular ethnic groups, whereas maintaining the current 
levels would affect some ethnic groups..  

People of particular sexual 
orientation/s 
 

There is no potential impact anticipated. 

People who are proposing 
to undergo, are undergoing 
or have undergone a 
process or part of a process 
of gender reassignment  

There is no potential impact anticipated. 

People on low incomes 
 
 

It is fair to assume that all current claimants are on low incomes 
due to CTR being means tested. As such it may be said that an 
increased level of support would have a greater positive impact 
on those with low incomes. 

People in particular age 
groups 
 

Those people of working age would be disproportionately 
negatively affected due to the mandatory protection given to the 
elderly. As such it may be said that an increased level of support 
would have a greater positive impact on those of working age. 

Groups with particular faiths 
and beliefs 
 

Whilst we cannot confirm that people with particular faiths / 
beliefs would be disproportionately adversely affected by 
maintaining or reducing the levels of support under the scheme, 
the demographic data suggests that this might be the case 
because of the link with ethnicity. As such it may be said that an 
increased level of support would have a greater positive impact 
on people with particular faiths/beliefs. 

Other excluded individuals 
and groups 
 

There is no potential impact anticipated. 

 

 

 

 

Page 319



 

Page 20 of 26  Dec 2013 

Stage 4: Reducing / mitigating the impact  

4a. Where you have identified an impact, what can be done to reduce or mitigate the impact? 

Impact 1: People within all 
groups will have to pay 
something in terms of Council 
tax.  This could be particularly 
difficult for those who are on 
low incomes. 

The proposal has developed so that it is proposed that the 
Council increases the level of support to 80% of Band A 
(currently 75%).  This will give additional support to all CTR 
claimants. This amounts to extra relief worth up to £53.33 per 
household per annum. 
 
Mitigation measures identified for the 2013/14 scheme have 
been adopted for the purpose of next year’s scheme. 
 
A number of flexible payment options have been developed to 
help people to meet the cost of Council tax and these will 
continue to be in place in 14/15. 

Impact 2: People worried 
about how they can afford to 
pay household bills etc. 

It is our intention to continue to deliver our range of advice and 
signposting. For example: 
 

Credit Union to encourage residents to make small regular 
savings and provide access to low cost credit  

Local Welfare Provision to assist with the replacement of  
broken electrical goods like a refrigerator or washing machine  

Warm Homes Scheme for those who are concerned about keep 
their home warm in winter 

Oldham Food Bank  takes referrals from a number of Council 
Services and partner organisations across the Borough  

Personal Budgeting Support Team to assist in reducing 
expenditure , setting up bank accounts and addressing debt 
issues    

Discretionary Housing Payments to assist with rent shortfalls  

Welfare Rights Service to assist with maximising income  

Free School Meals to assist in reducing expenditure  

Get Oldham Working 

We have launched a Switch Now energy price comparison 
scheme, to help people switch to a better deal.   

In January 2014 the third GM collective energy switch will take 
place, giving residents an opportunity to save money on their 
energy bills. 

A campaign aimed at those in fuel poverty for later in 2014 is 
still under development. We expect that there will be an element 
of the campaign that helps find a better deal for those on Pre-
payment meters (PPM), plus provides help/advice to change 
from PPM to credit meters (if possible) or improve tariff (if 
possible). 

Page 320



 

Page 21 of 26  Dec 2013 

 

4b. Have you done, or will you do, anything differently as a result of the EIA? 

As a result of the equality impact assessment and consultation feedback we will:  

• Continue to promote existing flexible payments methods 

• Review effectiveness and take up of current payment methods and introduce new 
payment options where appropriate 

• Identify and establish referral arrangements to a wider range of support services 

• Work with partner organisations to provide targeted support to residents  

• Continue to monitor the collection rates on a weekly basis  

• Continue to monitor the wider impact of welfare reform ensuring effective partnership 
working continues to support those affected.   

• Identify and support those affected by the future changes to welfare reform, particularly 
the benefit cap and Universal Credit  

• Review approach to debt collection by the Council and seek to develop single view of the 
debts an individual owes to the Council   

• Continue to promote schemes such as energy switching that reduces  residents 
expenditure  

• Further develop the Welfare Rights Service to support residents to maximise their income 

• Link to Get Oldham working initiatives     
 

 

4c. How will the impact of the project, policy or proposal and any changes made to reduce the 
impact be monitored? 

• Continue to have a monitoring group and weekly analysis and review of data. 

• See how we can improve the quality and range of data we collect particularly around 
disability and ethnicity. 

 

Conclusion  
This section should record the overall impact, who will be impacted upon and the steps being 
taken to reduce / mitigate the impact 

Once again, council tax reduction as compared to council tax benefit will impact on all working 
age CTR claimants, and particularly those on low incomes. However, the proposal that is being 
taken to council will reduce the impact of council tax reduction. The Council has tried through 
the design of the scheme to ensure that people are protected as far as possible proposing an 
increase in the amount of relief from a maximum of 75% to 80% of a Band A rate of Council 
Tax. The Council continues to offer all claimants the same scheme – not passing greater 
percentage cuts onto particular groups. 
 
The Council has little influence over the need to impose the localised scheme and has done all 
that is possible to ensure that the scheme is implemented in as fair a way as possible, given the 
ongoing impact of welfare reforms that will continue over the next twelve months and beyond.  
Oldham Council is, however, responding to the challenges as a co-operative Council and 
working with partners, using what means are available to us to put some money back into the 
pockets of the Oldham resident, which we very much hope will mitigate some of the harsher 
effects of introducing this scheme. 
 

 

Page 321



 

Page 22 of 26  Dec 2013 

Stage 5: Signature 

Lead Officer:           Suzanne Heywood                           Date:     10.12.13 
 

Approver signature:    Mark Stenson                              Date:    10.12.13 
 
 

EIA review date:   
 
 

Page 322



 

Page 23 of 26  Dec 2013 

Number Action Required outcomes By who? By when? Review date 

1 Continue to promote existing flexible 
payments method   
 

Increase collection rates  
Increased take up of 12 monthly and 
fortnightly payment  

Shelley Kipling  March 2014 June 2014  

2 Review effectiveness and take up of 
current payment methods and introduce 
new payment options where appropriate 
 
 

 Increase collection rates  
 
More flexible options available   

Amanda Cawdron  April 2014  July 2014 

3 Continue to deliver energy switching 
campaigns and auctions  

All residents are encouraged to sign 
up to the scheme  

Su Barrett  January 2014 April 2014 

4 Identify and establish referral 
arrangements to a wider range of 
support services 
 
 

Maximise access to support for 
residents   

Tracey Rontree  April 2014  July 2014 

5 Further develop the Welfare Rights 
Service to support residents to 
maximise their income 
 

Ensure the Council can provide help 
and assistance to those who 
experience difficulties. This would 
allow us to undertake benefit checks 
and referring residents for budgeting 
support and debt advice. 

Amanda  Cawdron  April 2014  August 2014   

6  Work with partner organisations to 
provide targeted support to residents  
 

Early identification of residents 
affected by Welfare Reform changes 
allows support to be put in place at the 
earliest point      

Amanda  Cawdron  April 2014  August 2014   

7 Continue to monitor the collection rates 
on a weekly basis  
 

Increase collection rates and take swift 
action if collection slows  

Suzanne Heywood  April 2014  August 2014   

8 Monitor the collection rates in relation to 
those in receipt of a disability premium 

Early identification of a worsening in 
the collection rate for this group. A 
drop in the collection rate may indicate 
that this group are being affected by 
welfare changes to DLA still to be 
rolled out amongst existing claimants. 
This will enable us to identify any 
interventions that might be appropriate 
for this group. 

Suzanne Heywood April 2014 Jan 2014 

P
age 323



 

Page 24 of 26  Dec 2013 

9 Continue to monitor the wider impact of 
welfare reform ensuring effective 
partnership working continues to support 
those affected 

Early identification of residents 
affected by Welfare Reform changes 
allows support to be put in place at the 
earliest point      

Amanda  Cawdron  April 2014  August 2014   

10 Identify and support those affected by 
the future changes to welfare reform, 
particularly the benefit cap and 
Universal Credit 
 

Early identification of residents 
affected by Welfare Reform changes 
allows support to be put in place at the 
earliest point      

Amanda  Cawdron  April 2014  August 2014   

11  Review approach to debt collection by 
the Council and seek to develop single 
view of the debts an individual owes to 
the Council   
 

Increase collection rate across all 
debts  
Agree more affordable payment 
arrangements with residents  
 

Amanda  Cawdron  September 2014  December 2014  

12 Link to Get Oldham working initiatives   
 

Reduced  number of unemployed  Jon Bloor  June 2014  September 2014    

13  Undertake an  annual review of the  
Council Tax Reduction scheme   

The scheme is reviewed in light of 
information gathered from the 
performance indicators and 
recommendations for changes are put 
to Council.  
 
Report to Council recommending any 
changes to the scheme.    

Suzanne Heywood  August  2014  December 2014 

14 Identify how the breadth and quality of 
the data collected can be improved 

A stronger, more robust and 
comprehensive data base. 

Amanda Cawdron / 
Elaine Sherratt 

April 2014 January 2014 

 
 

P
age 324



 

Page 25 of 26  Dec 2013 

APPENDIX 1: Action Plan and Risk Table 

 

Risk table 
 

 

Ref. Risk Impact  Actions in Place to mitigate the 
risk 

Current Risk 
Score 

Further Actions to be developed 

R1.1 Further reductions in 
Government funding – 
either to the Council 
or partners 

The scheme would be 
unaffordable 
Some of the mitigating 
actions/schemes may no 
longer be viable. 

Announcements from 
Chancellor in Autumn 
Statement - impacts to be 
analysed 
 
Local Government Finance 
Settlement due on 20 
December – analysis to be 
carried out. 
 

BII • Through our financial 
monitoring processes we 
should be able to forecast / 
react to any changes 
announced over the next 
month. 

• The dashboard being 
developed will also enable us 
to monitor affordability. 

• Review of the action plan will 
alert us to any changes in the 
mitigating actions – including 
where services are being 
decommissioned or 
diminished. 

R1.2 Financial impact of 
welfare reforms is 
worse than expected 

Welfare reforms have a 
greater adverse 
economical impact on 
Oldham and its families 
than originally forecast. 

Continuing monitoring of 
the welfare reform 
dashboard / indicators will 
help the Council and 
Partners to pick up trends 
and emerging issues 
quickly. 

CII • Steering group continue to 
meet to assess the impact of 
reforms.  

 

  

P
age 325



 

Page 26 of 26  Dec 2013 

R1.3 Collection rates do not 
remain above 
projected levels 

A budget pressure 
emerges as a result of a 
more generous scheme. 

Flexible payment methods 
will remain in place and 
under review 
Recovery systems remain 
in place 
 

BII • Ongoing weekly monitoring 

 
 
 

P
age 326



 

u 

 
 
 
COUNCIL 
 

 
A Co-operative Approach to the use of Council 
Assets 
 
 

Report of Emma Alexander, Executive Director Commercial Services 
 
Portfolio Holders : Cllr A Jabbar, Executive Member  Finance 

Cllr J Stretton, Executive member Co-operatives & 
Neighbourhoods 

 
 
 18th December 2013  
 
Officer Contact: Cath Conroy; Head of Asset Management & Estates 
Ext. 4424  
Bruce Penhale, Head of Stronger Communities Service 
Kate Eisenstein, Co-operatives & Partnerships Officer 
Anne Fleming, Oldham District Partnership Community Development 
Worker 
 
 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
To support Community use of Council owned land and property assets via approval of 
revised Land & Property Protocols, streamlined and updated Community Use of 
Assets Policy & Procedure and Governance process to implement the Community 
Right to Bid.  
 
 
Recommendations 
 
 

Agenda Item 18

Page 327



Page 2 of 10 [Document Title] [date] 

1. Approve revised Land and Property Protocols 
2. Approve governance arrangements for Community Right to Bid  
3. Use of this process in relation to application recently received relating to 

Boundary Park. 
4. Approve streamlined and updated Community use of Assets Policy & 

Procedure to extend spectrum of opportunities  
5. Discontinue existing Community Asset Transfer Strategy 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
Cabinet 18th November 2013 
Council  18th December 2013 
 
A Co-operative Approach to use of Council Assets 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 As a Co-operative Council, we want to encourage and support local residents 

to do their bit for their community, and we are committed to using our 
resources to enable local people to do this. 

 
1.2 Key to this is the way we use our physical assets – buildings, green spaces 

and other property and land the Council owns and leases across the borough.  
 
1.3 At its meeting on 23rd July 2012, Cabinet considered a Scrutiny Review of the 

current Community Asset Transfer Strategy, previously approved by Cabinet in 
March 2011.  (For ease of reference, a copy is attached at Appendix 4) 
Approval was granted to simplify and strengthen the process by; 

 
(i) Updating and streamlining the strategy; and 
(ii) Developing a community support toolkit in co-operation with VAO to 

provide help and guidance.  
 
1.4 This review has been completed, and as a result, The Co-operative Use of 

Assets Policy & Procedure attached (Appendix 1) sets outs how, moving 
forward, we will use our assets to secure the greatest possible value for the 
Borough - whether that’s social or financial value.   

 
1.5 This Policy offers a wider and more flexible range of options and support for 

groups seeking to use Council assets, and a more streamlined process for 
community asset transfer, proportionate to the responsibilities and risks 
involved. 

 
 
1.6 The Policy begins from a positive recognition of the value of the work 

undertaken by voluntary and community groups, and recognises that groups 

Page 328



Page 3 of 10 [Document Title] [date] 

often have limited resources.  However the Council’s own financial position 
also needs to form part of the considerations around the use of assets.  Assets 
have operating and maintenance costs, and the Council needs to either secure 
revenue to cover these costs, or to put arrangements in place for these to be 
undertaken as part of a management agreement. 

  
2.  Current Position 
 
2.1 The Policy has been updated and streamlined in the context of other related 

Council priorities and procedures, including the Council’s Asset Management 
Strategy, the Land & Property Protocols, the Co-operative Oldham Strategy, 
the Social Value Framework and the District Asset Review. 

  
2.2 It is understood that an Overview and Scrutiny Task and Finish group has 

recently been established to explore the issues of vacant Public houses and 
the Community Right to Bid. It is envisaged that the contents of this report will 
assist in the work of the group. 

 
2.2 What has changed? 
 
2.3 Community Asset Transfer Strategy (CATS) Appendix 4paragraph 1.3 - The 

range of alternative arrangements which may be considered when assessing 
potential community asset transfer has been significantly extended to provide a 
wider, more flexible spectrum of opportunities as identified in Co-operative 
Approach to Use of Council Assets Policy & Procedure Appendix 1. This 
reflects the nature/range of community groups in terms of capacity and 
aspiration. 

 
2.4 It has also been extended to bring within scope a wider range of assets 

considered as suitable for use by communities, reflecting a more flexible 
approach.(paragraphs 4.2 & 6.1 in CAUCA) 

 
2.5 The commitment to, in co-operation with VAO, review existing toolkits to 

ensure they are adequate, appropriate and fit for purpose, and thereafter 
signpost to support groups as appropriate. (paragraph 6.1 CAUCA) 

 
2.6 Directly informed by the Localism Act 2012, the policy is able to clearly define 

what is meant by ‘Community Groups’. (paragraph 2.5) 
 
2.7 The relative risks and benefits to the council and Groups has been reviewed 

and refreshed to provide a more focussed overview.(appendices 1&2 CAUCA) 
 
2.8 Notwithstanding the Council’s budgetary constraints, the reference at CATS 

paragraph 1.6 to suitability of assets for community transfer having limited 
commercial value has been deleted. 

 
2.9 Presentation of the process has been significantly refined, providing a much 

clearer, user-friendly process map, (flow chart at page 8 CAUCA) identifying a 
4 stage process from initial enquiry through to decision making. 

Page 329



Page 4 of 10 [Document Title] [date] 

 
2.10 There is an explicit cross reference with the Land & Property Protocols, which 

firmly anchors the Policy within the Constitution, re-enforcing the Council’s 
commitment to the principles. 

 
3. Land and Property Protocols 
 
 
3.1 The Council’s Land & Property Protocols form part of the Council’s 

Constitution, and provide a framework within which the organisation manages 
its corporate land and property portfolio.  

  
3.2 The Protocols have recently been reviewed to reflect public sector reform and 

the Council’s Co-operative Council agenda, in addition to internal re-structuring 
within the Council. These changes are intended to give appropriate 
consideration to the added social value that can be achieved by working 
together with communities in the way we use our assets, in addition to a more 
radical, focussed approach to creating efficiencies across public sector partner 
organisations in use of assets. 

 
3.3 Specific amendments have been made which will strengthen the potential for 

community and voluntary sector use of Council owned assets without 
compromising the Council’s fiduciary duty. (see paragraph 4.5)  

 
3.4 The revised Protocols are attached at Appendix 2. 
 
 

4.National policy context: Assets of Community Value Regulations 
 
4.1.1 The Localism Act 2011 (as enacted by the Assets of Community Value 

Regulations 2012) places a statutory duty on local authorities to maintain a list 
of nominated assets which they consider to be of community value within their 
area.  

 
4.2 The Act prescribes strict guidelines governing the potential sale of assets 

included within the List, providing communities with an opportunity to 
identify/nominate assets of community value and to have them listed.  When/if 
they are subsequently put up for sale, subject to criteria being met, local 
groups are given time to prepare a bid and/or raise funds to acquire the asset.   

 
4.3 The legislation reflects the Government’s view is that in recent years 

communities have ‘lost’ access to local amenities and buildings of importance 
to them, through the sales process. The Government was also of the view that 
being unaware of a proposed sale, and the speed with which local assets may 
be sold, are important factors preventing local communities from making 
alternative proposal for use of the properties. 

 
4.4 It is important to note that this is right to bid, and is not a right to buy.  On 

expiry of the moratorium period, an owner of a listed asset is not obliged to sell 

Page 330



Page 5 of 10 [Document Title] [date] 

to any community group submitting a bid.  They could sell to someone else 
making a better offer. 

 
4.5 The Community Right to Bid applies to all assets of community value, not just 

those in the ownership of the Council.  In respect of Council assets, however, 
the Co-operative Use of Assets Policy takes account of the Community Right to 
Bid. 

 
4.6 A governance process is attached at Appendix 3 which will enable the Council 

to comply with this statutory duty. 
 
4.7 An application has recently been received to include Boundary Park on the 

Council’s list of Assets of Community Value. It is proposed that this application 
is considered within the governance process attached, albeit that it has yet to 
be formally approved. 

 
 
5 Local policy context: District Asset Review 
 
5.1 The District Asset and Service Review is considering the neighbourhood 

delivery of services and the property requirements associated with this.   
 
5.2 As part of maximising the use of retained Council assets, there is potential to 

consider whether better use can be made of these by voluntary, community 
and faith groups. 

 
5.3 The Corporate Property Board will review the options available for assets 

which are identified as surplus to requirements. 
  

Page 331



Page 6 of 10 [Document Title] [date] 

 
6 Options/Alternatives 
 
6.1 There are no other options which would ensure that the financial and social 

value of the Council’s land and property assets are maximised. 
 
7 Preferred Option 
 
7.1 The preferred option is to adopt the Co-operative use of Council assets policy 

& procedure which fully supports the Council’s wider Co-operative agenda; 
approve the revised Land & Property protocols which support the Policy, and 
approve the governance process to support implementation of the Community 
Right to Bid, enabling the Council to implement its statutory duty. 

 
8 Consultation 
 
8.1 Finance, Legal and Neighbourhoods Directorate colleagues have been 

consulted. 
 
9 Financial Implications  
 
9.1 There are a number of financial issues to take into consideration when 

considering the Councils approach to land and property. 
 
9.2 Capital Expenditure  
 
9.2.1 There is a statutory definition of capital expenditure which is set out in Section 

16 of the Local Government Act 2003 and Regulation 29A of the Capital 
Financing Regulations (England) 2003.  This must be adhered to in all the 
Councils property related matters and careful consideration must therefore be 
given to determining whether expenditure is properly classed as capital.   

 
9.2.2 All capital expenditure must be formally approved within the Councils capital 

programme which is in turn, prepared in accordance with the policies and 
priorities as set out in the Councils capital strategy.  As advised in the Land 
and Property Protocol, the capital strategy will have regard to the Medium 
Term Property Strategy and Regeneration Strategy. 

 
9.2.3 All capital expenditure must have an approved funding source and must 

therefore be approved following all the Councils processes and procedures. 
 
9.3 Capital Receipts 
 
9.3.1 There is a statutory definition of a capital receipt.  This is set out in Section 9 of 

the Local Government Act 2003 as “a sum received by the Authority in respect 
of the disposal by it of an interest in a capital asset”.  A capital asset is also 
defined in Section 9(2) of the Act. 
In addition, there is a restriction on the use of capital receipts to: 

• Financing new capital investment 

• Reducing borrowing under the Prudential Framework 

Page 332



Page 7 of 10 [Document Title] [date] 

• Paying a premium charged in relation to any amounts borrowed 

• Meeting any liability in respect of credit arrangements 

• Meeting disposal costs (not exceeding 4% of the receipt) 
 
9.3.2  In general capital receipts arising from the disposal of housing assets and for 

which account is made in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) are governed 
by the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003.  In summary the regulations require that: 

• receipts arising from Right to Buy (and similar) sales may be retained to 
cover the cost of transacting the sales and to cover the debt on the 
properties sold, but a proportion of the remainder must be surrendered to 
central Government;  

• receipts arising from all other disposals may be retained in full provided 
they are spent on affordable housing, regeneration or the paying down of 
housing debt. 

 
9.3.3 The Council is reliant on capital receipts to support the planned programme of 

expenditure and therefore any proposals which would reduce the amount of the 
receipts upon which the Council has relied could have a detrimental impact on 
the financing of the Councils capital programme.  This would need to be taken 
into account when considering any potential property transaction, whether this 
be a sale at less than best consideration in respect of a regeneration 
development or a transfer to a community group. 

 
9.3.4 Capital receipts are to be regarded as a corporate resource and a key element 

of its capital strategy is that there is no ring fencing of capital receipts with the 
exception of: 

• Building Schools for the Future programme, where the ring fencing principle 
has previously been approved as part of project viability 

• The recycling of receipts related to the former Werneth HMR initiative to 
facilitate redevelopment in South Werneth 

• Equity Loan Initiative which was established when HMR resources were 
ring fenced to the HMR programme. 

 
9.4 Best Consideration on the Sale of an Asset 
 
9.4.1 In order to maximise the level of capital receipts, it is expected that land will be 

sold for the best consideration reasonably obtainable, although there are 
certain circumstances where this requirement can be waived.  The Council will 
however have regard to the statutory requirements in such instances and 
ensure that appropriate decision making processes have been followed with a 
clear justification for the actions undertaken  

 
9.5 Revenue Implications of a Disposal or a Transfer to a Community Group  
 
9.5.1 The Council must have regard to the revenue implications in respect of any 

disposal of an asset or transfer to a community group, which might mean a 
reduced liability in relation to on-going running costs or the loss of rental 
income which might present a financial pressure for the Council.  Such 

Page 333



Page 8 of 10 [Document Title] [date] 

implications will always be clearly highlighted in any reports that are presented 
for approval  

9.5.2 The Council has made significant progress in reducing the costs associated 
with its corporate estate over recent years and has challenging savings targets 
which must be achieved in order to comply with the decisions underpinning the 
Councils approved revenue budget. 

 
9.6 Community Right to Bid  
 
9.6.1 Within the 2013/14 Local Government Finance Settlement, the Council 

received funding of £8k as compensation for new duties associated with the 
community right to bid.  This clearly recognises that there will be costs 
associated with this statutory duty. 

 
9.6.2 There is a right to compensation for private landowners in instances where an 

asset has been listed as an asset of community value and this has been to the 
financial detriment of the owner.  The duties of the community right to bid 
scheme will be administered by the Council including the assessment and 
determination of compensation awards.  Compensation cumulatively exceeding 
£20,000 in one financial year will be financed by Central Government.  Sums 
under that sum will have to be financed by the Council and there will be a need 
to allocate resources up to £20,000 in the event that this proved necessary. 

 
9.6.3 There is no compensation for public bodies including Local Authorities for any 

detrimental financial impact arising from the listing of an asset as an asset of 
community value. (Anne Ryans) 

 
 
10 Legal Services Comments 
 
10.1 The provisions are compliant with the relevant sections of the Localism Act. 

(Paul Entwistle)  
 
11. Cooperative Agenda 
 
11.1 The recommendations within the report are fully aligned to the Council’s Co-

operative agenda. 
 
12 Human Resources Comments 
 
12.1 N/A 
 
13 Risk Assessments 
 
13.1 N/A 
 
14 IT Implications 
 
14.1 None 
 

Page 334



Page 9 of 10 [Document Title] [date] 

15 Regeneration Implications 
 
15.1  Strategic Regeneration is supportive of the approach to the use of Council 

assets, as outlined in the report.  (Bryn Cooke) 
 
16 Property Implications 
 
16.1 Property implications are fully covered within the report. (Cath Conroy) 
 
17 Procurement Implications 
 
17.1 N/A 
 
18 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
18.1 A robust process will ensure that all Health & Safety implications associated 

with use of Council assets are adequately addressed. 
 
19 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
19.1 None 
 
20 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
20.1  No  
 
21 Key Decision 
 
21.1 Yes  
 
22 Key Decision Reference 
 
22.1 CMCL-31-13 
 
23 Background Papers 
 
23.1 None 
 
24 Appendices  
 
24.1 Appendix 1: Co-operative use of Assets- Policy & Procedure 

  Appendix 2: Land & Property Protocols- Review 
  Appendix 3: Community Right to Bid: Summary of Statutory & Governance      

Process 
 Appendix 4: Community Asset Transfer Strategy (March 2011) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 335



Page 10 of 10 [Document Title] [date] 

 
 
 

Page 336



  

APPENDIX 1  

 

Co-operative Use of 
Council Assets- Policy 
& Procedure  
 

 

 

Page 337



1 

 
Purpose of the policy 
 

1.1 The purpose of the Co-operative Use of Assets Policy is to support 
voluntary and community groups in being able to make use of Council 
assets in order to benefit the residents of the Borough.   It provides a 
process through which the Council will assess applications from 
voluntary and community groups to use or acquire a Council owned 
asset.  

 
1.2 The key aims of the Policy are: 

• To enable voluntary and community organisations to fully 
contribute to our aims as a Co-operative Council, and the 
achievement of outcomes for neighbourhoods and the Borough. 

• To provide a fair and transparent framework through which 
voluntary and community organisations can apply to use or 
acquire Council owned assets.  Decisions will be based upon the 
Council’s assessment of the balance of the costs and benefits of 
the proposal.  This will include consideration of the contribution to 
Council objectives, taking account of the Council’s Social Value 
Framework. 

• To provide other forms of support which facilitate the use or 
acquisition of Council assets by voluntary and community groups;  

• To operate a process through which effectively involves elected 
members in decisions about applications from voluntary or 
community groups to use or acquire Council assets.  

1.3 This policy will replace the Council’s current Community Asset Transfer 
Strategy. 

 
Principles underpinning the Policy 
 
2.1 Though each application will be assessed on its merits, the Council 

begins from recognition of the positive value of enabling use of assets 
by voluntary and community groups.  Our approach seeks to facilitate 
and support  communities to access to our assets, without 
compromising the authority’s financial integrity or fiduciary duty.   This 
approach will also ensure that the Council’s wider accountabilities, 
such as Health & Safety responsibilities, are adequately and 
appropriately discharged. 

 
2.2 The Policy is based upon the following principles: 

• A fair and consistent approach; 

• Clear and transparent decision making processes;  

Page 338



2 

• A flexible approach offering a range of options to suit the needs 
and circumstances of different groups, which takes account of 
their support and development needs ; 

• Accountability for decision making, with decisions involving 
elected members; 

• Timely processes in which the requirements are proportionate to 
the level of risk involved; 

• Systematic evaluation of the costs and benefits of community use 
of assets including both finance and social value; 

• Management of risks including those relating to health and safety, 
finance and reputation;   

• Clarity about responsibilities in relation to property management, 
including issues such as repair and maintenance, service charges 
and insurance;  

• Compliance with the Council’s statutory duties and 
responsibilities. 

 
Definitions 
 
2.3 This policy applies to land and property assets owned by the Council. 
 
2.4 Assets which may be considered as being suitable for community asset 

transfer can be defined as land or buildings in the ownership of the 
Council which have been identified as surplus to requirements through 
the Councils’ Asset Management Strategy.  

2.5 This Policy applies to voluntary or community bodies as defined in the 
Localism Act 2012.   These are referred to as “Community Groups” in 
the following sections below.  The definition is as follows; 

1. A body designated as a neighbourhood forum pursuant to Sec 
61(f) of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990; 

2. A Parish Council; 

3. An unincorporated body: 
a. Whose members include at least 21 individuals; and 
b. Which does not distribute any surplus it makes to its members 

4. A charity 

5. A company limited by guarantee which does not distribute any 
surplus it makes to its members 

6. An industrial and provident society which does not distribute any 
surplus it makes to its members 

7. A community interest company 

Potential options for community use of assets 

Page 339



3 

 
3.1 The matrix at Appendix 4 identifies a spectrum of alternative options 

which may be considered when assessing potential community use/ 
transfer of assets, ranging from simple ad-hoc room hire to unrestricted 
freehold sale.  This is not an exclusive list.  In each case, the 
advantages and disadvantages for both the Council and community 
groups are identified.  Groups could progress along the spectrum over 
time, taking on greater levels of responsibility and risk as they develop 
the organisation’s skills and capacity.   

3.2 With regard to potential transfer of assets, leasing options are 
considered most appropriate, as this provides maximum flexibility, 
providing community groups with the ability to access external funding 
and secure a significant degree of ‘autonomy’, whilst allowing the 
Council to retain as much control as considered appropriate to 
individual circumstances.  

3.3 With regard to community groups usage of Council assets this could 
arise in different ways: 

• community groups accessing assets principally used for Council 
service delivery by e.g. out of office hours;  

• assets used solely by communities, such as community centres; 
and  

• assets used by communities to deliver services traditionally 
delivered by the Council.    

There is therefore a great degree of flexibility within the Council’s 
corporate estate to accommodate a variety of usage and service 
delivery arrangements. 

Principles for Lettings of Council owned assets 
 
4.1 The Council has adopted key management objectives and 

principles with regard to its land and property portfolio which are 
incorporated in the Land and Property Protocols, forming part of 
the Council’s Constitution. 

 
4.2 All dealings with Council owned land and property must be 

undertaken in accordance with the Land & Property Protocols. 
 
4.2  With regard to terms for future lettings of Council-owned assets to 

Community Groups, the recently reviewed Land and Property Protocols 
reflect the following;  

 
a) Operational Assets: 

 

Page 340



4 

• Community sector tenant – range from at-cost to free 
(dependent on the structure of organisation, and with 
reference to the Council’s Social Value Framework) 
 

b) Community Assets (as defined in the District Asset review): 

• Usage costs range from at-cost to free (dependent on the 
structure of the organisation, and with reference to the 
Council’s Social Value Framework )  

 
Principles for Community Asset Transfer 
 
5.1 The Local Government Act 1972 Section 123 provides that the Council 

may dispose of land in any manner it sees fit, except that in the case of 
leases for more than seven years a disposal must be for the best 
consideration reasonably obtainable. 

 
5.2 However, the General Disposal Consent (England) 2003 provides a 

general consent for local authorities to dispose of land and property at 
less than best consideration (i.e. the highest financial value possible) 
within certain circumstances, including those where the Council 
considers that the disposal is likely to contribute to the achievement of 
the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental 
wellbeing of the whole or any part of the area (i.e. the general 
wellbeing power).  

 
5.3  When considering a transfer (i.e. a lease of 7 years or more) it is 

proposed that the asset is leased to the community group in question, 
who will then be responsible for all costs associated with its occupation 
of the property, including repairs and maintenance, rates, insurance, 
heating, lighting etc.    

 
5.4 Under the Policy, the community group must be able to demonstrate 

objectively how the transfer will contribute to the achievement of the 
promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental 
wellbeing of the whole or any part of the area. 

 
5.5 The contribution a community asset transfer can make to the 

economic, social or environmental wellbeing of an area can be 
demonstrated as follows:  

• the occupation and maintenance of a property by a community / 
voluntary organisation will benefit the Council over time as the 
value of the asset is protected in the longer term. 

• the community/voluntary organisation will serve the wider 
community and meet Council objectives as identified in the 
Corporate Plan and / or the Council’s Social Value framework. 

   
 
Other ways in which the Council may support the co-operative use of 
assets 

Page 341



5 

 
6.1 There are a number of other ways in which the Council may facilitate 

use of Council assets by community groups: 
 

• Ability to book rooms at the Civic Centre or other Council 
buildings. 

• Community groups may be offered support through the time of 
Council officers in order to develop their skills and capacity, and 
so be in a position to e.g. take on the management of a Council 
owned asset. Whilst increasing pressure on Council’s budgets will 
inevitable create challenges in this regard, there may be 
opportunities for Council officers to offer support to groups 
seeking to take responsibility for assets under the Employee 
Volunteering Scheme. 

•  The Oldham District Partnership is exploring, on a pilot basis, the 
potential for a social enterprise to take on the management of 
buildings leased to community groups. Whilst this may have 
advantages, it does need to be balanced against the Council’s 
commitment to driving efficiencies form the corporate estate via 
introduction of the Corporate Landlord model.   

• Working with Voluntary Action Oldham, develop a support offer for 
groups wanting to take on greater responsibility for assets, 
including full asset transfer.  This will include signposting to 
toolkits which are already available, sources of funding and 
national organisations which can support groups wanting to 
manage assets (such as Locality / Community Matters).In the first 
instance it is proposed that the existing toolkits are reviewed in co-
operation with VAO to ensure they are as comprehensive as 
possible. 

 
6.2 These other aspects of the co-operative approach to the use of assets 

require further development. 
 
Criteria for assessing applications from community groups for the use 
or transfer of Council assets 
 
7.1 Any application would be assessed on the basis of the same three 

criteria of: 

• Benefits to residents and the Council 

• Costs, and  

• Risks   

 
7.2 The same criteria would be applied to every for any application, but the 

assessment would be proportionate to the levels of risk involved: 
 

Strategic fit for the Council 

Page 342



6 

– Corporate  
o Corporate Plan 
o Asset Management Strategy 

– Neighbourhood 
o District Asset Review 
o Delivery of neighbourhood objectives 

Community benefit 
– What benefits will be provided for the local community, and 

different groups within it? 
– How will the proposal contribute to the Council’s Social Value 

framework? 

Financial considerations 
– What is the potential income to the Council? 
– How much would be foregone in capital receipts/rental income? 
– What is the impact on the Council’s ongoing revenue costs? 

Effective arrangements for management of the asset 
– Will the community group be able to meet ongoing running and 

maintenance costs? 
– Does the group have the ability to secure investment in the 

property? 
 

Capacity of the organisation to take on responsibility for use of 
the asset 
– What is the group’s track record? 
– Do individuals in the group have the required skills and 

experience?  
– Is development support available if required? 
– Ensuring the group has governance arrangements which will 

allow it to take on responsibility for an asset. 

Local support for the proposals 
– Is there evidence that the proposal has wider support e.g. from 

residents, ward councillors and relevant partners 

Other risks 
- Are there other significant risks which need to be managed e.g. in 

relation to the Council’s reputation or Health & Safety 
considerations? 

 
7.3 Managing an asset is a major undertaking for any community group 

and the Council recognises that organisations may need support to 
achieve the required level of expertise and experience. 

 
7.4 A set of minimum standards will be defined to ensure that 

organisations have the capacity to manage an asset.  These standards 
will be proportionate in that they will give due regard to the level of risk 
and responsibility being taken on by the community group. 

 
Process for making decisions on the use of assets by community 
groups 
 

Page 343



7 

8.1 The flow chart below sets out the process for consideration of 
applications from community groups to use or occupy Council assets 
(other than ad hoc requests to book rooms). 

  
8.2 In relation to assets considered for transfer, this would be subject to 

assets: 

• becoming vacant,  

• being identified as surplus to the Council’s operational and 
strategic requirements, and 

• being identified as potentially suitable for community use / asset 
transfer by the Corporate Property Board 

.  
 
   
 
8.3 The community use of assets, including potential transfer process will 

be managed by the Corporate Property team/function with support and 
assistance from the Neighbourhoods/Policy teams. With regard to 
potential transfer, progress of recommendations made will be subject 
to approval by the CPB and thereafter the EDRS process. 

 
8.4 If a community group is encouraged to proceed to an asset transfer the 

lease will be tailored to the individual circumstances of the transfer 
taking account of the identified benefits, costs and risks. 

 
8.5 There will be no separate appeals process.  If organisations were not 

satisfied with the outcome of an application to use or manage Council 
asset these would be subject to challenge on the same basis as other 
Council decisions.   

 

Page 344



Oldham’s Co-operative Approach to Assets 
 

8 

Council asset on the 
Community Right to bid 
list declared surplus to 

requirements 

Seek initial views  
from relevant 

Cabinet Member 
and/or ward 
councillors  

Other Council asset 
declared surplus to 
requirements and 

potential identified for use 
by voluntary or 

community group 

Voluntary or community 
group approaches 

Council seeking use / 
transfer of premises 

Council officer / other 
party initiates discussion 
about potential for use of 
an  asset by voluntary or 

community group(s)  

Discussion of options co-
ordinated by Strategic 

Asset Management Team 
with other officers and 
groups as appropriate 

Seek initial views 
from Corporate 
Property Board 

where applicable  

STAGE 1 
Initiate   

discussion 

STAGE 2 
Triage 

assessment of 
options 

No viable options 
available – discontinue 

process 

Use of asset does not require 
formal legal agreement e.g. 
regular use of rooms 

Decision taken by Ass Exec 
Director/ Executive Director 
/Cabinet dependent on 
value, in accordance with 
the Land & Proeprty 
Protocols (as reviewed)  

 Develop detailed 
business case fully 

assessing benefits, costs 
and risks  

Decision agreed with 
relevant service 

 

Use of asset requires formal 
legal agreement e.g.  short term 
licence agreement 

Long term community 
asset transfer 

 Develop agreement, 
taking account of benefits, 

cost and risks  

STAGE 3 
Develop 
options 

STAGE 4 
Decision and 

implementation 

 Assessment and 
recommendation by 

Corporate Property Board  

Decisions cross checked with Chief Executive 

P
age 345



 

9 

APPENDIX 1: BENEFITS AND RISKS OF ENABLING VOLUNTARY AND COMMUNITY GROUPS TO USE COUNCIL ASSETS  
 

Potential benefits to voluntary and community 
organisations 

Potential benefits to the Council Potential benefits to residents of the 
Borough 

• develop the organisation’s confidence, 
capacity and professionalism; 

• opportunity to create or strengthen working 
relationship with the Council, other statutory 
agencies and other  voluntary and community 
groups; 

• can strengthen the organisation’s community 
ties; 

• increase the organisation’s ability to secure 
resources to achieve its objectives.  
Community organisations may be able to 
access funding which Councils cannot access 
e.g. to refurbish the building or to support 
development work; 

• increased independence can encourage 
enhanced entrepreneurialism; 

• greater financial sustainability gained through 
asset transfer can help the organisation to 
escape short term grant dependency 

• subject to funding and to the Council’s 
consent as landlord, organisations can modify 
a building to better suit them or their 
communities’ needs; 

• asset transfer enables organisations to plan 
for the long term.  

• benefit from the “community reach” of 
voluntary and community groups to provide 
a more accessible and responsive base 
from which to deliver services – potentially 
meeting the needs of more people and 
delivering a wider range of services;  

• strengthen and sustain key voluntary and 
community groups; 

• support delivery of desired social, 
economic and environmental benefits;  

• act as a catalyst for inward investment and 
secure additional benefits of local 
purchasing and employment opportunities; 

• potential source of rental income or at least 
removal of ongoing revenue costs of 
premises from the Council; 

• building management problems could be 
solved or improved 

• support delivery of neighbourhood 
priorities; 

• development of a valuable local partner 
organisation offering a range of potential 
new opportunities for collaborative work. 

• provide a locally based, community 
building / physical asset providing 
support and services tailored to the 
needs of the local community; 

• potential for volunteering 
opportunities and the development of 
skills which could assist people in 
securing work; 

• may widen use of the asset to a 
greater range of residents, rather 
than restricting it to particular groups; 

• different groups within the community 
may be able to come together more 
often thus promoting community 
cohesion; 

• should any external funding or 
surpluses be generated by 
community organisations  they are 
more likely to stay in the community, 
supporting local businesses and local 
jobs. 

 

P
age 346



 

10 

APPENDIX 2 POTENTIAL RISKS OF COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER 
 

Risk Description Impacts Risk owner Mitigating actions 

Physical Risks 

Building or asset is not 
considered to be in 
adequate state to transfer 

Asset cannot be transferred Council Assessment of asset by property services prior to start of 
asset transfer process. 

Group does not have the 
funds to purchase and 
or/refurbish the asset 

Time, effort and money is wasted 

Group or project may fail  

Group / 
Council 

Council to carry out a conditions survey at the outset to 
establish the full cost of the asset. 

The Council could retain certain maintenance liabilities. 

Group could take on management of the asset without 
taking on full tenure. 

Extension of transfer on a long lease basis would allow the 
group to raise grants and investment funding to support 
improvements. 

Capacity building support for the group could be put in place 
to support group in accessing external funding. 

Community group could build links with Locality (formerly 
the Development Trust Association) who can signpost to 
possible sources of funding. 

Group cannot afford to 
maintain the asset on an 
ongoing basis 

Group may incur financial liabilities 
that it cannot meet 

Asset may not be structurally 
sound 

Council / 
Group 

Assessment of asset by property services prior to start of 
asset transfer process. 

Employing and retaining a project manager and/or surveyor 
to ensure 

Group carry out work that 
beyond what they should 
carry out  

Asset may become structurally 
sound 

Unauthorised building work is 
carried out, rendering the building 

Group Clear guidelines in the heads of terms, stating what can and 
cannot be done structurally  

Annual check to ensure that the asset has not been 
changed beyond the originally agreed  

P
age 347



 

11 

Risk Description Impacts Risk owner Mitigating actions 

unsafe or ‘illegal’. 

Business Risks 

Group taking on the asset 
does not have the 
relevant policies and 
procedures in place to 
take on an asset 

Asset cannot be transferred until 
the correct policies are in place 

Delays in transferring asset 

Asset cannot be transferred 

Time spent by the community and 
Council is wasted.  

Group/ 

Council 

Pre qualification questionnaire will highlight where the gaps 
are and allow for groups to fill the gaps. 

Group lacks the skills and 
capacity to manage the 
asset 

Time and energy spent by the 
group/community and Council is 
wasted. 

Asset is not transferred. 

Group Carry out skills audit at the outset. 

Agree on package of support at the point of transfer. 

Agree on an organisational development plan to include 
skills training in building management. 

Carry out the transfer on a phased basis.  

Offer support to the group in succession planning 

Group decides asset 
transfer is not something 
they wish to pursue.  

Time spent by the community and 
Council is wasted. 

Group Ensure that the relevant group of individuals meet to discuss 
the implications of asset transfer and establish early in the 
process whether this is possible. 

Confusion of roles 
between the community 
group and the Council 

Unexpected costs occurring. e.g. 
maintenance liabilities 

The relationship between the 
Council and the community group 
breaks down.  

Council/ 
Group 

Clear statement of the Council’s offer in the Asset Transfer 
Strategy 

Establish, as part of the final agreement, what individual 
roles should be. 

Asset and the use of it 
cannot be developed as 
fully as anticipated 

The group owning the asset 
cannot generate enough revenue 
for the asset to be sustainable, 
resulting in a financial shortfall. 

Group 

 

 

Access to specialist support 

Where possible ensure commissioning process takes into 
account the nature of community delivery agents. 

P
age 348



 

12 

Risk Description Impacts Risk owner Mitigating actions 

The Council’s community 
commissioning scheme may be 
insufficiently aligned to benefit the 
group. 

 

Group/ 
Council 

Ensure all commissioning members of the Oldham 
Partnership enable community commissioning.  

Group misuses the asset Building falls into disrepair 

Health & Safety risks are not 
managed by the tenant 

The group managing the asset 
gets into financial difficulties 

Group is accused of 
mismanagement of financial and 
physical assets. 

Asset is under utilised 

Competition for control of asset 
amongst community groups 

Risk of funds being 
misappropriated 

 

Group/ 
Council 

Agreement in heads of terms establishing what the asset 
may be used for and for how long (e.g. hours per week) 

Clear guidance of what will be expected from both the 
Council and the Community Group. 

Annual monitoring checks undertaken 

Strong business plan is developed by the group  

Clear break clauses in the lease 

Aims or objectives of the 
group are weak or are not 
aligned to those of the 
local authority. 

Lack of buy in from either side 
because no common vision can be 
found. 

Group/ 
Council 

• Group could consider undertaking a community needs 
survey to establish the needs of the community. 

• Work with the group to urge them to consider how they 
can further its objectives for the use of the asset. 

Elements of the lease or 
license cannot be agreed 
upon. e.g. Length of lease 
or rate of rent. 

The group pulls out of the transfer 
process 

 

The group feels forced to agree on 

 Quirk panel act as impartial brokers to negotiate terms and 
conditions. 

P
age 349



 

13 

Risk Description Impacts Risk owner Mitigating actions 

a lease that is not long enough for 
them to establish the business, 
rendering the lease unsustainable. 

 

Group ceases to operate Asset is under utilised 

Asset falls into disrepair 

 

Council/ 
Group 

Heads of terms of lease should contain break clause 
allowing group to give asset back to the Council or council to 
take the asset back. This would allow for transfer of the 
asset to another group or revert back to full Council 
ownership. 

The receiving group relies 
on a small number of 
volunteers to operate 

Individual(s) may become 
overburdened and unable to 
maintain time and effort on the 
project, threatening their health 
and that of the project. 

No succession plan in place 
means that loss of key volunteers 
leaves the group without 
individuals to fulfil the business 
plan 

Use of the asset could be limited 
due to it not being possible to 
keep it open. 

Group Rotation of committee members ensure that the committee 
is not left too weak to operate. 

Use of role descriptions to assist with succession planning. 

Build up a network of trustees covering the Authority to help 
in the recruitment of new board members. 

Use of shadowing as a way of supporting committee 
members into new roles  

Capacity building support could be offered to the group 

The group could build links with VAO and other support 
organisations. 

There are insufficient 
resources within the 
Council to adequately 
manage the letting and 
comply with the landlord’s 
covenants. 

Community group have difficulties 
which are not picked up early. This 
leads to the asset transfer getting 
into difficulties and possibly failing.  

Council / 
Group 

Ensure reviews are carried out as a partnership between 
departments  allowing more resources to be diverted to this 
task 

P
age 350



 

14 

Risk Description Impacts Risk owner Mitigating actions 

If the community group 
does not perform there 
may be political risks  

 Council/ group Ensure annual reviews are carried out and difficulties 
identified early. 

Ensure heads of terms identify mechanisms for dealing with 
this possibility 

Ensure CAT Panel is kept up to date with progress 

Reputational Risk 
resulting from any of the 
above physical or 
business risks occurring 

Potential highly negative affect on 
reputation, both Council and 
Group, with particular regard to 
the Council’s Co-operative 
aspirations   

Council/Group Ensure that the mitigating actions identified above are 
implemented as appropriate and the overall process is 
robustly managed. 

P
age 351



 

15 

APPENDIX 3. OUR SOCIAL VALUE PROCUREMENT FRAMEWORK 
 

Theme 
Outcomes: What are we trying to 
achieve? 

What could this mean in practice for 
suppliers? What could they deliver? (NB. 
These are examples only – not an exhaustive 
list) 

 
a) Jobs, growth, and 
productivity 

 
Outcome 1: More local people in work 
 
 

Create x number of new jobs in the local economy 
(i.e. within the borough of Oldham) 

Create x number of traineeships (including 
apprenticeships) for Oldham borough residents 

Provide x number of days of meaningful work 
experience for Oldham borough residents 

Support x number of people back to work by 
providing career mentoring for job clubs, including 
mock interviews, CV advice, and careers guidance 

Supporting young people into work by delivering 
employability support (e.g. CV advice, mock 
interviews, careers guidance) to x number of school 
and college students 

Employ x number of ex-offenders (or other group of 
people who typically face additional challenges in 
competing in the labour market) 

 
Outcome 2: A local workforce which is 
fairly paid and positively supported by 
employers 
 
 

Pay staff the Living Wage 

Increase rates of pay for lowest-paid staff by x% 

Improve the skills levels of existing staff by training 
x% of the workforce to Level 2/3/4 (for example) 

Reduce average sickness absence by x% through 
an improved health, wellbeing and support package 
for staff 

Identify all staff who are carers and ensure flexible 
working practices are implemented to support these 
responsibilities within x weeks of contract start date 

P
age 352



 

16 

Theme 
Outcomes: What are we trying to 
achieve? 

What could this mean in practice for 
suppliers? What could they deliver? (NB. 
These are examples only – not an exhaustive 
list) 

 
Outcome 3: Thriving local businesses 
 

 

Support x number of new business start-ups by 
running practical workshops with enterprise clubs 

Support the local economy by spending x% of total 
expenditure in the local supply chain (i.e. within the 
borough of Oldham) - this could be measured with 
tools such as LM3 

Support the local supply chain by spending x% of 
total expenditure in a 10-mile radius / within the 
borough of Oldham 

 
Outcome 4: Responsible businesses that 
do their bit for Oldham 

Attract £x worth of inward investment into the 
borough  

Secure positive profile for Oldham through x number 
of positive stories in the national media 

Support Oldham’s Fairtrade Town status by ensuring 
that x% of food products in the supply-chain is 
Fairtrade 

Secure £x-worth of investment in, or in-kind 
contributions to, fuel poverty initiatives in Oldham 

Support staff, service users and residents to 
fundraise £x for the Co-operative Oldham Fund 
(and/or match-fund x% of the total funds raised). 

   

 
b) Resilient communities and a 
strong voluntary sector 

 
Outcome 5: An effective and resilient 
third sector 

Contribute x number of hours of business planning 
support / financial advice / legal advice / HR advice 
to community and voluntary organisations through an 
Employer-Supported Volunteering scheme 

Provide facilities for use by community and voluntary 
organisations for x number of hours per year 

Work with community and voluntary organisations to 

P
age 353



 

17 

Theme 
Outcomes: What are we trying to 
achieve? 

What could this mean in practice for 
suppliers? What could they deliver? (NB. 
These are examples only – not an exhaustive 
list) 
create x number of new volunteering opportunities in 
the borough 

Support local third sector organisations through the 
supply chain by spending x% of total expenditure 
with community and voluntary sector providers 
based in the Oldham borough 

 
 
Outcome 6: Individuals and communities 
enabled and supported to help 
themselves and each other 

x% of service users supported to self-help 

Coordinate and run a befriending scheme to reduce 
social isolation (and thus prevent the consequences 
of social isolation) for x number of older people 

x% of customers directed towards lower-cost forms 
of contact (eg. phone or web rather than face-to-
face), including training service users to use IT as 
necessary 

Support x number of service users to engage in 
volunteering 

Support x number of service users into work 
experience / paid work / training 

Work with x number of service users to design / 
deliver the service 

Deliver the service on a localised basis so that the 
average distance to travel to access the service is 
reduced by x miles 

x% of residential social care users supported to live 
independently 

   

 
c) Prevention and demand 

 
Outcome 7: Acute problems are avoided 

x% overall spend disinvested from acute 
interventions and reinvested in prevention 

Support more people to manage their finances 

P
age 354



 

18 

Theme 
Outcomes: What are we trying to 
achieve? 

What could this mean in practice for 
suppliers? What could they deliver? (NB. 
These are examples only – not an exhaustive 
list) 

management and costs are reduced by investing in 
prevention 

effectively by increasing the number of residents who 
save with Oldham Credit Union by x 

Support prevention by running education and 
publicity campaigns with specific targets (e.g. 
support x number of staff / residents / service users 
to stop smoking / increase their physical activity / 
access money advice) 

   

 
d) A clean and protected 
physical environment 
 

 
Outcome 8: We are protecting our 
physical environment and contributing to 
climate change reduction  

Reduce the amount of waste generated by x% 
compared to previous contract 

Reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill by x% 
compared to previous contract 

Reduce carbon emissions by x% per year 

Reduce overall energy consumption / water 
consumption by x% per year 

Increase the use of renewable energy / community-
generated renewable energy as a proportion of total 
energy consumption by x% over the lifetime of the 
contract (without increasing overall energy 
consumption) 

Support x number of households to better manage 
their energy demands through improvements in the 
fabric of their homes, bringing them out of fuel 
poverty and contributing to climate change goals 

 

P
age 355



 

19 

APPENDIX 4: SPECTRUM OF OPPORTUNITIES 
 

Nature/type of 

use/disposal 

Council  Community group 

Benefits Risks / concerns Benefits Risks / concerns 

Unrestricted Freehold 

sale at full market 

value*** 

Maximum capital receipt 

realised; loss of 

maintenance liability 

Loss of control over  

asset & potential loss of 

community use 

Unrestricted control over 

asset 

Need to secure funding 

Freehold transfer at less 

than Best 

Consideration*** 

Loss of maintenance 

liability 

 

Potential loss of control 

over asset & potential 

loss of community use 

Whilst restrictive 

covenants would be 

incorporated into the 

transfer, lack of 

resource may prohibit 

adequate  

monitoring/enforcement  

Potential capital receipt 

not realised  

Unrestricted control over 

asset  

Need to secure funding 

to operate 

Health & Safety 

implications 

Long lease (125 years) 

contracted out 

Full repairing and 

insuring terms 

Loss of maintenance 

liability 

Control over use 

ensuring asset remains 

in community use 

Asset is not adequately 

maintained 

Council has insufficient 

resource/capacity to 

adequately manage to 

ensure covenants are 

Potential to access 

external funding 

Control over operation 

of building 

Need to identify funding 

to cover all costs 

associated with 

occupation including 

H&S issues 

Requirement to provide 

P
age 356



 

20 

Nature/type of 

use/disposal 

Council  Community group 

Benefits Risks / concerns Benefits Risks / concerns 

Asset returns to Council 

in reasonable condition 

enforced an agreed ‘service’ from 

the property. 

Long lease (25 years) 

contracted out  

Full repairing and 

insuring terms  

Including step-in rights 

in favour of Council  

Loss of maintenance 

liability 

Control over use 

ensuring asset remains 

in community use 

Asset returns to Council 

in reasonable condition 

Asset is not adequately 

maintained 

Council has insufficient 

resource/capacity to 

adequately manage to 

ensure covenants are 

enforced. 

Potential to access 

external funding 

Control over operation 

of building 

Need to identify funding 

to cover all costs 

associated with 

occupation including 

Health & Safety issues,  

Requirement to provide 

an agreed ‘service’ from 

the property 

Short lease (circa 5 

years) contracted out  

Tenant responsible for 

internal repair & costs of 

occupation 

Potential net saving on 

maintenance/rates/ 

security costs 

Potential to generate 

rental income, 

depending upon the 

circumstances 

Potential net increase in 

costs, depending on 

circumstances 

Inadequate resource to  

manage 

Use of property to 

provide a community 

service, with limited 

financial commitment 

Restricted ability to 

access external funding 

Short lease (less than 5 

years) contracted out 

Tenant responsible for 

internal repair & costs of 

occupation OR inclusive 

Potential net saving on 

maintenance/rates/ 

security costs 

Potential to generate 

rental income 

Potential non-recovery 

of all costs associated 

with occupation and 

consequently increase 

in costs 

Use of property to 

provide a community 

facility/service with 

limited financial 

commitment 

Limited funding 

opportunities, lack of 

certainty in longer tem 

business planning 

P
age 357



 

21 

Nature/type of 

use/disposal 

Council  Community group 

Benefits Risks / concerns Benefits Risks / concerns 

‘occupation charge/fee’ 

depending on length of 

term and sole/shared 

occupation 

depending upon the 

circumstances 

Potential to maximise 

usage of assets (i.e. by 

sharing accommodation 

with Community 

Groups) 

Potentially cumbersome 

to manage, particularly 

in order to ensure 

transparency and 

probity in the process 

Total visibility of 

accommodation costs 

thus reducing risk 

Licence on easy in/out 

terms 

Tenant responsible for 

inclusive ‘occupation 

charge/fee’ 

Potential to generate 

rental income 

depending upon the 

circumstances 

Potential to maximise 

usage of assets  

Potential non- recovery 

of all costs associated 

with occupation and 

consequently increase 

in costs 

Potentially cumbersome 

to manage 

Use of property to 

provide community 

service/facility with 

limited up-front and 

future financial 

commitment  

Total visibility of 

accommodation costs 

thus reducing risk 

Very limited 

commitment  

Limited funding 

opportunities, lack of 

certainty in longer term 

business planning 

 

Room Hire- 

Regular/intermittent use  

Free/at cost/cost+ 

Potential to generate net 

income from 

underutilised 

accommodation 

Opportunity cost if 

space used free 

 

If no charge then the 

Use of accommodation 

at low/nil cost, enabling 

provision of 

facility/service with very 

Lack of control and 

therefore certainty 

regarding future usage, 

and therefore business 

P
age 358



 

22 

Nature/type of 

use/disposal 

Council  Community group 

Benefits Risks / concerns Benefits Risks / concerns 

Improve usage of assets 

Provide support to 

Community Groups by 

providing a range of 

accommodation and 

therefore choice and 

opportunity  

Council may incur a net 

cost 

limited financial outlay. 

Very low financial risk if 

limited support from 

Community 

 

planning and growth 

Limited funding 

opportunities 

Service Level 

Agreement (SLA) with 

Community Group to 

‘manage’ a community 

asset 

Reduction in costs of 

management whilst 

ensuring facility is 

widely available for use 

Potential to generate 

income (limited) to off-

set costs 

Risk in longer term 

sustainability and 

potential ‘variable 

quality’ of management 

Risk in 

strength/‘enforceability’ 

of contract/arrangement 

Ultimate costs of 

maintenance retained, 

including H&S 

Use and control over 

community facility 

enabling continued use 

by the community 

Minimal cost 

Restricted future 

investment/growth 

opportunities 

 

 
*** N.B. Any freehold transfer is subject to Chief Executive sign off 
 
 

P
age 359



Page 360

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
APPENDIX 2  

 
 

Land & Property Protocols- Review 
 
 
  

Page 361



 

LAND AND PROPERTY PROTOCOL                                                         
 
OLDHAM COUNCIL  
CORPORATE PROPERTY WORKING ARRANGEMENTS 
 
GENERAL PROTOCOL 

 
This Protocol forms part of the Council’s Constitution.  
 

• The Executive Director of Commercial Services will have overall 
responsibility/authority for the Council’s Corporate Land and Property 
Portfolio. 

• The Chief Executive shall approve every acquisition or disposal (as 
defined by the Local Government Act 1972) of Council property. 

• The Corporate Property Team will be responsible for all Council owned 
land and property assets as part of the Corporate Landlord function. 

• With regard to Strategic Regeneration projects, the Regeneration Team 
will be responsible for all associated property related work, including 
acquisition, disposal and lease negotiations. 

• When considering future service delivery, Services must seek advice 
from the Corporate Property Team in order to ensure that property 
implications are thoroughly understood and potential for corporate 
efficiencies maximised   

• This will enable Services to make informed decisions and focus on 
service delivery and for the potential for land and property assets to 
support regeneration objectives and aspirations to be maximised. 

• When considering any proposals regarding the Council’s Land & 
Property Portfolio, due regard will be had to the Council’s Co-operative 
Approach to Use of Council Assets Policy and views of Ward Members. 

 
 
1.0 POWERS OF ACQUISITION, APPROPRIATION, HOLDING & DISPOSAL OF 

LAND  
 
The Council is empowered to acquire, hold, appropriate and dispose of land for its 
statutory purposes, by a variety of statutes. When preparing an acquisition, disposal 
or appropriation of land, officers must ensure that the transaction is undertaken using 
the appropriate powers of the Council for that land and having regard to all legal 
requirements, including statutory guidance.  
 
With regard to Strategic Regeneration projects, the Director of Development & 
Infrastructure will determine delivery of any property matters relating to such projects, 
including the use of the in-house Regeneration Team, Unity or external surveyors, 
dependent upon the most appropriate skills. 
 
Land acquisitions, appropriations and disposals should be identified through the 
Asset Management process within the governance structure of the Corporate 
Property Board.   
 
The Capital Strategy should flow through from the asset management process and 
regeneration programme, as an outcome of reviewing future needs and the asset 
base/portfolio. It will also reflect proposals to dispose of, acquire or invest in land and 
property. The Medium Term Property Strategy (formerly Asset Management Plan) 

Page 362



 

and Regeneration Strategy will inform the Capital Strategy, and individual capital 
actions/projects will be progressed through the governance of the Capital Investment 
Programme Board. 
 
The authorisation to sign off land and property transactions will be in line with the 
Council’s Constitution. See general protocol.  
 
Corporate Property Officer and Regeneration comments (Director of Development & 
Infrastructure) will be required in respect of all reports which have land and property 
implications. 
 
2.0 GENERAL MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES  
 
The Council has adopted the following key management objectives and principles 
with regard to its land and property portfolio, which are reflected in the Terms of 
Reference for the Corporate Property Board:  
 
I. All land and property will be treated as a corporate resource. 

 
II. Land and property occupation costs and property utilisation will be managed 

by the Corporate Property Team as part of the Corporate Landlord function 
and monitored strategically through the Corporate Property Board.   

 
Any assets considered surplus to the Council’s requirements will, in the first instance, 

be reported to the CPB. Thereafter, the CPT will take responsibility for the 
asset and its future disposal. However, where the land disposal is considered 
to be part of a strategic regeneration project, discussions will take place with 
the CPT as to whether the appropriate skills are in place to deliver the 
projects, whereupon a decision will be made as to who will carry out the 
transaction.  

 
III. Capital Receipts (see definition) 

Capital Receipts come from the sale of the Council’s assets. 
  
In general capital receipts arising from the disposal of housing assets and for 
which account is made in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) are governed 
by the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) 
Regulations 2003. In summary the regulations require that: 
 

• Receipts arising from Right to Buy (and similar) sales may be retained 
to cover the cost of transacting the sales and to cover the debt on the 
properties sold, but a proportion of the remainder must be surrendered 
to central Government; 

• Receipts arising from all other disposals may be retained in full 
provided they are spent on affordable housing, regeneration or the 
paying of housing debt. 

 
Where the sale of an asset leads to the requirement to repay grant, the capital 
receipt will be utilised for this purpose. Once these liabilities have been 
established and provided for, capital receipts will be available to support the 
capital programme as a corporate resource. 
 

Page 363



 

There will therefore be no ring fencing of capital receipts to specific projects 
with the exception of the; 

• Building Schools for the Future programme, where the ring fencing 
principle has previously been approved as part of project viability; 

• The recycling of receipts related to the former Werneth HMR initiative 
to facilitate redevelopment in South Werneth; 

• Equity Loan Initiative which was established when HMR resources 
were ring fenced to the HMR programme. 

 
It is intended that a proposal will be submitted to change the Capital Strategy 2014-
15, via the appropriate routes to include Special projects linked to joint venture 
regeneration activity.  

  
IV. Land and property running costs, including those relating to carbon emissions, 

will be optimised to ensure expenditure associated with occupation is 
minimised, in accordance with the Council’s Energy Policy. 

 
V. Land and property users have an obligation to significantly reduce running 

costs.  
 

VI. The Council will keep under review the business case to retain investment 
assets and the estate will be subject to annual review. Performance of the 
estate will be monitored via regular reporting to CPB by the Unity Partnership, 
which will include details of current and estimated future income, arrears and 
rate of return. 

 
VII. Land and property will be held to support service delivery – this may include 

being held to generate income to secure services subject to a business case 
being demonstrated or, for regeneration purposes, as part of a wider 
regeneration initiative such as education, adult social care, and economic 
development.  

 
VIII. The Council will maintain investment into its land and property infrastructure 

subject to available resources. The Corporate Property Team will report 
annually on investment required to maintain the portfolio/corporate estate to 
minimum standard of repair. 

 
IX. Partner organisations and particularly those in the public and voluntary sectors 

will be encouraged to adopt a joined up approach to service delivery and to 
share accommodation to reduce costs, in line with the Council’s Co-operative 
Council aspirations/objectives. 

 
X. The Capital Investment Plan will take into account whole life costing. Capital 

and revenue programmes will make provision for investment into the 
Borough’s property infrastructure. Provision will depend on the financial 
resources of the Council and will be determined through the capital and 
revenue budget planning processes. (See definition of Capital Expenditure) 

 
XI. New buildings will be sustainable, based on whole life cycle costing and not 

initial capital outlay. All new buildings and those subject to significant 
refurbishment works must have a Building Research Establishment 
Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) rating of not less than good, 
and/or in accordance with the Council’s Energy Policy.  

Page 364



 

 
 

The Council is committed to the principle of Corporate Landlord. The Corporate 
Property Team (CPT) will act as the Council’s core strategic advisor  
 
When considering the future of any property declared surplus to the Council’s 
requirements, due regard will be had to the Council’s Community Use of 
Assets Strategy.  
 
4.0 DETAILED LAND AND PROPERTY PROTOCOL  
 
4.1 Disposal of Land (Best Consideration) 
 
The Local Government Act 1972 Section 123 provides that the Council may dispose 
of land in any manner it sees fit subject to the constraint that a disposal must be for 
the best consideration reasonably obtainable unless the consent of the relevant 
Secretary of State is obtained. A disposal includes a lease of more than 7 years or an 
assignment of a lease which has more than 7 years to run. 
 
Generally, best consideration will be achieved by offering the land for sale subject to 
open competition. Section 123 applies to land held for most of the Council’s statutory 
functions subject to certain exceptions such as disposal of land held for housing 
purposes, which are governed by the Housing Acts and for planning purposes which 
are governed by planning legislation. In such cases, specific legal advice should be 
sought at the earliest opportunity. 
 
It is a principle of this protocol that all disposals of Council land will seek to secure 
the best consideration that can be reasonably obtained. Normally this will require 
open market sales of land and property, advertised appropriately and leases of land 
at market value. Any proposed sale that is not based on an open market disposal 
must be the subject of an EDRS report to justify an alternative disposal route.  
 
4.2 Surplus Property 
 
All land and property, whether held for service use or as part of the investment 
portfolio, will be subject to annual review. Should services change and consequently 
assets no longer be required for service delivery or, where a case cannot be made to 
hold non-operational property, they will be referred to the Corporate Property Board 
as surplus to the Council’s requirements. 
 
 The Corporate Property Team will work with Directorates (via DMT’s) to ensure 
earliest possible indications of potential change of direction in service delivery and 
implications for property needs. 
 
 
4.3 Disposals of land at less than Best Consideration  
 
It is expected that land will be sold for the best consideration reasonably obtainable. 
However, it is to be recognised that there will be circumstances where a local 
authority will consider it appropriate to dispose of land at less than best 
consideration. This is an opportunity to support the Council in achieving its ambitions 
as a Co-operative Council. 
 

Page 365



 

When considering disposing of land at an undervalue, Members and officers must 
remain aware of the Council’s fiduciary duty to Council Tax payers. 
 
In certain circumstances, the law provides that authorities may dispose of land at less 
than best consideration. This requires the consent of the relevant Secretary of State, 
unless a General Disposal Consent (issued by the relevant Secretary of State from 
time to time) may be relied on. Any decision to dispose of land at less than best 
consideration may only be made subject to seeking the consent of the relevant 
Secretary of State where required.  
 
The General Disposal Consent (England) 2003 provides a general consent removing 
the requirement for the Council to seek specific approval from the Secretary of State 
for a wide range of disposals at less than best consideration. 
 
The Council have been granted consent in circumstances where:  
 
(A) the difference between the unrestricted value of the land to be disposed 

does not exceed £2million; and  
 

(B) the Council considers that the purpose for which the land in question is 
to be disposed is likely to contribute to the achievement of any one or 
more of the following objects in respect of the whole or any part of its 
area or of all or any persons resident or present in its area: 

 
(i) the promotion or improvement of the economic well-being; 
(ii) the promotion or improvement of social well-being; and 
(iii) environmental well-being. 
 
It must be considered in each case whether a specific proposal to dispose of land at 
less than best consideration meets these criteria or continues to require specific 
consent under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972, or other legislation. 
Land held for specific Housing purposes is subject to additional regulation and early 
legal advice should be sought in such instances. 
 
Any such proposed disposal of land at less than best consideration will need to 
consider the possibility that the proposed transaction may result in the giving of 
unlawful State Aid (European Union Treaty article 87(1)). 
 
In determining whether or not to dispose of land for less than best consideration, the 
Council should obtain the view of a professionally qualified Chartered Surveyor 
(valuer) to determine the likely amount of the undervalue. Legal advice should also 
be obtained on the question of whether the disposal is capable of falling within the 
terms of the specific consent. In certain cases, it may be prudent to consult the 
District Auditor in relation to any action that is proposed. 
  
In considering the application of the well being criteria under the General Disposal 
Consent, the Council must have regard to the Council’s Corporate Plan, the Oldham 
Plan and Co-operative Council ambition and reasonably consider, via the Borough 
Treasurer, the extent, if any, to which the proposed disposal supports the aims and 
objectives therein. 
  
In considering the financial considerations of any disposal at any undervalue, there 
must be evidence that the outcome will be equally beneficial as compared to a 
disposal at market value.  

Page 366



 

 
Any proposal to dispose of land at less than best consideration should in the first 
instance be referred to the Corporate Property Board for consideration of a business 
case and options appraisal for any transaction.  
 
Following review by the Corporate Property Board, any proposed transactions at less 
than best consideration shall be approved as follows: 
 

• Where the undervalue is below £100,000 by the Corporate Property Officer or 
the Director of Development and Infrastructure in the case of strategic 
regeneration projects, subject to consultation with the Executive Director 
Commercial Services or Chief Executive respectively.  

• Where the undervalue is £100,000 or above, by Cabinet, 
 
  
and in reporting to Cabinet, it is advisable that the following requirements are 
fulfilled:-  
 

• Confirmation that the disposal will contribute positively to the Council’s 
priorities.  

 

• A statement that the benefits that the Council will derive from the proposed 
disposal cannot be achieved unless the sale takes place at undervalue and 
confirming that no reasonable alternative means of funding are available to 
the purchaser.  

 

• Details of the proposed terms of the transaction which will ensure that the 
disposal will contribute to the achievement or improvement of the social, 
economic and environmental well being of the area.  

 
The Cabinet must demonstrate that it has acted reasonably in approving undervalue 
transactions in order to be in a position to respond to any potential challenge. Regard 
must therefore be had to the Medium Term Property Strategy, the terms of the 
Council’s Land and Property Protocols and the Council’s fiduciary duty. For the 
avoidance of doubt, delegated decisions will also be subject to the above 
requirements. 
 
 
4.4 Freehold Disposals 
 
In order to protect its long term strategic interests there is a presumption that the 
Council will not enter into any freehold property transactions for non residential 
properties to a third party unless there are exceptional circumstances. 
 
The preferred route of transfer of a Council property is via grant of a long lease. The 
long leasehold interest will contain various covenants regulating future use and repair 
of the property (if applicable). 
 
Examples of exceptional circumstances would include those where:- 
  

• The Council’s corporate objectives can only be achieved by way of a freehold 
disposal. 

  

Page 367



 

• The Council does not own or retain any residual interest in any land or 
property within the immediate vicinity of the subject land or property which 
may encourage the Council to consider retaining a controlling interest.  

 
In circumstances where the Council does own land or property in the vicinity 
of the sale property, then the Corporate Property Officer is to consider the 
benefits of retaining any residual controlling interest against the implications of 
such action which may for example give rise to on-going estate management 
responsibilities, maintenance obligations or result in continuing financial costs 
or charges for the Council either at the time of consideration or at some future 
date. 
 

Any proposed freehold disposal of Council property or 999 year lease is 
subject to final approval by the Council’s Chief Executive. 
 
4.5 Lettings   
 
With the exception of Regeneration projects where lettings may be undertaken by the 
Regeneration Team, no lettings should be carried out by Service Departments but all 
proposed lettings should be directed to the Corporate Property Team in order to 
protect the Council’s interests and Health & Safety obligations..   
 
Any proposed leasehold disposal is subject to final approval by the Council’s 
Chief Executive. 

 
No lettings shall be proposed without due regard having been had to the 
Council’s Co-operative use of Council Assets – Policy and Procedure.  
 
The taking of or the granting, renewal, assignment, transfer, surrender, taking of 
surrenders, review, variation or termination of any leases, licences, easements or 
wayleaves at considerations up to a maximum of £1,000,000 per annum or in return 
for a premium of up to £1,000,000 will be within the delegated authority of the Chief 
Executive, in consultation with the relevant Executive Director, (following sign off from 
the CPO/Director of Development & Infrastructure as appropriate). Such transactions 
at considerations up to a maximum value of £500,000 will be within the delegated 
authority of the Corporate Property Officer- Assistant Executive Director Corporate 
Property or Director of Development & Infrastructure in the case of Strategic 
Regeneration projects. All delegated decisions to be made in conjunction with the 
Borough Treasurer and Borough Solicitor. The taking of or the granting, renewal, 
assignment, transfer, surrender, taking of surrenders, review, variation or termination 
of any leases, licences, easements or wayleaves at considerations of over 
£1,000,000 per annum or in return for a premium of over £1,000,000 shall be referred 
to Cabinet for approval 
 
Leases of over 7 years and assignments of leases with over 7 years to run, are 
defined in law as disposals. This means that the general requirement to dispose at 
the best consideration reasonably obtainable will apply to them. Any proposal to 
dispose at less than best consideration should be dealt with as outlined in the section 
on Disposal (Best Consideration) above.  
 
Under this protocol, the terms of any proposed letting will be considered by reference 
to the asset category; 
 

Page 368



 

a) Investment Portfolio (including all surplus assets, and land and property held 
for Development/ Regeneration purposes) – the lettings will be based on 
commercial open market terms, at full market value provided that either the 
Assistant Executive Director (Corporate Property) and Director of Development 
and Infrastructure may in consultation the Borough Treasurer and the Borough 
Solicitor authorise a short term let at below-market value where this has 
commercial justification, for example, to  cover running costs prior to 
redevelopment. 
 

b) Operational Assets: 
o Private sector tenant – commercial open market terms, full market value 
o Public sector tenant/commissioning partner delivering public sector 

services –  lettings will be at cost 
o Community sector tenant – terms of letting may range from at cost to free 

(dependent on structure of organisation, and with reference to the 
Council’s Social Value Framework)  
 

c) Community Assets – (as defined by the District Asset Review) – terms of 
letting may range from at cost to free (dependent on structure of organisation 
and with reference to the Council’s Social Value Framework)   

  
Concessionary lettings within the Investment Portfolio are not permitted and should 
Directorates wish to support such an arrangement it will be required to ‘sponsor’/ fund 
the concessionary rent through alternative funding to the level of full market rent. 
Flexibility will be provided in respect of schemes /initiatives specifically directed at 
supporting businesses, provided that a full business case is in place and the views of 
the Corporate Property Officer are sought regarding such schemes. 
 
With regard to commercial lettings, tenants should not commence occupation of 
premises in advance of either legal completion of lease or having sufficient legal 
measures in place to protect the Council’s interest.    
 
Rent collection and treatment of arrears should be in accordance with the Council’s 
Protocol 
 
4.6 Application of the EU Public Procurement Regime  
 
Certain disposals of land may fall within the definition of “works” contained within the 
Public Contracts Regulations 2006, which give effect to European law on public 
procurement. This will need to be considered, for example, where the Council is 
providing land within a development scheme or is imposing obligations on a 
developer in order to meet its regeneration objectives, whether through the use of a 
Section 106 agreement or development agreement.  
 
This remains a complex area of law and legal advice should be sought at an early 
stage to determine whether any proposed disposal to a developer should be 
advertised under the Public Contracts Regulations. 
  
4.7 Decision Making  
 
The disposal, acquisition or appropriation of land, including open space, is an 
executive decision. The Council’s Constitution provides for executive decisions 
relating to land to be made as set out in this document.   
 

Page 369



 

A disposal of land that will either generate a capital receipt over £250,000, or result in 
loss/generation of income over £250,000 p.a. will be a key decision and will need to 
be publicised on the Forward Plan prior to being submitted to the decision maker.  
 
All decisions may be referred to Cabinet if Leadership, or the Chief Executive or the 
Executive Director in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member, consider that a 
delegated decision should be referred to Cabinet.  
 
a) Transactions Subject to Cabinet Approval  
 

1. All recommendations to dispose of land for less than the best consideration 
reasonably obtainable where the likely undervalue is greater than £100,000  

 
2. All recommendations to acquire individual plots of land, compulsorily or by 

agreement, or properties of any value that have not been approved within a 
scheme of development or regeneration project.   

 
3. All recommendations to acquire by agreement, appropriate or dispose of 

land or property valued in excess of £1,000,000. 
 

 
b) Transactions Delegated to the Executive Director, Commercial Services, for 
Approval 

 
Subject to paragraph 4.7 a) the Executive Director, Commercial Services, is 
authorised, (in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member where the decision is a 
key decision), to approve property acquisitions, appropriations and disposals of land 
valued at £1,000,000 or less. This will be subject to consultation with the Chief 
Executive and in conjunction with the Corporate Property Officer.   
 
c) Transactions Delegated to the Assistant Executive Director (Corporate 
Property) 
 
Subject to paragraph 4.7 a) the Assistant Executive Director, Corporate Property, as 
the Council’s Corporate Property Officer,  is authorised (in consultation with the Chief 
Executive and relevant Cabinet Member where the decision is a key decision) to 
approve property acquisitions, appropriations and disposals of land valued at less 
than £500,000. 
 
d)   Transactions Delegated to the Director of Development & Infrastructure 
 
Subject to paragraph 4.7 a); b) and c) above, the Director of Development & 
Infrastructure is authorised to approve property transactions linked to the delivery of 
Strategic Regeneration Projects, valued at less than £500,000 and where such a 
transaction is not carried out by the Corporate Property Team. Such transactions 
should be approved in consultation with the Chief Executive and Corporate Property 
Officer. 

 
Member Notification 
 
Ward Members will be consulted on any proposed land and property disposals, and 
their views will be recorded as part of the decision making process.  Details of 
potential lease arrangements e.g. in terms of use, will be provided to Members at 
District Partnership level. 

Page 370



 

  
Delegated Decision Recording 
 
Delegated decisions will be recorded in a standard format, a draft template is 
available.  
 

 
4.8 Compulsory Acquisition of Land  
 
Cabinet approval is required for any acquisition of land (or programme of acquisition) 
where it is proposed to use the Council’s powers of compulsory acquisition. Any 
approval to acquire the same land by agreement should be sought from Cabinet at 
the same time as the approval to use compulsory powers.  
 
4.9 Content of Reports  
 
Cabinet reports seeking consent to dispose of or acquire land should include details 
of the interest held, appropriate site plans and valuation information provided by an 
appropriately qualified source.  
  
Reports seeking to dispose of land at less than best consideration should in addition, 
address those matters set out in paragraph 4.3.  
 
Reports should demonstrate that all relevant legal issues have been considered and 
addressed and that there is no legal barrier to prevent a decision from being taken.  
 
All reports and business cases should incorporate Finance, Regeneration and Legal 
comments. The Corporate Property Officer will provide property comments on all 
reports with property implications. 
 
Where approval is sought for a development scheme or regeneration project, a plan 
showing the individual properties whose acquisition it is proposed to seek under the 
scheme or project must be included in the report which seeks approval for the 
scheme.  
 
4.10 Independent Valuations of Land/Property  
 
With regard to those transactions for the disposal and acquisition of property that 
have not been exposed to the open market an independent valuation will be obtained 
in the following instances: 
  

• Transactions involving the Council's Joint Venture Companies.  

• Those transactions involving property of a specialist nature (where in house 
capability is not available).  

• Any other transaction, which the Council would consider it prudent to obtain 
independent advice.  

• Disposals at less than best consideration reasonably obtainable (with a 
potential undervalue of over £100k).  

 
In order to ensure compliance with Section 123, all independent valuations must be 
approved by the Corporate Property Officer. It is recommended that all such 
valuations should be carried out by qualified RICS surveyors from reputable 
surveying organisations or the District Valuation office.  

Page 371



 

 
With regard to properties acquired as part of Regeneration initiatives, Red Book 
compliant valuations will be secured. 
 

 
4.12 Instructions to undertake property transactions 
  

• For the avoidance of doubt, Legal Services will not accept instructions 
relating to property transactions from service directorates. Legal Services will 
accept instructions from the Corporate Property Team (both Unity and Client 
Function) and, Development and Regeneration Team.   
 

4.13 Office Moves 
  
The Corporate Property Officer will be responsible for all office accommodation via 
the Working Smarter with Assets programme as part of the wider Corporate Landlord 
function.    
 
It should be noted that due to the significant long term investment involved, express 
written approval from the Corporate Property Officer is required before considering 
the installation of IT Hubs in Council property. 
  
4.14 Service Review  

 
The Corporate Property Team will work with Divisional Management Teams across 
Services to ensure that strategic and operational property requirements are 
addressed 
 
 
Definitions 
 
Capital Expenditure 
 
Section 16 of the Local Government Act 2003 + Regulation 29A of the Capital 
Financing Regulations (England) 2003- 

1. Expenditure results in the acquisition, construction, or enhancement of a Fixed 
Asset 

2. The Secretary of State makes a direction that the expenditure can be treated 
as capital expenditure. 

 
Capital Receipt 
 
Section 9 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003 
‘’a sum received by the authority in respect of the disposal by it of an interest in a 
capital asset’’ 
 
Section 9 (2) defines a capital asset as: 
 
‘’An asset is a capital asset if, at the time of the disposal, expenditure on the 
acquisition of the asset would be capital expenditure’’ 
 
Capital receipts are restricted to use for 
 

• Financing new capital investment 

Page 372



 

• Reducing borrowing under the Prudential Framework 

• To pay a premium charged in relation to any amounts borrowed 

• To meet any liability in respect of credit arrangements 

• To meet disposal costs (not exceeding 4% of the receipt) 
 

 

 

PROTOCOL ON DISPOSAL OF OPEN SPACE   

 
Identify Open Space at an Early Stage  
 
The key issue is to make sure that open space (sometimes referred to as public open 
space) is identified at the earliest possible stage of the disposal process.  
 
Site Visit  
Open space is not specifically dealt with in official copies on the Land Registry 
therefore, if there is uncertainty, a site visit is likely to be needed to determine 
conclusively whether or not the land should be dealt with as open space.  
 
The surveyor making the site visit to the land should consider whether the land falls 
within the definition of open space contained in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(TCPA)  
 

If he/she considers that the definition may apply, then a Standard Form of the Risk 
Assessment should be completed, the Risk Assessment must be incorporated into 
any report authorising a disposal. If considered appropriate the procedure for 
disposal contained in Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 or in Section 
233 of the TCPA 1990 should be followed.  
 
Advertisement of Open Space  
 
Instructions to advertise a disposal of open space should be sent by the surveyor 
(email or paper copy) to Legal Services (fao Group Lawyer, -Corporate Group in the 
form of a memorandum giving the following information:  
  

• cost code  

• 4 plans of the land  

• measurements of the land  

• intended use of the land  

• a copy of the decision to advertise the land  

• name of the person/directorate to receive objections. This should be the 
instructing officer or other person in the instructing directorate.  

 any other relevant information.  
 
The instructions will be allocated to an officer in Legal Services who will draft the 
notice and arrange for it to be placed in a local newspaper for two (2) consecutive 
weeks.  
 
Twenty Eight (28) days will be allowed from the date of the final advertisement for 
objections to be made to the relevant Executive Director. 28 days is generally 
considered to be a reasonable minimum length of time for objections.  
 
Decision Making 

Page 373



 

 

Decisions to dispose of open space must be made in two stages. The first stage 
report is to recommend disposal of the land in principle, subject to the advertising of 
the proposed disposal and allowing time for objections.  
 
The second report will make recommendations for disposal or retention of the land 
having regard to any objections, which have been received to the proposed disposal.  
 
Consideration of the objections and the decision to dispose of the open space should 
be referred to Cabinet; to the Executive Director Commercial Services, or to the 
Assistant Executive Director (Corporate Property) in accordance with the Land and 
Property Protocol.  
 
 
Communication with Developers  
 
In communicating with potential purchasers of open space, care must be taken to 
ensure that officers and/or members do not give the impression, either deliberately or 
inadvertently, that the need to advertise open space and consider objections is 
merely an administrative process which will be “rubber stamped”.  
 
The decision is a public law decision and must be made in accordance with the 
principles of public law. In particular it must be reasonable to dispose of the land 
having considered objections and there must be no pre-determination of the decision.  
 
Potential purchasers should understand that the Council is not able to make any 
commitment to enter into a contract for sale unless and until a proper decision to 
dispose of the land has been taken.  
 
Timescale  
 
The length of time that should be allowed for completion of the open space disposal 
procedure will vary depending on whether Cabinet or an Executive Director will 
consider the objections and make the decision as to disposal. 
  
Instructing officers should allow at least 6 weeks between receipt of instructions by 
Legal Services and the end of the period for objections. Add on to this the time 
required to prepare and submit a report for decision.  
 
Acquisition 
 
Acquisitions (including compulsory acquisitions) and appropriations of open space to 
other purposes must apply the appropriate legal powers and duties for the purposes 
for which the open space is being acquired.  
 
Appropriation 
 

Proposals to appropriate land will follow the same process as open space. 
 
Legal advice should be sought before any proposed departure from this 
protocol.  
 

 
 

Page 374



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 375



 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 376



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 377



Page 378

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

APPENDIX 3 

 

 

Community Right to Bid: 
Summary of Statutory & 
Governance Process 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 379



 
Community Right to Bid: Summary of Statutory Process 
 
 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1. The legislation gives certain local groups a right to nominate a building or land 

for listing by the local Authority as an asset of community value. It can be 
listed if a principal use of the asset furthers the well being of the community or 
is likely to do so in the future. When an asset is listed and proposed to be sold 
it provides the local community group with time to make a bid to acquire the 
asset.  

 
Appendix 1 identifies the process of listing, Appendix 2 summarises the 
Moratorium process. 

 
1.1.2.  Nominating an Asset 

Assets can be nominated by Parishes, Community Organizations and 
neighbourhood forums (S.61F of TCPA 1990). Nominated assets can be 
owned by anybody including the Crown (subject to certain specific 
exemptions) 

 
Once an asset is nominated the local Authority will have 8 weeks to make a 
judgement about whether the asset meets the definition set out in s.88 of the 
Act or whether it falls within an excluded category (including residential); set 
out in schedule 1 to the Regulations. 
 
If the asset is correctly nominated the local authority must list it and inform all 
specified parties. The local authority must also place the asset on the local 
land charges register, and apply for a restriction on the HM Land Register.  
 
If the owner of the property objects to their property being on the list there is 
a right of Appeal to the Council and further on to an Independent Tribunal.  

 
1.1.3  Moratorium 
 Once an asset is listed nothing further will happen until the owner decides to 

dispose of it (eg a sale of the Freehold or a lease over 25 years). 
 

If a listed asset is to be sold the owner will notify the Local Authority. This 
allows community groups a 6 week window to confirm whether they intend to 
submit a bid.  
 
If during this 6 week period a community group confirms its intentions to 
submit a bid then a full 6 month moratorium will operate. During this period 
the owner can continue to market and negotiate but is unable to exchange 
contracts. (unless it sells to a community group.) 
 

Page 380



After the moratorium period has expired either initial 6 weeks or the full 6 
months the owner is free to sell to whomever it chooses and at whatever 
price.  (s.95 of the Localism Act.) 

 
1.1.4  Compensation.  

The scheme recognises that these provisions may have some financial 
impact on owners and provides a compensation scheme for private 
landowners (No compensation for public bodies).The Local Authority will be 
responsible for administering the compensation scheme, including assessing 
and determining awards.  
 

1.1.5  Enforcement 
Compliance is encouraged by Local Authorities to inform owners and 
interested parties of the listing, enter the listing on the local land charges 
register, and on registered land apply for a restriction on the land.  

 
1.1.6 List of Assets of Community Value 
 

If a Local Authority receives a valid nomination, it must determine whether the 
land or building nominated meets the definition of an asset of community 
value. A building or land in a local authority’s area is of community value if in 
the opinion of the authority: 
(i) An actual use of the asset furthers the social well being of the local 
community; and 
(ii) It is realistic to think that there can continue to be primary use of the asset 
which will further the social wellbeing of the local community.  
(S.88 (1) Localism Act 2011) 
 

S. 88 (2) of the Act extends the definition to an asset which has furthered the 
social wellbeing or social interests of the local community in the recent past, 
and is realistic to consider it could do during the next 5 years. 
 

There are a number of categories excluded from listing, primarily residential 
and operational land as defined S 263 of Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 eg land used to carry out a statutory undertaking.  

 
1.1.7 Who May nominate 

Local Authorities cannot list on their own it must be nominated.  
The Groups that can nominate include the following: 

� Parish Councils 
� Neighbouring Parish Councils 
� Un-incoporated Groups 
� Neighbourhood Forums 
� Community Interest Groups with a local connection eg Charity, Community 

Interest Group, Non –profits Groups An Industrial and Provident society that is 
non profit distributing (renamed as community benefit Societies and Credit 
Unions Act 2010) 

� NB/ Non – profit distributing means that the surplus is not distributed to its 
members but is wholly or partially applied to the local area. 

 

Page 381



1.1.8 Contents of a Nomination. 
A nomination must include the following information for the local Authority to 
consider: 

� A description of the nominated land 
� Any information about the freeholders, lessees or occupiers,  
� Reasons for nominating the asset; 
� Nominators eligibility to nominate. 

 
1.1.9. Procedures when considering listing 

Local Authority is required to make a decision in response to a nomination 
within 8 weeks of receiving the nomination. If an asset is nominated the Local 
Authority must take reasonable steps to notify the following: 

� A parish Council if any land lies within its borders; 
� The owner as defined in S 107 of the localism Act. In summary Freeholder or 

if a leased for more than 25 years the lessee.  
� All others with a legal estate 
� Any lawful occupant. 
� When not all the owners are known a local authority can attach a notice to the 

property.  
 

When an asset is added or removed from the list , the local authority must 
inform the owner, occupier of land, and the nominator. S 91 (2) of the localism 
Act 

 
1.1.10 Procedure to be followed for listing review  

When an asset is listed an owner can request the Local Authority to review its 
decision (S 92 of Localism Act). The review application should be made within 
8 weeks of receiving notification of a listing. 
The review should be undertaken by a senior officer not involved in the 
original decision. The owner and Authority each bear their own costs. 
If the owner is not satisfied with the outcome they have the right to appeal to 
the first tier Tribunal against the local authority’s review decision.  
 

1.1.11 Appeal against a listing review 
Appeals are made to the General Regulatory Chamber of First Tier Tribunal. 
Appeals should be made within 28 days of receipt of a notice of a decision.  

 
1.1.12 Moratorium 

The moratorium requirements, as set out in S 95 of the Act, apply to only 
relevant disposals. ‘Relevant Disposal’ is defined in S 96. It means Freehold 
or grant of a qualifying lease ie over 25 years. 
An owner of a listed site may not make a relevant disposal of their asset 
during the 6 week ‘interim moratorium’ period 

 
1.1.13 Compensation and Internal Review of Compensation 

Private owners may claim compensation for loss and expense through the 
asset being listed. The compensation covers two aspects: 
(i) Delay in entering into a binding contract to sell which is wholly caused by 
the moratorium, or; 
(ii) Legal expenses in a successful appeal at the Tribunal. 

Page 382



 
Time limit for a claim is 13 weeks from the end of a moratorium period or 
when the asset ceases to be listed The burden of proof falls on the owner.  
 
The compensation scheme does not extend to public authorities and bodies 
including Local Authorities.  
 
The Government is to meet successful compensation claims over £20,000 in 
any one financial year in one or as an aggregate of a series of claims. 
Therefore there is a potential financial liability on the Council of up to 
£20,000 if successful compensation claims are made.  

 
Internal review of compensation decision. An owner not satisfied with a local 
authority’s response to a compensation claim can request a review of the 
decision. If an owner remains un-satisfied then there is a further appeal to a 
Tribunal . This appeal is to the General Regulatory Chamber of the first tier 
of the Tribunal.  

 
1.1.14 Enforcement 

There is a clear penalty for non compliance.  
Local Authorities are required to add that an asset has been listed to the 
local land charges register (local charges apply to both registered and un-
registered land). 
Local Authorities are required to notify the owner that their land is listed and 
inform them of the implications. 

 
 
 Oldham Council Governance Process 
 

Appendix 3 documents the proposed governance process to enable the 
Council to comply with its statutory duty. 
 

  

Page 383



Appendix 1 
 
Summary of Process of listing Assets of Community Value 
 
 

 
 

Community 
Organisation 

Neighbourhood Planning 
Forum 

Identify and nominate Land or 
Buildings of Community Value 

Parish Council 

Local Authority decides to list 

asset 

Local Authority asks 
owner for comment 

 

No objection from 
owner 

Owner’s objection 
unsuccessful 

Added to list of 
Community Value 

Local Authority 
publicises and 
maintains list 

 

Local Authority 
decides not to list 

Local Authority Maintains Lists of: 
1. Assets successfully nominated for Community Value, and  

2 Assets unsuccessfully nominated. 
 

List of assets unsuccessfully 
nominated 

List of Assets of Community Value 

 

Owner’s objection successful 

Unsuccessful Listings Successful Listings 
 

Page 384



  

Page 385



Appendix 2: Summary of Moratorium 

 
 

 
 
 

 
  

6
 M

o
n
th

s
 

 
Full Moratorium 

 
Owner can sell to 

community group 

6
 W

e
e
k
s
 

Owner decides to sell 
listed asset and informs 
Local Authority 

LA informs nominator and 
publicises to community 

Community groups 
express interest in bidding 

Community groups 
prepare business plan and 
finance 

Owner call sell asset to 
whomever they choose at 

the end of full moratorium 

No community 
groups express 
interest 

Owner call sell asset 
to whomever they 
choose after interim 

moratorium 

 
Interim 

Moratorium 
 
 
Starts when owner tells 
Local Authority of 
intention to sell 

 
A community interest 
group can make a bid 
during any part of the 
moratorium 

Page 386



Appendix 3: Governance Process  

Key Stage Responsible Officer 

NOMINATION   
 
Community group submits a nomination to the Council 
Council informs nominator, owner, occupier (if appropriate),ward members and portfolio 
holder that a nomination has been received 
Council checks validity of nomination 

 
 
AED Corporate Property in 
consultation with Executive 
Directors of Commercial 
Services and Neighbourhoods 
 

DOESN’T MEET CRITERIA 
 
Council informs nominator, owner occupier, ward members and portfolio holder giving 
reasons why unsuccessful. 
Council adds to List of Unsuccessful nominations with reasons. 
 

 
 
Borough Solicitor 

MEETS CRITERIA  
 
Council adds to list of assets of community value 
Council makes local land charge 
Council puts a restriction on the land at HM Land Registry 
Council informs nominator, owner, occupier, ward members and portfolio holder of listing 
Asset removed from list after 5 years (and restriction removed from HM Land registry) 
 

 
 
Borough Solicitor 

REVIEW 
 
Owner requests a review of the listing decision- inform ward members and portfolio 
holder 
Council informs owner of procedure to be followed in connection with review 
Council reviews listing decision 
 

 
 
AED Corporate Property 

REVIEW CONCLUDES SHOULD NOT BE LISTED 
 
Council removes asset from list (and removes from HM Land registry) 
Council informs owner, occupier, ward members and portfolio holder 
Council adds to List of unsuccessful nominations 

 
 
Borough Solicitor 

P
age 387



 

REVIEW CONCLUDES SHOULD REMAIN 
 
Council informs owner still in list, and informs ward members and portfolio holder 
Owner unhappy and refers to appeals to First Tier Tribunal 
 

 
 
Borough Solicitor 

DISPOSAL 
 
Owner gives notification to council of intention to dispose of listed asset 
Council publishes notice of owners intention to dispose, including relevant moratorium 
dates 
Council informs nominator and ward members and portfolio holder of owners intention to 
dispose 
 
NO request to be treated as bidders received 
 
Inform owner and ward members and portfolio holder that no requests received so 
disposal can continue 
 
Requests to be treated as bidders received 
 
A community group submits a request to be treated as a bidder 
Council adds bid information to List of Assets of Community Value 
Council informs owner, occupier, nominator, ward members and portfolio holder of 
request received 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Borough Solicitor 

COMPENSATION 
 
Owner/former owner makes a written claim for compensation 
Council considers and makes an offer 
Owner happy with compensation- Council pays compensation 
Owner unhappy and asks for review 
Council carries out review of compensation decision and notifies owner of outcome of 
review 

 
 
AED Corporate 
Property/Borough Solicitor 

P
age 388



Owner unhappy with decision and appeals to First tier Tribunal 
 

 

P
age 389



Page 390

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
COUNCIL 
 

 
Nomination for Civic Appreciation Award 
 

Report of the Chief Executive  
 

Portfolio Holder:  Councillor Jim McMahon  

 

 

18 December 2013  
 

Agenda Item 19

Page 391



Page 2 of 3 Council – Nomination for Civic Appreciation Award 18.12.13 

COUNCIL         18 December 2013 
 
NOMINATION FOR CIVIC APPRECIATION AWARD 
 
 
1 Purpose of Report 
 

 The purpose of the report is to seek approval to a nomination to receive the Civic 
Appreciation Award, in recognition of service and dedication to the local community. 

 
 
2 Background 

 
 Group Leaders have recommended that Mr Roger Tanner be nominated to receive the 
Civic Appreciation Award. 

 
 Mr Tanner is being proposed for this award in recognition of his services and 
 dedication to Oldham. 
 
 Mr Tanner is committed to the local community in Saddleworth, serving as a member 

of Saddleworth Urban District Council from 1957-1970 and became Chairman in 1963-
64.  From 1975-76, he was a member of Saddleworth Parish Council. 

 
 He was a founder member of the Saddleworth Chamber Concert Society in 1974 and 

Chairman of the Friends of the Royal Northern College of Music in 1977. 
 
 With his interest in local history, Mr Tanner founded Saddleworth Museum, using his 

own money to purchase a derelict mill alongside the Huddersfield Narrow Canal and 
with a group of volunteers set about establishing the institution which provides a focal 
point for the community and visitors and continues to do so 50 years on.  Mr Tanner 
remains Chairman and plans are currently being put in place to expand its functions 
and service to Saddleworth and Oldham. 

 
 Mr Tanner is also Chairman of Saddleworth Festival of the Arts.  The Festival takes 

place every four years and involves local and national talents in all aspects of the arts.  
In 1964, he was the founder of Saddleworth Civic Trust which continues to thrive and 
is well supported.  In 1979, Mr Tanner also served as a member of the Executive 
Committee of North West Arts. 

 
 Mr Tanner joined Greenfield Cricket Club in his youth and his family have supported 

cricket in the district for many years, donating the Tanner Cup, played for by the 
Saddleworth and District League.  Mr Tanner remains president of the league.   

 
 He has been a director of Oldham and Rochdale Groundwork Trust and Vice 

Chairman of the Oldham Health Development Trust. 
 
  Mr Tanner became a Deputy Lieutenant in 1979 and was awarded the MBE in 2003 

for his services to the arts. 
 
 For over ninety years Roger Tanner has served Saddleworth , Oldham and 

 further afield, in industry, music, the arts, community, local history, local government 
and sport, enabling and leading many developments in these areas in the community 
and always encouraging local talent. 

 

Page 392



Page 3 of 3 Council – Nomination for Civic Appreciation Award 18.12.13 

 A modest and gifted man, with a keen sense of humour, whose contribution is 
exceptional and worthy of note in Oldham. 
 

 
3 Recommendation 
 
 It is recommended that:  
  

1) Roger Tanner is the agreed nomination for the Civic Appreciation Award for 2014. 
2) That the ceremony for the award takes places at the Council meeting of 5th 

February 2014. 
 

Page 393



Page 394

This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 

 

 

COUNCIL 

 

CONSTITUTION REVIEW 
 

Report of the Borough Solicitor 

 

Officer contact:  Paul Entwistle – Borough Solicitor 

Date: 18 December 2013 

 

 
 
 
Reason for decision: 
 
Arising from the work undertaken by the Constitution Working Group, there is a requirement 
to make changes to the Council’s Constitution. 
 
 
Recommendation: 
 
Council to agree the recommendations outlined in the report and authorise the Borough 
Solicitor to make any consequential amendments to the Constitution. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 20

Page 395



Page 2 of 5 Council – Constitution Review 16.12.13 

COUNCIL         18 December 2013 
 
CONSTITUTION REVIEW 
 
 
1 Background 
 
 The Constitution is reviewed regularly to ensure it reflects legislative changes and 

member intentions on the Council Procedure Rules. 
 
 
2 Proposed Amendments 
 
 The Joint Leadership meeting of the Council recently considered recommendations 

made by the Constitution Working Group.  The proposed amendments for 
consideration by the Council are as follows. 

 
2.1 Rules of Debate 
 
a) Members on the group considered that the time limits for speeches needed to be 

reviewed in order to make more time for Member contribution during Motion debates. 
 
 Recommendation: 
  
 That speeches be limited to four minutes (with an extension of 30 seconds subject to 

Council consent), with the Right of Reply limited to seven minutes (with a 30 seconds 
extension subject to Council consent).  It is accepted that there are separate 
arrangements for time periods at the budget meetings. 

 
b) The Constitution Working Group considered the issue of allowing observations to be 

made on responses to questions (for the Leader and Cabinet Question Time, 
Cabinet Minutes and Joint Authority sections), with final observations to be made by 
the relevant Executive Member. 

 
 If agreed, consideration would need to be given to allowing a time period in the 

relevant section for observations (e.g. reserve the last five minutes of the Leader and 
Cabinet Member Question Time, Cabinet Minutes and Joint Authority section for 
observations).  Members recommended that each observation be limited to one 
minute.  Members also recommended that this proposal should be piloted for the 
February and April 2014 Council meetings. 

 
 Recommendation: 
 
 Council consider amending the Constitution to allow observations to be made after 

responses in the sections listed above. 
 
c) The Constitution is silent as to the steps required to be taken if the Seconder of a 

Motion is absent and Members requested a similar procedure to that which exists in 
the absence of the Mover of the Motion. 

 
 Recommendation: 
 
 A constitutional amendment should be made stating that the Seconder of a Motion 

can request in writing that seconding can be taken over by another Member with the 
consent of the Council signified without discussion. 

 

Page 396



Page 3 of 5 Council – Constitution Review 16.12.13 

2.2 Public Questions 
 
 Members considered a protocol be introduced that a questioner should provide a 

name and postcode address in order to verify the connection to the Borough. 
 
 Recommendation: 
 
 A questioner should be required to provide a name and postcode address. 
 
2.3 Motions 
 
 Members considered that the Constitution should expressly permit the submission of 

electronic Motions. 
 
 Recommendation: 
 
 The Constitution should allow submission of electronic Motions, with the Proposer 

and Seconder to be included in the electronic document and relevant Group Leader 
copied into the document. 

 
2.4 Youth Council 
 
 Members of the group discussed the mechanics of dealing with Youth Council 

resolutions which require action to be taken by the Council.  It was accepted that the 
Motion is that of the Youth Council which presents difficulty in tabling amendments, 
but equally Members may find an amended proposal acceptable. 

 
 Joint Leadership recommended that the proposed submission should be forwarded 

to Group Leaders prior to submission to Council. 
 
 Members also recommended that the Youth Council proposal be submitted no later 

than the time for submission of Motions. 
 
 Recommendation: 

 
a) Council consider the proposal that the Youth Council proposal initially be 

considered by Group Leaders. 
b) Youth Council proposals to be submitted by the same timescale as Motions. 

 
2.5 Motion on Accuracy of Minutes 
 
 Members proposed that for Council meetings only, there should be a requirement 

that any submissions on the accuracy of the minutes of the preceding meeting be 
raised at noon the day before the Council meeting.  (It was accepted that the draft 
minutes are circulated to Group Leaders before printing of the agenda and are often 
discussed at the Group Leaders meeting.)  If matters are not raised by the noon 
deadline, then issues on the accuracy of the minutes could not be questioned, unless 
considered exceptional by the Mayor. 

 
 Members considered that this rule should only be applicable to the full Council 

meeting and not to other committees of the Council. 
 
 Recommendation: 
 
 Questions on the accuracy of the minutes must be raised by noon the day before the 

Council meeting. 
 

Page 397



Page 4 of 5 Council – Constitution Review 16.12.13 

 
3 Supporting Local Leaders 
 
 Group Leaders also recently considered a report from the Deputy Chief Executive 

regarding sanctions to be imposed in relation to non-attendance at the Local Leaders 
Programme of member development. 

 
3.1 Current position 
 
 The current position is that in order for a councillor to allocate their individual budget, 

each councillor is required to have attended at least 50% of the Local Leaders 
Programme. 

 
 The requirement is to attend at least 50% of core modules of the Local Leaders 

Programme to the entitlement to an individual councillor budget, (i.e. councillor 
individual budget, currently worth £2,000).  If this attendance threshold is not 
achieved over the 2013/14 municipal year, the councillor’s individual budget 
allocation for 2014/15 will be forfeited. 

 
3.2 Proposed approach 
 
 Group Leaders considered whether they wish to expand the range of training and 

development which counts towards the 50% threshold.  This would allow councillors 
with specified additional duties to count a broader range of training and development 
towards the 50% target.  However, it would also increase the number of training and 
development events required to reach the 50% threshold.  It would also introduce 
different attendance requirements between councillors with different responsibilities.  

 
 Group Leaders wished to expand the range of training and development which count 

towards the 50% threshold, the proposed training which would be incorporated is: 
 

• The six Local Leaders core modules or submitting portfolios of 
training/development undertaken independently. 

• Training relating to safeguarding and corporate parenting;  

• Training for Planning Committee members; 

• Training for Licensing Committee members; 
 
 Mayoral duties will be taken into account in determining the achievement of the 

threshold.  Other Member briefings and updates would not count towards the 50% 
threshold. 

 
 The ability to receive the individual councillor budget would also be conditional upon 

completion of the Member’s Annual Report. 
 
 Recommendation: 
 
 That receipt of individual councillor budget to be conditional on attending at least 

50% of the training identified in 3.2 of the report and completion of the Member’s 
Annual Report. 

 
 

Page 398



Page 5 of 5 Council – Constitution Review 16.12.13 

4 Legal Comments 
 
 The comments are contained in the body of the report. 
 
 
5 Financial Implications 
 
 There are no financial implications. 
 
 
6 Recommendations 
 
 Council are requested to approve the constitutional amendments required in the 

report and authorise the Borough Solicitor to make consequential amendments in the 
Constitution. 

 
 
7 Background Papers 
 
 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 
1972.  It does not include documents which would disclose exempt or confidential 
information as defined in the Act. 

 

• Constitution file 

Page 399



Page 400

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
COUNCIL 
 

 
Update on Actions from Council  
 

Report of the Borough Solicitor 
 

Portfolio Holder : Various 

 

 

18 December 2013 
 

Officer Contact : Liz Frier, Head of Constitutional Services 

Ext. 4705 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The decision is for Elected Members to note updates to the actions from previous 
Council meetings. 
 
Executive Summary 
 
1. This report provides feedback to the Council on actions taken on motions at the 
Council meeting on 11th September 2013 and 23rd October 2013.   

2. This report also provides feedback on other issues raised at the meeting. 
 
Recommendations: 
 
1. Council are asked to note the actions and correspondence received regarding 

motions agreed at previous Council meetings.

Agenda Item 21

Page 401



Page 2 of 8 Update on Actions from Council 18Dec13 

 
Council 18 December 2013 
  
Update on Actions from Council  
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The report sets out the actions officers have taken on motions of outstanding 

business and notices of motion approved at the Council meeting on 23rd 
October 2013.   

 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 The current position from actions as a result of motions is set out in the table 

at Appendix One.  Letters are attached at Appendix Two in response to the 
actions approved at Council on 11th September 2013 and 23rd October 2013. 

 
3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 N/A 
 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 N/A 
 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 N/A 
 
6 Financial Implications  
 
6.1 N/A 
 
7 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 N/A 
 
8 Human Resources Comments 
 
8.1 N/A 
 
9 Risk Assessments 
 
9.1 N/A 
 
10 IT Implications 
 
10.1 N/A 
 
11 Property Implications 
 
11.1 N/A 

Page 402



Page 3 of 8 Update on Actions from Council 18Dec13 

 
12 Procurement Implications 
 
12.1 N/A 
 
13 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
13.1 N/A 
 
14 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
14.1   N/A 
 
15 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
15.1   N/A 
 
16 Key Decision 
 
16.1 No  
 
17 Forward Plan Reference 
 
17.1 N/A 
 
18 Background Papers 
 
18.1 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government 
Act 1972.  It does not include documents which would disclose exempt or 
confidential information as defined by the Act: 

 

• Agenda and minutes of the Council meetings held on the 23rd October 
2013 are available online at 
http://committees.oldham.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails 

 
19 Appendices  
 
19.1 Appendix 1 – actions taken following the Council meeting on the 23rd October 

2013 

19.2 Appendix 2 – Letters received in response to actions taken at the meeting 
approved at Council on 11th September 2013 and 23rd October 2013. 

Page 403



Page 4 of 8 Update on Actions from Council 18Dec13 

Appendix One 
 

ACTION RESPONSE WHO RESPONSIBLE DATE COMPLETED 

Outstanding Business – 
Regulation of Actions of “Legal 
Loan Sharks” 

Letters sent to the Parliamentary 
Undersecretary of State for 
Employment Relations and 
Consumer Affairs and the 
Borough’s MPs; ack from M 
Meacher MP dated 31 Oct 
received 5 Nov; ack from D Heyes 
MP dated 1 Nov received 5 Nov; 
Response dated 9 November 2013 
received from Minister for 
Employment Relations and 
Consumer Affairs on 14 Nov 2013  
 

Chief Executive Letters sent 28 October 2013 

Youth Council Motion – Review 
of Work Experience 
 

Referred to Overview and Scrutiny 
The Overview and Scrutiny Board 
considered the Council resolution 
at its meeting on the 26th 
November 2013. 
RESOLVED that  

1. A Task and Finish Group is 
established with Elected 
Members and 
representatives from the 
Youth Council to examine: 

a) Which schools and 
colleges within the 
Borough currently 
provide work 
experience 
opportunities? 

b) How those 

Overview and Scrutiny  

P
age 404



Page 5 of 8 Update on Actions from Council 18Dec13 

ACTION RESPONSE WHO RESPONSIBLE DATE COMPLETED 

opportunities are 
carried out? 

c) The reasons behind 
decisions not to 
provide work 
experience. 

2. Whether key stage 4 is an 
appropriate time during a 
young person’s education to 
carry out work experience 
and whether it would be 
more appropriate for them 
to carry it out at a time that 
would enable them to 
progress their experiences 
into the workplace.  

3. How work experience can 
be offered as an ongoing, 
meaningful experience over 
a prolonged period, rather 
than a one off event offering 
little substance. 

4. The types of work 
experience opportunities 
being offered to young 
people. 

 

Administration Business 1 – 
Proposals regarding Parking 
Rules and Regulations 

Letters sent to the Secretary of 
State for DCLG; Secretary of State 
for Transport and the Borough’s 
Three MPs; ack from D Heyes MP 
dated 1 Nov received 5 Nov; 
Response from DCLG dated 19 

Chief Executive Letters sent 28 October 2013 

P
age 405



Page 6 of 8 Update on Actions from Council 18Dec13 

ACTION RESPONSE WHO RESPONSIBLE DATE COMPLETED 

November 13 received 22 
November 2013; Letter from M 
Meacher dated 22 November 13 
received 26 November covering 
response from DCLG dated 18 
November 
 

Administration Business 2 – 
Rewiring Public Services 
 

Letters sent to the SOS DCLG and 
the Borough’s MPs; ack from M 
Meacher MP dated 31 Oct 
received 5 Nov; ack from D Heyes 
MP dated 1 Nov received 5 Nov; 
Letter dated 12 November 2013 
from Parliamentary Undersecretary 
of State on 14 November 2013; 
Letter from M Meacher MP dated 
19 November covering letter from 
SOS DCLG dated 11 November 
received 22 November 
 

Chief Executive Letters sent 28 October 2013 

Opposition Business 1 – No VAT 
for Mountain Rescuers 
 

Letters sent to the Chancellor of 
the Exchequer and the Borough’s 
MPs; ack from D Heyes MP dated 
1 Nov received 5 Nov; ack from M 
Meacher MP dated 4 Nov received 
7 Nov; Letter from M Meacher MP 
dated 22 November 13 received 
26 November 2013 covering 
response from Treasury dated 19 
November 2013  
 

Chief Executive Letters sent 28 October 2013 

Opposition Business 2 – Snow 
Angels 

Referred to Overview and Scrutiny 
Briefing note attached. 

Overview and Scrutiny 26th November 2013  

P
age 406



Page 7 of 8 Update on Actions from Council 18Dec13 

ACTION RESPONSE WHO RESPONSIBLE DATE COMPLETED 

 Members were consulted on the 
Snow Angels resolution via email.  
Three responses were received – 
Cllr Sedgwick’s letter is attached.  
Cllrs Brownridge and Ball  
supported the approach. 
The matter was discussed at the 
Overview and Scrutiny meeting of 
the 26th November 2013 and the 
Board endorsed the approach of 
the Highways Team. 
Response 
The highways team is 
committed to supporting this 
concept and offer any advice 
relating to snow clearance 
including the circulation of 
Oldham weather forecasts that 
may help planning. We have 
worked closely with local 
Members over the last 2 years to 
develop an approach to support 
local volunteers and have 
identified different levels of 
volunteering to coordinate 
related activity. 
A district approach ensures that 
communities are able to 
volunteer in a way that best 
meets their needs and can be 
supported to fit with mainstream 
activity. However the supply of 
equipment, if required, is 

P
age 407



Page 8 of 8 Update on Actions from Council 18Dec13 

ACTION RESPONSE WHO RESPONSIBLE DATE COMPLETED 

currently unfunded and would 
need to be met by the voluntary 
sector seeking access to the 
grant system. As local volunteer 
groups emerge the Highways 
team will meet to provide 
support and guidance with 
planning ahead of any severe 
weather events.  
 

Opposition Business 3 – Self-
Build Schemes 
 

Referred to Overview and Scrutiny 
The Overview and Scrutiny Board 
considered the Council’s current 
approach (Briefing note attached). 
Response 
Overview and Scrutiny 
recommend that the approach 
as detailed within the Briefing 
Note (attached) is adopted by 
the Council to continue to 
support Custom and Self Build 
initiatives in the Borough.  
 

Overview and Scrutiny 26th November 2013 

 
 

P
age 408



Page 409



Page 410

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 411



Page 412



Page 413



Page 414



Page 415



Page 416



Page 417



Page 418

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 419



Page 420

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 421



Page 422



Page 423



Page 424

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 425



Page 426



Page 427



Page 428



Page 429



Page 430

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 431



Page 432



Page 433



Page 434

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 435



Page 436



Page 437



Page 438



 

 

 

 

Item number: 00 

1

Overview and Scrutiny Board 

 
Briefing: Snow Angels  
 
26

th
 November 2013 

 

A Purpose Of The Briefing 
 At full Council on 23rd October 2013, a referral was made to the Overview and 

Scrutiny Board in respect of examining the possibility of establishing a snow 

angel scheme. This report seeks provide the Overview and Scrutiny Board with 

information relating to a motion of Council and to make recommendations. 

  
B Introduction 
 The motion noted that Council recognised that during winter and during period of 

bad weather weather, the elderly, disabled and vulnerable residents of the 
borough often experience difficulties in getting out of their homes. 

  
C Motion details 
 The motion noted a number of points for the Overview and Scrutiny Board to 

consider including: 
 

� That the approach to recruitment of winter volunteers by other local 
authorities was notable. 

� Those participants in established schemes are provided with appropriate 
equipment to assist them in their duties.  

� Participants make a pledge to clear the pathways in their areas and check 
upon any neighbours to offer assistance.  

� That the approach to established schemes resonates with the Council’s 
own approach to co-operative working.  

� That work could be carried out with District Executives, Parish Councils 
and local, corporate sponsors to establish the scheme. 

 
D Recommendations 
 That the Overview and Scrutiny Board invite comments in relation to: 

� The need for a scheme and; 

� How the Council could support a strategy to promote the development 

and potential funding of a winter volunteer scheme in the wider 

community 

 

 

 

Page 439



Page 440

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 441



Page 442



 
 

 

 

Item number: 00 

1

Overview and Scrutiny Board 

  
Custom and Self-build homes 
Council 18th December 2013 
 

A PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

  

To provide an update on how Custom and Self Build initiatives following a 

motion submitted to Council on the  
  

B SUMMARY  

  

 Custom and Self Build  
 
In general, most new housing is built by developers as ‘spec’ housing.   This 
means that the mix, house types & designs are driven by standard designs to 
provide cost-efficient house types.  In 2012, custom and self-build homes 
accounted for around 8% (almost 11,000) of the total housing market in the UK.  
 
The aim of custom and self- build is to provide ‘at cost’, bespoke, new build 
housing, in target areas that meets the needs of the local people.  Custom Build 
removes the construction element from individuals and makes development 
simpler. As their driven through individuals or formed groups, these models 
aren’t able to drive large-scale development. 
 

The Oldham and Rochdale Housing Strategy 2012-15 highlights the need for 
the Council to develop new ways of stimulating housing growth, including self-
build and custom build.   
 

The council’s Residential Development Framework states that, as a Co-
operative Borough, the Council will support custom-build and self-build initiatives 
on suitable land, where viable, and will market suitable sites for this purpose. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 443



 
 

 

 

Item number: 00 

2

 Progress to date  
 
The Council promoted ‘Custom Build’ in Werneth and Derker in late 2012.  An 
advert was placed in the Oldham Chronicle and marketing material distributed in 
the neighbourhoods.  Despite the publicity, no serious interest was shown in 
Derker.   
 
A group of interest residents in Werneth have formed ‘Community build Werneth 
Ltd’ and have drawn up plans for 37 larger detached homes in South Werneth.   
A report requesting disposal of the land is scheduled to be considered by 
Cabinet in January 2014.   
 
Interest has also been shown from a small group in Woodhouses and 
Saddleworth, with discussions held with the Council and a planning application 
has been received for a single custom build property in Greenfield. 
 
The council are also considering identifying a number of plots on larger 
developments on council owned land (ie former school sites) for custom build. 
Plots could be promoted for a period of time (say 6 months), which would have 
the advantage of reducing the infrastructure costs as they would be pro-rata over 
the whole scheme.   The council is also actively looking to identify suitable sites. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny recommend that the above approach is adopted by 
the Council to continue to support Custom and Self Build initiatives in the 
Borough.  
 
Funding 
 

The Government allocated £30 m of funding nationally to provide short-term 

project finance to help unlock schemes in 2012.  This is available (as a loan) to 

constituted groups (not councils) until March 2015 or until the funds run out.  

This is currently £10 M remaining and bids can made through the Homes and 

Communities Association.  Council officers would be able to advice or assist 

interested groups. 

 

The council could on a case by case basis assist by offering a deferred receipt 

for its land. A key principle is that the individual or group funding the 

development must be able to access its own development or mortgage finance. 
  

C RECOMMENDATIONS 

  

To continue our commitment to promoting custom and self-build initiatives.   
  

D CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN 

  

 Legal � Finance � Other X 
 

Page 444



 
 

 

 

Item number: 00 

3

  
 

E IMPACT ON COMMUNITY STRATEGY & COMMUNITY COHESION 

  

Custom build provides homes the type of homes that people at less than open 
market value.     It can assist community cohesion by helping residents remain in 
the area who may otherwise choose to leave the neighbourhood or even 
borough.    
 

F IMPACT ON EQUALITIES 

  

See Section E.  

 
G APPENDICES 

 
N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 445



Page 446

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To order that the Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on the 23rd October 2013 be signed as a correct record
	7 To receive and note petitions received relating to the business of the Council
	11 To note the Minutes of the meetings of the Cabinet held on the undermentioned dates, including the attached list of urgent key decisions taken since the last meeting of the Council, and to receive any questions or observations on any items within the Minutes from Members of the Council who are not Members of the Cabinet, and receive responses from Cabinet Members
	Final Minutes
	Urgent Key Decisions

	14 To note the Minutes of the following Joint Authority and Oldham Partnership meetings and the relevant spokespersons to respond to questions from Members
	AGMA Executive Minutes 25 October 2013
	GMCA Minutes 27 September 2013
	GMCA Minutes 25 October 2013
	Police and Crime Panel Minutes 26 July 2013
	TfGMC Minutes 13 September 2013
	TfGMC Minutes 11 October 2013
	TfGMC Minutes 15 November 2013
	National Peak Authority Minutes 4 October 2013
	Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Authority 17 October 2013
	Unity Partnership Board Minutes 2013 Sep 4

	15 LGA Corporate Peer Challenge: Oldham Council, October 2013 - Report of Deputy Chief Executive
	Oldham - Final Report docx

	16 Appointment of the Interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service - Report of the Assistant Executive Director, People Services
	17 Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014/15 - Report of the Borough Treasurer
	Appendix 1 - Consultation Feedback Summary Report
	Appendix 2 - Oldham MBC Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2014 15 Version 1
	Appendix 3 EIA CTR Scheme 14.15

	18 A Co-operative Approach to the use of Council Assets - Report of Executive Director Commercial Services
	03b Appendix 1 - Community Use of Asset Policy  Procedure
	03c Appendix 2 - Land   Property Protocols - Review
	03d Appendix 3 - Community Right to Bid Summary of Statutory  Governance Process

	19 Civic Appreciation Nomination - Report of the Chief Executive
	20 Constitution Review - Report of the Borough Solicitor
	21 Update on Actions from Council
	Letter from SOS DOH re Tobacco Packaging received 7 Nov 13
	Letter from M Meacher MP covering Response from DWP re Bedroom Tax received 4 Dec 13
	Letter from M Meacher MP ack receipt of Legal Loan Sharks and Rewiring Public Services
	Letter from D Heyes MP ack receipt of letters dated 25 Oct 13
	Letter from J Swinson MP re Legal Loan Sharks dated 9 November 2013
	Letter from M Meacher MP ack receipt of Exemption of VAT letter dated 4 Nov 13
	Letter from M Meacher MP covering response from Treasury re Exemption of VAT
	Letter from DCLG in response to Parking Cameras
	Letter from M Meacher MP covering Response from DCLG re  Parking Enforcement
	Letter from B Lewis MP re Rewiring Public Services dated 12 Nov 2013
	Letter from M Meacher MP with response from SOS DCLG re Rewiring Public Services
	Letter from M Meacher MP covering Response from SOS DCLG re 2013 Spending Review
	Snow Angels briefing
	Cllr C McLaren
	O and S Custom build report - Nov 13


